

THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

OFFICIAL ORGAN OF THE

ounded V

PI BETA PHI FRATERNITY

1867

STAFF

Office of Publication: 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Arrow Editor: ADELE TAYLOR ALFORD (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif.

Assistant Editor and Business Manager: GLADYS WARREN, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill., or 115 Robinson Ave., San Diego, Calif.

Alumnæ Club Editor: VIRGINIA SHERMAN KOZAK (Mrs. Andrew J.), 728 Crouse Ave., Syracuse 10, N.Y.

Chapter Letter Editor: MARJORY McMichael Pickard (Mrs.) 2108 16th St. N.W., Apt. 22, Washington, D.C.

News from Little Pigeon: HARRIET GOODSELL RAUCH (Mrs. C. H.), 30 E. 70th St., New York 21, N.Y.

Exchanges and College Notes: Mercedes Baker Jorgulesco (Mrs. Jonel), 7 Glenwolde Park, Tarrytown, N.Y.

From Pi Phi Pens: MARY ELIZABETH LASHER BARNETTE (Mrs. Kenneth A.), 713
Pennsylvania St., Gary, Ind.

Arrow File: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, III

Arrow Contributors: Margaretta Spence Drake; Flo Leland Thompson; Katherine Goeppinger; Laurie Pritchard; Martha Gittins Bricker; Georgia Guback Siderius.

Personals and In Memoriam Nosices: Send to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Magazines!	Magazines!	American Girl	3.00	\$ 3. 4. 5
NC	W	Atlantic Monthly Better Homes and Gardens Calling All Girls Kiplinger Changing Times Child Life Children's Activities	6.00 2.50 2.40 6.00 3.00 4.00	10 4 4 10 5 7
Is the smart time		Children's Playmate Christian Herald Colliers Coronet Cosmopolitan	1.50 3.00 5.00 3.00 3.50	2 5 8 5 5
to place your		Esquire Etude Flower Grower Glamour Good Housekeeping	6.00 3.00 3.00 2.50 3.50	10 5 4 5
Gift Sub	scriptions	Harper's Magazine Holiday House and Garden Jack and Jil Ladies' Home Journal	5.00 5.00 5.00 2.50 3.00	8 7 4 5
and checl	k on your	Life Look Mademoiselle McCall's Nation	6.00 3.50 3.50 2.50 6.00	9664
Renewals		Newsweek Omnibook Open Road for Boys Parents' Popular Mechanics Popular Photography	6.50 3.65 2.00 3.00 3.50 3.00	10 7 3 4 6 5
Every order helps the Settlement School		Popular Science Reader's Digest Redbook Saturday Evening Post Time	6.00	5 4 10 11
410 STANDA	AGAZINE AGENCY RD BUILDING , ILLINOIS	Town & Country Travel True Story Vogue Woman's Home Companion Your Life	7.50 4.50 2.20 7.50 2.50 3.00	13 8 3 12 4 5

Subscriber's Name:				
Address			****	
Magazines Requested		Price \$		
		Price \$		
	Indicate if new or renewal, who	Price \$		
Total amount of money or	der or check made out to Pi	Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Decatur, Illinoi	s \$	
Credit the subscription to	(Give name of alum	næ club, active chapter)		4
Signed:				
Address				

SEE NEXT PAGE FOR FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

Please send changes of address to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Decatur 16, Ill.

THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

September · 1949

CONTENTS

Fraternity Directory	4
Official Calendars	12
Membership Statistics as of June 1, 1949	16
Editorials	17
Report of Grand Council Meeting	20
Province Officers' Conference Joint Meetings	23
Conference of Province Vice-Presidents	25
Annual Reports of National Officers	27
Settlement School Reports	58
Committee Reports	74
Reports of Province Presidents	83
Reports of Province Vice-Presidents	96
Alumnæ Personals	117
In Memoriam	125

¶THE ARROW is printed in the months of September, December, March, and May by Pi Beta Phi Fraternity at the press of George Banta Publishing Company, 450 Ahnaip St., Menasha, Wis. Subscription price is \$1.50 a year, 50¢ for single copies. \$15.00 for life subscription.

CSend subscriptions, change of address notice, and correspondence of a business nature to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Decatur 16, III.

Correspondence of an editorial nature is to be addressed to the editor, Mrs. T. N. Alford, 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif. Items for publication should be addressed to the editor to arrive not later than July 15. October 10. January 15. March 5.

Member of Fraternity Magazines Associated. All matters pertaining to national advertising should be directed to Fraternity Magazines Associated, 1618 Orrington Ave., Evanston, Ill.

(Lentered as second-class matter at the post office at Decatur, Ill., and Menasha, Wis., under the act of March 3, 1879, Acceptance for mailing at special rate of postage provided for in the act of February 28, 1925.

FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

FOUNDERS OF THE FRATERNITY

Fanny Whitenack Libbey (1848-1941) Fanny Whitenack Libbey (1848-1941)
Inez Smith Soule (1846-1941)
Margaret Campbell (1846-1936)
Libbie Brook Gaddis (1850-1933)
Jennie Horne Turnbull (1846-1932)
Jennie Nicol, M.D. (1845-1881)
Fannie Thomson (1848-1868)
Nancy Black Wallace (1845-1918)
Ada Bruen Grier (1848-1924)
Rosa Moore (1848-1924)
Emma Brownlee Kilgore (1848-1924)
Clara Brownlee Hutchinson (1850-1931)

PRESIDENT EMERITUS

May L. Keller, Westhampton College, University of Richmond, Va.

HONORARY GRAND TREASURER

Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 South Third St., Champaign, Ill.

GRAND COUNCIL

Grand President—Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, Ill.
Grand Vice-President—Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 2021 Belmont Rd., N.W., Washington, D.C.
Grand Secretary—Lucile Douglass Carson (Mrs. Floyd H.), 715 North Ave., Pittsburgh 21, Pa.
Grand Treasurer—Lolita Snell Prouty (Mrs. Frank H.), 1760 Locust St., Denver 7, Colo.
ARROW Editor—Adele Taylor Alford (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif.
Director of Rusbing and Pledge Training—Clara Hall Sipherd (Mrs. L. W.), 111 Elworthy Ave., London, Ontario, Canada.
Director of Extension—Marie Bacon Hagee (Mrs. George M.), 7135 Maryland Dr., University City 5, Mo.

COUNSELOR FOR CHAPTER HOUSE CORPORATIONS

Lillian Beck Holton (Mrs. Edwin Lee), 217 North 14th St., Manhattan, Kan.

NATIONAL HISTORIAN

Marian Keck Simmons (Mrs. Oliver B.), 6415 Morningside Dr., Kansas City, Mo.
Assistant to National Historian—Elizabeth Heryer Delaney (Mrs. E. H.), 2001 Brookwood, Kansas City, Mo.

NATIONAL BOARD OF TRUSTEE FUNDS

Chairman—Lolita Snell Prouty (Mrs. Frank H.), 1760 Locust St., Denver, Colo.; Helen Richardson Corkum (Mrs. Howard D.), 333 Prospect St., Willimantic, Conn.; Mary Stuart Kinder (Mrs. Jean), 1144 Crestdale Rd., Lincoln, Neb.; Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, Ill.; Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 South Third St., Champaign, Ill.

NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING

Dorothea White Flint (Mrs. Leroy), 2849 N. Delaware St., Indianapolis 5, Ind.

Chapter Treasurers send your monthly reports to Busey Fraternity Accounting System, 1301 S. Busey Avenue, Urbana, Ill.

PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

Gladys Haves Scivally, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE

Director of Central Office-Gladys Haves Scivally, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Save the Children Sponsorship-Contact Member-Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 S. Third St., Champaign, III.

Convention Guide-Mary Bowlen Mooney (Mrs. Francis Patrick). 3403 Elbow Drive, Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Transportation Chairman-Helen Madden Russell (Mrs. Joseph A.), 200 Lee Street, Evanston, Ill.

STANDING COMMITTEES

Settlement School Committee-Chairman-Ruth Barrett Smith (Mrs. Warren T.), Brookings, Ore.

Treasurer—Olivia Smith Moore (Mrs. Henry Jr.), 420 Pine St., Texarkana, Texas.

School—Library—Ethel Gillespie Smith (Mrs. T. E.), 2096 Fairhaven Circle, N.E., Atlanta, Ga.

Secretary, Films, Contact Member for Arts and Crafts—Eugenia Brooks Smith (Mrs. G. Herbert), 180 S. Winter St., Salem, Ore.

Salem, Ore.

Publicity, Editor of Little Pigeon News-Harriet Goodsell Rauch (Mrs. C. H.), 30 East 70th St., New York City 21, N.Y.

N.Y.

Director of Settlement School—Ruth Dyer, Pi Beta Phi Settlement School, Gatlinburg, Tenn.

Manager, Arrowcraft Shop—Mrs. Ethel M. Snow., Pi Beta Phi Arrowcraft Shop, Gatlinburg, Tenn.

Holt House Committee-Chairman-Nancy J. Swisher (Mrs. Scott H.), 1509 Yewell St., Iowa City, Iowa.

Treasurer—Frances Small Trost (Mrs. John F.), R.R. #1, Lafayette, Ind.
Secretary—Carmen Sankey Pletz (Mrs. Samuel L.), 101 Barker Ave., Peoria, Ill.
Films, Publicity—Alice McDougall Jensen (Mrs. R. M.), 303 E. Broadway,
Publicity—Carol Meiks Cook (Mrs. Warren F.), 1201 Gardner, Ann Arbor, Mich. Monmouth, III Committee on Loan Fund-Chairman-Josephine McCleverty, 602 Melrose Ave. N., Seattle 2, Wash.

Committee Members-Lucile Waite Wall (Mrs. Richard), Sweet Springs, Mo.; Edith Bacon, 958 Fifth St., Santa Monica, Calif.

Committee on Publicity-Chairman-Lorraine Kindred Peters (Mrs. Randolph H.), 4682 North High St., Columbus 2, Ohio. Committee Members-Betty Jean Collins, 225 N. University St., Vermillion, S.D.; Ruth Zimmerman Miller (Mrs. Orville, Jr.), 6433 Stewart Ave., Chicago, III.

Committee on Scholarship-Chairman-Harriet R. Johnstone, 5203 18th N.E., Seattle 5, Wash.

mnittee on Scholarship—Chairman—Harriet R. Johnstone, 5203 18th N.E., Seattle 5, Wash.

Assistant Chairman—Marajane Warren Barksdale (Mrs. Julian D.), 13222 42nd, N.E., Seattle, Wash.

Province Supervisors on Scholarship:

Alpha, East—Gloria Miniutti, Box 114, North Berwick, Me.

Alpha, West—Ella M. Donnocker, 88 Lincoln Road, Soyder 21, N.Y.

Beta—Florence Baker Hutchison (Mrs. R. Daul L.), 208 N. 25th St., Camp Hill, Pa.

Gamma—Jean Conklin Young (Mrs. R. L.), 2021 Ashland Ave., Charlotte, N.C.

Delta—Ann Gill Cummins (Mrs. R. C.), 407 North East Street, Greenfield, Ind.

Epsilon—Jane Lee, 3730 Whitland Ave., Nashville, Tenn.

Zeta—Robin Hill Murphey (Mrs. Robert), 1130 Bellaire, Orlando, Fla.

Eta—Coleita Aitkin, 815 N. Prairie, Bloomington, Ill.

Theta—Laura Ann Reynolds Collins (Mrs.), Corning, Iowa.

Iota—Cecile Brousseau Kendall (Mrs. W. R.), 2025 Pierre, Manhattan, Kan.

Kappa—Louise Gribble, 612 Sleeper Place, Waco, Tex.

Lambda—Helen Harstad Strickler (Mrs. R. E.), 236 S.E. 32nd Ave., Apt. A, Portland, Ore.

Mu—Gretchen Sammis, Cimarron, N.M.

Committee on Transfers-Katherine Hosmer, Box 125, Basking Ridge, N.J.

Committee on Fraternity Study and Examination-Chairman-Florence Hunt Isert, 1823 Edgeland Ave., Louisville 4, Ky

mmittee on Fraternity Study and Examination—Chairman—Florence Hunt Isert, 1823 Edge Province Supervisors on Fraternity Study and Examination:
Alpha, Bast—Esther Coffin, Box 09, N. Arnherst, Mass.
Alpha, West—Betty M. Reif, 77 Ruskin Rd., Eggertsville, N.Y.
Beta—Margaret Black Ulle (Mrs. Wilbur P.), 200 E. 34th St., Baltimore 18, Md.
Gamma—Charlotte Schultz Nash (Mrs. John C.), 3414 Lanier Ave., Columbia 5, S.C.
Delta—Nancy Hoover, 217 East Washington St., Rensselaer, Ind.
Epsilon—Joyce Lindsay, 1316 Everett Ave., Louisville, Ky.
Zeta—Ray Jordan, Box 444, DeLand, Fla.
Eta—Carolyn Dallenbach Randall (Mrs. H. M.), 1902 Indianapolis Blvd., Whiting, Ind.
Theta—Josephine Rogers Carper (Mrs. Donald B.), R.R. 1, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.
Iota—Elise Cory Buchanan (Mrs. Robert), Box 290, R.R. 2, Boulder, Colo.
Kappa—Betty Hill Blalock (Mrs. William Clarke), Box 788, Route 6, Austin, Tex.
Lambda—Marian Eisenhauer, 227 East 18th, Spokane, Wash.
Mu—Maud Dawley Hartley (Mrs. Gene), 3009 University, San Diego, Calif.

Committee on Social Exchange-Chairman-Virginia McMahan, 1926-16th Ave. S., Birmingham, Ala.

nmittee on Social Exchange—Chairman—Virginia McMahan, 1926-16th Ave. S., Birmingham, Ala.

Province Supervisors on Social Exchange Committee:
Alpha, East—Priscilla Perkins Johnson (Mrs. Paul E.), 186 Linden Ave., Verona, N.J.
Alpha, West—E. Henrietta Gamble Scripture (Mrs. W. E. Jr.), 807 N. Washington St., Rome, N.Y.
Beta—Louise Brosius Hurd (Mrs. V. N.), 11509 Gardenia Dr., Pittsburgh 21, Pa.
Gamma—Marion Pate Macon (Mrs. James B.), 704 Jamestown Rd., Williamsburg. Va.
Delta—Lois Roberta Bosshart, 377 Ashland Road, Detroit, Mich.
Delta—Lois Roberta Bosshart, 377 Ashland Road, Detroit, Mich.
Epsilon—Idanelle Sam McMurry, Albbot Academy, Andover, Mass.
Zeta—Marjorie Ann Park Valentine (Mrs. Andrew Jackson), 944 Fairway Drive, Pensacola, Fla.
Eta—Doris Denman Juvinall (Mrs. Robert Charles), 705 W. Washington, Champaign, Ill.
Theta—Marjorie Wallace, 712 Madison, Council Bluffs, Iowa.
Iota—Lois Harvey Gatchell (Mrs. Donald), Box 374, Yankton, S.D.
Kappa—Mattalou Marshall Roth-(Mrs. Milo K.), 62 Twin Springs St., Siloam Springs, Ark.
Lambda—Elinor Arneson, Big Timber, Mont.
Mu—Margaret Hale Magness (Mrs. W.), 709 Chimalus, Palo Alto, Calif.

Committee on Fraternity Music-Chairman-Dorothy Vale Durand (Mrs. Harvey S., Jr.), Sahuaro Lake Ranch, Mesa, Ariz,

Committee Members:

Ruby Burtness Kefgen (Mrs. E. A.), 2345 Woodland Ave., Duluth 3, Minn Dorothe Anderson Lanning (Mrs. W. J.), 469 East Avenue, Coronado, Cal Louise Spalding Malin (Mrs. Douglas), 524 Galer Pl., Glendale, Calif.

Committee on Chaperons

Leila Gray Clifton (Mrs. Charles M.), Pi Beta Phi House, Fayetteville, Ark.

Committee on Home for Pi Phis—Chairman—Mary Erlene Wallihan Gibson (Mrs. Alfred E.), 16501 Shaker Blvd., Shaker Heights 22, Ohio.

Committee Members:
Fleda Laird Adams (Mrs. M. H.), 13711 6th Ave., East Cleveland 12, Ohio.
Mary Prater Kelsey (Mrs. Ray T.), 18117 Clifton Rd., Lakewood, Ohio.
Jeannette Coen Johnston (Mrs. T. G.), 3082 Woodbury Rd., Shaker Heights 20, Ohio.
Emma Lovergood Rupert (Mrs. E. J.), 18181 Clifton Rd., Lakewood, Ohio.

Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund Committee-Chairman-Ethel Hogan Copp (Mrs. Joseph P.), 424 Muirfield Rd., Los Angeles, Calif.

Committee Members: Hazel Sawyer Everett (Mrs. Victor), 883 Broadway, South Portland 7, Me. Irene Hay Hoggatt (Mrs. Wilford J.), 3318 Gum St., Evansville, Ind.

COMMITTEE ON NOMINATIONS

For Active Session: Virginia Brackett Green—Delta Province Vice-President, 2650 Sutherland Ave., Indianapolis, Ind., Kappa Province Vice-President. Theresa Gibson Graham (Mrs. T. E.), 3324 W. 18th, Oklahoma City, Okla., Missouri Beta, Oklahoma Beta, Kansas Beta.

For Alumna Session: Gamma Province President, Elizabeth Stovall King (Mrs. Ludlow), 6652-32nd St., Washington, D.C.

NATIONAL PANHELLENIC CONFERENCE

NPC Chairman—Miss L. Pearle Green, 302 Fall Creek Dr., Ithaca, N.Y.
Pi Beta Phi Representative—Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, III.
Committee on College Panhellenics Chairman—Mrs. Darrel B. Rasmussen, A O II, 20 Park Ave., New York 16, N.Y.

ACTIVE CHAPTER DIRECTORY

Corresponding Secretaries

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

President—Annie Laurie Keys Whipple (Mrs. Sidney H.), 28 Linbrook Rd., West Hartford, Conn. Nova Scotia Alpha—Dalhousie University, Beryl Beatteay, Shirreff Hall, Halifax, N.S. Maine Alpha—University of Maine, Olive Cline, 107 Balentine, University of Maine, Orono, Me. Vermont Alpha—Middlebury, College, Ellen Hight, Hepburn Hall, Middlebury, Vt. Vermont Beta—University of Vermont, Maud Mason, 369 S. Prospect St., Burlington, Vt. Massachusetts Alpha—Boston University, Ann West, 191 Bay State Rd., Boston, Mass. Massachusetts Beta—University of Massachusetts, Jean Small, Thatcher Hall, U. of M., Amherst, Mass. Connecticut Alpha—University of Connecticut, Margaret Murray, Box 818, U. of C., Storrs, Conn.

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

President—Evelyn Miller Slifer (Mrs. George), 60 Tuxedo Rd., Montclair, N.J.

New York Alpha—Syracuse University, Mary Copeland, 210 Walnut Pl., Stracuse, N.Y.

New York Gamma—St. Lawrence University, Alice Marie Wilson, Pi Beta Phi House, Canton, N.Y.

New York Delta—Cornell University, Ruth Gottshall, 425 Wyckoff Ave., Ithaca, N.Y.

Onlario Alpha—University of Toronto, Margaret Fleming, 616 Avenue Road, Toronto, Ont., Can,

Ontario Beta—University of Western Ontario, Eileen Pedersen, 45 Orchard St., London, Ont., Can.

BETA PROVINCE

President—Jean Haller Gustkey (Mrs. Carl W.). 2 Stamm Lane, Wheeling, W.Va.

Pennsylvania Beta—Bucknell University, Elizabeth Koch, Box 191. Lewisburg, Pa.

Pennsylvania Gamma—Dickinson College, Marjorie Fluent, 2012 Mulberry St., Harrisburg, Pa.

Ohio Alpba—University of Ohio, Diana Galbreath, 6 S. College St., Athens, Ohio.

Ohio Beta—Ohio State University, Linda Underwood, 2714 E, Broad St., Columbus, Ohio,

Ohio Della—Ohio Wesleyan University, Margaret Bender, Monnett Hall, Delaware, Ohio.

Ohio Epidon—University of Toledo Mary Spieker, 3029 W, Buncroft, Toledo, Ohio.

Ohio Zeta—Miemi University, Jan Himes, 13 Bishop Hall, Oxford, Ohio.

West Virginia Alpha—University of West Virginia, Grace Lee Boggess, 1493 University Ave., Morgantown, W.Va.

GAMMA PROVINCE

GAMMA PROVINCE

President—Elizabeth Stovall King (Mrs. Ludlow), 6652-32nd St., Washington, D.C.,
Maryland Alpha—Goucher College, Charlene Johnson, Goucher College, Towson, Md.,
Maryland Beta—University of Maryland, Jeannette Katherine Lynch, Pi Beta Phi House, College Park, Md.,
District of Colambia Alpha—George Washington University, Dorothy Anne Weld, 4501 S. Ninth St., Arlington, Va.,
Virginia Alpha—Randolph-Macon Woman's College, Elizabeth Currie, R.M.W.C., Lynchburg, Va.,
Virginia Gamma—College of William and Mary, Carolyn Lav. Pi Beta Phi House, Williamsburg, Va.,
North Garolina Alpha—University of North Carolina, Ruth Whalen, 214 McIver, Chapel Hill, N.C.,
North Garolina Beta—Duke University, Mary Lou Bratton, Box 6782 College Station, Durham, N.C.,
South Carolina Alpha—University of South Carolina, Barbara McSwain, Box 2398, U.S.C., Columbia, S.C.

DELTA PROVINCE

DELTA PROVINCE

President—Helen Anderson Lewis (Mrs. Benjamin C.), 4625 Washineton Blvd.. Indianapolis 5, Ind. Michigan Alpha—Hillsdale College, Marilyn March. Mauck Hall. Hillsdale. Mich. Michigan Beta—University of Michigan. Adela'de Klingbeil, 836 Tappan, Ann Arbor. Mich. Michigan Gamma—Michigan State College, Patricia Tilden, 215 Evergreen Ave., East Lansing, Mich. Indiana Alpha—Franklin College, Ruth Kirklin, 101 S. Forsythe St., Franklin, Ind. Indiana Beta—Indiana University, Alice Baber 928 E. Third St., Bloomington. Ind. Indiana Gamma—Butler University. Barbara Sherow. 439 Berkelev Rd., Indianapolis, Ind. Indiana Delta—Purdue University. Mary Alice Grande. 1012 State St., West Lafayette, Ind. Indiana Epsilon—DePauw University, Mary MacKenzie, Pi Beta Phi, Greencastle, Ind.

EPSILON PROVINCE

President—Marilyn Wiecener Brandom (Mrs. C. Dudle"), Gallatin, Mo.

Missouri Alpha—University of Missouri, Frances Oglesby 311 Rollins. Columbia. Mo.

Missouri Beta—Washington University, Virginia Page. 659 Lockslev Pl. Webster Groves, Mo.

Missouri Gamma—Drury College, Carol n. Compton. 2141 S. Doll'son Sorinefield, Mo.

Kentucky Alpha—University of Louisville, Colleen Caden, 123 E. Shipp St., Louisville, Ky.

Tennessee Alpha—University of Chattanooga, Joan Hill, University of Chattanooga, Chattanooga, Tenn.

Tennessee Beta—Vanderbilt University, Margaret Brearley, Hood's Hill Rd., Nashville, Tenn.

Tennessee Gamma—University of Tennessee, Katharine Ann Everett, 2201 W. Cumberland, Knoxville, Tenn.

ZETA PROVINCE

President—Edythe Belton Tyler (Mrs. John L.), 178 Rumson Rd. N.E., Atlanta, Ga. Alabama Alpha—Birmingham-Southern College, Margaret Johnston, 248 N. 54th St., Birmingham, Ala. Alabama Beta—University of Alahama, Tuscaloosa, Ala. Florida Alpha—John B. Stetson University. Nancy Williams, Box 211, Stetson University. DeLand. Fla. Florida Beta—Florida State College for Women, Nelle Carter, 515 W. College Ave., Tallahassee, Fla. Florida Gamma—Rollins College, Jeannie Wisclopel, Rollins College, Winter Park, Fla. Georgia Alpha—University of Georgia, Bunny Griffin, Pi Beta Phi House, Athens, Ga.

ETA PROVINCE

President—Margaret Dick, 649 W. North St., Decatur, III.

Wisconsin Alpha—University of Wisconsin, Ruth Nolte, 235 Langdon, Madison, Wis.
Wisconsin Beta—Beloit College, Anne Knoll, Centennial Hall Beloit, Wis.
Wisconsin Beta—Beloit College, Claire Magner, Russell Sage Hall, Appleton, Wis.
Illimois Alpha—Monmouth College, Claire McIntosh, Grier Hall, Monmouth, III.
Illimois Beta Dellae—Knox College, Frances Gordon, 158 W. Tombkins, Galesburg III.
Illimois Beta Dellae—Northwestern University, Barbara Heil, North Shore Hotel, Evanston, III.
Illimois Zeta—University of Illinois, Sheila McMurray, 1005 S. Wright St., Champaign, III.
Illimois Tat—James Milikin University, Joan Jackson, 235 N. Fairyiew, Decatur, III.
Illimois Theta—Bradley University, Joanne Beyer, 2018 Knoxville, Peoria, III.

THETA PROVINCE

President—Vera Lee Moss (Mrs. Everett O.), 340 Golfview, University Heights, Iowa Citv, Iowa.

Manisoba Alpha—University of Manisoba, Wilma Guitard, Box 56, Women's Res., Ft. Garry, Winnipeg, M
North Dakota Alpha—University of North Dakota, Mary Ann Phelps, 406 Hamline St., Grand Forks, N.D. Man., Can. Minnesota Alpha—University of Minnesota, Joan Witte, 5345 Zenith Ave. S., Minneapolis, Minn. Iowa Alpha—Iowa Wesleyan University, Betty Stevens, Hershey Hall, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa. Iowa Beta—Simpson College, Beverly Crawford, 406 N. Buxton, Indianola, Iowa. Iowa Gamma—Iowa State College, Margaret Leveson, 208 Ash Ave., Ames. Iowa. Iowa Iowa Zeta—University of Iowa, Natal.e Hennessy, 350 Macgowan, Iowa City, Iowa.

IOTA PROVINCE

President—Lucille Nitsche Junge (Mrs. Carl L.), 2648 High St., Lincoln 2, Neb.
South Dakota Alpha—University of South Dakota, Delores Drabek, 118 W. Plum, Vermillion, S.D.
Nebraska B.1a—University of Nebraska, Barbara Gardner, 2220 Harrison Ave., Lincoln. Neb.
Kansas Alpha—University of Kansas, Margaret Granger, 1246 Mississippi, Lawrence, Kan.
Kansas State College of Agriculture and Applied Science. Catherine Merrill, 503 Denison, Manhattan, Kan.
Colorado Alpha—University of Colorado, Nancy Whitman, 890 11th St., Boulder, Colo.
Colorado Beta—University of Denver, Donna Rabinoff, 235 S. Clarkson, Denver, Colo.
Wyoming Alpha—University of Wyoming, Shirlev Olsen, Pi Beta Phi House, Laramie, Wyo.
Utab Alpha—University of Utah, Janet Dean, 1369 Princeton Ave., Salt Lake City, Utah.

KAPPA PROVINCE

President—Mildred Odell Sale (Mrs. Clarence M.), 3709 Lenox Dr., Fort Worth 7, Tcx.
Oklaboma Alpha—University of Oklahoma, Beverly Phillips, 702 Lahoma, Norman, Okla.
Oklaboma Beta—Oklahoma Agricultural and Mechanical College, Carol Larkin, 923 College Ave., Stillwater, Okla.
Arkansas, Alpha—University of Arkansas, Jane Longino, Pi Beta Phi House, Fayetteville, Ark.
Texas Alpha—University of Texas, Betty Bollman, 2106 Pearl, Austin, Tex.
Texas Beta—Southern Methodist University, Diane Cook, 3336 Bryn Mawr, Dallas, Tex.
Louisiana Alpha—Newcomb College, Chioe Lain Ellis, 8226 Neron Pl., New Orleans, La.
Louisiana Beta—Louisiana State University, Shirley Doan, P.O. Box 7553, L.S.U., Baton Rouge, La.

LAMBDA PROVINCE

President—Emily Babcock Draper (Mrs. E. M.), 4007 48th, N.E., Seattle 5, Wash,
Albesta Allpha—University of Alberta. Dawn Eckert, 11126—90 Ave., Edmonton, Alta., Can.,
Montana Alpha—Montana St et College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts. Barbara Chesney, Quad D, Bozeman, Mont.
Idabo Alpha—University of Idaho, Beverly Brainard, Pi Beta Phi, Moscow, Idaho.
Wasbington Alpha—University of Washington, Grace Bovee, 5127 Latimer Pl., Seattle, Wash.
Wasbington Beta—Washington State College, Frances Barnes, 707 Linden Ave., Pullmon, Wash.
Wasbington Beta—University of Puget Sound Nancy Riehl. 1 East Road. Tacoma, Wash.
Oregon Alpha—University of Oregon, Roberta Tussing. 1518 Kincaid St., Eugene. Ore.
Oregon Beta—Oregon State College, Eleanor Abplanalp, Pi Beta Phi, Corvallis, Ore.
Oregon Gamma—Willamette University, Shirley Wiest, 1445 State St., Salem, Ore.

MU PROVINCE

President—Olga Charles Siburg (Mrs. William), P.O. Box 207, Vista, Calif.
California Beta—University of California, Joan Crawford 2325 Piedmont Ave., Berkeley, Calif.
California Gamma—University of Southern California, Patricia Coghlan, 647 W. 28th St., Los Angeles, Calif.
California Della—University of California at Los Angeles, Barbara Handorf, 700 Hilgard Ave., Los Angeles 24. Calif.
California Ebillom—San Dieso State College, San Dieso, Calif., Sheila lo McKinney, 425 10th St., Coronado, Calif.
Nevada Alpha—University of Nevada, Lois Bates, 869 Sierra St., Reno, Nev.
Arizona Alpha—University of Arizona, Margaret Rice, 1035 N. Mountain, Tucson, Ariz.
New Mexico Alpha—University of New Mexico, Patricia Scanlan, 3629 Campus Blvd., Albuquerque, N.M.



Alumnae Department Directory

Secretary for the Alumnæ and Grand Vice-President-Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 2021 Belmont Rd., Washington,

D.C.

Director of Extension—Marie Bacon Hagee (Mrs. George M.), 7135 Maryland Dr., University City 5, Mo. Alumna Club Editor—Virginia Sherman Kozak (Mrs. Andrew), 728 S. Crouse Ave., Syracuse 10, N.Y. Send letters for March Arrow to Mrs. Kozak by January 10.

Send letters for May Arrow to Mrs. Kozak by March 5.

Alumna Personals—In charge of Central Office, 410 Standard Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Send Personals which include notices of marriages, births and deaths to the Central Office.

For September Arrow send by July 1.

For December Arrow send by Cotober 10.

For March Arrow send by January 10,

For May Arrow send by March 5.

Alumnæ Club Corresponding Secretaries

* No officer list received.

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Vice-President—Erminie L. Pollard, Proctorsville, Vt.
*Boston, Mass.—Mrs. J. T. Sullivan, 71 Waban Park, Newton, Mass.
Buslington, Vt.—Mrs. Philip Cullins, 78 Adams St., Burlington, Vt.
Eastern Maine—Mrs. David Griffin, Star Route Cabins, Orono, Me.
Halifax, N.S.—Joan Walker, 50 Norwood St., Halifax, N.S.
Hartford, Conn.—Genevieve Elmer, 131 Beacon St., Hartford, Conn.
Montreal, Quebec—Mrs. Fred Gibson, 1085 Graham Blvd., Mount Royal, P.Q.
New Haven, Conn.—Mrs. Carl Lauppe, Pawson Park, Branford, Conn.
Portland, Maine—Frances Andrews Gay, R.F.D. 5, Portland, Me.

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

Vice-President—Edna Olson Archibald (Mrs. Fred), 384 Loudon Rd., Loudonville, N.Y.

Albany, N.Y.—Mrs. R. W. Wilson, 147 S. Lake Ave., Albany, N.Y.

Buffalo, N.Y.—Mrs. Marvin Payton, 390 McKinley Ave., Kenmore 17, N.Y.

London, Ont., Can.—Mrs. Harold Mustard, Cleve Court, Central Ave., London, Ont.

New York City, N.Y.—Mrs. James Lee, 22 Ivy Way, Port Washington, N.Y.

Northern New Jersey—Mrs. Harold K. Philips, 3 Wyndham Rd., Short Hills, N.J.

Pougbkee psie, N.Y.—Mrs. R. W. Hadden, 82 Davis Ave., Poughkeepsie, N.Y.

*Rochester, N.Y.—Mrs. Richard Thompson, 75 Dorbeth Rd., Rochester, N.Y.

Schenectady, N.Y.—Mrs. D. F. Timberlake, 1017 Roberta Rd., Schenectady, N.Y.

Syracuse, N.Y.—Mrs. G., Chaffee, 2827 E. Genesee St., Syracuse, N.Y.

Toronto, Ont., Can.—Mrs. Gordon M. Duncan, 44 Heath St. E., Toronto, Ont.

Westchester County, N.Y.—Mrs. Joseph C. Hinsey, 156 Brewster Rd. Scarsdale, N.Y.

BETA PROVINCE

BETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Edith Hoyer Rankin (Mrs. Allen R.), 2185 Cambridge Blvd., Columbus 12, Ohio. Albon., Obio—Mrs. L. D. Handschy, 1895 Goodyear Blvd., Akron, Ohio.

Albon., Obio—Esther Wilson Harris Rock, 34 Morris Ave., Athens., Ohio.

Central Pennsylvania—Mrs. W. D. Blake, 226 Harrison St., Lewisburg, Pa.

Charleston, W.Va.—Mrs. H. B. Kinison, 1520 Kanawha Blvd., Charleston, W.Va.

Cincinnati, Obio—Mrs. Robert Kendall, 1342 Grace Ave., Cincinnati 8, Ohio.

Cleveland East, Obio—Mrs. William I. Morgan, 135 E. 233 St., Cleveland 23, Ohio.

Cleveland West, Obio—Jeannette Curtis, Hotel Westlake, Rocky River 16, Ohio.

Columbus, Obio—Mrs. Douglas Reinhart, 2674 Rugby Rd., Columbus 12, Ohio.

Dayton, Obio—Mrs. Douglas Reinhart, 2674 Rugby Rd., Dayton, Ohio.

Fairmons, W.Va.—Mrs. William Wilson, 701 Fairmont Ave., Apt. #5, Fairmont, W.Va.

Harriburg-Carbile, Pa.—Mrs. Willis Hinckley, 103 Penrose St., Progress, Pa.

Maboning Valley, Obio—Mrs. C. A. Covington, Jr., 80 Melrose Ave., Youngstown, Ohio.

Morgantown, W.Va.—Mrs. Harry Muldoon, Beverly Ave., Morgantown, W.Va.

Oxford, Obio—Mrs. Merl E. Sayers, 204 N. Main St., Oxford, Ohio.

Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. Robert Ritterhoff, 733 Lawson Ave., Havertown, Pa.

Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. Robert Ritterhoff, 733 Lawson Ave., Havertown, Pa.

Pittsburgh, Pa.—Helen Weibley, 4805 Ellsworth Ave., Pittsburgh 13, Pa.

South Hills, Pittsburgh, Pa.—Mrs. E. D. Osbourne, Trotwood Acres, R.D. #9, Pittsburgh 16, Pa.

Toledo, Obio—Mary Patricia Dolan, 1052 Prospect, Toledo, Ohio.

GAMMA PROVINCE

GAMMA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Marie Tunstall Lingo (Mrs. B. Harrison), 1731 Lanier Pl. N.W., Washington, D.C. Baltimore, Md.—Mrs. Wilbur P. Ulle, 200 E. 34th St., Baltimore 18, Md. Chapel Hill, N.C.—Mrs. E. K. Powe, III, Hooper Lane, Chapel Hill, N.C. Charlotte, N.C.—Mrs. R. L. Young, 2021 Ashland Ave., Charlotte, N.C. C. Columbia, S.C.—Mrs. W. T. Mikell, Jr., Rt. 1, Box 28B, West Columbia, S.C. Durham, N.C.—Mrs. R. F. Kibler, No. 12, Ambassador Apts., Durham, N.C. Norfolk, Va.—Mrs. W. E. Wood, 116-C Cromwell Parkway, Norfolk, Va. Richmond, Va.—Mrs. Johnson C. Moss, 1007 Malvern Ave., Richmond 21, Va. Washington, D.C., Sr.—Mrs. George J. Cleaveland, 3504 Woodley Road, Washington 16, D.C. Washington, D.C., Jr.—Agnes L. Profitt, 4411 Klingle St. N.W., Washington 16, D.C. Wilmington, Del.—Mrs. J. C. Sauer, 2 Guest Lane, Wilmington, Del.

DELTA PROVINCE

DELTA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Virginia Brackett Green (Mrs.), 2650 Sutherland, Indianapolis, Ind.

Ann Arbor, Mich.—Janet Cork, 2034 Day, Ann Arbor, Mich.

Bloom field Hills, Mich.—Mrs. W. S. McNary, 8747 Borgman, Huntington Woods, Mich.

Bloomington, Ind.—Mrs. T. A. Black, 510 E. Kirkwood, Bloomington, Ind.

Detroit, Mich.—Mrs. M. A. Guenin, 17160 Warrington, Detroit 21, Mich.

Fort Wayne, Ind.—Margaret Kuntz, 1253 Rudisill, Fort Wayne, Ind.

Franklin, Ind.—Mrs. Barnett Fox, 50 W. Madison, Franklin, Ind.

Gary, Ind.—Mrs. R. K. Gerometta, 570 Vermont St., Gary, Ind.

Grand Rapids, Mich.—Mrs. F. C. Lindberg, 457 Paris Ave. S. E., Grand Rapids 3, Mich.

Indianapolis, Ind.—Mrs. J. Harold Pearce, 816 N. Audabon, Indianapolis, Ind.

Indianapolis, Ind.—Mrs. Hugh Federer, 1119 S. West Ave., Jackson, Mich.

Lajayette, Ind.—Ruth Carter Bundy (Mrs.), 115 E. Columbia St., West Lafayette, Ind.
Lansing and East Lansing, Mich.—Mrs. R. E. Augustus, 1822 Fletcher St., Lansing, Mich.
*Northern Indiana—Mrs. Mark Disosway, 113 S. Seventh St., Goshen, Ind.
Richmond, Ind.—Mrs. D. H. Lay, 212 S. 16th St., Richmond, Ind.
Solehbyville, Ind.—Mrs. N. F. Richard, 453 W. Washington, Shelbyville, Ind.
Southeastern Indiana—Mrs. D. C. Shazer, 506 N. East St., Greensburg, Ind.
Southwestern Indiana—Mrs. Harry King, 329 Euclid Dr., Evansville, Ind.

EPSILON PROVINCE

EPSILON PROVINCE

Vice-President—Alice Weber Mansfield (Mrs. William H.), 621 S. Rock Hill Road, Webster Groves, Mo. Blue Ridge—Mrs. George Sutherland, Big Stone Gap, Va.
Chattanooga, Tenn.—Peggy Osborn, 1703 Hixon Rd., Chattanooga, Tenn.
Columbia, Mo.—Queen Smith, 501 Rollins, Columbia, Mo.
Kansas City, Mo.—Mrs. George H. Wood, 7115 Village Drive, Mission, Kan.
Knoxeille-Little Pigeon, Tenn.—Mrs. Charles Clement, 1821 Melrose Ave., Knoxville, Tenn.
Louisville, Ky.—Mrs. J. R. Williams, 3315 Grandview Ave., Louisville 7, Ky.
Memphis, Tenn.—Mrs. Hugh Finch, 2670 Guernsey, Memphis, Tenn.
Nashville, Tenn.—Marylou Gardner, Woodmont Blvd., Nashville, Tenn.
St. Louis, Mo.—Mrs. William Cady, Jr., 6226 Southwood, St. Louis 5, Mo.
Springfield, Mo.—Mrs. Larue Savage, 437 S. Weller, Springfield, Mo.
Tri-State—Mrs. R. V. Whisnand, 407 Empire, Joplin, Mo.

ZETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Marguerite Blocker Bartlett (Mrs. George W.), 126-22nd Ave. N.E., St. Petersburg. Fla. Atlanta, Ga.—Mrs. B. C. Wainwright, 2035 Northside Drive N.W., Atlanta, Ga. Birmingham, Ala.—Mrs. John McIntosh, 10 Memory Lane, Birmingham, Ala. Mrs. Clinton R. Lake, 444 S. Atabama Ave., DeLand, Fla. Gainesville, Fla.—Mrs. J. W. Evans, 213 B. Fla. Vet. III, Gainesville, Fla. Jakesonville, Fla.—Elizabeth West, 2740 Riverside Ave., Jacksonville, Fla. Jakesonville, Fla. Wissonville, Fla.—Wissonville, Fla.—Wissonville, Fla.—Mrs. Seaborn Wade, 346 N.E. 105th St., Miami Shores, Fla. Miami, Fla.—Mrs. Robert Searle, 64 Bradford Ave., Mobile, Ala. Ocala, Fla.—Anita Caldwell, 607 S. Tuscawilla St., Ocala, Fla.
Ocala, Fla.—Mrs. Robert Searle, 328 Ruth St., Orlando, Fla. St. Petersburg, Fla.—Mrs. Keyes Aton, 555-26th Ave. N., St. Petersburg, Fla.—Mrs. Sidney Tritschler, 709 El Rancho St., Tallahassee, Fla.
Tallahassee, Fla.—Mrs. F. W. Casey, Jr., 3324 Marlin Ave., Tampa, Fla.

ETA PROVINCE

ETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Florence Gamble Lauder (Mrs. Charles E.), 304 E. Detroit, Monmouth, Ill.

Avon, Ill.—(Libbie Brook Gaddis)—Mrs. Stanley Manning, Box 381, Avon, Ill.

Beloit, Wii.—Mary E. Gharrity, 823½ Church St., Beloit, Wis.

Carthage, Ill.—Miriam E. Williams, 410 N., Madison. Carthage, Ill.

Chicago Business Women, Ill.—Cornelia D. Scheid, Hotel La Salle, Chicago 2, Ill.

Chicago Business Women, Ill.—Chornelia D. Scheid, Hotel La Salle, Chicago 2, Ill.

Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. H. N. Corbett, 7039 Crandon Ave., Chicago 40, Ill.

Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. H. N. Corbett, 7039 Crandon Ave., Chicago 49, Ill.

Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. L. H. Norton, 4013 Grand Ave., Western Springs, Ill.

Diecatur, Ill.—Mrs. James T. Nally, 653 W. Macon, Decatur, Ill.

DuPage County, Ill.—Marian Nelson Golseth, 325 Hagans Ave., Elmhurst, Ill.

Elgin, Ill.—Mrs. C. M. Martin, 391 Fulton St., Elgin, Ill.

Fox River Valley, Wiz.—Mrs. Walter Parker, 1030 W. Franklin St., Appleton, Wis.

Galesburg, Ill.—Mrs. R. G. Stebbins, 64 E. Brooks St., Galesburg, Ill.

Illinois Fox River Valley, Ill.—Rosemary Fulton, 324 Commonwealth, Aurora, Ill.

*Jacksonville, Ill.—(Amy Burnham Onken)—Mrs. C. Rhodes, 230 Vandalia Rd., South Jacksonville, Ill.

Madison, Wiz.—Lillie G. McCormick, 4202 Wanetah Trail, Madison, Wis.

Milwankee, Wiz.—Mrs. Warren Seybold, 4339 A. N. 14th St., Milwaukee, Wis.

Monmonth, Ill.—Mrs. Robert M. Grier, Box 235, Monmouth, Ill.

North Shore, Ill., Jr.—Bernice A. Johnson, 445 Ridge Ave., Evanston, Ill.

Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.—Sue Parthemer, 208 S.E. Ave., Oak Park, Ill.

Peoria, Ill.—Mrs. H. C. Engle, 207 S. Glenwood Ave., Peoria, Ill.

Springfield, Ill.—Nrs. Harry Kelton, 3100 E. State Street Rd., Rockford, Ill.

Springfield, Ill.—Norma G. Shuster, 1302 S. Grand West, Springfield, Ill.

THETA PROVINCE

THETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Helen Wright Grant (Mrs. G. A.), 1111 North B St., Indianola, Iowa.

Ames, Iowa—Mrs. D. S. Triplett, 1004 Ridgewood, Ames, Iowa.

Burlington, Iowa—Mrs. D. S. Triplett, 1004 Ridgewood, Ames, Iowa.

Burlington, Iowa—Mrs. L. D. Weld, 1838 Blake Blvd. S.E., Cedar Rapirs, Iowa.

**Council Blufs, Iowa—Mrs. L. D. Weld, 1838 Blake Blvd. S.E., Cedar Rapirs, Iowa.

**Council Blufs, Iowa—Mrs. K. J. Dawson, 3317 Crocker, Des Moines, Iowa.

**Des Moines, Iowa—Mrs. K. J. Dawson, 3317 Crocker, Des Moines, Iowa.

**Duluth, Minn.-Superior, Wis.—Mrs. E. A. Kefgen, 2345 Woodland Ave., Duluth, Minn.

**Grand Forks, N.D.—Mrs. B. P. McDermott, 1821 Viets Ave., Grand Forks, N.D.

Indianola, Iowa—Mrs. Homer Stone, R.R. 3, Indianola, Iowa.

Iowa City, Iowa—Naomi Hoult, 729 N. Dubuque St., Iowa City, Iowa.

Minneapolis, Minn.—Mrs. Hartley R. Forrest, 3220 Jersey Ave., St. Louis Park, Minneapolis, Minn.

Minneapolis Evening—Mrs. J. J. Kilpatrick, West Point, Tonka Bav. Rt. 2, Excelsior, Minn.

Mt. Pleasant, Iowa—Mrs. P. C. Desenberg, 300 N. Main St., Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.

Mt. Pleasant, Iowa—Mrs. V. L. Lydon, 436 Portland Ave., St. Paul, Minn.

Sionx City, Iowa—Minerva Hastings Luikhart, 3411 Jones, Sioux City, Iowa,

Tri City (Rock Island, Moline, Ill., Davenport, Iowa)—Mrs. C. B. Bishop, 51 Glenwood Ave., Davenport, Iowa.

Winnipeg, Man., Can.—Mrs. A. R. Morison, 554 Elm St., Winnipeg, Man., Can.

IOTA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Marie Quillin Divisek (Mrs. Frank O.), 491 S. Race St., Denver 9, Colo. Boulder, Colo.—Mrs. R. W. Theis, 1001 Pleasant St., Boulder, Colo. Casper, Wyo.—Mrs. Robert Trowe, 830 W. 20th St., Casper, Wyo. Cheyenne, Wyo.—Mrs. John Weppner, 400 West First Ave., Cheyenne, Wyo. Colorado Sperigs. Colo.—Mrs. C. E. Nelson. Jr., Fountain. Colo. Denver, Colo.—Mrs. Ward Chadwick, 1738 Ivanhoe St., Denver, Colo.—Fort Collins, Colo.—Mrs. Fred M. Smith, 531 E. Laurel, Fort Collins, Colo.

Hutchinson, Kan.—Mrs. W. S. Holmes, 521 E. Sherman St., Hutchinson, Kan. Kansas City, Kan.—Mrs. Rov A. Edwards, Jr., 1024 N, 24th, Kansas City, Kan. Laramie, Wyo.—Patricia Sullivan, 1012 Grand Ave., Laramie, Wyo. Lawrence, Kan.—Mrs. Charles Radcliffe, 2232 Vermont, Lawrence, Kan. Lincoln, Neb.—Mrs. Ernest Walt, 3095 Stratford, Lincoln, Neb.—Mrs. Fr. S. Madson, 1284 24th St., Ogden, Utah. Ogden, Utah.—Mrs. F. S. Madson, 1284 24th St., Ogden, Utah. Omaba, Neb.—Mrs. J. L. Saggau 3324 Center St., Omaha, Neb., Pueblo, Colo.—Adrian Comer, 412 Carlile Ave., Pueblo, Colo.—Sall Lake City, Utah.—Sally Ralph, 35 S. 7th East, Salt Lake City, Utah. Topeka, Kan.—Mrs. Otis N. Gregg, 1160 Collins, Topeka Kan.
Vermillion, S.D.—Mrs. L. G. Nash, A-201 Dakota St., Vermillion, S.D. Wichita, Kan.—Mrs. D. L. Baugh, 522 N. Lorraine, Wichita, Kan.

KAPPA PROVINCE

Wichita, Kan.—Mrs. D. L. Baugh, 522 N. Lorraine, Wichita, Kan.

KAPPA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Theresa Gibson Graham (Mrs. Thomas E.), 3324 W. 18th St., Oklahoma City, Okla. Austin, Tex.—Mrs. William J. Williams, 608 Sunset Dr., Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex.—Mrs. Morgan Nesbitt, 1907 Pearl St., Austin, Tex.

Batrlesville, Okla.—Mrs. R. W. Stewart. 1525 Dewey Ave., Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La.—Mrs. R. P. Lyle, 263 Hearthstone Dr., Baton Rouge, La.

Baton Rouge, La.—Mrs. R. P. Lyle, 263 Hearthstone Dr., Baton Rouge, La.

Baton Rouge, La.—Mrs. William Cousins, 905 Ohio, Apt. \$5, Corpus Christi, Tex.

**Crowier Ridge, Ark.—Mrs. David Block, Jr. W. nne. Ark.

**Dallas, Tex.—Mrs. A. James Davis, 3821 Southwestern Blvd., Dallas, Tex.

**El Dorado, Ark.—Mrs. Henry S. Yocura, Jr., 327 W. Oak. El Dorado Ark.

**Fayetteville, Ark.—Mrs. Ralbh E. Weddington, 350 Highland Ave., Fayetteville, Ark.

**Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. C. Cunningham. 2700 Rogers, Fort Worth, Tex.

**Houston, Tex.—Mrs. E. L. Thompson, 2327 Claremont Lane, Houston 19, Tex.

**Lake Charles. La.—Mrs. E. R. Flanagan, 823 Kirl-man St., Lake Charles. La.

**Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. Charles H. Garner, 145 Fairview Rd., Little Rock, Ark.

**McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. H. E. Childers, Co/o Childers Motor Co. McAlester, Okla.

**Muthovee, Okla.—Mrs. H. E. Childers, Ir., 1712 W. Cuthbert, Midland, Tex.

**Muthovee, Okla.—Mrs. H. C. Childers, Ir., 1712 W. Cuthbert, Midland, Tex.

**Norman, Okla.—Mrs. H. W. Volker 1019 McFarland, Norman, Okla.

**Obsenda, Ark.—Mrs. Irtie Driver Oscola Ark.

**Norman, Okla.—Mrs. Ouentin Pulliam, 703 N. Seminole, Okmulgee, Okla.

**Norman, Okla.—Mrs. Ouentin Pulliam, 703 N. Seminole, Okmulgee, Okla.

**Oscrola Ark.—Mrs. Irtie Driver Oscola Ark.

**Pauls Valley, Okla.—Mrs. Ouentin Pulliam, 703 N. Seminole, Okmulgee, Okla.

**Oscrola Ark.—Mrs. Irtie, Driver Oscola Ark.

**Pauls Valley, Okla.—Mrs. Ouentin Pulliam, 703 N. Seminole, Okmulgee, Okla.

**Norman, Okla.—Mrs. Irtie, Driver Oscola Ark.

**Pauls Valley, Okla.—Mrs. Dreve L. Valley, Okla.

LAMBDA PROVINCE

LAMBDA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Louise Wheelock Dobler (Mrs. Clare R.). 3523 Federal Ave., Everett, Wash.
Bellingham, Wash.—Mrs. Robert McConnell 2431 Kul-han St.. Bellingham, Wash.
Boise Idaho.—Mrs. Robert D Campbell. 1104 N. 18th St., Boise, Idaho.
Bozeman, Mont.—Flizabeth Gary. 402 S. Black. Bozeman. Mont.

*Botte-Anaconda—Mrs. I. W. Wedin 630-D S. Jackson, Butte, Mont.
Calgary. Alta., Can.—Mrs. Muriel Sinclair. Connaught Ants. R.-c. Calgary, Alta., Can.
Corvallis, Ore.—Mrs. Ralph Feelev. 605 Van Buren Corvallis, Ore.
Edmonton. Alta., Can.—Audrey Miller, 11117-80 Ave., Edmonton, Alta.
Engene. Ore.—Mrs. James Kline. 1607 Agate St., Eugene. Ore.
Everett. Wash.—Mrs. C. A. McGlade, 4618 Fowler Court, Everett, Wash.
Medjord, Ore.—Mrs. Stuart McOucen, 2136 Hillcrest Medford. Ore.
Olympia, Wash.—Mrs. Kenneth Partlow. II. 2602 Washington St., Olympia. Wash.
Portland. Ore.—Mrs. Harold B. H-mit. 2114 S. E. Caruthers, Ant. 3, Portland, Ore.
Pullman, Wash.—Mrs. H. B. Busdicker, 31 Hillcrest Ants., Pullman, Wash.
Salem, Ore.—(Nancy Black Wallace).—Mrs. R. H. Sponene. 1739 Martet St., Salem, Ore.
Spokane, Wash.—Mrs. R. I., Von Lossow. 853 Gwinn Place Seattle 2, Wash.
Spokane, Wash.—Mrs. Arline Campbell Manning, W. 1211 10th Ave., Spokane, Wash.
Tacoma, Wash.—Mrs. Arline Campbell Manning, W. 1211 10th Ave., Spokane, Wash.
Vancover, B. C., Can.—Kathleen MacLeod. 1003 Nicola St., Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
Wenatchee, Wash.—Mrs. I. O. Nicholaon. Box 576 Wenstchee, Wash.
MU PROVINCE

MU PROVINCE

MU PROVINCE

Nice-Pessidem—Marcella McCormick Rhodes (Mrs. L. C.), Box 20 Contra Costa Golf Club, Concord, Calif.

Albuquerque, N.M.—Mrs. M. F. Farris, 1800 Las Lomas Rd. Albuquerque, N.M.

Berkeley, Calif.—Mrs. Paul Morken, 5867 Ocean View Dr., Oakland, Calif.

Centinela Valley. Calif.—Mrs. R. T., Chadii 2505 Palm Ave., Manhattrn Beach, Calif.

Contra Costa, Calif.—Mrs. E. I. Molloy, 475 Oak Park Blvd., Walnut Creek, Calif.

Fl Paso. Tex.—Mrs. Charles Hammond, 3244 Richmond St., El Paso, Tex.

Fresno. Calif.—Mrs. Thomas Mrsson, 5018 I surel, Fresno, Calif.

Glemdale, Calif.—Mrs. Iohn Valentine, 1556 Puebla Dr., Glendale, Calif.

Honolulu, T.H.—Mrs. George W. Dew., 2417-B Sonoma Dr., Honolulu, T.H.

Lorg Beach, Calif.—Mrs. G. H. Mangold, 23533 Maribel, Wilmington, Calif.

Los Anveles, Calif.—Mrs. J. W. Green 10456 Ilona Ave., Los Angeles 25 Calif.

Marin Countr. Calif.—Mrs. F. T. Foestw., 27 Corte Morada, San Rafael, Calif.

Palo Alto. Calif.—Mrs. W. B.-Il., 2034 Columbia St., Palo Alto. Calif.

Pasadena, Celif.—Mrs. W. T. Bethman, 865 Elivabeth St., Pasadena Calif.

Phoenix Ariz.—Mrs. Robert M. Honner, 1545 W. Avalon Dr., Phoenix, Ariz.

Reno. Nev.—Betty Tracy, 315 Circle Dr., Reno, Nev.

Roswell, N.M.—Mrs. Robert V. Flv., 411 North Kansas, Roswell, N.M.

Sacramento, Calif.—Mrs. A. A. Watson, 1330 39th St., Sacramento, Calif.

San Bernardino, Calif.—Mrs. P. A. Ratcliff, 842 Bussey St., San Bernardino, Calif.
San Diego, Calif.—Mrs. W. R. Tinker, 1435 Robinson Ave., San Diego, Calif.
San Fernando Valley, Calif.—Mrs. Vierling Kersey, Jr., 5842 Halbrent Ave., Van Nuys, Calif.
*San Francisco, Calif.—Mrs. Iohn G. Buresh 131 Bucareli Dr. San Francisco, Calif.
San Jose, Calif.—Mrs. Randolph Keim, 2017 Coastland Ave., San Jose, Calif.
San Mateo County, Calif.—Mrs. Les Frame 420 Helen Dr., Millbrae, Calif.
Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif.—Mrs. Ruth Ellen Porter Jones, 2914 Paseo Tranquillo, Santa Barbara, Calif.
Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif.—Mrs. Ruth Ellen Porter Jones, 2914 Paseo Tranquillo, Santa Barbara, Calif.
Santa Monite-Westwood, Calif.—Mrs. G. P. Benz 1126 Monument St., Pacific Palisades Calif.
South Coast Club (Laguna Balboa, Newport Beach), Calif.—Mrs. Harold Borchenius, 123 Crystal, Balboa Island, Calif.
Tucson, Ariz.—Mrs. D. W. Neubauer, 3017 E. Loretta Dr., Tucson, Ariz.

Send all subscriptions for magazines to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Central Office, 410 Standard Building, Decatur, Illinois.

Have you seen the Holt House film? Clubs and chapters may have it loaned to them by writing to the member of the Holt House Committee in charge—Address in Directory pages of this issue.

OFFICIAL CALENDARS

Communications for the Central Office should be addressed: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois. For addresses of other officers, consult the Fraternity Directory immediately following the Official Calendar in this issue.

ACTIVE

Send checks for initiation fees to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois. Make checks for Senior dues payable to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, and send to the Central Office. Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to her.

Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to her Make checks for Scholarship Fund payable to the Central Office and send there.

Make checks for the Holt House payable to the treasurer of Holt House Committee and send to her. Make checks for jewelry payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to that office.

Payment for badges in Canada is sent direct to Birks & Co. after order has been okeyed by the Pi Beta

Phi Central Office.

Make checks for magazine subscription payable to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois.

Notice to Canadian Chapters

Canadian chapters make all checks for payments of initiation fees, contributions to all funds, and payments for Bound Arrows and Treasurers' Bonds, payable to the Grand Treasurer, Mrs. Frank H. Prouty, 1760 Locust St., Denver 7, Colorado.

General Instructions

Chapter treasurers should see that the Financial Statements to Parents and Pledges are sent approximately two weeks before the proposed initiation. They should be sent only to the parents of the girls who have met the initiation requirements and whom the chapter definitely plans to initiate. This means too that the blanks should be sent only for the girls who have received the required vote of the Executive Council and the Alumnæ Advisory Committee for approval of initiation.

Chapter treasurers should see that badges are ordered through the Central Office. It takes six weeks or more, under present conditions, to complete badge orders. Badges for prospective members should not be added until all initiation requirements have been met.

not be ordered until all initiation requirements have been met.

Chapter treasurers should send the initiation fee for each initiate with Form GT1 to Central Office within three days of initiation. Canadian chapters send initiation fees to Mrs. Frank H. Prouty, 1760 Locust Street, Denver 7, Colorado.

Chapter Treasurers should send monthly reports to Busey Fraternity Accounting System.

The corresponding secretary should report to the Central Office changes in chapter officers if they

are made, any time during the year.

When college schedules make it impossible to comply exactly with fraternity calendar dates, chapter officers should contact Central Office, explain the situations, and receive special permission to vary from the established dates.

- SEPTEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province President. Chapter officers meet, read manuals, and prepare for college year.
- SEPTEMBER 25. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send to Province Scholarship Supervisor and to Province President letter giving plans for study and improvement in scholarship.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter corresponding secretary send list of actives to the Central Office.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter vice-president send Membership Lists to the Central Office.
- OCTOBER I. (or as soon after as possible). Chapter piedge supervisor send a list of piedges, on forms intended for that purpose, to the Director of Rushing and Piedge Training, and to the Central Office.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter corresponding secretary of chapters maintaining residences mail to Chairman of Committee on Chapterons, printed card concerning chapteron and also blank containing data on chapteron.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter treasurer see that Grand Treasurer's letter explaining dues and fees is sent to parents of actives and pledges with letter from chapter.
- OCTOBER I. Pledge sponsors send national and chapter letters to parents of pledges as soon as possible after pledging.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send report and pictures of honor students to National Scholarship Chairman, using Scholarship Blank #4. Send Copy to Province President also.
- OCTOBER 1. Corresponding secretary send to Director of Extension name and address of president of chapter's Mothers' Club.
- OCTOBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARBOW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by October 10.

- OCTOBER 10, Chapter president send letter and copy of Bylaws to the Province President.
- OCTOBER 10. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Central office if supplies for fall work have not been received. Chapter corresponding secretary return receipt for fall supplies to the Central Office as soon as the supplies are received.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter corresponding secretary send Fraternity Study and Examination Blank \$105 to the Province Supervisor of Fraternity Study and Examination not later than October 15 and before if possible.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Chairman of Committee on Transfers if chapter has or has not members transferring to other campuses, using official Introduction Transfer Blank for purpose. Also send to her a list of the names and present addresses of all other undergraduates who have not returned to the chapter.
- returned to the chapter.

 OCTOBER 15. Within two weeks after the close of formal rushing season, approximately October 15, retiring chapter rush captain report to the Province President the result of rushing and piedeing and report to the Province President and Central Office than an and address of the new rush captain. Within five days after piedeing she is also to send recommendation and consent to hid blank for each girl piedeed to Director of Rushing and Piedee Training.
- OCTOBER 15. Program chairmen submit plans to the Province President for chapter meeting programs for the first semester.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter treasurer send to the Pl Beta Phl Central Office \$5.00 to cover both the bond for the chapter treasurer and the bound ABROWS of preceding year.
- OCTOBER 15, Chapter treasurer send to Director of Extension report concerning delinquents, whether there are any, if sonames and amounts

- OCTOBER 15. Deadline for material for December ARROW.
- OCTOBER 26. Due to Mr. Paul Buser from chapter Treasurer: Summer-September Report (Laseament Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) and 2 codes of Budget Control Sheet from all chapters whose schools open before September 15.
- OCTOBER 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
- OCTOBER 30. Chapter pledge supervisor send letter to Province
- OCTOBER 30. Chapter president send form to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training stating that all employees handling food at the chapter house have passed a physical examination.
- NOVEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-
- NOVEMBER 10. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send to Province Supervisor, Province President and National Chairman copies of the new Scholarship Blank ži. Send earlier if possible.
- NOVEMBER 15. Pledge president send letter to Province President.
- NOVEMBER 20. Chapter social exchange chairman send material on Homecoming, Floats, Stunts, Formal Parties, Rushing, to Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.
- NOVEMBER 26, Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: October Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- NOVEMBER 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor,
- NOVEMBER 25. Chapter magazine chairman send subscriptions for Christmas delivery to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency. (This does not mean that subscriptions will not be received after this date, but it does mean that to insure Christmas delivery the subscriptions should be received at the agency by this date Y. this date.)
- DECEMBER 15. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
- DECEMBER 20, Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: November Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- ANUARY 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mali chapter letter for ARROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by January 10. JANUARY 5. Chapter
- JANUARY 9. Chapter Loyalty Day in honor of Carrie Chapman
- JANUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-
- JANUARY 15. Chapter pledge supervisor send letter to Province
- JANUARY 15. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Central Office if supplies for spring work have not been received. Return receivt for supplies to the Central Office immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.
- JANUARY 15. Chapter treasurer is responsible for the sending of the annual report of the Chapter House Corporation to the Counselor for Chapter House Corporations and the Province President, and for the sending of a \$5.00 fee for bonding the treasurer of the House Corporation. Blanks for the report will be sent to the treasurer of the House Corporation who makes out the report and sends the \$5.00 fee but the chapter treasurer must see that both reports and fees are sent.
- JANUARY 15, Deadline for material for March ARROW.
- JANUARY 15. Each senior graduating at mid-year is required to fill out a blank "Senior Application to an Alumnae Club Membership" and give the chapter treasurer \$1.00. The chapter treasurer is required to forward the Senior Application and money to the Central Office. Canadian chapters send Senior Dues and Applications to the Director of Rushing and Pledge
- JANUARY 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: December Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- JANUARY 25, Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
- FEBRUARY I. Plan for Active Fraternity Examination.
- FEBRUARY 10. Active chapter history material should be sub-mitted by chapter historian to the Assistant to the National His-torian and one copy to the Province President.
- FEBRUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-
- FEBRUARY 10. Final date for the election of chapter officers.
- FEBRUARY 13. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of officer list to Central Office.
- FEBRUARY 15. Final date for chapter president to send nomina-tion of candidates for the Amy Burnham Onken award to the Province President. (See Bulletin on Official Pi Beta Phi Awards.)
- FEBRUARY 15, Chapter activity chairman send report to the

- FEBRUARY 15. Program Chaleman submit plans for chapter meeting programs for the second semester.
- FEBRUARY 26. Due to Mr. Paul Buser from chapter Treasurer: January Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- FEBRUARY 25, Scholarship chalman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor,
- MARCH I. Chapter treasurer send to the Director of Extension a report concerning deliquents, whether there are any and if so names and amounts.
- MARCH I. Blank of Instructions of Officers should be filled out and sent to the Central Office.
- MARCH. Vice-president send to the Province President within 3 days after initiation a report that new membership cards have been placed in the card file.
- MARCH I (or Immediately after your somester opens). Chapter vice-president send one copy of Membership Lists to the Central Office.
- MARCH 1. (or immediately after your semester opens). Charter corresponding secretary send one copy of active list to the Central Office
- MARCH I. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARROW to reach the Chapter Letter Editor not later than March 5.
- MARCH 10, Chapter president send letter to the Province Presi-
- MARCH 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasures: February Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- MARCH 25, Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- MARCH 3i. Final date for mailing of annual fraternity ex-amination for active members to Province Supervisor of Fra-ternity Study and Examination.
- APRIL 5. Chapter corresponding secretary notify the Central Office if supplies for completing year's work have not been received. Return receipt for supplies to the Central Office immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.
- APRIL 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President,
- APRIL 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: March report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- APRIL 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
- APRIL 28, Founders' Day.
- MAY I, Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of Annual Chapter Report to the Central Office, Keep one copy for chap-ter files.
- MAY I. Order supplies for Department of Chapter A. for next year from Flanagan Pearson, Champaign, III.
- MAY 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President.
- MAY 10. Chapter social exchange chairman send material on Founders' Day to the Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.
- MAY 15. Final date for election of chapter officers.
- MAY 15. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of new officer list to the Central Office.
- MAY 15. Rush captain report to the Province President, out-lining plans for summer and fall rushing.
- MAY 15. Chapter activity chalrman report to the Province Presi-
- MAY 20. Each senior is required to fill out a blank called "Senior Application to an Alumne Ciub Membership," and give the chapter treasurer \$1.00. The chapter treasurer is required to forward the Senior Applications and money to the Central Office. Canadian chapters send Senior dues to the Director of Rushing and Piedge Training.
- MAY 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: April Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters,
- MAY 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- JUNE 1. Chapter president takes the pin of financially delinquent at the close of school. of any girl who is
- JUNE 10. Chapter historian submit chapter history to the Assistant to the National Historian and a copy to the Province President.
- JUNE 10. Copy of all printed or mimeographed builetina use for rushing must be approved in advance by the Grand Presi dent.
- JUNE 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President. Reports of Panhellenic delegates are requested semi-annually by the Grand President and blanks for the purpose are sent out to

ALUMNÆ

Make checks for national alumnæ dues payable to Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund payable to that fund and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for the Holt House payable to the Treasurer of Holt House Committee and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for jewelry payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to that office.

Payment for badges in Canada is sent direct to Birks & Co. after order has been O.K.ed by the Pi Beta Phi Central Office.

Make checks for magazine subscriptions payable to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, 410 Standard Office Building, Decatur, Illinois.

NOTICE TO CANADIAN ALUMNÆ CLUBS: CANADIAN ALUMNÆ CLUBS make all checks for payment of annual alumnæ dues and contributions to all projects payable to Mrs. Frank H. Prouty, 1760 Locust Street, Denver 7, Colorado.

- OCTOBER 10. Alumnse Club corresponding secretary send personals and in Memorian notices to the Central Office for the December ARROW.
- NOVEMBER 10. Alumnse club corresponding secretary mail club year book or program dates to the Grand Vice-President and Director of Extension, the Province Vice-President and to the Alumnse Club Editor.
- NOVEMBER 15. Alumnae Club treasurer send annual alumnae dues to Province Vice-President.
- NOVEMBER 25. Alumnse club magazine chairmen see that all subscriptions to magazines for Christmas delivery are sent by this date to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency.
- JANUARY 5, Alumnæ Club corresponding secretary prepare and send letter with club news and coming events in time to reach the Alumnæ Club Editor by January 5 for the March ARROW. Send Persona's and in Memoriam notices to the Central Office for March ARROW.
- JANUARY 9. Chapter Loyalty Day in honor of Carrie Chapman Catt.
- MARCH i, Election of officers should be held at the regular March meeting of the club, said officers to take office at the close of the club fiscal year. May 29, (Curr nt dues must have been paid by this date to enable one to vote at the annual election or be eligible for office.)

- MARCH 5. Alumns club corresponding secretary prepare and send letters with club news and coming events in time to reach the Alumnse Club Editor by March 5 for the May ARROW. Alumnse club corresponding secretary send Persona's and In Memoriam notices to the Central Office for the May ARROW.
- APRIL 15. Alumnse club national dues should be sent to the Province Vice-President, These must be received by this date to be included in current year's totals.
- APRIL 28, Founders' Day to be celebrated with the nearest active chapter or chapters.
- MAY 20, Club fiscal year ends, New officers' list should be sent by corresponding secretary to the Province Vice-President and the Central Office, (Earlier, if possible.) Please check to see that the corresponding secretary is a subscriber to the ARROW.
- MAY 20. Four questionnaires for annual report should have been filled out by the alumnse club president and returned as directed.
- MAY 20. Audit slips should be sent by the alumnæ club treasurer as directed in the Central Office letter.
- JULY 15. Alumnæ Club corresponding secretary send Personals and In Memoriam notices to the Central Office for the September ARROW.

Supplies of the Pi Beta Phi Fraternity

Unless otherwise designated (with price quotation), the supplies listed below will be furnished free wherever need of them is established. When payment accompanies order, supplies will be sent postpaid; otherwise statement for priced supplies will include a charge for postage.

ORDERS SHOULD BE ADDRESSED AS FOLLOWS:

TO GRAND PRESIDENT for: Blank applications for the fellowship Blank charters
Blank notification of fines to Chapter President
Blank notification of fines to Grand Treasurer
Voting blanks for chapters on granting of charters
Voting blanks for Grand Council

TO GRAND VICE PRESIDENT for:

Blank applications for alumnæ club charters Blank applications for Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarships Charters for alumnæ clubs

TO GRAND SECRETARY for:

Blank applications for Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scharships Cipher and key

of allowed expenses to those traveling on fraternity business

TO CHAIRMAN OF EXTENSION COMMITTEE for: Instructions to petitioning groups

TO FLANIGAN-PEARSON, PRINTERS. Champaign, Ill.,

Busey System and Accounting Blanks

TO MANGEL, Florist, Chicago, Ill., for: Pi Beta Phi Wine Carnations

TO PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY, 410 Standard Building, Decatur, Ill., for: Magazine Subscriptions (see latest prices in front of this issue of Arrow)

TO PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE, 410 Standard Building, Decatur 16, Ill., for:

uilding, Decatur 16, Ill., for:
Affiliation Ceremony
Alumnæ Advisory Committee Manual, 15¢
Alumnæ Advisory Officer Lists
Alumnæ Club Duties of Officers
Alumnæ Club Othcer Lists
Alumnæ Club Othcer Lists
Alumnæ Club Othcer Lists
Alumnæ Club Presidents' Notebook
Alumnæ Club Receipt Books (blue, triplicate receipts, no

Alumnæ Delegate Manual, 25¢
Arkows (from old files) . . . price to chapters for completing archives, 50¢; Special, temporary life subscription for alumnæ, \$7.50 Blanks:

Affiliation and Transfer Introduction Transfer Transfer Affiliation

Annual Report, due May 1 Broken Pledge

Broken Pledge
Chaperon
White card to be sent out in fall to chairman
Blank for Data on Chaperon
Application Blank for Chaperon
"The Relations Between a Chapter and Its Chaperon"
Uniform Duties of Chapter House Chaperon
Initiation Dues Blanks (GTI forms), 50¢
Chapter Officer Lists
Contents of Archive Lists

Chapter Officer Lists
Contents of Archives List
Credentials to Convention
Dismissal and Reinstatement Blanks
Automatic Probation
Automatic Dismissal
Dismissal

Expulsion Honorable Dismissal

Reinstatement Embossed Initiation Certificate (lost ones replaced, 50¢ each)

Fraternity Study and Examination Blanks, #105, #205, #305 Initiation Certificates

List of chapter members at the beginning at each term (Active Lists)
List of chapter members not returning to college at beginning of each term (V.P. Lists)

Officer Bill Forms Recommendation Blanks 15¢ for 25 Consent to Bid Blanks

Combination Blanks

Acknowledging letter of recommendation 15¢ for 25
Scholarship Blanks, #3, #4
Senior Applications for Membership in Alumnæ Club
Book of Initiates' Signatures (formerly called Bound Constitution) \$5.00 each. (Before ordering chapters must
have permission from Province President of Visiting Officer.)

Officer.)

Book of Pledges' Signatures, \$3.00 each

Candle Lighting Ceremony

Cards—for ordering supplies from Central Office, 1¢ each

Cards—Data on Recent Graduates, 1¢ each

Chapter File Cards 3 x 5 inches (in lots of not less

than 100; white, salmon and blue), 35¢ per 100

Chapter File Instruction Booklet, 15¢

Chapter Manual Lighter, \$1.50 each dozen.

Chapter File Instruction Booklet, 154
Chapter Manual, 154 each, \$1.30 per dozen
Chapter Officers' Manuals:
President (Ioose-leaf leather notebook)
Pledge Supervisor (Ioose-leaf leather notebook)
Vice-President, Corresponding Secretary, Recording Secretary, Treasurer, Historian, Rush Captain, Pledge Sponsor, Censor, Delegate, Magazine Chairman, Program Chairman, Chapter House Planning & Building, Social Charman, 254 each
Chapter Presidents' Calendar
Chapter Presidents' Reference Binder
Chapter Recording Secretary's Book \$4.95 (For minutes of meetings)

meetings) Constitution-Write for information and price

Cook Books, 60¢ (If purchased in dozen lots, 45¢ each) Dismissal Binder, \$3.50

Dismissal Binder, \$3.50
Financial Statement to Parents of Pledges
Founders' Day Play, with records, by Helen Hartley
California F
Historical Play, I. C. Sorosis, 50¢
Historian's Binder, \$3.00
Historian's note-book paper—1¢ per sheet
History of Pi Beta Phi, Bound issue \$3.00
Holt House Booklet, 50¢
House Rules for Chapters
"How to Order Jewelry," 25¢
Initiation Ceremony, 15¢ each, \$1.50 per dozen
Instructions to visiting officers
Letters to Parents of Pledges
Manual for Alumnæ Club Magazine Chairmen, 25¢
Manual of Instructions for Contributions to the Arrow, 25¢ 25€

Manual of Social Usage, 25¢
"My Seven Gifts to Pi Beta Phi," 5¢ each, 50¢ per dozen
Manuals for Standing Committees

Manuals for Standing Committees
Official Arrow chapter letter stationery, 15¢ per 25 sheets
Official Correspondence Stationery
Order forms for official badges and jewelry, 50¢
Outline for By-Laws of Active Chapters
Panhellenic Manual of Information
Pattern for model initiation gown, 50¢
Pi Beta Phi Symphony, 30¢
Pledge Book—50¢. This book includes questions and
answers for pledge examinations. A copy is furnished to
each pledge without charge. The 50¢ price is a replacement price for sale to members
Pledge Ritual, 20¢ per dozen
Pledging Ceremony, 10¢ each, \$1.00 per dozen
Policies and Standing Rules applying to active chapters
Receipts for Province Vice-Presidents, and Province Presidents

dents
ecord of Membership Book, full leather \$10.00. (Before
ordering, chapters must have permission from Province
President or Visiting Officer.)
fibbon: Write for information and prices Record

Ritual, 20¢ per dozen

Robes for initiation, \$4.50—now available—2 weeks notice.

Roll call of Chapters (One is included with each Pledge

Book ordered)
Senior Farewell Ceremony, 15¢ each
Social Exchange Bulletins

Study Aids, 5¢ each

(Not all supplies handled in the Central Office are listed. Write for further information if you wish supplies not listed.)

Relationship with ARROW Statistics Total members "lost" and discontinued 5,229 Total members whose names have been temporarily removed from the mailing list until time when an address is estab-Non-subscribers to ARROW: Address known1,783 Non-subscribers to ARROW: Address unknown 443 Total members of Pi Beta Phi now living and in good stand-Membership Statistics as of June 1, 1949 Total honorable dismissal reinstatements 11 Total honorable dismissals still in force130..130 Total dismissals in force 64 Total members of Pi Beta Phi now living in

THE ARROW OF PIBETA PHI

SEPTEMBER, 1949

VOLUME 66

NUMBER 1

Editorials

Convention

Convention will be held at Jasper Lodge, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada, June 25-July 1, 950.

Begin now to make your plans to go, to enjoy a rich fraternity experience and a rare vacation in the breath-taking Canadian Rockies, with our five Canadian chapters as hostesses. Announcements from the Guide with full details and hotel rates, pictures, etc., will appear in a special section of the December Arrow.

Announcements

Grand Council announces the following national awards:

Balfour Cup—Kansas Alpha Stoolman Vase—Iowa Beta

Philadelphia Vase-Wisconsin Beta

National Amy Burnham Onken Award—Joanne Lindberg, Oregon Beta (for chapter and province awards, see reports of the Province presidents.)

Scholarships:

Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarship, given by the Alumnæ Department, to Virginia Campbell, Michigan Beta.

Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scholarships, to Ann Marshall, Ohio Zeta; Joanne Johnston, Utah Alpha; Margaret Walker, Maryland Beta; Alice Robertson, Indiana Gamma; Annalee Schendorf, Illinois Epsilon.

California Alpha Scholarships to Betty Link, Michigan Alpha; Shirley King, Kansas Beta; Roberta Lee Starry, Iowa Beta.

Scholarships

"For the year 1950-51, the fraternity will award at least three Harriet Rutherford Johnstone undergraduate scholarships of \$300 each. Contributions from active chapters to these scholarships will add as many additional \$300 scholarships as they make possible. These scholarships are open to any undergraduate member of the fraternity. The award will be made by Grand Council on the basis of scholastic standing, service to one's chapter, need, and all around character and ability. Applications accompanied by photograph; transcript of college grades and recommendations from college professors, one's chapter, one's Alumnæ Advisory Committee, and other persons able to speak about the applicant's qualifications must be in the hands of the Grand Secretary not later than May 1, 1950. Blank forms for application for the scholarships may be obtained from the Grand Secretary at any time."

Pi Beta Phi Fellowship

For the year 1950-51 the Fraternity will offer one graduate fellowship with a value of \$500. The fellowship is open to any member of the Fraternity who has received her bachelor's degree,

and it may be used at any university which offers special opportunities in graduate work along

the line desired by its holder.

Two points will be considered by the Grand Council in awarding the fellowship: scholastic standing and all-around development of character with its resultant ability worthily to represent the Fraternity. Each applicant must state definitely the university she wishes to enter, the courses which she desires to pursue, and the ultimate aim of her graduate study.

Applications accompanied by photographs of applicants, transcripts of college grades, credentials from college professors, and other recommendations, must be in the hands of the Grand

President not later than January 1, 1948.

All material must be collected by the applicant and submitted as a whole. Blank forms for application for the fellowship may be obtained from the Grand President at any time. If she so desires, any applicant of former years who has not received the fellowship may make a new applica-

Join Your Alumnæ Club!

Have you ever stopped to think that membership in an alumnæ club of your fraternity is not only a privilege, but is a right conferred upon you at the time of your initiation? That it is a right

that should be exercised by every wearer of the Arrow whenever and wherever possible?

Study the membership statistics in this issue—the totals are vast, 46,874 are living and in good standing—but of those less than a fourth are paid members of the alumnæ association. What a power for good far beyond our present scope such a great organization as ours could be, if only a larger proportion of our membership belonged to our actively-functioning alumnæ clubs. What splendid rights Pi Beta Phi has given us, if we live up to our initiation pledges! They are rights with power to transform our lives and our whole process of thinking—the right of active membership in clubs made up of fine women, working to realize both national and local aims of service and of charity; the right to a recognized place in a group of carefully selected, cultured women; the right to endless possibilities for friendships which may be the closest ones of our lives; in short, the right to share in all the privileges which are inherent in a college fraternity!

If you live in a city or town where there exists one of Pi Phi's two hundred and thirty-one alumnæ clubs, join it and become active in its affairs; if you live too far from such a club, at least pay your national dues (\$2.00); if not already a subscriber to the Arrow, send in a subscription to central office, and profit by its information as to national affairs; and once a year if at all possible attend a Pi Phi function, perhaps Founders' Day or a State Meeting. Your national alumnæ association needs your support. Your local club will become stronger and more effective in its efforts through increased membership and activity, while you yourself will find deep satisfaction and

pleasure in Pi Phi association, and lots of fun, besides!

Let's aim for a doubling of alumnæ membership for this year, and as we sing in the last line of "Remember," "You'll ne'er regret!"

Two new chapters

By the time this issue is in your hands, two new chapters will have been installed, California Epsilon at San Diego State College, and Alabama Beta at the university of Alabama; and a third chapter will have been pledged, with its installation deferred until February-California Zeta, at the University of California at Santa Barbara-more about them all in later issues. They will be warmly welcomed by Pi Phis everywhere.

We economize

This must be a year of close economy for the Arrow, since low interest rates have not kept pace with rising costs-how often have we heard of that situation in our personal finances! In this issue we have done much cutting on various reports, especially in the long lists of chapter honors won during the past year. We have tried to be fair about it, but had to cut all but the most important class officers and almost all material as to work on publications, excepting editors in chief. From the province presidents' reports we have wherever possible without impairing the context, left out financial details (except for summaries), since the figures are given in the section of alumnæ province charts.

Watch for a special edition of the ARROW next Spring!

Waile Taylor alford

Better a Mediocre Plan with a Brilliant Leader than a Brilliant Plan with a Mediocre Leader

> From Greek Maxims, in Fraternity Month By JOHN O. MOSELEY, S. A. E., Alumni Secretary

This leadership maxim adapted from military science, is peculiarly applicable to fraternity administration. How often have we seen the best laid plans for a successful rushing season go awry because somebody failed somewhere along the line! How often does feeble leadership convert into total flops glowing prospects for triumphant Greek Week programs, mothers' week end house parties or founders' day banquets! How often does the chapter pledge training program produce another batch of pin wearers instead of men with the fraternity stamp upon their hearts and lives.

We are becoming a nation of planners. Bales of literature arrive monthly at chapter houses giving detailed directions for every fraternity operation. This is all to the good for the better the plan the better the chance for success. But in glorifying the plan, too often we forget the

man. No one will deny that the techniques of keeping accounts, preparing reports, organizing a rushing party and preparing for an initiation should be analyzed clearly in written form; but those who believe that these pretty brochures will run a fraternity are fooling only themselves.

Initiative, vision, imagination and emotion are a part of the tool kit of the successful leader. How does he get them in there? Ah—that is the rub! If you want a man to have initiative, rely on his initiative; if you want him to have imagination, appeal to his imagination; if you want him to have vision, make him see by extraordinary means those glories of corporate living and learning denied to those who see only with their eyes. Emotion which means moving away from self is the foster parent of brilliant leadership.

Report of Grand Council Meeting

THE annual meeting of the Grand Council of Pi Beta Phi was held at Decatur, Illinois, June 2, 6-13, 1949. The Council Meeting was recessed during the conference of Province Officers, June 3-5, 1949, so that members could assume the responsibilities connected with that conference.

The Director of Rushing and Pledge Training and the Director of Extension, leaders of the Province Presidents' and the Province Vice Presidents' Conferences respectively, outlined their plans for the conference program. Final general plans and arrange-

ments were made.

The Director of Rushing and Pledge Training raised questions with regard to her work which resulted in the following decisions: that it is wise procedure to continue to require that all recommendations and consents to bid be sent to her for an official check-up; that each Alumnæ Advisory Committee Rushing Supervisor be asked to countersign the recommendations and consents to bid for each girl pledged by the chapter; that the responsibility of sending the Health Certificates to her, for chapter employees, be given to the chapter presidents instead of to the corresponding secretaries; and, that she prepare and send out to all chapters uniform program suggestions for the monthly "Pi Phi Nights."

It was decided that each chapter be required to prepare a statistical report for each visiting officer. It was also decided that the province presidents be instructed that they need not include the statistical report in their records of each visit, sent to the members of Grand Council, but that each one should make comment upon anything within that report

which appears to need special attention.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that province officers be asked to prepare and bring to the pre-Convention meeting of province officers definite outlines of plans for the Convention get-togethers for their respective provinces. Motion carried.

Attention was given to the problems centering in the new office of State Rushing Recommendations Chairman. The following decisions were made:

That the Grand Vice President and the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training be assigned the responsibility of preparing the definite instructions for the State Chairmen;

That official stationery be provided, with the heading "State Rushing Recommendations Chairman";

That a special recommendations blank be provided for this chairman, of a different color so that it can be distinguished from all other recommendations

That the State Chairman be allowed bills for postage, to be presented to the Grand President according to regular fraternity procedure. Telephone and telegraph are to be used in the case of real emergency only, and then, at the expense of the

chapter requesting the data.

It was also decided that, on all recommendation blanks, the wording of two headings be changed so that they will say exactly what is meant. The one regarding finance is to say, "Can she afford a fraternity?" and the one regarding social status is to say, "Are the girl and her family respected and admired in the community?"

The Director of Extension raised the question of the Junior Alumna Clubs. A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that, because of the several complications involved, it be the policy expressed by Grand Council for the current year that no charters be issued to Junior Alumnæ Clubs, and that the matter be reviewed at the next Convention. Motion carried.

The usual careful study of the recommendations for the Amy B. Onken Award followed. A motion was made by the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training that the National Award be given to Joanne Lind-

berg, Oregon B. Motion carried.

The recommendations for the Balfour Cup, made by each Province President, were studied. A motion was made by the Grand Treasurer that the Balfour Cup be awarded to Kansas A; that the Stoolman Vase be awarded to Iowa B; and that the Philadelphia Vase be awarded to Wisconsin B. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that the incoming presidents, in the three groups whose chartering has been authorized, be instructed to attend their respective Chapter Presidents' Confer-

ences. Motion carried.

The Grand Vice President gave an oral report of the Alumnæ Department work and the Arrow Editor and the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training read their annual reports.

The annual reports of the Grand Secretary and of the National Scholarship Chairman were read.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that chapter scholarship chairmen no longer be required to send the individual grades of chapter members to the National Chairman, except when a chapter is lowest on its campus. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Director of Extension that a Standing Rule be set up stating that no girl may be elected to the position of chapter scholarship chairman during the year in which she is initiated.

Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that a regulation be adopted for the year 1949-50 which would place the chapter scholarship chairman on the Executive Council, allowing an additional member on the Council if necessary. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that the Grand President be authorized to prepare a statement for the use of the National Scholarship Chairman which would give her the authority to permit Pi Beta Phi chapters to report their scholastic standing to the fraternity in terms of their standing in comparison with campus N.P.C. groups only. Motion carried.

The report of the National Chairman of Fraternity

Study and Examinations was read.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that Central Office be authorized to include in the Chapter Presidents' Manual the list of instructions compiled by the National Chairman for the fraternity examinations. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the ARROW Editor that the National Chairman of Fraternity Study and Examinations be authorized to set March 31 as the deadline for the pledge examination for the Fall pledges and June 1, for second semester pledges. Motion

carried.

A motion was made by the Director of Extension that if a chapter plans to study for the fraternity examination on the basis of a prepared list of answers, assembled by some one person in the chapter, the chapter is required to check that list for accuracy with the Province Supervisor of Fraternity

Study and Examinations. Motion carried.

The report of the National Chairman of Publicity was read. The committee was authorized to keep up-to-date material on file for fraternity use upon request, and, to prepare and send out special releases for special fraternity occasions.

Reports of the following chairmen were read and studied: the National Chairman of Music, National Chairman of Chaperons, National Chairman of Social Exchange, National Chairman of Transfers, and the Chairman and the Treasurer of the Holt House

Committee.

The report of the Counselor for Chapter House Corporations was read and indicated an unusual amount of activity in this department of fraternity work. Chapters with immediate house problems were

The report of the Director of the Central Office was studied in detail and the recommendations in

the report were discussed.

The annual report of the National Chairman of the Loan Fund Committee was read and decisions about individual outstanding loans were made.

Reports of the Province Presidents were read individually and special problems mentioned in the re-ports were discussed. The reports of the Province Vice Presidents were read in their order and general alumnæ problems indicated in the various reports were considered.

The annual reports of the National Historian and of the Chairman of the Emma Harper Turner Me-

morial Fund Committee were read.

The report of the Pi Beta Phi Contact Chairman for the "Save the Children Federation" was read for the "Save the Children Federation" was read and was so gratifying in its indication of fraternity interest in this project that Grand Council authorized the continuation of the fraternity channels of informa-

tion and record provided in the past.

The reports of the Director of the Settlement School, the Chairman of the Settlement School Comand the Treasurer of the Committee were mittee, and the Treasurer of the Committee were read. The Grand President, as the contact member for Grand Council, supplemented these reports with her personal account of the work of the committee and its recent annual meeting.

At this point in the meeting, Grand Council held a conference with Mr. Kenneth Dean of the Banta Publishing Company and with Gladys Scivally of Central Office about the problems involved in the publication of the new fraternity Directory.

The revision of the Province President's Manual, as outlined by the Province Presidents in their conference, was carefully considered and approved.

A motion was made by the Arrow Editor that the

post-Convention meeting of province officers be

discontinued. Motion carried.

At this point in the meeting the Grand President had received the constitutionally required number of votes for the province approval and Grand Council then, by ballot vote, unanimously approved the granting of Pi Beta Phi charters to Delta Zeta Delta at the University of California at Santa Barbara and to Phi Sigma Nu at San Diego State College.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that Grand Council authorize a standing dispensation which would mean that the Pi Beta Phi sent by Grand Council to work with a petitioning group would be eligible for transfer affiliation with that group at the time of its installation if the new chap-

ter so desires. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Director of Extension that the recommendation of the Province Vice Presidents be adopted which would provide for posters for Arrowcraft Sales and for gummed labels of instructions for the Alumnæ Club treasurer's books. Motion carried.

The report of the "Home for Pi Phis" Committees

was read.

A motion was made by the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training that Delta Province President be asked to bring to the pre-Convention Province Presidents' meeting, for consideration, material which she believes suitable for a Chapter Presidents' Conference Manual. Motion carried.

The recommendations for the Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scholarships were studied in detail. By ballot vote and unanimously, the scholarships were awarded to: Ann Marshall, Ohio Z; Joanne Johnston, Utah A; Margaret Walker, Maryland B; Alice Robertson, Indiana T; and, Annalee Schendorf, Illinois E.

Grand Council studied the material in the hands of the Director of Extension. A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that the groups on the following campuses be definitely discouraged: Indiana State Teachers College, Susquehanna University, Marshall College, Arizona State College, Arkansas State College, Eastern Illinois State College, Hanover College, Kansas Wesleyan College, the University of Detroit, the University of Omaha, Adelphi College, and Eureka College. Motion carried.

Grand Council expressed continued interest in Denison University, Miami University (Florida), and the University of Mississippi as future fields for Pi Beta Phi extension. Steps were taken to discover the possibilities at the University of Kentucky which

was a center of Convention interest.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that the Senior Farewell Ceremony as rewritten by Marie Bacon Hagee be adopted as the official Senior

Farewell Ceremony. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Grand Vice President that all chapters and alumnæ clubs be informed of the strong recommendation of Grand Council that, in the interests of health, the use of the cup in the Loving Cup Ceremony be upon a symbolic basis only, with one person at the most drinking as the representative of the active chapter and one, as the representative of the alumnæ. Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training that the following regulations be adopted, governing the traveling awards of the Fraternity, and that they be inserted in the Standing

A chapter which has received one of the traveling awards of the Fraternity is responsible for:

The security of the award while it is in the possession of the chapter.

The engraving of the name of the chapter upon

the cup, vase, or plaque.

3. The forwarding of the award to the destination designated by the Grand Secretary, under the following specific conditions:

a. It must be properly polished and conditioned for future presentation.

b. It must be adequately insured against loss or damage enroute. c. It should be packed for shipping under pro-

fessional guidance.

4. The payment of the cost of repair, or of replacement, for any loss or damage incurred through failure to observe the stated rules for the handling of the award.

Motion carried.

A motion was made by the Director of Extension that it be recommended to Vera Lee Moss that the award given by her, in the name of Theta Province, be one presented to the chapter in the Fraternity showing the greatest improvement as indicated by qualifications similar to those for the Balfour Cup. Motion carried.

Grand Council then gave attention to preliminary planning for the 1950 Convention, making many tentative plans and the following decisions:

A motion was made by the Grand Treasurer that the registration fee for the 1950 Convention be set

at \$10.00. Motion carried.

It was decided that in addition to the copy kept by the delegate herself for presentation at Convention, official copies of credentials be sent by the chapters to the following persons: the Grand President, Grand Secretary, Convention Guide, Province President, and Central Office. It was decided that Central Office be

Have you leisure to contribute to Pi Beta Phi?

asked to provide lists of all delegates for the above mentioned persons and, in addition, for the Grand Vice President, the Grand Treasurer, the ARROW Editor, the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, the Director of Extension, the Transportation Chairman, and the Insurance Agent.

The following assignments were made for the 1949-50 official chapter visits of Grand Council

members:

Grand President—New York, Missouri B, Ken-tucky, Tennessee, and Colorado. Grand Vice President—Beta Province Grand Secretary-Alpha East Province

Grand Treasurer—Zeta Province ARROW Editor—Kappa Province

Director of Rushing and Pledge Training-Delta Province

Director of Extension-Lambda Province, Missouri A, Missouri T.

The 1949 annual meeting of Grand Council was adjourned Monday morning, June 13.

LUCILE DOUGLASS CARSON, Grand Secretary

VOLUNTEER SERVICE BLANK

Alumnæ

If you have, and if you have the desire to share in the joy of serving the I please fill out this blank and send to the Grand President.	raternity,
Name in full	
Address	
CHAPTER AND YEAR	
Are you a member of an alumnæ club?	
Type of work preferred	

NEW YORK CITY PANHELLENIC FELLOWSHIP LOAN FUND

Since one of the objects expressed in the constitution of the New York City Panhellenic, Inc. is "to stand always for the encouragement of higher education," the members are happy to announce the 1950 Fellowship Loan Fund of \$400. Here are the stipulations for carrying out this plan:

- 1. Loan is to be awarded for graduate work in New York City.
- 2. This loan is open to N.P.C. women only.
- 3. Amount of loan is \$400.00.
- 4. Loan available every two years.
- Loan to be made on basis of recommendations, investigations, need and type of study.
- Notification of award is to be sent to the sorority organs and to such publications as committee deems advisable.
- Selection of recipient and administration of fund to be in hands of committee of five appointed by the presi-dent of New York City Panhellenic with the approval of the Board of Governors.

If you are interested in applying for this Fellowship Loan award, please furnish the following information:

- A completely filled in Application Form. (This blank may be obtained by writing your request to the chairman of the New York City Panhellenic Fellowship Loan Fund.)
- 2. Recommendations from:
 - Two professors, concerning your qualifications for work desired
- work desired

 b. Two alumnæ or friends, not on faculty

 c. A dean of women

 d. A national or district officer of your fraternity

 3. Transcript of college record

 4. Health certificate from a graduate physician

 5. Recent photograph

The name of the successful applicant will be announced May 1, 1950 and the Fellowship award will be available for use in the Fall of 1950.

The closing date for the filing of the above data is February 15, 1950. Send all Applications and communications to the chairman of New York City Panhellenic Fellowship Loan Fund.

Mrs. Richard Trapier Bell, Chairman 3 Fox Lane Flushing New York

Province Officers' Conference Joint Meetings

Decatur, Illinois, 1949

THE Grand President opened the discussion with The Grand President opened in an orientation speech for the officers present, in which she stated that she hoped that the 1949 meeting would be for them "a new vision of what Pi Beta Phi is." She discussed the Settlement School at length, giving to the province officers the information which she thought that they might need when answering questions about the School. This included a picture of what "Pi Beta Phi is giving to Gatlinburg, a service which has meant community leadership, support for education, and a vision of better things." She said, "We do not expect it to be the same type of service we gave originally—that would mean that we had failed—we have continued that and added more." Miss Onken then spoke of Holt House as a "tie with our Founders" and a symbol of the fact that Pi Beta Phi is "a fraternity which does not forget." She pointed out the wonderful support of the "service" ideal within the Fraternity: the outstanding total of contributions and gifts through the "Save the Children Federation" a project which is voluntary and not actively promoted; the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund, which is a very personal evidence that the Fraternity "does not forget its own, offering the help that a few dollars can give"; and, the increasing number of scholarships available through voluntary contributions, providing 'tangible expression" of the mood of service typical of Pi Beta Phi.

The Grand Treasurer made special announcements concerning the financial arrangements for the con-ference and reminded the officers of the financial regulations governing chapter and club visits.

The winners of the Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarship (Virginia Campbell, Michigan Beta) and of the National Amy B. Onken Award (Joanne Lindberg,

Oregon Beta) were announced.

The Grand Vice President was the leader of the discussion of "Training for Lifelong Fraternity Membership" and expressed her special concern because of the low percentage of paid membership in the Alumnæ Department. She called for wise leadership and constructive activity. She pointed out that the growth within the alumnæ division of the Fraternity is not the problem of the Province Vice Presidents, alone, but that the Province Presidents can make possible initial interest in the value of alumnæ membership. She stressed the fact that the active should leave her chapter with a clear awareness of the fact that the pledges which she took when initiated were taken for "as long as she may live." The Grand Vice President presented her own, and called for other suggestions, about how to promote an enduring sense of responsibility to the Fraternity. The following ideas were presented:

1. Stress this cause in a "Pi Phi Night" program. 2. Put emphasis upon the "Senior Ceremony."

3. Invite actives to alumnæ meetings.

A. Assign pledges to alumnæ meetings as a part

of their pledge duties.

5. It was suggested that the chapter VP could represent the chapter at certain specified alumnæ club meetings when subjects of mutual interest are being discussed (rushing, Panhellenic rules, etc.).

6. One chapter announces one night each month as its "Alumnæ Night" when alumnæ who wish to attend are made welcome.

7. Some clubs have been inviting the whole chapter to one meeting, annually, asking the girls to tell the club about their current interests, successes, and problems.

8. A number of clubs plan a Christmas party for the local actives home from college.

9. Clubs are asked to realize that they must plan programs which will interest and hold their younger members.

10. Repetition in indoctrination in the value of alumnæ membership was stressed because of the rapidly changing chapter personnel.

11. The importance of starting indoctrination with the pledges was stressed, with emphasis upon the value of alumnæ talks before pledges.

12. Clubs are warned that they must reach new Pi Phis in the community quickly, before they become involved in too many other activities.

13. When possible, it was considered an excellent practice to have the chapter VP introduce the seniors to the alumnæ club personally; in outof-town situations, a letter of introduction to the club assures an immediate contact.

14. The value of better alumnæ-active associations was stressed as a means of providing better background for the Alumnæ Advisory Com-

mittee elections.

15. An interesting practice of having the alumnæ club feature "year-groups" was reported. Mem-bers in a given "year-group" were introduced and presented corsages.

16. California Gamma has given successful dances

for the younger alumnæ. The Grand President gave a brief presentation of the responsibility of the fraternity woman in the present "anti-fraternity" situation. Her first comment was that one of the "worst enemies fraternities have is the disinterested member." She believes that it is very essential that fraternity women become aware of the dangers facing fraternities and alert to the true facts. She warned that the situation is a serious one when a member is "mowed down" by the first criticisms she hears and has no answer. She pointed out that fraternities are not the final mark toward which the "anti" forces are reaching but that they are an intermediary one, providing the first foothold challenging the democratic right of an organization to choose its own members. She urged that actives and alumnæ be made conscious of their responsibility in supporting Panhellenic and in making Panhellenic activities constructive.

The following topics were discussed briefly: redistricting of the Fraternity was referred to the separate meetings for further discussion after the problems involved were explained; good publicity was discussed; a warning was issued against the type of letters sent out by North Carolina Beta, soliciting widely in the Fraternity for funds for local chapter needs; and, the initial plans of procedure for the new State Rushing Recommendations Chairmen were pre-

A second Joint Meeting opened with another, brief,

discussion of anti-fraternity agitation. The latest IRAC bulletin reference on "Hell-Week" and on "Discrimination" was read. Pertinent statements of the Professional Interfraternity Council and of the Sigma Chi Foundation were read and discussed.

The Grand Treasurer gave a comprehensive presentation of Pi Beta Phi finance, for the benefit of the

province-officer personnel.

The following points were brought out in a discussion of the rushing recommendations problems: in answer to the question of what a committee should do when it cannot meet the deadline for answer, three suggestions were made-the committee can refuse to recommend, it can grant permission with the provision that the chapter has some satisfactory facts about the girl, or the chapter can appeal to the Grand President for authority to pledge; the comment was made that Pi Beta Phi has so many strongly recommended girls that any chapter is foolish to question the refusal to consent and should rarely consider pledging a girl about whom they have had difficulty; it was brought out in the discussion that any alumnæ club which considers its whole membership as the recommendations committee is out-of-line-that it is general practice to have the contact member of the committee announced and the other committee personnel secret; a committee-of-five seemed to be the approved number to provide adequate authority to "Consent to Bid"; alumnæ relations and rushing recommendations were discussed and several points made -that late requests and inadequate address information make alumnæ service in recommendations very

difficult and sometimes irritating; that high pressuring on the part of alumna and bargaining for recommendations are methods entirely out-of-line with Pi Beta Phi policy; that alumnæ should understand that the chapter is not always to blame in the case of a late request; that alumnæ should understand the problem of chapters bound by strict quotas; that alumnæ should be trained in making helpful recommendations—complete, accurate, and unbiased; that alumnæ deserve attention to the extent that a chapter makes a definite attempt to know a recommended girl, and then, should accept the chapter decision without resentment; that alumnæ should realize that they can graciously remind a chapter, in a second rush period, that girls are worth considering who have been recommended and overlooked, suggesting that the chapter give them another chance for consideration; that the club should make sure that the announced contact member for recommendations can serve and make provision for some one to pick up her mail and take care of requests, when she is unavailable; and finally, that everyone concerned should be reminded frequently about the importance of fraternity secrecy in this special field of rushing and pledging and that chapter and committee should respect the confidence of an alumna who has had to give objections to girls under discussion. The Province Officers were urged to make a serious and definite attempt to iron out the alumnæ and chapter problems in rushing and to assist in creating better understanding.

LUCILE DOUGLASS CARSON, Grand Secretary

 \rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow

Settlement School film may be obtained by writing to the member of the settlement School Committee in charge—address in the Directory pages of this issue.

+ + +

IOWA BETA would enjoy hearing from every member of the Order of the Golden Arrow, sometime before November 1. This means members from all the chapters, and we want you to send greetings, and tell us something about yourselves. These letters will be included in the Iowa Beta Christmas letter, and you will receive a copy of it, if you write.

Conference of Province Vice-Presidents

Decatur, Illinois, June 3-6

THE first meeting of Province Vice-Presidents was called to order by the Director of Extension, Marie B. Hagee, at 8:30 P. M., Friday evening, June 3. A joint meeting for all officers was held Friday afternoon at which Miss Onken presided.

The following Province Vice-Presidents were pres-

ent:

Alpha East—Erminie Pollard Alpha West—Edna Archibald Beta—Edith Rankin Gamma—Marie Lingo Delta—Virginia Green Epsilon—Alice Mansfield Zeta—Marguerite Bartlett Iota—Marie Divisek Kappa—Theresa Graham Lambda—Louise Dobler Mu—Marcella Rhodes

The subjects to be discussed at the meetings were given: Junior Clubs, projects, administration, recommendations from Grand Council, and extension.

There was a discussion of Junior Groups and it was reported that there is a wide-spread interest in such groups. At present there are twenty-five such groups, two of which are chartered groups.

The following recommendation from Grand Coun-

cil was read:

"No charter shall be issued to Junior Clubs for the current year because of the several complications involved in having two clubs in a given area or community, and that the matter be reviewed at the next convention."

It was moved that this recommendation be adopted

-seconded, and carried.

The following committee was appointed to formulate recommendations which may be passed on to the already existing Junior groups and clubs requesting such information: Marie Lingo, Edith Rankin, Marcella Rhodes, and Virginia Green. This committee was asked to report at the Saturday evening meeting.

There was a discussion of Alumnæ Club exhibits

There was a discussion of Alumnæ Club exhibits for the 1950 Convention, and it was suggested that each province vice-president work out the plans for

her own province.

The fact was brought out that there seemed to be a great deal of confusion on the part of Alumnæ Club Treasurers in making out checks for the various projects. It was moved, seconded, and carried that there be a gummed label sent to the Treasurer of each club, instructing her in making out checks to the projects, these labels to be pasted in her note book. The checks for dues go to Central Office, as do those made out to the Emma Harper Turner Fund. The checks for Settlement School and Holt House are made out and sent to the Treasurers of those two funds.

The meeting adjourned at 11:00 P.M.

Saturday morning was spent at Central Office under the leadership of the Director, Gladys Scivally.

The second meeting of the Province Vice-Presidents was called to order by the Chairman, Marie B.

Hagee, at 2:00 P.M., Saturday, June 4.

There was a discussion of our three projects, Settlement School, Ernma Harper Turner Fund, and Holt House. We were reminded that the publicity on Settle-

ment School is good fraternity publicity, for our work is outstanding in the Fraternity World and respected by all groups. Many suggestions are available for unique programs and methods of presenting Settlement School material, also invitations to be used for Settlement School teas at a cost of one cent each. It was moved, seconded and carried that our Grand Vice-President, Marianne R. Wild, ask for a special letter from Marjorie Chalmers telling of work at the Health Center, this information to be incorporated in Marianne's letter to the clubs. It was suggested that each club be urged to use care in handling the films, and plan early if it wishes to use them. It was also moved, seconded, and carried that the Settlement School Committee investigate printing of pictorial posters to be available for use at sales, these posters to be purchased by the clubs. The information from the questionnaires show that with 191 clubs reporting, 36 increased donations to the Settlement School, 96 gave the same, 46 decreased donations and three did not contribute.

The contributions to Holt House show that with 191 clubs reporting, 32 gave more, 134 gave as much as last year, 14 gave less, and four failed to contribute. Holt House is a memorial to our Founders in which we can take great pride, as it has a great value in the community. Holt House is also an inspiration to the actives, especially to chapters near. Illinois Beta-Delta holds a party in Monmouth when historical value and background of Holt House is made

known to its new pledges.

The Emma Harper Turner Fund is our new project. Letters from those receiving aid from this fund were read and show a most heart warming appreciation of Pi Phi's interest in their needs. The amount of the contributions is about the same as Holt House. It was stated that we no doubt will receive more re-

quests for help for needy Pi Phis.

It was moved that we adopt the recommendation made by Grand Council that province officers turn in to pre-convention meetings a definite outline of the province "get-togethers" at convention; that this material should include a review of the club and chapter years, giving an over-all picture to those present. This motion was seconded and carried.

Province Vice-Presidents were reminded that the

Province Vice-Presidents were reminded that the attention of corresponding secretaries should be called to the new manual on letters to the Arrow, also to the fact that these letters must be prompt. If not received by the date given, it is useless to send them.

The meeting adjourned at 5:00 P.M.

Third Meeting-June 4-8:30 P.M.

The meeting opened with the passage of the fol-

lowing resolution:

"The Province Vice-Presidents wish to express their appreciation to the Cleveland Clubs for graciously assuming and carrying out the responsibility for the direction of the committee for the Alumnæ Home for Pi Phis, as placed upon them by the 1948 Convention."

The committee appointed to formulate recommendations for Junior Clubs submitted the following re-

port:

 That a Junior Group be a group within the Senior Club. That the Junior President or Chairman be the second Vice-President of the Senior Cub.

That this second Vice-President shall attend all executive meetings of the Senior Club.

 That the Senior Club and the Junior Group meet together for at least the four required meetings.

 That the Junior Group collect their national dues and turn them to the Senior Treasurer. (Amended: amount of local dues to be left to the discretion of the entire club)

That membership in the Junior Group shall not exceed 10 years from date of graduation.

That representation on committees may be distributed between Senior and Junior members.

It was moved, seconded, and carried that the recommendations of this committee be accepted with No. 5 amended to read, "amount of local dues to be left to the discretion of the entire club."

Following this report on Junior Clubs, there was a discussion of the formation of new clubs, club visits, celebration of Loyalty Day with its particular application to the club, and a detailed list of Ways and Means, these lists obtainable from Central Office.

In reference to new clubs it was stated that there were fourteen new ones formed in the last year, but five old clubs have returned their charters so there is a gain of only nine, making a total of 229 clubs on the Alumnæ Department roster. All officers were urged to help organize new clubs wherever possible.

In the discussion of club visits, there was a discussion of what should be accomplished both with the Executive Board and the group as a whole. It is desirable to have a meeting with the Board first, going over the questionnaire and President's Notebook in detail and checking to see that all officers have the proper information and supplies for her office. Be sure to see that executive boards are not being used as nominating committees. Check local club by-laws. The meeting with the entire club should follow and this should be inspirational as well as informative. Letters from Province Vice-Presidents to the clubs should vary, including news of active chapters from time to time, news of other clubs, and news of the fraternity. Attention of the club should be called to its responsibilities in entertaining club officers. A club should be praised for work well done. Reports on club visits may be in outline or essay form, whichever preferred. PVPs were cautioned to plan their visits to avoid covering the same area more than once, and that hotel stops at fraternity expense were allowed only after ten visits.

The meeting adjourned at 10:15 P.M.

Fourth Session—9:30 A.M., Sunday, June 5. There was a most enlightening explanation of the fraternity's finances by our Grand Treasurer, Lolita Prouty. Pi Beta Phi is the only fraternity which does not require payment of national annual dues by the actives. No Pi Phi chapter house has ever failed to pay out, and there was no loss of houses during the depression. The apportionment of the \$40.00 initiation fee was explained and also how the money is obtained for Pi Phis needing and receiving assistance from the Emma Harper Turner Fund. The following active chapters were listed as needing both the interest and financial help of alumnæ clubs: Indiana Epsilon, Michigan Gamma, New Mexico Alpha, and New York Gamma.

It should be explained to clubs that allotment to

alumnæ delegates will be made on mileage basis this year instead of being set amounts for each club.

Dues should be sent in early because of this being a convention year.

It was suggested there be one workshop at convention for delegates of clubs having advisory board members to elect, and another held at the same time for the other delegates, at which interests in active chapters would be discussed.

There was a short Panhellenic discussion. The meeting adjourned at 11:45 A.M.

Fifth Meeting-Sunday, June 5.

The meeting opened with a discussion of alumnaculub delegates. Province Vice-Presidents should remind clubs that they may send in nominations for officers even though they send no delegate, and they should also remind clubs of the importance of sending in credentials for their delegates promptly following elections.

It was also suggested that each club have one program devoted to parliamentary procedure, and that they go over The Manual for Alumnæ Club Delegates before electing same. They should be urged to have convention fund in their budget even though it be necessary to reduce donations to *local* projects this year.

It was suggested that alumnæ club delegates should attend at least a major portion of convention when accepting money from convention fund; also that club delegate give an accounting to club for money advanced, any surplus money to be returned. No action

The meeting adjourned at 2:45 P.M.

Evening meeting—joint meeting.

Respectfully submitted,

MARIE Q. DIVISEK, Secretary

lota Province Vice-President

The last meeting of the conference opened Monday, June 5, at 9:30 A.M., with a discussion by the Province Vice-Presidents of their individual problems in their different provinces. Among the points brought out were: the benefit of planning a program in the summer and fitting that program to the needs of the club; the need of having an Executive Committee function effectively yet not transact too much of the club business; the desirability of having the Province President and Province Vice-President keep informed of each other's visits and cooperate in arrangements; and the necessity of a club's putting its name on the cover of its year book. It was suggested that a copy of the club letter sent out by clubs to their members in the fall be sent to the Grand Vice-President.

The value of the annual club questionnaires was stressed by Marianne Wild as she quoted interesting facts and statistics compiled by her in her study of them before the conference. The questionnaire should be emphasized by a visiting officer in her conference with club officers and executive committee. Items of special interest such as programs, place cards, etc., may be clipped to it when sent in to the Grand Vice-President.

In view of the great expense to the fraternity in holding these conferences of province officers in the interim of conventions, each officer was asked for an evaluation of the benefit she felt she had received.

The meeting closed at 11:30 A.M.

MARIE B. HAGEE, Director of Extension

Annual Reports of National Officers

MESSAGE OF GRAND PRESIDENT

To Pi Beta Phi:

IN one of his Hazen lectures, Dr. Ralph Gabriel of Yale University, speaking of American culture and of its concepts of democracy, spoke of "the simple philosophy of American history" which holds that "each generation would start life by standing on the shoulders of the generation before" so that Americans could "climb on and on toward the heights of the future." How accurately this describes the philosophy by which Pi Beta Phi lives! The fratemity could not go forward on the impetus of its exceptional past, alone; neither could it stand still and retain its high position in the field of education and among fraternities. It is because there has been and is conscious effort to begin each fraternity year at the advanced point at which the previous year ended, rather than that at which it began-"on the shoulders of the generation before"-and then to climb, that Pi Beta Phis can, each year, review the record of the fraternity and be both thankful for and proud of the things of growth-material, intellectual, and spiritual-which it shows. They are urged to take full advantage of the opportunity which the Information Arrow gives to know, through a study of the complete file of official reports, just what the work of the past year and its achievements have been. It is enough for the Grand President to do to say that she believes that the year just ended was one worthy of its place on the record of Pi Beta Phi, not just because of the results obtained but, still more, because of the spirit of devotion and of a deep desire to serve worthily which shines through the countless hours of hard work given by active and alumnæ members and officers to the fraternity which they love. Pi Beta Phi's place of leadership was won and is being held only because it holds fast to its philosophy of continued growth and service.

Decatur, Illinois, was chosen for the meetings of Grand Council and the Province Officers in order that these officers might gain, in addition to their workshop training, a first-hand knowledge of the Central Office set-up, procedure, and services. Few things, except a convention, can give one the appreciation for the fraternity and the realization of the magnitude of its functioning which a visit to the Central Office gives, so it is hoped that an increasingly large number of Pi Phis, traveling in the middle West, will include a trip to Decatur. A special word of gratitude is due Gladys Scivally, Director of Central Office, for her voluntarily assumed role as a most delightful and efficient hostess and to her and her staff for their expert presentation of the detailed work of the Central Office. Surely the officers' workshops which have made possible a thinking-together about organization, functioning, and goals have been sources of increased internal strength for the fraternity. Whether or not it proves possible to finance the workshops regularly, the two which have been held have seemed of great value, as have the somewhat similar workshops for chapter presidents and pledge supervisors. The Grand President remembers with special pleasure, the gracious hospitality of the Decatur Alumnæ Club, Gladys Scivally, Adele Murphy and Beatrice Purdunn Felmly, former Directors of

Central Office, and Frances Falvey, Texas Beta, Dean of Women at Millikin University.

The interest which the 1948 Convention expressed in the Canadian Rockies as the site for a convention led to Grand Council's decision that the 1950 convention would be held at Jasper Park Lodge, Alberta, Canada. The Convention Guide, Mary Bowlen Mooney, of Calgary, Alberta, is already at work on detailed plans and arrangements, and Pi Beta Phi's second Canadian convention will undoubtedly be as outstandingly delightful and constructive as was its first. Jasper Park officials too are looking forward eagerly to having the Lodge a strictly Pi Phi community from June 25 to July 1. You cannot afford not to be there!

With very real regret and with deep appreciation for her years of fine service to the fraternity, Pi Beta Phi accepted the resignation of Isabel Clark Winkler as Director of Rushing and Pledge Training and welcomed as her successor Clara Hall Sipherd whose record of fraternity service as a Province President and as a member of standing committees proved the value of her work with the fraternity. The fraternity was sorry, too, that it proved necessary to release Doris Nash, Clara Sipherd, Eileen MacLean, Clare Williams, Corinne Cowan, Dorothy Lombard, and Margaret Foster, Province Officers; Grace Granger, Settlement School Committee member; and Marilyn Behymer, Chairman of the Publicity Committee. Their successors, Elizabeth King, Evelyn Slifer, Annie Laurie Whipple, Marilyn Brandom, Alice Mansfield, Ethel Smith, and Lorraine Peters are already making their service to the fraternity felt constructively.

The Settlement School has had an excellent year under the efficient direction of its Committee and its Gatlinburg staff. The Grand President is especially grateful for the joy of her contacts with the Committee and the School. Early this spring, the County School Board asked the fraternity to reopen discussion of its proposal, made two years ago and reported by Ruth Barrett Smith at the 1948 convention, that in order to make it possible for Gatlinburg to have an adequate elementary school building and to have it where it would be possible to have the entire school function as a unit, Pi Beta Phi would deed something less than two acres of land to the County and would lease additional ground for play ground purposes. A year or more ago, the County Board decided to place the new building on a site rather remote from the Settlement School but later found that this would not be feasible. After a number of conferences with the Board, the people of Gatlinburg, and the fraternity's legal adviser, Grand Council and the Committee agreed to deed the small tract to the County and to enter into a fifty-year lease-agreement for the use of the playgrounds and the high school building, equipment, and so forth, on the same general terms as those of the twentyfive year lease now in effect. If the County Court approves of the two proposals, work will start promptly on an elementary school building which will cost between \$60,000 and \$75,000, will house six grades, and will be the first section of a proposed complete building which eventually will take care of the entire

elementary school. The community is definitely back of the plan to continue the schools on the Pi Phi location and the spirit of cooperation is an exceedingly

gratifying one.

One can scarcely speak of the Settlement School and not mention with pride the outstanding contribution to handcrafts made by the Summer Workshop which is the joint responsibility of the University of Tennessee and Pi Beta Phi. Again this summer, students have come from all over the United States and have found their weeks at the School both highly profitable and exceedingly enjoyable. It is an interesting commentary on the high rating given our Workshop that sixteen of this summer's students held Masters' Degrees, and one, a Doctor's degree. Surely Pi Beta Phi is to be congratulated upon the vision which means that its Gatlinburg facilities are being used to give a service which is nationwide! This year again, too, the "Pi Phi Green" housed the Craftsman's Fair, put on by the Southern High-landers Guild, which attracted the best craftsmen of the entire section and displayed their beautiful productions.

Holt House continues to be a center for Pi Phi interest as a personification of the fraternity's gracious spirit of hospitality and its desire to serve. Pi Beta Phis should be deeply conscious of the riches which they have in their Settlement School, the first national altruistic project ever established by a col-lege fraternity and the gift of its beloved Founders to Pi Beta Phi for it to hold and cherish in perpetuity, and in Holt House, the scene of its founding and a beautiful momerial to that.

For the first time, the fraternity, this summer, awarded the undergraduate scholarships authorized by the 1949 Convention as a stimulus to good scholarship and as recognition for it. Contributions from active chapters, combined with the \$900 appropriated from the Contingent Fund, made it possible to grant \$300 scholarships to Ann Marshall, Ohio Z; Joan Johnston, Utah A; Margaret Walker, Maryland B; Alice Robertson, Indiana I; and Annalee Schendorf, Illinois E. The Graduate Fellowship for 1949-50 will be held by Lois Ann Piepho, Indiana B. There is reason for great pride in these scholarships which Pi Beta Phi is now making available; they, together with the Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarship and the generous gift of three \$340 scholarships by California A, mean that Pi Beta Phi must stand at the forefront in the help which it gives its members, educationally. While the demands upon the Loan Fund are not as great as they have been at some times in the past, this year showed an increase in the number of loans made and the fund continues to be of invaluable assistance to fraternity members, both actives and alumnæ.

The Grand President is sure that every Pi Beta Phi feels a warmth at her heart when she realizes that through the Emma Harper Turner Fund the fra-ternity is able to make its affection for and appreciation of its members who have given years of devotion to it evident in tangible ways, when circumstances prove unkind to them. One cannot too strongly urge a continued and greater support for this fund, the interest from which is available for this personal type of assistance and the principal of which serves a wonderful and greatly needed purpose by being

available for chapter house loans.

Again this past year, Pi Beta Phis have given most generously to make life more bearable and happy for little children in the still war-torn countries of Europe. Do not fail to read the report of the work with Save the Children and know how proud you should be of it. Read the letters from the child whom your own chapter or alumnæ club has sponsored and you will need nothing more to make you eager to carry on until the time when these little children can meet their own needs. Whether or not you have the "long age" which the mother of one little Finnish boy wished for his Pi Phi sponsors, surely you will have happy years of remembering that through the fraternity you have spoken so loudly of the brotherhood of man.

This leads to the comment that all fraternity women need to keep clearly in mind the democratic right of a fraternity to choose its members on the basis of congeniality, not only locally but nationally. The propaganda against this right of selection could be a serious matter not just for fraternities but for America; the Communistic forces which are attacking fraternities are doing this not because they are interested in minorities or in individuals-their record shows that they have no interest whatever in the individual or his rights—but because they wish to divide America into hostile groups, to tear down the spirit which has marked our country from its beginning, and by destroying established institutions whose purposes are known and are known to be good, to set up in their places, institutions which we in a republic know are contrary to all the good things for which we wish to stand. No fraternity woman should let herself be deceived by the cunning propaganda which attacks her at her most vulnerable point—idealism. As Mrs. Morgan Padelford, past national president of Pro America, said at the opening session of the Alpha Xi Delta convention, at which your Grand President was privileged to be present, this summer: "Do not let yourself forget that there is a great difference between 'brotherly love'-the 'love of mankind' which our Christian philosophy teaches-and personal love and friendship.

As Pi Beta Phi's NPC delegate, the Grand President has served, during the past year, as chairman of the NPC Committee on City Panhellenics and as a member of the Joint NPC-NADW Committee. In the latter capacity, she worked with Miss Helen Reich, of the University of Iowa, and Mrs. Kate Mueller of the University of Indiana, in presenting a discussion program on Scholarship at the 1949 meeting of the National Association of Deans of Women, in Chicago. The National Panhellenic Conference will meet at Skytop Lodge, Pennsylvania, November 8 to 12, 1949, and Pi Beta Phi will be represented by its entire Grand Council. The Fraternity is very conscious of its responsibility for good citizenship in the fraternity world and tries sincerely to meet it. Upon the invitation of the chairmen of the two groups, the Grand President, again this year, attended the meetings of the National Committee on College Fraternities and Societies and the Interfraternity Re-search and Advisory Council, held in Cincinnati. She feels encouraged by the fine spirit of cooperation within these inter-Panhellenic groups and believes that their contribution to the cause of fraternities will become increasingly great. She cannot fail to speak of the special debt which fraternities owe to Mr. Lloyd G. Balfour who gives so greatly of himself

to every fraternity or educational cause. Those Pi Beta Phis who know only one active chapter must still have an understanding of how great the task of Grand Council is in determining which among ninety-four chapters and hundreds of

active seniors are to receive the fraternity's special awards. It is with humility in the face of the exceptional records of service to campus, chapter, and fraternity and of the living of fraternity ideals that Grand Council announces the 1949 awards: Balfour Cup—Kansas A; Stoolman Vase—Iowa B; Philadelphia Vase—Wisconsin B; National Amy Burnham Onken Award—Joanne Lindberg, Oregon B; and Province ABO Awards, as follows:

Province ABO Awards, as follows:

Alpha East—Jane Spencer, Connecticut Alpha.

Alpha West—Virginia Steele, New York Delta.

Beta—Patricia Rector, Ohio Beta.

Gamma—Mary Brinkman, North Carolina Beta.

Delta—Marjorie Brink, Indiana Beta.

Epsilon—Jan Jeans, Missouri Alpha.

Zeta—Ann Andrews, Georgia Alpha.

Eta—Phyllis Burkhart, Wisconsin Beta.

Theta—Elizabeth Ann Kelley, North Dakota Alpha.

Iota—Carolyn Cowles, South Dakota Alpha.

Kappa—Nan Hopper, Arkansas Alpha.

Lambda—Joanne Lindberg, Oregon Beta.

Mu—Kathryn Pender, Arizona Alpha.

Circumstances over which she had no control

Circumstances over which she had no control made it necessary for the Grand President to cancel plans which she had made for chapter visits but, during the year, she had the pleasure of getting to know Illinois B-Δ when she was on campus as speaker at the Knox College Panhellenic Workshop and Iowa T when she attended the Iowa State Panhellenic Workshop and of enjoying both their gracious hospitality and that of their local alummæ. She was also the guest speaker at the Milwaukee City Panhellenic annual luncheon, when she had most delightful contacts with the Pi Phis there, and at the annual Spring luncheon of the Cleveland City Panhellenic which honored its Pi Phi president, Lois Vasek, former Beta Province Vice-President, and her fraternity, at that time. The hospitality of the two Cleveland alumnæ clubs will long be remembered! She met with the group of fraternity officers which revived the

Chicago City Panhellenic, early this spring, and was delighted to have the first president of the new Panhellenic be Jane McPherson, president of the Chicago South Aluma Club. She has already spoken of her privilege of representing Pi Beta Phi at the garden party held in connection with the Alpha Xi Delta Convention, at French Lick Springs, and of attending the inspiring opening session of that convention.

The colonized group at the University of Alabama, authorized by the 1948 Convention, had a most successful year and, in the late spring, after having received the required official visits, it was granted a charter. On the campuses of Santa Barbara College of the University of California and San Diego State College, which have recently become fields for NPC extension, strong local fraternities-the best group on the campus, in each instance-petitioned Pi Beta Phi and received the required votes for chartering. The administrative officers of Santa Barbara are requiring all national fraternities to install their chapters there in February instead of this fall, but the chapters at San Diego and Alabama will be installed in August and September by the Grand President. The Fraternity is indeed to be congratulated upon these splendid groups which will be added to its list of chapters! In every case, the group has the invaluable support of local alumnæ and can count upon that for the future.

As always, the Grand President is very humble

As always, the Grand President is very humble as she thinks of her wonderful privilege to serve and to know her fraternity. To her deep gratitude, she adds a pledge to give her best to keep Pi Beta Phi true to its ideals of beautiful womanhood and strong, respected, and admired because it deserves to be

Respectfully submitted, AMY BURNHAM ONKEN

MESSAGE OF THE GRAND VICE-PRESIDENT

To the Alumnæ of Pi Beta Phi:

RUSKIN said "The highest reward for man's toil is not what he gets for it, but what he becomes by it." The alumnæ of Pi Beta Phi have worked diligently for their Fraternity this year, as in the past, and the fruits of their efforts are a growing and strengthened Alumnæ Department; the continuing ability of the projects of the Fraternity to meet and serve the purposes for which they were established because of the support given them by the clubs; and a closer relationship between the clubs and the active chapters and members. But the real reward, as Ruskin points out, is what we as alumnæ have become in the doing. There can be no doubt but that we are better Pi Phis—realizing the dignity and worth of our standards and ideals, and what they can mean to us individually, and are better citizens—understanding the responsibilities placed upon us by our special privileges and opportunities.

In speaking of a growing and strengthened Alum-

In speaking of a growing and strengthened Alumnæ Department, we can enumerate a number of specific points. The largest number of alumnæ delegates ever before seated at Convention took back to their clubs not only a greater understanding of the Fraternity, but with the interchange of ideas among the delegates, new methods of functioning and adminis-

Despite the outright increase in the amount of national alumnæ dues, the end of the year shows a slight increase in the total number of paid members. It is with considerable pride that we also report an increase in the number of clubs having 100% of their resident members as paid members. Last year thirteen clubs so reported, and this year there are twenty of them, as follows: Poughkeepsie, New York; Oxford, Ohio; Gary, Indiana; Shelbyville, Indiana; Southwestern Indiana; Southeastern Indiana; Ocala, Florida; Lakeland, Florida; Avon, Illinois; Carthage, Illinois; Sioux City, Iowa; Hutchinson, Kansas; Manhattan, Kansas; Ogden, Utah; Ft. Collins, Colorado; Pauls Valley, Oklahoma; McAlester, Oklahoma; Osceola, Arkansas; Wenatchee, Washington; and Contra Costa, California. To Poughkeepsie, Southwestern Indiana, Avon, Carthage, Hutchinson, Manhattan, Ft. Collins, and McAlester goes the added distinction of having more paid members than are resident.

Of clubs reporting, and not including those chartered this year, 108 clubs had an increase in membership even if only of one or two members. But that represents growth to those local clubs, and their efforts are praiseworthy. Their gains, plus the new Clubs, did, by a small margin, counterbalance the clubs showing a decrease to put the final total on the plus side of the ledger. How often we have said to chapters in speaking of scholarship—it takes only a few poor grades to pull down the total. And so it is with membership! Think what our record might have been were there more clubs increasing their number. But yet how wonderful to be able to say that almost half of our clubs gained in this respect

this year. To Los Angeles goes the honor of being the largest club with a membership of 234. Including Los Angeles there are nineteen clubs with a membership of 100 or more. With 885 graduating seniorsthis year becoming new alumnæ for next year there is even more of a challenge to membership chairmen.

Fourteen new clubs have been chartered during the current year. We take special pleasure in welcoming to the Alumnæ Department the following new clubs: Waco, Texas, with twenty-two members; Bartlesville, Oklahoma with twenty-six members; Ocala, Florida with fourteen members; Ada, Oklahoma with eleven members; Mobile, Alabama with twelve members; Pauls Valley, Oklahoma, with ten members; Southeastern Indiana, with twenty-five members; Contra Costa County, California, with ten members; Tri-State (Joplin, Missouri) with ten members; Eldorado, Arkansas, with twenty-three members; North Shore Illinois, Junior, with twenty members; Lake Charles, Louisiana, with eleven members; Gainesville, Florida, with fourteen members; and Tallahassee, Florida, with eighteen members. Kappa and Zeta Provinces deserve special commendation for their six and four new clubs respectively.

There is a growing spirit of cooperation and sense of responsibility on the part of clubs in sending in reports on time. As of this writing 204 clubs have reported. This was especially appreciated this year with the earlier than usual date set for Grand Council meeting. For the benefit of those who spent time preparing these reports, let us say that they are used to a great extent in preparing this message for you, in evaluating needs for the future, and in making possible an exchange of ideas and plans between the clubs. We only wish it were possible to write each president a word of praise and comment on her report. These reports in no way can be classified as red tape, but rather they are a pulling together of the many threads to see the fabric of the whole.

Reports of members charged with the responsibility of administering the various projects of the Fraternity show that they continue to hold the interest and have the support of the clubs. Beta, Epsilon, Zeta, Lambda, and Mu Provinces were 100% in sup-

porting these projects.

The Settlement School, dearest to our hearts, has had another fine year of service to the community in Gatlinburg. For a full knowledge of this service we recommend for your reading the reports of the Chairman of the Committee, and the Director of the School. Thirteen clubs contributed \$200.00 or more with St. Louis for the third year leading all clubs in their donation. Amounts given are as follows; St. Louis, Md. \$1000.00; Philadelphia, Pa. \$500.00; Denver, Colo. \$400.00; New York City, N.Y. \$350.00; Cleveland, East, Ohio, \$305.00; Kansas City, Mo. \$300.00; Seattle, Wash. \$300.00; Cleveland, West, Ohio \$252.00; Berkeley, Calif. \$250.00; Indianapolis, Ind. \$247.50; and Dallas, Texas, Los Angeles, Calif., and Milwaukee, Wisc. each \$200.00.

There are, in addition to these monetary gifts, other ways in which the School has been supported. Clubs have sent contributions to the Settlement School Memorial Fund in memory of those who have passed away. The Washington, D.C. Club sends a book to the Grace Coolidge Library at the School in remembrance of their departed members. The Westchester County Club sews at their meetings and sends the resulting layettes for use at the Health Center. Christmas time always brings special remembrances from both clubs and chapters in the form of gifts for the children to be used at the annual Christmas

Tree ceremonies, money to buy fruit for the occasion, or even the fruit itself. Cincinnati, as has been its custom for several years, sent a box of athletic equipment, while other clubs sent books, records, maps,

and games.

The lovely new articles among Arrowcraft products added interest to the more than usual number of sales and teas held this year. Many clubs successfully undertook more elaborate sales in both volume and presentation. These sales offer excellent opportunities for publicity for Pi Beta Phi. Newspapers will use material of this type when during the rest of the year they may remain indifferent to your pleas for space in their daily columns. The awakened knowledge of what our School is and does on the part of your guests creates respect for the Fraternity. We can say this has been true on an International scale due to the interest expressed by the Federal Security Administration in having United Nations Fellows in this country under their supervision see the products of the native craftsmen of the Appalachian area by taking them to the Tea given by the Washington. D.C. Club, and even making it possible for some of them to visit in Gatlinburg.

to visit in Gatlinburg.

The Champaign-Urbana Club again led all clubs in volume of sale with a gross sale of \$3041.53.
Others grossing \$1000.00 or more are Pittsburgh, Toledo, Washington Senior, Lafayette, Kansas City, Mo., North Shore Senior, Peoria, Milwaukee, Denver, Manhattan, Ft. Worth, Houston, Oklahoma City, Portland Oregon, Pullman, Seattle, Berkeley, Honolulu, Los Angeles, Sacramento, and San Francisco. One club very cleverly held a meeting preceding their tea at which the members were briefed on matters pertaining to the School in order that they

might be better able to answer questions from those attending the sale, and to talk about it.

The Magazine Agency another means of supporting the School, more than achieved its goal of ten thousand dollars in commission by increasing its business this year over last by \$528.99 to reach the total of \$10,196.57. Two hundred clubs and ninety-two chapters participated in the business of the Agency. This is such a painless means of aiding the School that we urge ALL clubs and chapters to take part in this project. The Magazine Contest winners for this year are: for highest total commissions—Denver, with Mrs. John Ryland as chairman, and Maryland Beta, with Janet Richards, Chairman. For highest per capita commissions—Bloomfield Hills, Mrs. A. J. Daley, and again Maryland Beta with Janet Richards; for the greatest percentage increase—Jacksonville, Illinois, with Amv B. Onken, Chairman, and Louisiana Beta, with Judy Daniels, Chairman.

The Holt House Booklet and the program presented at convention have done much to stimulate interest in this house so filled with memories of the early days of I C Sororsis. Because the Treasurer's books had to be closed for her report to Grand Council at an early date the amounts reported contributed at this writing are not conclusive. However, we can report that Pittsburgh, Kansas City, Mo., and Iowa City each gave \$50.00. Of the clubs reporting, thirty-two increased the amount of their contribution this year with only four failing to include Holt House in their budget. Several of the clubs used the colored films of the House, and found them most interesting and enjoyable. Each initiate receives at the time of her initiation a copy of the Holt House Book-

For the first time this year the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund was counted as one of the projects for 100% recognition of clubs, replacing the Loan Fund in this respect, and thereby increasing this Endowment Fund by voluntary contributions. This fund, which has the two-fold purpose of making the principal available for chapter house loans, and the interest therefrom a resource for helping members in need of assistance, will undoubtedly have increasing demands made upon it as the years go by. It has met a generous response, with contributions in excess of one thousand dollars. St. Louis leads in sending \$315.00 with Kansas City, Mo. giving \$100.00, Berkeley \$50.00, Boston, \$43.00, and Columbus, Pittsburgh, Detroit, Minneapolis Afternoon, Washington Senior, San Mateo, Los Angeles, and San Francisco each giving \$25.00.

Again this year clubs and chapters, through the Fraternity, have worked with the Save The Children Federation. It has been possible because of these contributions for the clubs to fully sponsor nine children, with two clubs sharing sponsorship of the tenth child. The chapters are taking full care of thirteen children, with two chapters sharing another, and three chapters sharing still another. Sponsorship has not ended with the money sent to the Federation, but has meant boxes of food, clothing, and other necessities finding their way overseas at intervals throughout the year, and letters going back and forth between the children and their families, and their Pi Phi sponsors. This is indeed a splendid record, and one is reminded that "none walks as straight as he who stoops to help a child."

Added to these activities, a large number of clubs do outstanding work in sponsoring and supporting local projects of various sorts. A full recital of these, if space permitted, would furnish cause for deep pride in these efforts and in the recognition and assumption of civic responsibility of which they speak.

With the change over in the wording to "active chapter interests," more clubs have understood their responsibility for establishing contact of some sort with an active chapter or chapters-through correspondence, personal contact at vacation periods with resident actives, visits to chapters at initiation time or Founders' Day, or even through a study of active chapter material to become better informed concern-ing this side of fraternity work. All of this has resulted in better understanding, and closer working relationships between clubs and chapters. The time for greatest understanding and patience comes during the rushing period. The ultimate was expressed, but seldom possible, when one president reported three girls recommended-three girls pledged! Alumnæ serving for the first time this year as State Rushing Recommendations Chairmen will serve a previously unmet need, and will be rendering a great service to active chapters. Here is an opportunity for alumnæ not located where there is a chartered club to serve their fraternity. Of those recently appointed thirty-five are not near an alumnæ club.

As a result of these closer relationships considerable assistance has materialized in the way of financial gifts to chapters. Outstanding is the example of the junior group of the Indianapolis Club. In the fall they conducted a rummage sale to earn funds to make it possible for them to sponsor a concert in Indianapolis by the Purdue University Choir. The final result was a check for \$1000.00 presented on Founders' Day to Indiana Epsilon for their building fund. A number of clubs not situated near a chapter have "adopted" chapters as their special interest. The almost 500 alumnæ serving as members of Alumnæ Advisory Committees have been the connecting

link between the two groups and have further cemented these associations while rendering conspicuously outstanding service to the chapters concerned, and to the Fraternity at large.

As a further expression of interest in active chapters the Alumnæ Session of the 1948 Convention authorized the Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarship for undergraduate members. Last year this was awarded for the first time to Peggy Baker, Kansas Alpha. For the coming year the award goes to Virginia Campbell, Michigan Beta. Applications for the scholarship are due each year in the hands of the Grand Vice President by May 1.

Not as easily classified under the three points mentioned in the beginning of this report as accomplishments of the year, are other points about which we would speak.

A large number of year books were received—some of them printed, many mimeographed or typed, and having clever and attractive covers. The real importance of these books, aside from their value to the members concerned, is the evidence of planning ahead and having a set time for meetings. While the "best laid plans" can often go astray, nevertheless, a well thought out scheme for the year assures greater cooperation among members and officers, and more likelihood of attaining the goals set.

The same point applies to adopting a budget. We were especially pleased to note that seventy-two clubs reported having an item in their budgets to augment the amount to be received from the Alumnæ Convention Delegates Fund to pay the expenses of their delegates to Convention. We very strongly urge those not having similar amounts to plan definitely for such allocation of funds. The amount to which each club will be entitled for this interim cannot be determined until all dues are paid on April 15, 1950. The distribution for the coming convention will be made upon a different basis than in the past in accordance with action taken at the last convention. The Grand Treasurer will appoint a committee to determine the amounts which are "to be made upon a percentage basis of official hotel expense, plus first class railroad fare from a central point in the province to convention point." In addition to this amount, Grand Treasurer has held in escrow the undistributed portion of the 1948 Fund. This means that seventyfive clubs will each receive in addition to this year's allotment \$68.00, and eight clubs, having been officially chartered only one year previous to convention and thus having paid into the fund only half the required amount, will receive in addition \$34.00 each.

The committee authorized by convention to collect funds, and bring to the next convention a report of the amount raised and definite plans for the building, maintenance, and functioning regulations for a proposed Home for Pi Beta Phis, has worked this year under the able leadership of Mary Wallihan Gibson, and her committee of four other members of the two Cleveland clubs, and in conjunction with the Committee of Forty from designated clubs throughout the fraternity, also authorized by convention. Clubs may expect a more concerted effort this coming year to fulfill the provisions of the action taken, and delegates should come to convention prepared to act upon the report of the committee. Many clubs have made donations this year to this fund being collected, and it is hoped that individual members will also respond to the appeal. A report of the work done this year by the committee appears elsewhere in this issue of the Arrow.

At the end of the third year of the existence of The Order of The Golden Arrow there are 676 members of The Order, 116 becoming eligible this year. Lists of these members were not sent to clubs this year by Central Office because some preferred not to be publicly recognized. Names were sent only when the individual expressed a willingness to have such notification made. As voted at Convention, a special guard for these members has been designed by the L. G. Balfour Company in the form of a small gold carnation, and is available through Central Office.

Chapter Loyalty Day was again celebrated by clubs and individuals in many different ways. The Long Beach club read the initiation service aloud, then asked one of their Golden Arrow members to tell of her recollection of her own initiation. This seems an especially fine way to celebrate this occasion and at the same time pay special tribute to Golden Ar-

row members.

Leading roles were once more taken by members of Pi Beta Phi in local Panhellenic affairs. With the attacks on the fraternity system in general it seems increasingly important that we work with and learn to know other NPC groups and their members toward the end that we may present a united front against those who would undermine the forces for good which fraternities are and have been on their campuses, and to their members in the years following

college.

The year has not been without its problems for the clubs, and for the Alumnæ Department as a whole. The most often expressed problems of the clubs fall, for the most part, into a few general categories. Large attendance brings difficulties in securing adequate meeting places. Some have met this situation by having smaller groups for a portion of their meetings. One aspect of this has meant the organization of junior groups, of which there are now twenty-five. We do not suggest any divisions except when a real need exists for there is much to be gained from our associations as a whole regardless of geographical, location, age, or chapter differences. On the other hand some clubs find smallness a problem. Still others speak of the old perplexing questions. How can we raise money? How can we prevail upon members to accept responsibilities? What are some new program ideas? How can we draw in the disinterested member?

This last question touches upon the problem of the Department as a whole. How can we stretch the resources of the Alumnæ Fund to meet its commitments? We think of those thousands of members who never pay dues. We think, regretfully of those five clubs which for varying reasons forfeited their charters at the end of this year. This leaves a roster of 229 alumnæ clubs. There are still localities where there should be clubs. The Director of Extension is in the process of working with some of them now so we can hope to add other new clubs to our roll next year. Some province officers are carrying extremely heavy loads of work. The question of redistricting the provinces was considered as a means of relieving this situation, but this meant adding more officers with accompanying added expenses. This we could not do and keep out of the red.

The fine record, which we are proud to present, was possible only because of the excellent work of the Province Vice Presidents. It was with real regret that the end of the year brought the resignation of Margaret Armstrong Foster, Epsilon Province Vice President. She will be sorely missed by her clubs, and her fellow officers. We feel fortunate in being able to announce as her successor Alice Weber Mansfield, Missouri Beta, past president of the St. Louis Alumnæ Club. Neither this officer nor the Province Vice-Presidents could have performed their tasks as faithfully as they did except for the always prompt and efficient cooperation of The Director of Central Office,

and her able staff.

The personal contacts always seem in many ways the highlight of the year. For this reason her visits during the year will ever remain treasured memories of your Grand Vice President. It was a most happy experience to work with the Birmingham, Alabama, alumnæ last summer in laying plans for rushing and housing the colonized group at the University of Alabama, and to work with them and their graduate counsellor, Betty Beck, Indiana Gamma, throughout the year and to be able to rejoice with them in the announcement that a charter had been granted to them, and that they would be installed next fall as the Alabama Beta chapter. Later in the year we visited Arizona Alpha, California Beta, Gamma, and Delta, and Nevada Alpha. Clubs visited include Tucson, and Phoenix, Arizona, Long Beach, Santa Monica-Westwood, Pasadena, Glendale, San Diego, Los Angeles, South Coast, Santa Barbara, Palo Alto, San Jose, San Mateo, San Francisco, Berkeley, Contra Costa, Marin County, Sacramento, California; Denver, Colorado; and Reno, Nevada. We enjoyed celebrating an early Founders' Day with Reno and Nevada Alpha, and one at the usual time with the two clubs in Washington, which was held under the direction of the Junior Club. It was also our pleasure to share in State Day gatherings in Michigan and Ohio sponsored by the Lansing-East Lansing, and Columbus clubs respectively. We inspected for Grand Council the petitioning group, University of California at Santa Barbara, and visited the campus and had a conference with the Dean of Women at San Diego State College. Both colleges will have chapters of Pi Beta Phi installed during the coming year.

When reflecting upon the joys of alumnæ membership the first thing which comes to mind is that no matter where you are there is usually a ready made circle of Pi Beta Phi friends to greet you. This has been especially brought home to us this year in our change of residence from Indianapolis to Washington, D.C., and we wish to thank both clubs—one for a long to be remembered farewell, and the other for a

warm welcome as one of them.

The pleasures of personal contact are also a happy, stimulating, and pleasurable part of our work with the other members of Grand Council. There is a rich reward in being able to serve the Fraternity, and we are humbly grateful for this privilege, for we are sure that we are a better Pi Beta Phi because of this opportuity. We urge Pi Beta Phis everywhere to join in making next year even more worthy of good report.

MARIANNE REID WILD

GRAND SECRETARY

THE WORK of the secretary is concerned with the records of the Fraternity and therefore provides special opportunity to envision its all-over accomplishments. The resultant delight is never-failing because Pi Beta Phi has a very high percentage of its large membership loyally active for life and has a caliber in its membership which does not permit indifferent effort. For that reason the records are always satisfying. Looking back upon this year and over other years in council and province work the one reward which always comes to mind is the continually broadening fraternity associations with their attendant joy in Pi Beta Phi personalities and achieve-

It should not be hard to imagine the summer task of the secretary of the Fratemity following Convention. The first responsibility was to prepare for mimeographing the list of the motions adopted in the Active Session, requested on motion for all delegates and officers. Then followed the work of compiling the minutes of the annual meeting of the Grand Council and of the brief post-Convention meeting. The account of Convention as recorded in the Arrow, after approval by Grand Council, was taken from the records of the Grand Secretary. It was the privilege of the secretary to write notes of appreciation to all Convention chairmen, to those who made the Convention program so satisfying, and to many others whose efforts entered into the sum total of the success of the 1948 Convention, Letters were sent to the Canadian and American representatives in the United Nations Council and to three leaders of the Deans of Women regarding action taken by Convention commending and supporting their respective causes and their individual services. Instructions were sent to offices and chairmen whose work was affected by changes authorized in the meetings of the Grand Council and in Convention. This was the summer's work except that, in addition, 1500 membership certificates were signed between Convention and September.

The school-year duties of the Grand Secretary include supervision in three distinct fields. These are -supervision of chapters needing special guidance; of the Alumnæ Advisory Committee work of the Fraternity; and of all National Chairmen whose work does not provide a logical association with some other member of the Grand Council.

Supervision of chapters is detailed work. It involves a conscientious effort to be of assistance to special alumnæ and student supervisors, and to the presidents of new chapters and of those chapters needing constructive advance. Monthly reports are received and answered from two or three key work-ers in each of these chapters. The greatest difficulty in this work lies in the fact that many of us must work together who do not have the privilege of knowing one another personally. We are particularly aware of the value of sympathetic understanding in this cooperative effort. The Grand Secretary especially desires to express her appreciation of and to those who have cooperated with her in many very fine reports and whose efforts to use suggestions, for the good of the groups which they have influenced, have been sincere and effectual. She would also pay tribute to a Grand Council before her time whose wisdom is so evident in the plans for the immediate safeguarding of our new chapters.

In alternate months, general letters have been

written to all Alumna Advisory Committee Chairmen and other personal letters have been written in answer to special questions. A questionnaire was sent out in January and the response has been almost perfect. Replies were very prompt and the information helpful. The Alumnæ Committee is a very important division of the constructive forces within the Fraternity, and, the loyal service, deep concern, and careful guidance of many individual Pi Phis who have been members of these committees will never be fully known. Their reward is the reward of a parent who builds for the security of a loved one and who sometimes has the joy of seeing that that effort has meant the difference between difficulty or mere ordinary performance and deeply satisfying achievement. We would pay tribute to each one of these and express the appreciation of a grateful Fraternity to this group who serve in a place where security counts so vitally.

The supervision of the work of the National Committee Chairmen differs from the other two assignments in that it is not as direct a contact with the chapters and in that it involves a specialized assignment for which the worker seems especially endowed in experience and ability. Each one works in a sense, alone, and far removed from those upon whom the success of her special task depends. Hers is a re-sponsibility for records and promotion in a given field, and then she must await results. Our work together in agreement and coordination in methods and procedures, and then, mutual encouragement. We have agreed upon a patern of individual correspondence which will keep us in regular contact, and, upon less frequent but regular group letters which will provide mutual information and association. Here again we have Pi Beta Phis who spend hours of time in routine duty so that the progress of the Fraternity may be certain and well-directed. Read their reports and envision what they have done and you will join in gratitude to them and will share with them their personal satisfactions in Pi Beta Phi achievement.

It was the privilege of this officer to visit Wis-consin Alpha, Wisconsin Beta, and Wisconsin Gamma, Manitoba Alpha, North Dakota Alpha, and Minne-sota Alpha, and, to enjoy the hospitality of the Mothers' Club of Winnipeg and the Mahoning Valley Alumnæ Club. This chapter-visit assignment is now a very happy memory, centered in confidence in the future of these chapters and in pleasure in newfound friends.

As we come to the end of another annual report we are stirred by great pride in the Fraternity through a wonderful opportunity to know it well; by deep gratitude for the cooperation of so many individuals indicated in this report, and in addition to these, of Gladys Scivally whose assistance is so essential and never-failing; and, by the belief that one could never work anywhere with finer associates than those found in the bonds of the wine and blue. Whether their responsibilities are the greatest or the least, each cares about how she does meet them and inspires and helps her associates. Centered in ideals that are ennobling, can a Fraternity fail whose personal loyalties are so challenging to the individual and so satisfying? It is a privilege, which will one day become a very precious memory, to have worked in such a company and for Pi Beta Phi.

LUCILE DOUGLASS CARSON

ARROW EDITOR

The YEAR 1948-49 has been an interesting one for the Arrow. The September issue was as always in Convention years, heavy with the Minutes of Convention and with the reports of officers; December gave the pictorial history of the French Lick Convention; March was the alumna issue, with interest centered on their doings—here the problem was to choose and to abbreviate the fine material which came from clubs and individuals; the May issue had more general material, with emphasis on active doings and honors. We owe much to the interest of Pi Phis everywhere, who have contributed to the

contents of the magazine.

At the end of her chapter visits the Editor had the privilege of a conference with the National Historian, with some interesting delving into her files. The question of bringing the History as we now have it up to date was discussed. Among chapters there has been questioning as to when this might be done, and also there has been discussion as to the possibility of making the History more available to Pi Phis, and with material more easily found in its pages. That brings up the possibility of having at least a partially new history written, and this should be discussed by Grand Council. It cannot again be issued as an issue of the Arrow, due to a ruling of the Post Office Department that material of permanent value such as a History must be issued as a book, and mailed as such. The Historian puts in many hours of work, and her correspondence has increased to a point where the Editor feels that she should be allowed something for clerical help. The Editor also recommends that whenever possible the Historian be sent to give talks to clubs and chapters. This should be a great aid in the development of national viewpoint through her delightful presentation of the Fraternity.

Preliminary work has been started on the Directory, and we are now waiting for a ruling from the Post Office Department as to sending this out as an issue of the Arrow. Details of this will be worked out with Central Office during the June visit there. It would be very desirable to have this issue come in the Spring of 1950, if it is at all possible,

with March the best month.

Chapter visits were all made on one trip, and the chapters visited were Utah Alpha, Wyoming Alpha, South Dakota Alpha, Nebraska Beta, Kansas Alpha, Kansas Beta, and visits for part of a day each were made to the two Colorado chapters in the place of the Grand President. Included were fine alumnæ contacts at teas in Salt Lake City, Laramie, Vermillion, Lawrence and Kansas City, and at luncheons in Denver, Boulder (Mother's Club meeting), and Lincoln. In Washington the Editor attended a large meeting of the alumnæ club, had a luncheon conference with her Chapter Letter Editor, Marjorie McMichael Pickard; and with the Grand Vice President, was the guest at dinner of Maryland Beta, saw their new house, and met with their Advisory Board. Before leaving home, an inspection visit was made to the fine petitioning group, Phi Sigma Nu, at San Diego State College, and the report on them was entirely favorable.

One ray of hope for next year is that there is prospect of a small decrease in the cost of paper. During this year, the experiment was tried of using two grades of paper in the open issues of the magazine, a 60 pound book paper in the feature section which has pictures, and 40 pound in the section of chapter and alumnæ letters and personals. There has been much comment on how well the pictures looked this year, although only one or two people realized the difference in paper quality and finish. There was only a slight additional cost, and this seems more than justified by the increased attractiveness of the maga-

zine.

The only possibility of an increase in cost for next near is that the cost of labor may go up again,

and this it is hoped to avoid,

It has been as always a privilege to have the close contacts with Pi Phis which the editorship involves, and the Editor is most grateful to all who have helped make this year a fine one for her—to her Staff, always hard-working and devoted, to Mr. Bachmann for his unfailing skill and interest, and to the many members of Pi Beta Phi who have written and spoken their appreciation of their magazine.

Respectfully submitted,
ADELE TAYLOR ALFORD

 \rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow

Convention will be held at Jasper Lodge, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada, June 25-July 1, 1950. Plan to come!

Settlement School film may be obtained by writing to the member of the settlement School Committee in charge—address in the Directory pages of this issue.

REPORT OF THE GRAND TREASURER

THE REGULAR duties pertaining to the office of Grand Treasurer have been fulfilled during 1948-1949 as well as a number of special tasks. Jointly with the Supervisor of Chapter Accounting the chapter Treasurer's Manual was revised, the letter for parents of pledges and actives concerning fraternity finances was rewritten, and a letter sent out in the fall to chapter treasurers.

As Chairman of the Board of Trustee Funds the Grand Treasurer has attempted to keep the Board informed in regard to the chapters needing chapter house loans and has asked for votes on the granting of such loans from the mortgage Endowment Funds.

The Holt House Treasurer's books were audited

and found to be in order. The Grand Council meeting and the meeting with province officers were attended in Decatur in June. Iowa Alpha, Beta, Zeta, and Gamma were visited in October and November and New Mexico Alpha was visited in April. The Grand Treasurer attended meetings of alumnæ in Mt. Pleasant, Iowa; Iowa City and Indianola, Iowa; and in Albuquerque, N.M. She had the good fortune to meet with the Honolulu Club in February, so that altogether there have been many pleasant contacts along with the busy routine.

Respectfully submitted,

LOLITA S. PROUTY

BALANCE SHEET July 31, 1949

ASSETS

General and Special Funds		
Cash Notes and accounts receivable:	\$ 83,343.14	
Student notes \$ 8,133.91 Loan to new chapter 1,000.00 Investment income due from trustees 3,949.60	13,083.51	
Investments:		
Bonds and stocks—at cost (approximate market value \$127,618.60) \$130,090.10 Interest coupons maturing August 1, 1949		
\$130,102.60 Chapter house mortgages	215,998.20	
Holt House property	13,228.86	\$ 325,653.71
Endowment Funds		
Uninvested principal cash	\$ 2,714.82	
Investments: Bonds—at cost (approximate market value \$748,094.45)	784,166.60	
Due from general funds	30,185.00	817,066.42
Agency Funds		
Investment in United States Government obligations: Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-58—at cost (approximate market value \$39,196.00) Interest coupons maturing August 1, 1949 \$12.50		
Series F Savings Bonds—at cost plus increment	\$ 42,350.65	
Due from general funds	522,50	42,873.15
		At 100 cos so
		\$1,185,593.28

LIABILITIES

General and Special Funds

Accou	-	-	 L		

Pay roll taxes and deductions\$ Settlement School	32.10 410.00	\$	442.10
Due endowment funds Due agency funds		30	0,185.00 522.50

Fund balances: For specific purposes: Emma Harper Turner Memorial Building Fund		
Chapter House Building Fund		
#227,605.53 Holt House Property Fund—no change during the year 13,228.86 Contingent Fund 22,669.72	04,504.11	\$ 325,653.71
Endowment Funds Income designated for restricted purposes: ARROW Endowment Fund \$544.088.22 ARROW Endowment Mortgage Fund 37,785.00 Settlement School Endowment Fund 55,692.51 Fellowship Endowment Fund 10,300.00 Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Fund 260.00 \$6. \$6.	48,125.73	
General Endowment Fund	68,940.69	817,066,42
Agency Funds		42,873.15
		\$1,185,593.28
EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL BUILDING FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948 Contributions		\$50,000.00 1,830.50
Balance at July 31, 1949		
CHAPTER HOUSE BUILDING FUND Balance at August 1, 1948		\$17.22 <i>4.6</i> 5
Interest received on chapter house mortgages		628.83
Balance at July 31, 1949		\$17,863.48
STUDENT LOAN FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$43,071.12
Income: Contributions	\$ 244.0	00
Interest	-	70 264.70
Balance at July 31, 1949	*	\$43,335.82
EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL INCOME FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$ 1,930.00
Income: Allocated portion of income from pooled investments of the general funds		
Interest on chapter house mortgages	. 223.6	
Expenditures:		\$ 2,995.05
Authorized disbursements to members of the Fraternity		1,260.00
Balance at July 31, 1949		\$ 1,735.05
HARRIETT JOHNSTONE SCHOLARSHIP FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$ -
Contributions Transfer from contingent fund	\$ 765.0	
Balance at July 31, 1949		\$ 1,665.00
DIRECTORY FUND		89/ 100 51
Balance at August 1, 1948 Income from initiation fees		4,122.00
Advance to central office for work on directory		\$28,224.00
Advance to central office for work on directory		
Balance at July 31, 1949		\$23,224.00

CONVENTION FUND

CONTRACTION FOND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$10,543.97
Income: Initiation fees Refund on railroad tickets Profit from advertising in convention daily Convention registration fees	1,850,51	12,466,16
		\$23,010.13
Expenditures:		
Typing and printing convention reports Travel, supplies, etc. Hotel accommodations	\$ 524.35 270.84 52.76	847.95
Balance at July 31, 1949		\$22,162.18
ALUMNÆ CONVENTION FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$ 663.12
Alumnæ dues	.\$ 9,152.00 . 328.00	9,480.00
		\$10,143.12
Transfer to Alumnæ Convention Fund Reserve		408.00
Balance at July 31, 1949	*	\$ 9,735.12
ALUMNÆ CONVENTION FUND RESERVE		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$ 4,964.00 408.00
Balance at July 31, 1949		
STATEMENT OF CONTINGENT FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1948		\$ 71,238.35
Income: Initiation fees Interest and dividends on investments Jewelry and stationery Commissions Chapter and club supplies Payment by Holt House of loan for furnishings Fines	5 667 81	41,408.93
		\$112,647.28
Expenses: Central office expenses Chapter expense, including installation Traveling expenses Office and officers' expenses Salaries Loss on the sale of securities Song books Settlement School pamphlet Bairds Manual Fraternity magazine subscriptions General expenses Legal expenses Legal expenses Legal expenses Insurance Convention initiation Pay roll taxes Unclassified	10,121,57 6,199,53 5,755,20 2,800.00 2,384.85 1,121,79 501,58 638.64 429.00	45,573.64
Arrow publication—excess of expenses over income		\$67,073.64 8,021.93
		\$ 59,051.71
Transfers: To the Harriett Johnstone Scholarship Fund To Alumnæ Fund	900.00 4,481.99	5,381.99
Balance at July 31, 1949	1,101.99	
		\$ 53,669.72

ALUMNÆ FUND

Balance at August 1, 1948	\$ 2,037.73
Income: \$10,192.00 Interest on Life Membership Endowment investments 25,00 10,192.00 25,00	
Issuing charters	10,220.00
E. A Jan	\$12,257.73
Expenditures: \$12,984.19 Central office expenses 3,190.96 Salaries, travel and office expense 268.32 Hotel accommodations 268.32 Scholarship 150.00 Fraternity magazine subscriptions 65.00 Insurance 81.25	16,739.72
EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER INCOME Transfer from contingent funds	\$ 4,481.99 4,481.99
Balance at July 31, 1949	\$ -
SAVE THE CHILDREN FUND	
Balance at August 1, 1948	\$ 15.00
Income from contributions	211.00
Expenditures for Save the Children Federation sponsorships	\$226.00 226.00
Balance at July 31, 1949	\$ —
STATEMENT OF ENDOWMENT FUNDS	
Balance at August 1, 1948	\$774,768.99
Add: Initiation fees: \$30,915.00 ARROW Endowment Mortgage Fund \$30,915.00 General Endowment Fund 10,305.00 \$41,220.00 Settlement School payment to its endowment fund 1,558.32 Income cash used for principal—Arrow Endowment Fund 38.48	47.016.00
Income cash used for principal—Arrow Endowment Fund	\$817,585.79
Deduct loss on sale of securities: \$ 382.23 ARROW Endowment Fund 77.78 Settlement School Endowment Fund 77.78 General Endowment Fund 59.36	519.37
Balance at July 31, 1949	\$817,066.42
STATEMENT OF AGENCY FUNDS	
Balance at August 1, 1948	\$42,852.15
Interest from California Alpha Securities \$ 1,025.00 Increment in value of other securities	1,041.00
Deduct California Alpha scholarships granted	\$ 43,893.15 1,020.00
Balance at July 31, 1949	\$42,873.15
FUND BALANCES	
California Alpha—Principal \$41,000.00 California Alpha—Income 1,035.00	\$42,035.00
Maine Alpha Holt House	776.50 61.65
	\$42,873.15

August 31, 1949

Grand Council Pi Beta Phi Fraternity Office of Grand Treasurer Denver, Colorado

WE HAVE examined the balance sheet of the Grand Treasurer of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity as of July 31, 1949, and the statements of fund transactions for the year then ended. Our examination was made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and accordingly included such tests of the accounting

records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of fund transactions present fairly the position of the Grand Treasurer of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity at July 31, 1949, and the changes in fund balances during the year then ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

ERNST & ERNST Certified Public Accountants

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CASH-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

July 31, 1949

Royal Bank of Canada,	Denver, Colorado Grain Exchange Branch, Winnipeg, Manitoba—in Canadian funds	\$77,972,44 5,370.70
		\$83,345.14

INVESTMENT INCOME DUE FROM TRUSTEES-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

IN			

Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago, First Trust Company, Lincoln, Nebraska	, Illinois\$	3,613.75 335.85
	\$	3,949.60

BONDS AND STOCKS GENERAL AND SPECIAL PUNIOS

BONDS AND STOCKS—GENERAL AND SPECIAL	L FUNDS		
July 31, 1949			
	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
United States Government obligations: Series D Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-49 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-55 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-55 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-55 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-57 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-57 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-58 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-58 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-59 Treasury Bonds, 2½%—1955/60 Treasury Bonds, 2½%—1955/70 Other: Pittsburgh & West Va. R.R.Co., Series C, 4½%—1960 Dominion of Canada, 3%—1952 Dominion of Canada, 3%—1956	6,700.00 10,000.00 9,200.00 1,000.00 9,200.00 1,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 10,000.00 11,000.00 10,000.00 6,300.00 10,000.00 4,300.00 1,000.00 5,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00	\$ 5,025.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 9,200.00 1,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 10,000.00 11,000.00 11,000.00 10,000.00 11,000.00 11,000.00 11,000.00 11,000.00 11,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00	\$ 6,700.00 9,550.00 9,550.00 8,758.40 949.00 4,745.00 9,470.00 14,205.00 9,510.00 6,214.00 9,620.00 4,697.95 1,036.25 4,168.75 1,000.00 100.00
Dominion of Canada, 3%—1957	500.00	500,00	500.00
Stocks S	131,450.00	\$129,515.10	\$125,571.35
Deep Rock Oil Co., common 75 shares Panhellenic, preferred 10 shares Panhellenic common 2 shares			\$ 1,547.25 500.00
		\$ 575,00	\$ 2,047.25
		\$130,090.10	\$127,618,60

CHAPTER HOUSE MORTGAGES—GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS [14] 31, 1949

	Balance August 1, 1948	Additions	Collections	Balance July 31, 1949
Chapter House Building Fund				
New York Gamma Chapter Ontario Beta Chapter Arizona Alpha Chapter Iowa Beta Chapter	4,825,42	10,000.00 1,500.00	\$ 194.64 500.00	\$ 900.00 4,630.78 9,500.00 1,500.00
	\$ 5,725,42	\$11,500.00	\$ 694.64	\$16,530.78
Endowment Fund Drive				
Alberta Alpha Chapter Georgia Alpha Chapter Kentucky Alpha Chapter Massachusetts Beta Chapter Michigan Gamma Chapter South Dakota Alpha Chapter Tennessee Beta Chapter West Virginia Alpha Chapter	. 9,085.50 . 1,233.93 . 5,950.00 . 7,800.00 . 1,500.00 . 2,500.00	\$ 10,000.00 = = = =	\$ 550.00 914.93 1,233.93 1,050.00 1,100.00 200.00 500.00 951.00	\$ 4,450.00 18,170.57 4,900.00 6,700.00 1,300.00 2,000.00 2,000.00
	\$36,020.43	\$10,000.00	\$ 6,499.86	\$39,520.57
Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund				***
New Mexico Alpha Chapter North Carolina Alpha Chapter	.s <u>-</u>	\$20,000.00	\$ — 155.75	\$20,000.00 9,844.25
	\$ -	\$30,000.00	\$ 155.75	\$29,844.25
	\$41,745.85	\$51,500.00	\$ 7,350.25	\$85,895,60
CHAPTER HOUSE MORTGAGE—EN	NDOWMENT	FUNDS		
July 31, 1949				
Arrow Endowment Mortgage Fund Oregon Gamma Chapter	.s —	\$ 8,000.00	\$ 400.00	\$ 7,600.00
				-
UNINVESTED PRINCIPAL CASH—E	NDOWMEN	FUNDS		
July 31, 1949				
ARROW Endowment Trust Fund General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund				\$1,094.75 1,619.91 \$2,714.82
SUMMARY OF BONDS—ENDO	WMENT FU	NDS		
July 31, 1949				
				Indicated
	1	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
Arrow Endowment Trust Fund: Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln		Face Value 490,275.00	Cost \$493,893.39 50,269.67	Market or Redemption
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago	s	490,275.00 49,400.00	\$493,893.39	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund		490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 10,300.00	\$493,893.39 50,269.67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072,60 10,300.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Trust Fund	\$ \$	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 250.00 771,125.00	\$493,893,39 50,269,67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072,60 10,300.00 185.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund	\$ W PUBLICA	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 250.00 771,125.00	\$493,893,39 50,269,67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072,60 10,300.00 185.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Trust Fund INCOME AND EXPENSE—ARRO	\$ W PUBLICA	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 250.00 771,125.00	\$493,893,39 50,269,67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072,60 10,300.00 185.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Trust Fund INCOME AND EXPENSE—ARRO Year Ended July 31,	\$ \$ \\ \frac{\\$}{\\$} \\ \text{W PUBLICA'} \\ 1949	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 10,300.00 250.00 771,125.00	\$493,893,39 50,269.67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072.60 10,300.00 185.00 \$776,566.60 \$15,894.68 6,183.00 245.00 140.40 180.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund INCOME AND EXPENSE—ARRO Year Ended July 31, Income: Interest on endowment fund investments Initiation fees Chapter Arrow file Advertising Interest on chapter house mortgages Arrows Expenses: Publication—Banta Publishing Company Editor's salary and office expense Binding current volume of Arrow Central office expenses	₩ PUBLICA'	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 10,300.00 250.00 771,125.00 TION	\$493,893,39 50,269,67 \$544,163.06 167,845,94 54,072,60 10,300.00 185.00 \$776,566.60 \$15,894.68 6,183.00 245.00 140.40 180.00 41.89 \$29,189.09 700.00 279,33 500.00	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50 \$748,094.45
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund INCOME AND EXPENSE—ARRO Year Ended July 31, Income: Interest on endowment fund investments Initiation fees Chapter Arrow file Advertising Interest on chapter house mortgages Arrows Expenses: Publication—Banta Publishing Company Editor's salary and office expense Binding current volume of Arrow	₩ PUBLICA'	Face Value 490,275.00 49,400.00 539,675.00 166,900.00 54,000.00 10,300.00 250.00 771,125.00	\$493,893,39 50,269.67 \$544,163.06 167,845.94 54,072.60 10,300.00 185.00 \$776,566.60 \$15,894.68 6,183.00 245.00 140.40 180.00 41.89 \$29,189.09 700.00 279.33 500.00 38.48	Market or Redemption Value \$476,639.31 47,785.40 \$524,424.71 161,756.76 51,948.28 9,776.20 188.50 \$748,094.45

ARROW ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS—TRUSTER July 31, 1949

July 31, 1949			
			Indicated
	1.0		Market or
	Par at	25.7	Redemption
	Face Value	Cost	Value
United States Government obligations:			
Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-56	\$ 1,075.00	\$ 795.50	\$ 856.78
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-53	10,000.00	10,000,00	9,670.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53	14,000.00	14,000.00	13,496,00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-53		2,200.00	2,120,80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 1-1-54	10,700.00	10,700.00	10,314,80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-54	10,700.00	10,700.00	10,282,70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-54 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-54	3,000.00	3,000.00	2,883.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-54	3,000.00	3,000.00	2,874.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-55		5,800.00	5,539.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-55	7,900.00	7,900.00	7,544.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-55	17,000.00	17,000.00	16,235.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-55	4,000.00	4,000.00	3,820.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-55	7,500.00	7,500.00	7,140.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-55		3,000.00	2,856.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-56		6,000.00	5,694.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-56	16,000.00	16,000.00	15,184.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-56	10,000.00	10,000.00	9,470.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-56	11,500,00	11,500.00	10,890.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57	11,000.00	13,500.00	12,784.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57		11,000.00	10,417.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-57		5,000.00	15,057.30
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-57	9 500 00	9,500.00	4,735.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-57	10,000,00	10,000,00	9,006.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-57	14 000.00	14,000,00	9,480.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-57	15,500.00	15,500.00	14,694.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58	9,500.00	9,500.00	9,034.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-58	22,000.00	22,000.00	20,922,00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-58	22,700.00	22,700.00	21,587,70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-58	1,700,00	1,700.00	1,625,20
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-58	3,000.00	3,000,00	2,868.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-58	13,300.00	13,300.00	12,714.80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-59	4 700 00	4,700,00	4,521,40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-59	6,000.00	6,000.00	5,772.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-50	30 400 00	30,400.00	29,244,80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-59	7,300.00	7,300.00	7,073,70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-60	15,000.00	15,000.00	14,670.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-60	9,700.00	9,700.00	9,583,60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-61		7,200.00	7,113.60
Treasury Bonds, 21/4%—1958/63	8,000.00	8,100.80	8,915.00
Treasury Bonds, 21/2%-1950/52	13,000.00	13,620,41	13,130.00
Treasury Bonds, 21/2%—1952/54	5,000.00	5,112.50	5,159.38
Other:	* 000 00		
Tennessee Consolidated, 3%—1950	5,000.00	5,387.85	5,108.00
Central Illinois Light Co., 1st Cons., 3½%—1966 Commonwealth Edison Co., 1st L, 3%—1977 Dallas Power and Light Co., 1st, 3½%—1967	4,000.00	4,245.00	4,340.00
Dallas Power and Links Co. 123 Lt. 270-1977	5,000.00	5,293.75	5,287.50
Detroit Edison Co Con Ref 37, 1970	5,000.00	5,150.00	5,375.00
Florida Power and Light Co. 1st 31/2/1074	3,000.00	5,350.00	5,275.00
Detroit Edison Co., Gen. Ref., 3%—1970 Florida Power and Light Co., 1st, 3½%—1974 Illinois Bell Telephone Co., 1st A, 2¾%—1981	5,000.00	3,198.75	3,251,25
Minnesota Power and Light Co., 1st, 31/8%-1975	5,000.00	5,175.00 5,243.75	5,050.00
Ohio Power Co., 1st, 31/4%-1968	5,000.00	5,175.00	5,206.25
Dublic Comics Co. Ind. 1st P 21/ of 1076		5,281.25	5,281.25
Wisconsin Gas and Electric Co., 1st. 31/6/6-1966	5,000,00	5,150,00	5,225.00
Atchison Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Co., '39 Equip. Trust, 21/62-1040	5,000.00	5,267,58	5,250.00
Great Northern Railway Co., Gen. R., 21/40/6-1961	5.000.00	4.937.50	4,800.00
Wisconsin Gas and Electric Co., 1st, 3½%—1966 Atchison Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Co., '39 Equip. Trust, 2½%—1949 Great Northern Railway Co., Gen. R., 2½%—1961 Toledo and Ohio Central Railway Co., Ref., 3¾%—1960 Percept	4.000.00	4,170,00	3,760.00
Pennsylvania R.R. Co., Conv. Deb., 31/4%-1952	3.000.00	3,026,25	2,977.50
American Tobacco Co., Deb., 3%-1962	5,000.00	5,012,50	5,200.00
	21000100	2,012.30	2,200.00
8	190,275.00	\$493,893,39	\$476,639,31
_			# . / O, O J J 1 J L
-			

ARROW ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS FIRST TRUST COMPANY, LINCOLN, NEBRASKA—TRUSTEE July 31, 1949

1443 31, 1349			
United States Government obligations:	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 10-1-53 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-57 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-59 Tressury Bonds, maturing 7-1-59 Tressury Bonds, 2½26—1967/72 Other: Baltimore & Ohio R.R. Co., 4%—1975 Texas Corporation, 3%—1965 Chesapeake and Ohio Railway Co., 3½%—1973	- 1,100.00 1,800.00 12,800.00 1,000.00 - 7,500.00 - 7,100.00 1,900.00 5,000.00 - 3,000.00 4,000.00	\$ 2,200.00 1,100.00 1,800.00 12,800.00 1,000.00 7,500.00 7,100.00 1,900.00 5,153.13 3,369.80 4,233.26 2,113.48	\$ 2,120.80 1.060.40 1,708.20 12,121.60 947.00 7.132.50 6,752.10 1.827.80 5,250.00 2,505.00 4,230.00 2,130.00
	\$49,400.00	\$50,269.67	\$47,785.40

GENERAL ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS—TRUSTEE fuly 31, 1949

250.72			Jacy 51, 1949	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
United States Government of						
Series G Savings Bonds,		8-1-53	***************************************		\$ 8,000.00	\$ 7,712.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	1-1-54	************	4,000.00	4,000.00	3,856.00
Series G Savings Bonds,		3-1-54	***********	2,500.00	2,500.00	2,402.50
Series G Savings Bonds,		6-1-54	********************************	2,900.00	2,900.00	2,786.90
Series G Savings Bonds,		2-1-55	**************************	1,400.00	1,400.00	1,337.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	4-1-55	************	2,700.00	2,700.00	2,578.50
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	5-1-55	************************	3,500.00	3,500.00	3,342.50
Series G Savings Bonds,		7-1-55		1,400.00	1,400.00	1,337.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	8-1-55	***********	5,500.00	5,500.00	5,236.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	4-1-56	************	3,500.00	3,500.00	3,321.50
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	6-1-56	**************************	1,000.00	1,000.00	949.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	8-1-56		2,000.00	2,000.00	1,894.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	2-1-57	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	2,500.00	2,500.00	2,367.50
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	5-1-57	**********	6,000.00	6,000.00	5,682.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	6-1-57	**********************	1,300.00	1,300.00	1,231.10
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	8-1-57	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	5,900.00	5,900.00	5,593.20
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing I	10-1-57		5,100.00	5,100.00	4,834.80
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing 1	11-1-57		15,000.00	15,000.00	14,220.00
Series G Savings Bonds,				5,000.00	5,000.00	4,740.00
Series G Savings Bonds,		2-1-58		1,600.00	1,600.00	1,521.60
Series G Savings Bonds,		5-1-58		5,000.00	5,000.00	4,755.00
Series G Savings Bonds,		7-1-58		11,000.00	11,000.00	10,461.00
Series G Savings Bonds,		9-1-58		5,800.00	5,800.00	5,544.80
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing 1		*************************	6,000.00	6,000.00	5,736.00
Series G Savings Bonds,	maturing	12-1-58		1,000.00	1,000.00	956.00
Series G Savings Bonds,		2-1-59		900.00	900.00	865.80
Series G Savings Bonds,		4-1-59		2,000.00	2,000.00	1,924.00
Series G Savings Bonds,				8,400.00	8,400.00	8,080.80
Series G Savings Bonds,				2,500.00	2,500.00	2,405.00
Series G Savines Bonds	maturing	5-1-60	***********************	5,000,00	5,000.00	4,890.00
Series G Savings Bonds	maturing 1	12-1-60		8,300.00	8,300,00	8,200,40
Series G Savings Bonds	maturing	6-1-61		7,200.00	7,200.00	7,113,60
Tenseury Bonds 21/20/2-	1949/53			5,000.00	5,242.19	5,034,38
Treasury Bonds, 21/2%-				5,000.00	5,112.50	5,159,38
Other:	17747 23 .			31000177	4477115	
Florida Power and Light	Co 1st	31/20/0-	-1974	2,000.00	2,132,50	2,167.50
Southern California Edis	on Co. Ist	Ref	3%-1965	5,000.00	5,368.75	5,275.00
Wieconsin Michigan Pon	ver Co. 1st	33/40/	1978	4,000.00	4,050.00	4,130.00
Commonwealth Edison C	O., 1st L,	3%-1	977		2,040.00	2,115.00
				\$166,900.00	\$167,845.94	\$161,756.76
					-	_

SETTLEMENT SCHOOL ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS—TRUSTEE July 31, 1949

July 31, 1949			
	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
United States Government obligations:	AND STATES	A RESTOR	4 1 70 10
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53	\$ 2,000.00	\$ 2,000.00	\$ 1,928.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 1-1-54		2,400.00	2,313.60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-54	1,300.00	1,300.00	1,245.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-55		1,100.00	1,047.20
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-56		3,000.00	2,841.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-56	3,500.00	3,500.00	3,314.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-57	3,000.00	3,000.00	2,841.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-57		4,600.00	4,360.80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-57		3,000.00	2,844.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-58		6,000,00	5,706.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-58		1,900.00	1,816,40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-58		5,200.00	4,971.20
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-59		3,000.00	2,886.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-59		4,700.00	4.511.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-60		1,700.00	1,662,60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-60		1,700.00	1,662,60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-60		1,900.00	1,877,20
Treasury Bonds, 23/4%—1963		1,012,60	1,114,38
Other:	.,	.,,,,,,,,,	******
Wisconsin Michigan Power Co., 1st, 3%—1978	2.000.00	2,017.50	2,065,00
Toledo and Ohio Railway Co., Ref. Imp. A, 31/4%-1960	1.000.00	1.042.50	940.00
Toledo and Onto Manual Co., see, see, 11, 77476 1700	-1000100	-,012170	240.00
	\$54,000.00	\$54,072.60	\$51,948.28

188.50

FELLOWSHIP ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

First Trust Company, Lincoln, Nebraska—Trustee

July 31, 1949

United States Government obligations:	ace Value	Cost	Value
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57	500.00 6,800.00 3,000.00	\$ 500.00 6,800.00 3,000.00	6,453,20
\$	10,300.00	\$10,300.00	\$ 9,776.20
ALUMNÆ LIFE MEMBERSHIP ENDOWMENT FUND FIRST TRUST COMPANY, LINCOLN, NEBRASKA—TRUST			
July 31, 1949	200		
United States Government obligations:	Par or ace Value	Cost	Redemption Value
Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-58	225.00 25.00	\$ 166.50 18.50	

250.00

185.00

DIRECTOR OF RUSHING AND PLEDGE TRAINING

THESE five months since I took over the office of Director of Rushing and Pledge Training have proven to be most inspiring and interesting. In December, I learned with deep regret from Isabel Clark Winkler that it was necessary for her to resign from this office. In accepting her responsibilities and her place on Grand Council, it is my sincere desire that I may continue the fine and efficient work which she

has so effectively begun.

It fell to my fortunate lot to visit the chapters of Gamma Province this Spring. My only regret is that I cannot go back to visit these Chapters again soon. I enjoyed the stay on each campus, the associations and work with the girls and the new friendships which I made. In March, I visited District of Columbia A, Maryland B, Maryland A, Virginia I and South Carolina A. In early May, I visited the other three, North Carolina B, North Carolina A, and Virginia A.

The responsibilities of this office this year have included correspondence with Rush Captains, Pledge Supervisors and Program Chairmen. This office receives all recommendations and consents for each girl pledged from the Rush Captains and complete lists

of new pledges from the Pledge Supervisors, and supervises the chapter programs. The Pi Phi nights which have been incorporated as part of the chapter program, have proven most successful.

The required health certificates for all employees handling food in the Pi Beta Phi Chapter Houses are

checked on by this office.

The responsibility of banking the Canadian funds from chapters and clubs in Canada is still being done

by Isabel Clark Winkler.

A new responsibility of this office will be the organization and supervision of the State Rushing Chairmen for next year. Each State and each Province of Canada will have a State Rushing Chairman whose duty it will be to assist chapters and clubs in getting recommendations for the rushees.

According to my records, there have been approximately 2050 girls pledged into Pi Beta Phi this year.

It is indeed a pleasure and a privilege to have this opportunity to serve Pi Beta Phi further, and to work with Miss Onken and the other fine members of Grand Council.

Respectfully submitted,

CLARA HALL SIPHERD

DIRECTOR OF EXTENSION

ACTION OF the 1948 Convention changed again the title, and added to the duties, of this office. As Director of Extension—no longer Alumnæ Extension—the work of the Extension Committee has been assumed by this member of Grand Council.

The first work of the year was to send out, as directed by Convention, the recommendations passed in its Alumnæ Sessions. Following that, the minutes of those sessions were transcribed for publishing in

the Information Issue of the Arrow.

The annual letter with its usual request for a list of the new officers was sent out to Mothers' Clubs in the fall. For the May issue of the Arrow an article was written explaining the work and worth of these clubs. This year their number has increased to fiftythree.

In the field of extension four new chapters have been chartered. The local group, Kappa Sigma Theta, at the College of Puget Sound, Tacoma, Washington, became Washington Gamma as the result of petitioning the 1948 Convention. At this Convention also was granted permission to colonize a group at the University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, which has now successfully passed its term of probation and has been chartered this spring as Alabama Beta. On January 1, 1949 the campuses heretofore open only to educational groups became eligible to NPC fraternities, so the question of extension suddenly assumed greater proportions. As a result of contacts made by groups on the campuses of Santa Barbara State College and San Diego State College, charters have been granted to Delta Zeta Delta at Santa Barbara and to Phi Sigma Nu at San Diego. In addition Pi Beta Phi has been contacted in regard to chapters at the follow-ing places: University of Florida, Gainesville; Indiana State College, Terre Haute; Susquehanna University, Selinsgrove, Pennsylvania; Marshall College, Charleston, West Virginia; Eureka College, Eureka, Illinois; Arizona State University, Tempe; Arkansas State College, Jonesboro; Hanover College, Hanover, Indiana; Kansas Wesleyan, Salina, Kansas; University of Detroit; University of Omaha; and Adelphi College, Garden City, Long Island, N.Y.

The Manual for Chapter Censors was revised this year, but the much needed one on Extension was not written, as the Director of Extension felt that a full year's experience as head of the committee was necessary before she could write one worthy to be

New clubs which have been chartered this year number 14, but the net gain is only 9 because 5 have had to become inactive. However, there has been interest shown by many groups eager to find out the requirements for chartered clubs, with some of these sending for the application blanks. Kappa Province led all provinces with six new clubs in the following places: Waco, Texas; El Dorado, Arkansas; Bartlesville, Oklahoma; Ada, Oklahoma; Pauls Valley, Oklahoma; and Lake Charles, Louisiana. Zeta came next with four in Ocala, Florida; Mobile, Alabama; Gainesville, Florida; and Tallahassee, Florida. There was one in Delta called Southern Indiana; one in Epsilon named Tri-State; the Junior North Shore in Eta; and the Contra Costa, California, in Mu.

The clubs which have become local groups because of losing members through their moving away, or because of the distances between their homes proving a barrier to frequent meetings are: Stamford, Connecticut; Ithaca, N.Y.; Southern New Jersey; Jefferson

City, Missouri; and Ada, Oklahoma.

Chapter visits are always the high point of enjoyment to this officer, but this year it seemed as if that point would never be reached because a schedule was so difficult to make out and keep. Late in the spring visits were made to Tennessee Gamma and the Illinois chapters in Eta Province. It was gratifying to see, in the pleasant two days spent with the former, how splendidly it had developed under the supervision of Peg Ward, and how it merited the confidence placed in it by the Fraternity. This chapter is offered competition in scholarship and leadership to groups on its campus which have been established far longer.

The Illinois chapters all showed to this visiting officer a friendly hospitality and a thoughtful consideration which made her stays with them delightful.

No report would be complete without mention of the satisfaction it is to do this fraternity work. To the fine actives and alumnæ with whom I have had contacts, as well as to the devoted province and na-tional officers for whom I have such great admiration and respect, go my warm thanks for making it that pleasure.

Respectfully submitted,

MARIE B. HAGEE

COUNSELOR FOR CHAPTER HOUSE CORPORATIONS

THE PAST year has been an unusually busy one for The Counselor for Chapter House Corporations Starting with the 1948 Convention where every free minute was taken up with conferences concerning new houses or remodeling of old ones, advice has been given throughout the year to numerous groups through correspondence. Information needed for forming a house corporation, for financing locally, for obtaining a Fraternity loan, suggestions for house plans and other needs, all have been given to various active and alumnæ representatives writing to the Counselor for help.

Remodeling of houses of Arizona Alpha, Oregon Gamma, Iowa Beta, Nevada Alpha, was completed last summer. Correspondence with treasurers of these corporations took place before work was started, and after it was finished the Counselor was grateful for letters explaining just what was done and telling of the pleasure of the active chapter in the more commodious and attractive accommodations.

Extensive repair work and much redecorating and refurnishing was done in many chapter houses. A number of corporations are planning big redecorating jobs this summer. In all places houses were kept in repair and there were additions to the furnishings.

The house for the New Mexico Alpha chapter has been started. An apartment house has been purchased and will be remodeled for the Michigan Gamma chapter. This will be much more commodious and attractive than the present house which will be sold. Plans are being drawn for a house for Ohio Delta, the first fraternity house to be built on the campus. A new house is being planned for New York Gamma to be built this summer, and New York Delta has plans for a beautiful house, although it may not be built immediately. Indiana Epsilon will tear down the old house now occupied and build on the lot which is excellently located. A Maryland Beta house corporation has been formed and plans for buying a house are underway. North Carolina Alpha is now housed in its own chapter house.

Washington Gamma is considering buying a house. Illinois Eta corporation is building up a fund and having plans drawn for an addition to their house which is entirely free from debt. A fund for a lodge for Missouri Gamma has been started but as yet no corporation has been formed.

Plans for panhellenic houses are being considered Vermont, Maine, and John B. Stetson Universities, and Pi Phi chapters at those places have been advised in regard to building funds. Correspondence in regard to funds for furnishing chapter rooms is being carried on with Connecticut Alpha and Alabama Alpha.

Letters were sent to all chapters not living in houses suggesting that they start house funds. Methods used advantageously by chapters living in their own houses were explained. Often college rules are changed allowing fraternities to own and live in houses. Several cases could be cited. Recently Ohio Alpha had the opportunity of buying the house the chapter had been renting. A house fund had been built up during the years and enough money was in the fund to buy the house outright. Where no fund has been accumulated and the opportunity to own property arises unexpectedly, the financing problem is much greater. The Fraternity policy for loans is for each corporation to raise and borrow as much as it can locally and the Fraternity loans an added amount. Thus the Fraternity funds available for chapter house loans may be made to help in many places rather than in a few.

A letter was sent in the fall to each of the sixty corporations and again the first of January a letter went out with the blanks for the annual report to be returned to the Counselor and the Province president concerned. Replies are sent to the treasurers as the reports are received. Every corporation has reported and all fees for treasurer's bond have been received and forwarded to the Grand Treasurer. The reports have been carefully checked to see if proper amounts of insurance are carried, if payments on mortgages have been made, and, in cases where houses are free from debt, if replacement funds are being built up. In all cases the Counselor feels that the houses are soundly financed and there is careful budgeting for amortizing indebtedness. This year the Utah Alpha and the Oregon Beta houses are added to those with no indebtedness, making nineteen on that list,

It has been a pleasure to work another year with the Grand President and the Grand Treasurer and with the alumnæ who give their time and ability to managing the finances of the chapter house corpo-rations. The Fraternity has the right to be proud of the Pi Beta Phi chapter houses.

LILLIAN B. HOLTON

THE NATIONAL HISTORIAN

THE Nita Hill Stark Vase has been awarded to The Nita Hill Stark vase has been the following two chapters whose histories were that it was impossible so nearly equal in excellence that it was impossible to classify one above the other. For the first semester of the year 1949-50 the vase is to be held by Ohio Zeta of Miami University. (Ohio Zeta's history was prepared by Mary Deane Ertel.) For the second semester of the year 1949-50 the vase is to be held by Illinois Theta of Bradley University. (Illinois Theta's history was prepared by Geraldine Lamb,

historian, and Sara Lee Burdick, assistant historian.) Deserving of honorable mention were the histories of: Kansas Beta (prepared by Joan Newcomer, historian, Patty Johnson, pledge historian, and Barbara Hamilton, artist); and Indiana Gamma (prepared by Shirley Rae Evans, Marilyn Wright, and Sharon Collins).

A number of histories received a grade of "excellent" for fulfilling all manual requirements, however the four mentioned above were outstanding for the extra effort went into their preparation.

Active chapter historians have been notified of a new system for grading semester histories on a percentage basis. The new system should enable chapter historians to better understand exactly what is ex-pected of them. The new manual, distributed last year, has eliminated many questioning letters. The quality of the material submitted by all chapters shows steady improvement.

The national archives now contain more than 1600

carbon copies of semester histories.

The National Historian announces the following acquisitions to the national archives of the fraternity: I.C. pin, owned by Mary Baldwin Wyckoff (Mrs. Wm. W.), Nebraska A, 1884—from Mrs. Marjorie Wyckoff Woodbury, Iowa I.
White enameled pin, plain, owned by Rilla Wyckoff Boynton (Mrs. Charles M.), Nebraska A

charter-from Mrs. Woodbury.

White enameled pin, pearl set, owned by Augusta Reader, Nebraska A, 1890-from Miss Reader.

Photograph of a group of Nebraska Alphas in the

early 1890s-also from Miss Reader.

First scholarship ring, submitted for Grand Council approval by the L. G. Balfour Company, and later presented by Mr. Balfour to Amy Burnham Onken, Illinois E, Grand President—from Miss Onken.

Handwritten manuscript of a speech given by Tella Talbot Clammer (Mrs. George), Iowa B, describing her experiences as a delegate to the conven-tion of 1892—from Lillian Beck Holton (Mrs. Edwin L.), Maryland A.

Typed manuscript discussing the history of the Campbell, Texas Alumnæ Club (1896-1898), prepared by Alice Hurley Mackey (Mrs. Clifton M.), Oklahoma A and D.C.A.—from Mrs. Mackey.

Letter, dated August, 1913, from Kate B. Miller, former member of the Settlement School Committee, describing the opening of the School-from Valerie C. Wickhem, Wisconsin B.

Program of Illinois Zeta's 50th anniversary banquet-from Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.),

Illinois Zeta, former Grand Treasurer.

Four convention group photographs; one framed motto card ("The Meaning of Being a Pi Phi"); one Founders' Day banquet program; seven photographs of Mabel Scott Brown (Mrs. R. D.), D.C.A., former National Cataloguer—all from Elizabeth Chalmers Dow (Mrs. Vernon T.), Vermont A.

Bible of Inez Smith Soule, Founder, presented to her by her husband in 1887. Name in gilt lettering on cover. Bound in black morocco-from Mr. Cleone

H. Soule.

All new acquisitions have been appropriately labeled, and descriptions of them have been entered in the gift book. Leather and jewelry items have been cleaned and restored. Old photographs have been mounted under leaves of acetate sheeting.

Historic material pertaining to the Nebraska Alpha chapter has been forwarded to the Director of Central Office to aid her in preparing the new Directory.

Alumnæ are urged to send in any information they may possess in regard to the designs and dates of early Pi Phi pins. The Historian most earnestly desires to prepare a complete catalogue with descriptions of all early types of insignia.

Material for Founders Day programs has been

forwarded to clubs and chapters requesting it.

In January the National Historian was invited to speak to the Kansas City, Missouri Mothers' Club of the University of Missouri. In March she was invited to speak at the first chapter meeting for the new initiates of Kansas A. It was a very great pleasure to accept both invitations, and to become better acquainted with others who are working for the welfare of the fraternity.

In April the Historian and the Kansas City Alumnæ Club enjoyed the honor of a visit from Mrs. Alford whose presence invariably inspires the very real affection and sincere respect of all who meet her. Much work was done on the archives during the all-too-short period of her stay. The historian is grateful every day for the privilege of serving under her direction.

Of Elizabeth Heryer Delaney, who, as Assistant National Historian, has been in direct charge of all chapter histories for the past two years, the Historian cannot say too much in praise. It has been fine to learn to know her better personally as well as of-

ficially.

To those members of the fraternity who have written charming letters and given generous gifts; to Mrs. Prouty and Mrs. Holton, who are among the Historian's most prized collectors; to the Director of Central Office, who is never too busy to do a favor; to all the members of Grand Council, who have been ever forgiving and encouraging; and especially to Miss Onken, who has been all these things, and more too; the Historian expresses her sincere appreciation. She is convinced that hers is the most interesting work in the entire fraternity, and she is grateful for the opportunity to learn more and more each year about Pi Beta Phi and the lives of the women who have made it great. Respectfully submitted,

MARIAN K. SIMMONS

NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING

Chapters reporting monthly, 1947-48	9
Chapters reporting monthly, 1948-49	9
Chapters with completed reports, 1947-48	71
Chapters with completed reports, 1948-49	74
Chapters with incomplete reports, 1947-48	14
Chapters with incomplete reports, 1948-49	20
Total Bank Balance, June, 1948 \$ 206,794	.17
Total Bank Balance, June, 1949\$ 187,857	.12
Total Delinquencies, June, 1948\$ 2,236	.32
Total Delinquencies, June, 1949\$ 1,604	.9
Chapters operating at a profit, June, 1948	
Chapters operating at a profit, June, 1949	5
Total Assessments for the year, 1947-48\$1,162,199	.6
Total Assessments for the year, 1948-49\$1,432,172	.0
Total Expenditures for the year, 1947-48\$1,162,000	.9
Total Expenditures for the year, 1948-49\$1,384,996	.4

Chapters with no delinquents for the entire year, 1948-49:

Maine Alpha Vermont Alpha Vermont Beta Massachusetts Beta Connecticut Alpha New York Delta Ohio Alpha Pennsylvania Beta Virginia Alpha South Carolina Alpha Michigan Alpha Michigan Beta Michigan Gamma Indiana Alpha Indiana Delta

Indiana Epsilon Missouri Beta Missouri Gamma Kentucky Alpha Tennessee Beta Florida Beta Illinois Alpha Illinois Beta-Delta Wisconsin Alpha Wisconsin Beta North Dakota Alpha Kansas Beta Colorado Beta Arkansas Alpha Oklahoma Beta

Oregon Beta Washington Beta Arizona Alpha

Chapters with delinquents only once during the vear:

Ontario Alpha Tennessee Gamma Illinois Zeta Iowa Beta Iowa Gamma

Wyoming Alpha Oklahoma Alpha Texas Beta Idaho Alpha

Chapters ending the year with no delinquents:

New York Gamma Ontario Beta D.C. Alpha Tennessee Alpha Alabama Alpha Illinois Epsilon Wisconsin Gamma Iowa Zeta

Nebraska Beta Kansas Alpha Texas Alpha Louisiana Beta Washington Alpha Oregon Gamma California Delta

Respectfully submitted, DOROTHEA WHITE FLINT

PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY REPORT 1948-49

THE COMMISSIONS realized on magazines sales for THE COMMISSIONS realized on 1948-49 amounted to \$10,096.57. Of this amount alumnæ clubs contributed \$7,782.19, active chapters \$2,234.23, and individuals \$80.15. During this same period \$563.76 was collected from bonuses, prizes, and direct commissions, making a gross profit of \$10,660.33.

Below are listed the commissions for the past

nineteen years:

1929-30	Approximate					\$	810.00
	Approximate		,				950.00
	Approximate		Ġ.				1,500.00
1932-33	Approximate		,				1,400.00
1933-34	Approximate		į.				2,050.00
	Approximate		d				2,000.00
	Approximate		į				1,450.00
	Approximate						2,366.48
	Approximate		į.				2,445.09
	Approximate		,				2,716.58
	Approximate						3,153.20
	Approximate						4,018.51
	Approximate						5,123.00
	Approximate						5,820.50
	Approximate						6,779.02
	Approximate						7,538.52
	Approximate						8,837.31
	Approximate		4				8,194.43
	Approximate						9,567.58
	ar, 1948-49 .		,				10,096.57

The contest winners for 1948-49 were:

ALUMNÆ CLUBS:

Denver, Colorado-Mrs. John Ryland, chairman, making the highest total commissions. wins \$10.00.

Bloomfield Hills, Michigan-Mrs. A. J. Daley, chairman, for making the highest per capita

commissions, \$6.54, . . . wins \$10.00. Jacksonville, Illinois—Amy Burnham Onken, chairman, for making the greatest percentage increase, 1,093.33%, . . . wins \$5.00.

ACTIVE CHAPTERS:

Maryland Beta-Janet Richards, chairman, for making the highest total commissions, \$127.58, . . . wins \$10.00.

Maryland Beta-Janet Richards, chairman, for making the highest per capita commissions, \$4.12, . wins \$10.00.

Louisiana Beta - Judy Daniels, chairman, for making the greatest percentage increase, 1,194.52%, . . . wins \$5.00.

The following number of chapters and clubs have been active contributors to the profits of the agency the past seven years:

																bapters	Clubs
1942-43	-			á	i,	á	Ġ,	i	ä		i		ä		-10	.66	177
1943-44			ĺ,		,	ě	ļ				,		ř			.77	184
1944-45																.79	195
1945-46																.84	189
1946-47		ĺ,			,	ì	ı	,	ì		í				,	.86	194
1947-48	14		į,	4	,	÷	į,	, m.	,	,		,		i		.87	204
1948-49	4	į				À			i		10		-			.80	187

Following is the financial statement for the year, and statistical reports showing commissions earned by chapters and clubs. Please notice that last year's commissions are also given so that the contributors can see their gains or losses.

The Director of the Magazine Agency wishes to thank all who have contributed to the Settlement School through the Magazine Agency and asks for

your continued interest and support.

GLADYS H. SCIVALLY, Director
Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

MAY 16, 1948 THROUGH MAY 31, 1949

Receipts:

	76.07	
Accounts Receivable (returned cl	hecke	1,042,14
redeposited)		93.60
Foreign exchange		.12
Bank charge Outstanding checks back to cash		11.83

\$36,915.21 \$36,915.21\$40.865.97 Total

Disbursements:

Payments for Miscellaneous Magazine	Subscrip-
tions	\$20,108.01
Payments for Magazine Subscriptions to	Franklin
Square	5,747.90
Check sent to Settlement School Treasurer	8,724.85
Postage and Express	171.32
Miscellaneous Expense	10.50
Salaries	
Supplies	
Refunds	
Prizes	
Bank charges	
Petty cash	
Accounts receivable (returned checks) .	
Accounts receivable (refunds)	38.25
Foreign exchange	

\$36,854.12 Balance on hand, May 31, 1949 ...

\$40,865,97

RECEIPTS AND EXPENSES PI BETA P	HI MAGA	ZINE	AGE	NCY			
Receipts		0	comm	issions	Bon	Prizes	Total
May 16 through August 31, 1948 September October November December January February March April May			2,77 3,33 86 4 5	88.56 66.55 20.95 76.02 32.47 61.90 43.39 33.69 77.37 95.67	\$	102.30 3.25 2.00 7.68 13.50 136.72 58.39 223.40 11.52 5.00	\$ 790.86 269.80 622.90 2.783.70 3.345.97 998.62 501.78 757.09 288.89 300.67
			\$10,0	96.57	\$	563.76	\$10,660.33
Expenses	Salaries	Pos	tage	Misc & Su	Exp.	Prizes	Total
May 16 through August 31, 1948 September October November December January February March April May	164.71 60.00 78.00 302.28 422.76 210.64 155.00 140.76 59.00 54.00	2 2 3 3 2	31.50 20.00 20.00 38.75 28.00 6.07 15.00 6.00	2	0.27 7.45 3.01 1.50 4.90 3.92 5.96	\$50.00	\$ 216.48 87.45 101.01 323.78 466.41 238.64 164.99 161.72 65.00 110.00
Total Receipts\$	1,647.15 0,660.33 1,935.48	\$17	71.32	\$6	7.01	\$50.00	\$1,935.48
ī	8,724.85	Paid t	o S.	S. Ou	r chec	k #7606a	
MAGAZINE SALE STATISTICS FROM MAY 16	1948 TF	IROU	GH M	MAY 3	1, 19	49	
Total	C	lubs		hapter		Indivi	dual

	Total	Clubs	Chapters	Individual
Iota Province		\$1,086.50	\$ 364.55	
Delta Province		863.62	369.55	
Kappa Province		869.62	203.15	
Beta Province		752.68	234.75	
Epsilon Province	946.02	799.87	146.15	
Mu Province	854.67	755,17	99.50	
Eta Province	849.43	696.53	113.80M	iss Onken\$39.10
Lambda Province	632.87	465.80	167.07	de de la company
Gamma Province	587,48	295,40	292.08	
Theta Province	553.73	466.08	87.65	
Alpha Province West	376,03	278.40	97.63	
Zeta Province	272.17	239.52	32.65	
Alpha Province East	238,70	213.00	25.70	
Miscellaneous	41.05		27110	\$41.05
	*** ***	42 202 10	40.001.00	400.00
	10,096.57	\$7,782.19	\$2,254.23	\$80.15
Miscellaneous		\$7,782.19	\$2,234.23	\$41.0

THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CHAPTER 1948-49

Chapter	Amount 1948-49	Chairman	Amount 1947-48
1. Maryland Beta 2. Washington Gamma 3. Kansas Beta 4. Kansas Alpha 5. Indiana Epsilon 6. Indiana Beta 7. Indiana Gamma 8. Colorado Beta	. 121.07 110.35 104.95 102.70 86.70	Jane Starkey no Jeanette Hargis Marianne Gear Gene Hahn Jean Hochmeister Joan Sheppard	w chapter 110.35 125.85 110.80 40.52

THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CLUB 1948-49

	Club		Chairman	Amount 1947-48
1.	Denver, Colo.	\$342.30	Mrs. John Ryland	\$251.15
- 3.	Kansas City, Mo.	225.75	Mrs, Chester R. Cole Mrs, G. R. Challinor	204 00
4.	Bloomheld Hills, Mich.	215.90	Mrs A. I Daley	PO 05
6.	Pittsburgh, Pa	140.95	Mrs. Frank L. St. Cyr Mrs. W. L. James, Jr.	10/ 77
7.	Indianapolis, Ind.	141.85	Mrs E I Oertling	120 20
8.	Washington, DA	128.30	Mrs. Will Groves	173.70

THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMISSIONS PER CAPITA FOR ACTIVE CHAPTERS 1948-49

Chapter	Amount	Chairman
1. Maryland Beta	\$4.12 .	Janet Richards
2. California Gamma	3.48 .	Janet Holter
3. Washington Gamma		Jane Starkey
4. Kansas Beta 5. Kansas Alpha		Jeanette Hargis
6. Tennessee Gamma		Marianne Gear
7. Indiana Gamma		Patricia Russell
8. Indiana Beta		Joan Sheppard
B. Hilliania Porta	1.81 .	Jean Hochmeister

THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMISSIONS PER CAPITA FOR ALUMNA: CLUBS 1948-49

Club	Amount	Chairman
1. Bloomfield Hills, Mich,		
2. San Jose, Calif.		Ida Karsten
3. Laramie, Wyo,		
4. Casper, Wyo. 5. Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	3.20	Mrs. C. S. Rogers
6. Elgin, Ill.	3.17	Carole Collingbourne
7. Yakima, Wash.		Mrs. Elwood Miller
8. Knoxville-Little Pigeon	3.02	Mrs. H. H. Everett

THE EIGHT HIGHEST PERCENTAGE INCREASE FOR ACTIVE CHAPTERS 1948-49

Chapter	Amount of Increase	Chairman
1. Louisiana Beta 2. Pennsylvania Beta 3. Illinois Epsilon 4. Michigan Alpha 5. North Carolina Beta 6. Colorado Beta 7. Iowa Beta 8. West Virginia Alpha	1,076.83% 978.72% 711.11% 666.51% 620.51% 516.00%	Judy Daniels Barbara Kates Barbara Schwarts Marilyn March Eugenie Eichman Cynthia Johnson Joanne Heerema Mary Esther Fike

THE EIGHT HIGHEST PERCENTAGE INCREASE FOR ALUMNÆ CLUBS 1948-49

Club	Amount of Increase	Chairman
1. Jacksonville, Ill. 2. Tampa, Fla.	563.95%	Amy Burnham Onken Mrs, Malcolm Hall Mrs, R. H. Sloan
3. Winnipeg, Man., Can. 4. Ann Arbor, Mich. 5. Westchester, N.Y.	449.54% 324.07%	Mrs. H. L. Hallock Mrs. H. J. Schlereth
6. Pasadena, Calif. 7. Toledo, Ohio 8. San Diego, Calif.	263.64%	Mrs. N. Neal Sheldon Mrs. Robt. Fitzmeier Mrs. W. P. McNamara

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Club N	o. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
E-110 E-112 E-113 E-114 E-115 E-116 E-117 E-118 E-119 E-120	Boston, Mass.—Mrs. Richard Miner Halifax, N.S.—Maureen Allen Hartford, Conn.—Mrs. Richard Smith Montreal, Que., Can.—Mrs. J. G. McDiarmid New Haven, Conn.—Mrs. P. I. Doane Portland, Me.—Mrs. P. I. Doane Wiscasset, Me.—Mrs. R. J. MacLaren Burlington, Vt.—Mrs. E. Peterson Stamford, Conn.—Mrs. Chas. Ernest Eastern Maine—Bernice Thompson Nova Scotia A—Jean Mitchell Maine A—Mary Curtis Vermont A—Margaret Drysdale Vermont B—Mrs. Carol Smith Massachusetts A—Lorraine Kiley Massachusetts A—Nancy Ford	35.85 10.80 72.05 29.55 18.80 35.15 6.40 none 4.40 3.60 none 11.40 2.75	\$.85 .57 1.68 .90 1.57 2.51 no club ————————————————————————————————————	\$ 29.45 15.30 94.15 18.60 21.35 29.40 9.30 none none none 6.60 8.55 7.80 none 9.40
	Connecticut A—Justine Hoxie Total for Alpha Province East for Year 1948-49		_	14.50
	Alpha Province East Alumnæ Club Commissions			
	TOTAL	*********		\$238.70

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

	THE THE PROPERTY OF THE	0.1		
Club No	. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
W-120 W-121 W-123 W-124 W-125 W-126 W-127 W-128 W-130 W-131	Albany, N.Y.—Mrs. Edward W. Hearne, Jr. Buffalo, N.Y.—Mrs. L. O. Burrell, Jr. Mid-Hudson Valley.—Frances Taylor Pearson Mohawk Valley, N.Y.—Mrs. W. E. Scripture, Jr. New York City, N.Y.—Mrs. R. S. Madden, Jr. Northern New Jersey—Mrs. C. E. Crittendon Rochester, N.Y.—Mrs. F. T. Burke Syracuse, N.Y.—Mrs. A. F. Persons Westchester, N.Y.—Mrs. H. J. Schlereth Schenectady, N.Y.—Mrs. D. F. Timberlake New York A.—Elizabeth Hodge New York A—Elizabeth Hodge New York A—Joyce Dunphy Ontario A—Nancy Derry Ontario B—Gloria Logan	18.80 none 5.00 51.55 54.10 48.75 none 68.35 7.00 25.30 4.20 29.80 26.83	\$.75 .37 .63 .67 .89 1.39 1.16 .41 .68 .10 .62 .71 .27	\$ 20.10 26.50 3.45 11.65 49.55 57.20 34.80 25.80 16.12 3.45 39.65 16.65 34.70 29.80 25.60
	TOTAL FOR ALPHA PROVINCE WEST FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$376.03		
	Alpha Province West Alumnæ Club Commissions			
				-

BETA PROVINCE

	BEIA PROVINCE			
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions (Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
200 201 202	Akron, Ohio—Mrs. E. L. Stangor Athens, Ohio—Mrs. Oscar Fulton Central Pennsylvania	28.50	\$.24 .98	\$ 14.55 31.50
203 204 205 206 207 209 210 211 212 213 214 215 216 217 218 220 222	Charleston, W. Va.—Mrs. Roy B. Cook Cincinnati, Ohio—Mrs. W. R. Farnham; Stella Koons Cleveland East—Mrs. J. F. Zook Cleveland West—Elsa M. Meckel Columbus, Ohio—Mrs. Blair Amos Dayton, Ohio—Mrs. Blair Amos Dayton, Ohio—Mrs. Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa.—Louise Heckman Mahoning Valley—Mrs. E. G. McConnell Morgantown, W. Va.—Mrs. Fred Lippucci Ohio Valley—Mrs. Geo. B. Byrum Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. John R. Park Pittsburgh, Pa.—Mrs. W. L. James, Jr. Portsmouth, Ohio Southern New Jersey South Hills, Pittsburgh, Pa.—Mrs. D, R. Berg Toledo, Ohio—Mrs. Robt. Fitzmeier Fairmont, W. Va.—Mary E. Shingleton Oxford, Ohio—Mrs. E. A. Houghton Pennsylvania B.—Barbara Kates	72.55 42.30 55.65 24.38 83.10 54.85 24.10 10.70 4.20 5.20 33.80 140.95 none 1.25 49.85 82.00 8.15 18.45	1.91 .83 .44 .38 .68 1.03 .93 .56 .25 .37 .32 2.94 .06 1.47 .77 .58 1.03	68.25 29.35 55.30 11.40 35.40 40.85 39.90 26.30 6.35 5.40 19.65 184.77 none 7.05 61.05 22.55 9.95 23.95
	Pennsylvania F—Vilma Meszoros Ohio A—Eudora Reitz Ohio B—Sarah Crafts Ohio ∆—Virginia Huston Ohio E—Joanne Wenner Ohio Z—Martha Stubbs West Virginia A—Mary Esther Fike	8.35 19.50 16.90 57.15 38.35 23.65 22.60	.25 .41 .29 .94 1.00 .47	3.40 16.55 11.50 34.55 64.35 28.20 4.50
	TOTAL FOR BETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49 Beta Province Club Commissions Beta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$752.68 234.75
	TOTAL			\$987.43

GAMMA PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
300	Baltimore, MdMrs. Russell E. Clegg	\$ 41.90	\$.82	\$ 42.30
301	Chapel Hill, N.CM. E. A. Cameron		.77	24.90
302	Columbia, S.C.—Mrs, J. F. Rader		1.70	23.55
303	Richmond, Va.—Elizabeth Wilson	5.55	.22	18.30
305	Washington, D.CMrs. Will Groves	128.30	.70	173.70
306	Charlotte, N.C.—Ann Craver	14.00	1.00	23.75
308	Wilmington, DelMrs. M. F. Wood	26.90	.79	15.90
309	Norfolk, VaMrs, A. Lee Smith		1.69	13.90
311	Durham, N.C.—Mrs. Paul M. Gray	16.65	1.39	17.90
	Maryland A-Joan Rounds		-	9.30
	Maryland B-Alice Corwin	127.58	4.12	130.55
	D.C. A—Alice Corwin		.47	75.70
	Virginia A-Peg Cunningham		.33	25.40
	Virginia Γ-Joan Wattles		.91	11.10
	North Carolina A-Anne Huske		.02	42.25
	North Carolina B-Eugenie Eichman		1.77	10.60
	South Carolina A-Carolyn Alcorn	90	.04	15.35
	TOTAL FOR GAMMA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$587.48		
	Gamma Province Club Commissions			
	TOTAL	************		\$587.48

DELTA PROVINCE

	DELTA PROVIN	CE		
Club 400 401 402 403 406 407 409 411 412 413 414 416 417 418 420	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman Ann Arbor, Mich.—Mrs. H. L. Hallock Bloomfield Hills, Mich.—Mrs. A. J. Daley Bloomfington, Ind.—Mrs. James Moore Detroit, Mich.—Mrs. A. H. Robson Ft. Wayne, Ind.—Mrs. S. L. Betz Franklin, Ind.—Mrs. Barnett Fox Richmond, Ind.—Mrs. H. Decker Grand Rapids, Mich.—Mrs. Robt. Rowland Indianapolis, Ind.—Mrs. E. J. Oertling Lafayette, Ind.—Mrs. R. G. Severson Southwestern Indiana—Mrs. C. F. Williams Southwestern Michigan—Mrs. Maurice Payne Northern Indiana—Mrs. K. Benner Hillsdale, Mich.—Mrs. G. D. Andrews Lansing-East Lansing, Mich.—Mrs. A. T. Ambroson Jackson, Mich.—Mrs. Macus Sharpe Shelbyville, Ind.—Mrs. Joseph Butler Michigan A—Marilyn March Michigan B—Shelda Lee Ryburn Michigan P—Carol Leavitt Indiana A—Jeannette Sheek Indiana B—Jean Hochmeister Indiana T—Joan Sheppard Indiana C—Margaret Lowe Indiana E—Gene Hahn	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49 \$.67 6.54 .44 1.00 .71 .68 2.95 1.60 .97 1.80 1.0353 1.50 .47 .4920 .91 .69 .53 1.81 1.84 .09 1.27	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48 \$ 5.45 89.95 9.95 63.95 23.00 53.85 53.22 46.30 139.70 81.70 55.85 13.50 9.75 61.95 31.35 new club 29.10 29.10 29.10 29.10 29.10 19.40 29.10
	TOTAL FOR DELTA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$1,233,17		
	Delta Province Club Commissions Delta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$ 863.62 369.55
	Total			\$1,233.17
	EPSILON PROVIN	ICE		
Club 500 501 502 503 504 506 508 509 510		Commissions Earned 1948-49 .\$ 42.00 .83.10 .225.75 .66.45 .86.47 .12.40 .16.00 .173.20 .71.05 .23.45 .1.50 .19.25 .15.45 .28.70 .none .38.35 .42.90 .\$946.02		146.15
		Commissions	Earned	Earned
Club	그렇게 되고	Earned 1948-49	Per Capita 1948-49	Last Year 1947-48
600 601 603 604 605 606 607 608 609 610 611	Atlanta, Ga.—Ann Bass Birmingham, Ala.—Mrs. H. Dean, Jr. De Land, Fla.—Mrs. J. C. Bradley Jacksonville, Fla.—Olive Fleming Lakeland, Fla.—Mrs. H. B. Davis Miami, Fla.—Mrs. Earl Henrichs Orlando, Fla.—Mrs. Tom Kirkland St. Petersburg, Fla.—Mrs. J. Dickinson Tampa, Fla.—Mrs. Malcolm Hall Ocala, Fla.—Mrs. Malcolm Hall Ocala, Fla.—Mrs. M. J. Berg Alabama A.—Margaret Ann O'Neill Alabama B.— Florida A.—Virginia Cox Florida B.—Mary Jane Angel Florida T.—Barbara Rawlings Georgia A.—Betty Mann Total for Zeta Province for Year 1948-49	13.67 26.25 44.20 1.25 19.15 58.30 33.55 28.55 2.30 4.65 2.55 5.00 8.65 3.20 8.66	\$.36 .31 .80 1.77 .07 .34 1.02 1.08 .82 .16 .13 .13 .20 .12	\$ 44.71 24.40 39.55 43.00 .70 20.95 45.80 48.85 4.30 new club none new club none new chapter 5.90 19.40 none 10.85
	The second secon			

 Zeta
 Province Club Commissions
 \$239.52

 Zeta
 Province Active Chapter Commissions
 32.65

ETA PROVINCE

	EIA PROVINCE			
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commission Earned Last Year 1947-48
700	Avon, IllMrs, T. P. Brown	\$ 35.00	\$1.84	\$ 31.25
701	Beloit, WisMrs, Albert Bradley	21.80	1.21	27,50
702	Carthage, IllMiriam E. Williams	14.40	1.80	18.75
703	Champaign-Urbana, Ill.—Mrs. J. Ashbrook	41.25	.51	61.20
704	Chicago Business Women-Ruth C. Greenfield	15.90	.64	26.35
705	Chicago North-Mrs. F. A. Myers		.42	26.80
706	Chicago South-Mrs. M. B. Townsend		.55	11.60
707	Chicago West Suburban-Mrs, G. W. Hayden	26.00	.55	47.05
708	Decatur, Ill.—Mary Moeser	111 48	1.37	109.62
709	DuPage County-Mrs. Howard Krohn	4.50	.23	4.20
710	Elgin, Ill.—Carole Collingbourne	56.10	3.12	47.35
711	Galesburg, Ill.—Mrs. C. V. Swank	11.65	.21	
712	Jacksonville, Ill.—Amy Burnham Onken	8.95	.75	15.90
				.75
713	Joliet, III.—Mrs, Malcolm N. Gray		1.59	17.85
714	Madison, Wis.—Mrs. Duncan Williams		.61	37.20
715	Milwaukee, WisMrs. R. S. Stevenson	57.60	.58	59.10
716	Monmouth, IllMrs. Robt. Grier	40.25	1.12	25.85
717	North Shore-Mrs. William George		.51	66.25
718	Oak Park-River Forest-Mrs. A. Short		1,20	19.60
719	Peoria, III.—Mrs. W. W. Grote	44.55	.43	22.90
720	Rockford, Ill.—Mrs. E. M. Fox		.45	9.15
721	Springfield, Ill.—Kathleen Cline		.19	2.65
722	Amy Burnham Onken	39.10	no club	30.35
724	Fox River Valley, WisMrs. Paul Radtke	16.05	.84	35.40
726	Illinois Fox River Valley-Mrs. J. F. McKee	6.45	.43	17.70
	Wisconsin A-Louise Rogers		.19	26.45
	Wisconsin B-Olga Skinner		.29	27.35
	Wisconsin P—Patricia Slepicka	5.40	.10	8.95
	Illinois A-Nancy Ann McDowell	3.50	.07	36.05
	Illinois B-Δ-leannine Whitcomb		.28	9.10
	Illinois E-Barbara Schwarts		.33	2,35
	Illinois Z—Sarah Funk		.17	19,50
	Illinois H—Barbara Hall	3.30	.08	10.30
	Illinois O-Charlotte Wheeler	23.00	.35	59.20
	minor o chartone whether		.,,,	32.40
	TOTAL FOR ETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$849.43		
	Eta Province Club Commissions Eta Province Active Chapter Commissions Amy Burnham Onken		*****************	113.80
	TOTAL			\$849,43
	IMINE TELEVISION OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPER			an19.43

THETA PROVINCE

	THETA PROVINCE	3		
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
800	Ames, Iowa-Mrs, John Monroe	\$ 30.95	\$1.24	\$ 25.70
801	Burlington, Iowa-Mrs. L. P. Noelke	8.65	.67	8.70
802	Cedar Rapids, Iowa-Mrs. W. J. Foster	61.18	2.78	53.05
803	Council Bluffs-Mrs. Jack Andersen	1.20	.10	10.90
804	Des Moines, Iowa-Mrs. W. C. White	23.10	.58	15,35
805	Duluth, MinnSuperior, Wis Mrs. John Prendergast, Jr	24.95	1.08	29.75
806	Grand Forks, N.DMrs. I. A. Ferguson	5.70	.41	8.40
807	Indianola, Iowa-Mrs. A. P. Stoner, Ir.	7.35	.23	2.85
808	Iowa City, Iowa-Mrs. B. W. Alderman	24.60	.46	41.80
809	Minneapolis, Minn, (afternoon)-Mrs. Wm. Gallup	31.50	.37	36.80
810	Mt. Pleasant, Iowa-Mrs. C. S. Rogers	108.25	3.18	89.81
811	St. Paul, MinnMrs. Don Harley	51.30	1.90	38.48
812	Sioux City, Iowa-Mrs. C. L. Rise	21.85	.91	18.20
815	Winnipeg, Man., Can.—Mrs. R. H. Sloan	49.10	.86	8.15
816	Tri City—Mrs. J. M. Hollingsworth	none	-	none
817	Minneapolis, Minn. (evening)-Mrs. Kingdon K, Lane	16.40	.63	16,30
	Manitoba A	none	-	1.20
	North Dakota A-Jeanne Stensen	2.30	.05	2.94
	Minnesota A-Rita Madigan		.27	5.50
	Iowa A—Dolores Smisek		.85	18.65
	Iowa B-Joanne Heerema		.42	2.50
	Iowa I—Frances Craig	27.40	.56	6.00
	Iowa Z-Peace Penningroth	7.60	.13	17,50
	TOTAL FOR THETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$553.73		
	Theta Province Club Commissions			\$466.08 87.65
	Total			4442.72

IOTA PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
900	Boulder, ColoMrs. N. C. Winchester	\$ 30.85	\$.77	\$ 13.50
901	Casper, Wyo,-Mrs, Robt, Trowe		3.26	66.05
902	Cheyenne, Wyo,-Mrs, F. E. Davis	31.95	.76	14.65
903	Colorado Springs, Colo,-Mrs. M. A. Ziegler	7.75	.34	3.00
904	Denver, ColoMrs. John Ryland	342.30	2.39	251.15
905	Laramie, WyoPatricia Sullivan	110.15	3,55	109,20
906	Lawrence, KanMrs. David Hay	3,80	.08	9.50
907	Lincoln, Neb.—Helen McAnulty	100.30	1.54	93.35
908	Manhattan, Kan,-Mrs. Max Burk	19.90	.38	36.20
909	Omaha, NebMrs, C. R. Reams	108.10	1.54	36.80
910	Ft. Collins, Colo,-Mrs. C. D. Shawver		.86	14.60
911	Pueblo, Colo,-Mrs, Royal Finney		1.94	52.84
912	Topeka, Kan	1.20	.06	28.45
913	Vermillion, S.D.—Mrs. R. M. Konegi	7.10	.37	3.45
914	Wichita, Kan,-Mrs. Robt, H. Kirk	58.55	1.25	113.80
915	Kansas City, Kan, -Mrs. G. H. Nesselrode	22.05	.92	13.25
916	Hutchinson, Kan.—Mrs. Homer Jennings	42.80	1.19	28.00
917	Salt Lake City, Utah-Miss Esther Nelson	23.10	.30	19.75
918	Ogden, Utah-Mrs. Robt. Pollack	22.05	.82	17.10
	South Dakota A-Carolyn Cowles	2.25	.09	6.25
	Nebraska B-Gloria Larsen		.31	7.70
	Kansas A-Marianne Gear		1.87	125.85
	Kansas B-Jeanette Hargis	110.35	2.04	78.40
	Colorado A-Patricia Quaintance		.40	65.80
	Colorado B-Cynthia Johnson	84.30	1.30	11.70
	Wyoming A—Barbara Jones		.08	none
	Utah A-Elaine Sims	17.45	.35	none
	TOTAL FOR IOTA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$1,451.05		
	Iota Province Club Commissions			\$1,086.50 364.55
	TOTAL			\$1,451.05

KAPPA PROVINCE

	KAPPA PROVINC	E		
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
1001	Ardmore, Okla,-Mrs, Geo, Collier	\$ 4.70	\$.20	\$ 3.25
1002	Austin, Tex.—Beverly Anne Nash	42.10	.67	74.20
1003	Pauls Valley Okla	1.50	-	new club .
1004	Pauls Valley, Okla. Corpus Christi, Tex.—Mrs. C. W. Matten	20.80	.65	39.80
1005	Dallas, TexMrs, Chester R, Cole	333.77	2.42	250.50
1006	Fayetteville, Ark,-Mrs, Ralph Weddington		.37	10.15
1003	Ft. Smith, Ark.—Mrs, John Durilla		.48	16.50
			.40	new club
1008	Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus			
1010	Houston, Tex.—Mrs. E. Joe Shimek		.33	96.27
1011	Little Rock, ArkMrs. F. A. Storey, Jr.		.66	25.00
1012	Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs. Ralph Patterson		.61	12.90
1014	Norman, Okla,-Mrs. David Cruse		2.41	55.00
1015	Oklahoma City, Okla.—Mrs. M. Kennerly	38.65	.31	58.70
1016	Okmulgee, Okla,-Mrs, Beidleman		-	none
1017	Nita Hill Stark-Mrs, Curtis Plumly		1.14	34.05
1018	San Antonio, Tex.—Jane Paschal			3.90
1019	Shreveport, La,-Mrs. T. D. Sedberry	34.30	1.11	23.65
1021	Texarkana-Arkansas—Mrs. Geo. B. Clark	none	1.11	none
	Texalikana-Arkansas-Bus, Oct. D. Clark	36.90	.27	38.35
1022	Tulsa, Okla,—Mrs. Wayne J. Gray	30.90	+4· (
1023	Tyler, Tex.—Mrs. Gordon Broyles	none		6.85
1025	Corsicana, TexMrs. H. W. Regester		2.000	none
1026	Stillwater, OklaMrs. Ruth G. Morgan	73.55	1.75	29.20
1028	Baton Rouge, La,-Mrs, John Patton, Jr.	5.80	.29	2.25
1029	McAlester, Okla,-Mrs. Walter Dell	27.95	2.00	48.95
1030	New Orleans, La.—Ruth Provosty	none	_	none
1031	Wichita Falls, TexMrs. Charles Wilson	15.85	.79	16.19
1033	Ft. Worth, TexMrs. L. M. Cecil	29.05	.71	new club
1034	Waco, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller		.18	new club
	Crowley Ridge, Ark.	5,80		new club
1035	Crowley Ridge, Alk.	3.75	.08	12,80
	Oklahoma A-Josephine Taylor		.48	
	Oklahoma B-Geraldine Morton			47.30
	Arkansas A—Patty Moseley	35.75	.62	8.50
	Texas A-Camilla Shear		.30	20.95
	Texas B-Charlotte Trigg	56.90	1.03	68.23
	Louisiana A-Joel Wolfe	none	-	1.95
	Louisiana B-Judy Daniels	47.25	1.00	3.65
	TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$1,072.77		
	Kappa Province Club Commissions Kappa Province Active Chapter Commissions			. \$ 869.62 203.15
	Toyat			\$1.022.27

LAMBDA PROVINCE

	LAMBOA PROVINC		Commissions	Commission
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Earned Last Year 1947-48
Club 1100 1101 1102 1103 1104 1105 1106 1107 1108 1109 1110 1112 1113 1114 1115 1118	Boise, Idaho—Mrs. L. D. Wilbur Bozeman, Mont.—Mrs. Ralph Kernp Calgary, Alta., Can.—Gwen McLean Corvallis, Ore.—Mrs. V. L. Gibbs Edmonton, Alta., Can.—Shirley Ann Wilson Eugene, Ore.—Mrs. Wm. W. Bartle Olympia, Wash.—Mrs. J. E. Marble Portland, Ore.—Mrs. Burton Beck Salem, Ore.—Mrs. Geo. Schroeher Seattle, Wash.—Mrs. V. A. Mennella Spokane, Wash.—Mrs. C. G. Sherwin Wenatchee, Wash.—Mrs. Dewey Webb Yakima, Wash.—Mrs. Elwood Miller Everett, Wash.—Mrs. W. R. Hooper Butte-Anaconda, Mont.—Mrs. W. F. Stetzner Billings, Mont.—Mrs. R. Timmel Tacoma, Wash.—Mrs. R. Timmel Tacoma, Wash.—Mrs. Harold Wheeler	\$ 50.85 1.00 10.75 3.55 none 15.85 14.05 57.65 46.20 73.85 13.60 24.00 70.85 24.80 none 4.50 31.85 6.40 16.05 7.65 17.65		
	Washington Alpha—Vonnie Lou Gaul Washington Beta—Frances Barnes Washington Gamma—Iane Starkey Oregon Alpha—Nan Humphrey Oregon Beta—Bonny Scott Oregon Gamma—LeDene Hargrave Total for Lambda Province for Year 1948-49	7.95 10.10 121.07 5.30 4.45 7.75	.10 .25 2.82 .35 .09 .20	28.90 29.70 new chapter 3.25 4.70 6.10
	Lambda Province Club Commissions Lambda Province Active Chapter Commissions			
	TOTAL		***********	\$632.87

MU PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1948-49	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1948-49	Commissions Earned Last Year 1947-48
1200	Albuquerque, N.M.—Mrs. A. M. Granum	\$ 35.35	\$1.14	\$ 44.60
1201	Berkeley, CalifMrs. F. P. Lathrop	13.35	.11	3.10
1202	El Paso, Texas-Mrs. Thos. Smith		.33	6.75
1203	Fresno, CalifMrs. Frank E. Baxter	22.95	1.00	27.90
1205	Honolulu, T. HMrs. Geo. W. Dew	26.85	.96	48.65
1206	Long Beach, CalifMrs. V. R. Abraham	none		10.95
1207	Ios Angeles, Calif.—Mrs. F. D. Zimmerman	78.35	.33	41.35
1208	Reno, NevMrs. Herbert Graffam	8.00	.21	8.00
1210	Palo Alto, Calif.—Mrs. Grant Bennion	46.20	1.13	14.10
1211	Pasadena, CalifMrs. N. Neal Sheldon	82.95	.52	31.25
1212	Phoenix, ArizMrs. James D. Nelson	3.50	.008	16.10
1213	Sacramento, CalifMrs. J. F. Jonas	54.45	2.27	64.55
1215	San Diego, CalifMrs. W. P. McNamara	49.22	.97	20.15
1216	San Francisco, CalifMrs. Robt. V. Walsh	35.05	.52	34.10
1217	San Jose, Calif.—Ida Karsten	116.95	5.85	84.50
1218	Santa Barbara-Ventura, CalifMrs, Harold McClellan & Marj			
	Hall	60.25	2.00	49.00
1219	Santa Monica, Calif.—Evelyn Deighton	43.40	.89	55.60
1220	Tucson, Ariz,—Mrs. W. M. Kordsiemon	10.10	.31	26.70
1221	Marin County, CalifMrs. T. Smith	1.95	.11	.90
1223	San Mateo County, CalifMrs. W. C. Olin	20.10	.74	18.95
1225	South Coast, CalifMrs. M. H. Verburg	2.50	.09	20.05
1226	San Fernando Valley, CalifMrs. Robt. Devine	31.10	.66	34.10
1227	Glendale, CalifMrs. R. W. Core	2.25	.04	2.80
1228	San Bernardino, Calif.—Mrs. N. Harty	3.15	.16	none
	California Beta—Caroline Edmonds	23,90	.63	11.30
	California Gamma—Janet Holter		3.48	12.20
	California Delta-Noelle Gregory	6.10	.09	14.90
	Nevada Alpha—Geneve Conaway	59.40	1.41	49.35
	Arizona Alpha-Ann Stanton	none	-	17.05
	New Mexico Alpha—Elaine Jackson	3.15	.08	12.70
	TOTAL FOR MU PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1948-49	\$854.67		
	Mu Province Club Commissions			\$755.17 99.50

MISCELLANEOUS	
Commissions on Orders Sent to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency Without Instructions as to Whom Credit or Profit Should be Given	41.05
GRAND TOTAL OF MAGAZINE COMMISSIONS FOR 1048-40	

CENTRAL OFFICE REPORT FOR 1948-1949

THE COST of maintaining the Central Office and purchasing supplies for sale to members of the fraternity was as follows from August 1, 1948 through April 30, 1949:

Salaries	\$10,729.46
Rent	
Telephone & Telegraph	
Office Equipment	
Office Supplies	
Office Expense	
Robes	
Ribbon	
Chapter & Club Supplies	3,076.82
Withholding Tax	964.90
Social Security	332.50
Excise Tax	6/.41
Unemployment Compensation	83.11
Refunds	944.54
Acet's Receivable-returned checks	
Petty Cash	30.00
Printing	41.75
Express & Postage	
New Chapter Supplies	17.84
Insurance	85.53
Foreign Exchange	4.28
Bank Charge	26,62
TOTAL	\$22.080.61

Receipts from chapter, individuals and alumnæ clubs for supplies, express and postage, telegrams and so forth, fees and dues, Emma Harper Turner Fund, Scholarship Fund were distributed on the record as follows:

Arrows	\$	19.94
Cook Books	200	739.15
Record Books		155.20
Song Books		143.00
Jewelry		35,790.07
Initiation Fees		72,200.00
Alumnæ Dues		16,128.00
Senior Dues		95.00
Chapter & Club Supplies		792,94
Express & Postage		194.54
Magazine Agency		1,464.76
		495.97
Office Expense Credit—typing list		12.50
Ribbon		157.52
Commissions—Balfour	~	914.93
		999.40
Acct's Receivable		352.45
Acct's Receivable-returned checks		365.00
Bond & Arrow		-18
Foreign Exchange		941.25
Refunds Due		
Robes		462.95
Telephone & Telegram		3.59
Office Equipment	om	628.80
Mrs. Prouty and Holt House		349.59
Overpays		1.38
Refund from Grand Treasurer		
Convention Tax 1947-1948		
Emma Harper Turner Fund		803.00
Scholarship Fund	4.1	420.00
New Chapter Supplies	A. A.	153.20
New Chapter Supplies	**	175,20
	- 1	

MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS AS OF JUNE 1, 1949

Total\$134,978.31

The number of initiates for the past thirteen years including 1948-49 is as follows:

Year	Chapters	Initiates
1936-37	80	1,347
1937-38	80	1,354
1938-39	81	1,331
1939-40	81	1,397
1940-41	83	1,513
1941-42	83	1,494
1942-43	85	1,699
1943-44	87	1,643
1944-45	90	2,019
1945-46	90	1,889
1946-47	92	1,908
1947-48	93	1,851
1948-49	94	2,024

ORDER OF GOLDEN ARROW INFORMATION GOLDEN ARROW letters mailed 1947-48
Number of letters returned marked "Deceased" 2 TOTAL GOLDEN ARROW CERTIFICATES ISSUED TO DATE

As the Director of Central Office completes her second year she wishes to take this opportunity to thank the members of Grand Council for their invaluable help and understanding and the province officers, committees, clubs and chapters for their cooperation.

CHAPTER INITIATES FOR YEAR 1948-1949 Alabama A 18 Missouri Γ

Respectfully submitted, GLADYS HAYES SCIVALLY

Alberta A	19	Montana A 21	
Arizona A	24	Nebraska B 23	
Arkansas A	20	Nevada A 13	
California B	14	New Mexico A 25	
California F	23	New York A 19	
California A	19	New York Γ 17	
Colorado A	36	New York 4 41	
Colorado B	25	North Carolina A 21	
Connecticut A	II	North Carolina B 19	
D.C. A	18	North Dakota A 21	
Florida A	20	Nova Scotia A 5	
Florida B	22	Ohio A 22	
Florida F	11	Ohio B 25	
Georgia A	26	Ohio A 20	
Idaho A	22	Ohio E 19	
Illinois A	23	Ohio Z 21	
Illinois B-A	23	Oklahoma A 26	
Illinois E	31	Oklahoma B 35	
Illinois Z	21	Ontario A	
Illinois H	20	Ontario B	
Illinois O	19		
	12	Oregon A	
Indiana A		Oregon B 25	
Indiana B	29	Oregon Γ 14	
Indiana F		Pennsylvania B 19	
Indiana A	21	Pennsylvania I 10	
Indiana E	21	South Carolina A 17	
Iowa A	12	South Dakota A 21	
Iowa B	16	Tennessee A 24	
Iowa Γ	1	Tennessee B 29	
Iowa Z	16	Tennessee P 5	
Kansas A	26	Texas A 40	
Kansas B	22	Texas B 22	
Kentucky A	22	Utah A 34	
Louisiana A	41	Vermont A 14	
Louisiana B	23	Vermont B 26	
Maine A	1	Virginia A 24	
Manitoba A	FO	Virginia Γ 14	
Maryland A	21	Washington A 34	
Maryland B	9	Washington B 18	
Massachusetts A	13	Washington I 132	
Massachusetts B	21	West Virginia A 29	

20

Maintoba A
Maryland A
Maryland B
Massachusetts A
Massachusetts B

Washington Γ West Virginia A

Wisconsin A
Wisconsin B
Wisconsin F
Wyoming A

Total2,043

27

REPORT OF THE CONTACT MEMBER OF SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION

THE response from clubs and chapters to Save
The Children Federation has been most generous
especially since this is not being counted in qualifying
as being a requirement for a 100% club and since
it is not being stressed. So outstanding has been this
generous help that I am enclosing a list of the amounts
given. A total of \$3,642.95 has been received.

To Iota Province Chapters goes the achievement award in the way of praise. Five of the eight chapters have given full sponsorship and the donation from South Dakota Alpha has been combined with the

Iota Clubs donations.

The following chapters and clubs have each given

a full sponsorship:

Ontario A, Ohio A, the 3 Michigan Chapters one sponsorship, Missouri B, Illinois Z, Manitoba A, Kansas A, Nebraska B, Utah A, Colorado A, Colorado B, Texas A, Louisiana A and B, Washington B and California A, Northern New Jersey, Cleveland East and West, Washington, D.C., Champaign-Liphane, North Shore, Oak Park River Forest, Wichita Urbana, North Shore, Oak Park-River Forest, Wichita, Tulsa, Honolulu, Berkeley. Many clubs who have given a full sponsorship have also been most generous in sending boxes of clothing for the child sponsored and to the other members of the child's family as well. This expense in sending boxes has run from two to thirty dollars. Some chapters who have not contributed through Pi Beta Phi have written that they have given to similar organizations on their respective campuses but I have no record of this.

Save The Children Federations are gradually terminating sponsorships in the south of France because of the limited facilities for delivery and the distance of South France from their Paris Workroom and because children to whom they can make deliveries more regularly will derive greater benefit. Much help is now being given to Italian children. Save The Chil-dren Federations have a very full program for children in the United States Area especially for the Indian Children in the South West. Some of the clubs and chapters might like to give to this rather than the foreign division. Would you think it advisable to

give them a choice?

It has been a privilege to serve Pi Beta Phi as Contact Member.

Respectfully submitted, LOIS F. STOOLMAN

SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION. PERIOD, NOVEMBER 15, 1948 TO JUNE 1, 1949

Balance		0	n		1	h	ar	2	d		N	Ī),	16	n	al	6	r		1	5			1	9.	41	3	,	į	,	-	4			Ġ			\$		64.	28
Provinc	e																																								
Alpha	E	a:	st		Ġ																	ļ,		ž		è					×		.,	6			Ġ	. \$		54.	
Alpha	Ŋ	7	es	lŧ																	ú		,			è					ų.	÷								30.	
Beta .						á			Ì,	ĺ,		-		į.			í.				Ġ.	á		Ġ,		ì		. ,			4									74.	
Gamma										į,		į,			,	c	ě.		d	į,		ů,	ä	÷	ì	i		i,	á		à	ń		Ġ		9				31.	
Delta								١,								į.	6		ó		ó		,	Ģ			À		,		٠,	į.								91.	
psilon				ı			i.	Ś	d	i		'n		'n.			į.				×						'n,					r		Ġ		,	i			74.	
Ceta .													è					٠,					ó			÷	'n.	Ċ,	d	÷	à	÷								55.	
ta																		٠.		٠,	ú			ė	,	÷		٠,	×		ě.	ķ.				*				33.	
heta																																								58.	
ota				,						4		i							Ġ											+		,		. ,						66.	
Cappa							ļ,		į,		,	k	*						÷	á	Š.		٠	è	'n	ä,			٠	'n,			6	,			٠			12.	
ambda			L									,					ù		,		٠	-	÷	×	ě,		÷		4	÷	÷.	×								11.	
Mu		ì					è			-	,	d										×	٠	٠	,	٠			à	v.	×	ŕ			'n	,	•		3	52.	OU
																																							.6	42.	95
Total		p			_	.,								1	R	4	la	'n	č	ė																		\$3	.71	07.	28

ALPHA EAST PROVINCE	
Connecticut Alpha	0.00
Vermont Alpha	4.00
Portland Alpha Club New Haven	5.00
Montreal, Canada	0.00
4.	4.00
	1.00
ALPHA WEST PROVINCE	6 00
Ontario Alpha No. New Jersey Club Syracuse Club	6.00
Syracuse Club Schenectady Club	8.00
Buffalo Club	2.00
	8.00
\$23	0.00
BETA PROVINCE	
Ohio Alpha \$ 9	6.00
Cleveland East and West 9	6.00
	8.00 5.00
Toledo 1	6.00
Central Penn	5.00
Pennsylvania Beta 1 So. Hills-Pittsburgh 3	5.00
Athens, Ohio	5.00
Pittsburgh	8.00
\$37	4.00
GAMMA PROVINCE	
Washington, D. C. Club\$ 9	
	0.00
Wilmington, Del.	0.00
Wilmington, Del. 1 Richmond, Va. 1	5.00
\$13	1.75
DELTA PROVINCE	
	2.00
	2.00
Indiana Alpha 1	0.00
	5.00
So. West Indiana	5.00
	5.00
The second section of the second section is a second section of the	0.00
\$19	
Michigan chapters	ship
EPSILON PROVINCE	. 00
	0.00
Kentucky Alpha 23	2.50
	5.00
Louisville, Ky. Club	5.00
	.00
\$174	.50
ZETA PROVINCE	
Birmingham Club\$10	0.00
Miami Club 20	00.0
	00.0
Atlanta Club	.00
\$55	.00
ETA PROVINCE	
- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	.00
Champaign-Urbana 96	.00
	.00
Chicago, South	.00

tacksonville	10.00	KAPPA PROVINCE	
Monmouth Milwaukee, Wis. Madison, Wis. Beloit, Wis. Peoria IIIFox River Avon Elgin III. Theta IIII. Theta IIII. Shore North Shore	15.00 Texas / 15.00 Oklahoi 15.00 Louisiar 10.00 Oklahoi 10.00 Corpus 10.00 Corpus 10.00 Stillwat	lipha na Beta na Alpha na Alpha na Alpha na Alpha sa Beta Geta Christi Club er, Okla. Club	96.00 96.00 25.00 45.00 35.00 60.00 25.00 10.00 10.00
\$	3.00		
THETA PROVINCE Manitoba Alpha	Okla A Okla A Okla A Vater Louisian	Alpha I sponsolkla. I sponsolkla. I sponsolkla. I sponsolkla. Okla. Beta, Texas Beta and Still-Club I sponsola Alpha and Beta I sponsolver applied on Epsilon	orship
Grand Forks	0.00	LAMBDA PROVINCE	
	10,00 Oregon 1daho Oregon Yakima 5,00 Spokane Portland 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon Oregon 1daho Oregon 1daho Oregon 1daho Oregon 1daho	gton Beta \$ Beta Alpha Alpha \$ \$ 1	96.00 12.50 10.70 10.00 5.00 24.00 25.00 8.00 8.00 5.00 2.00
IOTA PROVINCE		on	2,00
Kansas Alpha \$ Nebraska Beta Utah Alpha Colorado Beta Colorado Alpha Wichita Alumnae Club Pueblo Denver R. Collins Lincoln, Nebraska Manhattan, Kansas Salt Lake City Kansas City, Kansas Casper, Wyoming So, Dakota Alpha	06.00 Lambda 06.00 lo.00 Californ 5.00 Honolu 6.00 Berkele 10.00 Arizona 15.00 New M 5.00 New M	gton Beta I spons Province I spons Mu Province ila Delta \$ lu Club y Club Alpha Mexico Alpha lexico Alumnae Club anciso Club	96.00 96.00 96.00 10.00 28.00 8.00 10.00 8.00
š	56.00	\$	352.00

Convention will be held at Jasper Lodge, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada, June 25-July 1, 1950. Plan to come!

Settlement School Reports

REPORT OF CHAIRMAN OF THE SETTLEMENT SCHOOL COMMITTEE 1949

LOVE the Smokies.—Misty blue-ness, wooded slopes, wealth of flower and shrub, steep heights and sun-lit coves. The sheer breath-catching beauty of far horizons, melting into veiled sky tints, the contrast of cloud shadows on sunny hills; the strength and vigor of mountain winds, the rushing torrent of running water; bird songs and the cry of the hounds racing fox.

"I love the invigorating scent of dim pine woods, and spongy spring of dried needles underfoot; the pungent, hungry smell of wood smoke; the busy hum and the odor of a wood-crafters shop; the rhythmic thump of the loom, and the singing of the spinning

Time stands still, for though the days come and go, the sun shines and the rains fall; the mountains are ageless-re-creating ever and again, their serene

The Pi Phis who first saw this picture, beautifully described above by our Marjorie Chalmers, R.N. must have acquired therefrom the strength which persuaded Pi Beta Phi that in this majestic setting was the right place for a living memorial to the Founders—living in its service for the Education and Health of a small section of early America,

Gatlinburg, Tennessee.

For the first time in many years at least, the Settlement School Committee has just concluded an annual meeting in May; we were privileged to see Gatlinburg and our School under normal conditions, the town without the influx of summer tourists to the Park and the school itself in regular session. Each has come away firmly convinced of the wisdom of the original choice of location and of the continued need for us there. Pi Beta Phi's service in Gatlinburg covers a wide and diversified field and the passage of time widens rather than narrows its scope. First, our new Health Center in its first year has

proved to be worthily "dedicated to the service of mankind." There, with up to date equipment and proper space, preventive and corrective measures aiming toward better health for young and old are possi-

This past year a pre-school Round-up was first to take advantage of the new quarters when one of the local doctors and one of the dentists gave a day of their time to free examinations. Later in the year the State Department of Public Health's X-Ray Mobile Unit processed 567 persons over fifteen years of age in one day. This number equalled that of the preceding year when the unit had remained two days. Three women are now hospitalized for treatment of primary tuberculosis, one with six children whose welfare had to be carefully considered first. The State Department of Health also sent specialists for Dental and Nutritional Clinics. In addition to our own children, where some had their teeth cleaned each day, ten from one of the rural schools walked four miles into town for their check-up.

Pi Beta Phi is particularly grateful to the Sigma Phi Gamma chapters who have so generously sent checks to assist us in dental correction and for badly

needed eye attention.

The little babies are always with us-or about to

be! While most deliveries are now made in the hospitals, the Health Center does much toward Pre-Natal care and the emergency arrivals. There were three premature babies this year, two of them twins weighing 3 and 3½ pounds, respectively. All three are living though the twins, born in a drafty house in December barely pulled through pneumonia after hospitalization.

At the school, besides the general run of cuts. bruises, and breaks, our "Marjorie" has given health talks and picture shows and various demonstrations. Sixteen High School girls under her tutelage passed the Home Nursing Course. Her service and what it means was best expressed in a note from a fifth grader: "Dear Miss Chalmers-Thanks to you we will have a Merry Christmas and not be sick in bed, so a Merry Christmas to you." The pattern of our

Health Center is indeed worth-while.

Under the able direction of Ethel Snow on Sales and Mrs. McMorran on Designing, with weaving supervision, Arrowcraft has had another fine year. On May 1, 14 clubs had already sold over \$1000 worth of Arrowcraft products; two, Peoria, Illinois and Albuquerque, New Mexico over \$1500; Houston, Texas and Sacramento, California, over \$2000, while Champaign, Illinois headed the list with \$2500. Perhaps a word of explanation is due those clubs which do not always secure all articles ordered in the quantity they would wish; the Director of Arrowcraft is not wholly responsible. Already boxes and shelves are filled with finished weaving, ready for the fall shipping, though it is difficult to know what the orders will be. The running inventory is always high, both on the finished product and the weaving supplies. From the standpoint of the auditor and of insurance, this is a matter to question. Therefore, if at times, Arrowcraft is short of a particular article, it may be because they must hold a lower inventory on that article in order to increase production in another, likewise in demand by the purchasing public. It is nice to hear, "The designs are prettier than ever," while we still may retain some of the familiar patterns, so well liked.

One of our greatest services in Gatlinburg is made possible through your Arrowcraft sales, for thus so many weavers benefit. Through the winter they work full speed but ease off at planting and canning time or when they can secure the extra tourist employment. It is surprising that sometimes these weavers, living far away, see only the pattern on which they themselves weave. At the spring weavers' party, Mrs. McMorran arranged a display of all things woven for Arrowcraft as well as those articles which the high school girls had woven in their class; the weavers

truly appreciated this chance to see others' work.

A nice recognition has come to Mrs. McMorran in that she has been asked to serve as one of two weaving teachers for the two week Workshop to be conducted this fall by the Southern Highlands Guild at the Penland School (North Carolina).

At the Pi Beta Phi School, the County continues to supply the faculty for teaching the basic subjects but as yet is unable, without our aid, to offer all the courses which would make the school fully accredited. The universal problem of teacher-shortage is also evident but the staff has been at a high teaching level. All in the high school were college graduates, three with Master's degrees. The teaching experience varied from one teaching for the first time to another completing his forty-eighth year, this by special permit from

the State.

As Physical Education and Health Instructor, Mr. J. B. Johnson made his usual fine contribution to the academic program. In addition to a successful coaching season in basketball, he assumed many other responsibilities which added to the general well-being at school. He assisted Mr. Grim, new as principal, in his duties. He and Esther Mines took on the cosponsorship of the Senior class and carried it through to a successful graduation; Mr. Johnson also took the class on its senior trip to Williamsburg, Jamestown, Yorktown and Virginia Beach, an outing, educational as well as pleasurable.

It is with regret that we must accept Mr. Johnson's resignation. We would dislike losing his services alone but he will take with him as his wife, Esther Mines, the Assistant to the Director. He tells us that he owes much to Pi Beta Phi and we think he does, as we have observed the many fine attributes of the

prize he is taking from us.

Mrs. Alethea Armstrong has again contributed much in handling the music in the schools; she has taught music to the ten elementary grades, trained an elementary chorus and a High School glee club; has provided the music for the High School assemblies and for the meetings of many civic organizations. The youngsters have become familiar with the negro spirituals, with the folk-songs and ballads of early day, and with the lives of the great musicians. The youngest have learned the use of the rhythm band instruments while the fifth graders have attained knowledge of part singing and note reading, with special emphasis on tone color.

At Christmas time a Nativity play was given which introduced both ancient and rare carols. Those of you at the 1948 Convention who heard the sweet clear voices on the Settlement School program will be interested that Barbara Steele and Paul Clabo took the parts of "Mary" and the littlest Shepherd in this

production.

Two operettas were given as the year progressed, one of which the Committee had the privilege of seeing and hearing. As we observed the proud parents or other kin-folk watching the thespian grace of their favorites on stage, we thought to ourselves how very much Pi Beta Phi had contributed to the evening; with Mrs. Armstrong directing, other responsibilities such as stage sets, make-up, the accompanying, the publicity, even the lock-up duties were all handled by those whom Pi Beta Phi arranged to help the

school program.

New in the Arts and Crafts position this year Fay Van Roekel of Iowa has brought both training and talent to her classes together with an interest in all other phases of the school and community life. Her high school classes were taught Designing, Lettering, Sketching, Metal Work, Pottery and Weaving in sufficient amounts to acquire a working knowledge of them and an appreciation for Art as well. Work with the elementary grades was done in their rooms for the most part though a special after-school class was formed for those particularly interested or talented in the sixth, seventh and eighth grades. Regular classes worked on murals for their rooms, sketching, toymaking, finger painting and in clay while the special group could do that in which they had the greatest interest.

Two special recognitions came to Miss Van Roekel this year, her first in teaching. By submitting samples of her own work and passing their Board of Review she became a member of the Southern Highlands Handicraft Guild. In January she was selected as one of fifteen from near-by states to receive a scholar-ship to a Workshop in Metals offered for two weeks by the University of Tennessee.

The boys of the high school were given woodworking under Major Huskey, a young man from one of the shops near-by, who gave us part of his time. Small tables and book-cases were the popular articles made. The County Superintendent felt this a most practical offering by Pi Phi for a school elective since so many near-by wood-working shops could

provide employment after graduation.

As mentioned above, the County still does not seem able to assume full financial responsibility for its school in Gatlinburg. Its inability was again demonstrated this spring when after two years of seeking a school site for new buildings and an athletic field, it again turned to Pi Beta Phi. The only available acreage was finally appraised by a Board of Vue appointed by the Court at the figure of \$8000 an

acre, a prohibitive sum.

The County Board of Education came to Miss Dyer, hoping that the offer made by the fraternity two years ago (See 1948 Information Arrow, Page 94.) or some similar one might be worked out. Miss Onken went to Gatlinburg and ably conferred with the County Superintendent, the School Board, and representatives of the various civic organizations. While she could make no renewal of previous Council or Committee commitments since there had been changes of personnel in both groups, she expressed a willingness to consult and to ascertain present feelings. Meantime each representative would confer with its own group for an opinion on whether it wished its school to remain in its present approximate location.

The outcome was that all Gatlinburg organizations voted that plans go forward which would tie the school up with Pi Beta Phi permanently. Though still in negotiation it is probable that the County will be deeded the same 1.8 acres previously offered and that the fraternity will lease sufficient other land for playground purposes on a fity year (renewable) basis, together with leases as at present on the school buildings. The County will endeavor to purchase some property adjacent to the lot they now own, which is also next to the Settlement School property. The first six room unit of a modern grade school building would be started as soon as negotiations are satisfactorily completed.

Changes in the school buildings have included an added recitation room in the High School building made possible by vacating the old Ag. shop, recently used for storage purposes. A group of mothers placed neon lights in one recitation room and Pi Beta Phi has just provided neon lights in those rooms which will be occupied by the weavers during the Summer

Workshop.

While the Committee enjoyed the privilege of meeting during the regular school year, we would also like to return for a glimpse of the Summer Workshop. This is no longer the trial balloon of four years ago sent up by the University of Tennessee and Pi Beta Phi, but a school of merit for six weeks of fun and/or credit. This year finds increased enrollment with representatives from many different states. The staff is outstanding, each in his own line, and is headed by Miss Marian Heard of U.T. and Miss Ruth Dyer of the Pi Beta Phi School

as Directors. The one hurdle still to overcome is an adequate housing plan. All seem to want both room and board right at the School. Some day their dream

and ours may be realized.

Last summer the first Craftsman's Fair, with over 6000 registered from 45 states and 8 foreign countries, held on the Pi Phi Green was so successful is to be repeated again this summer in more pretentious fashion. The Governor of Tennessee will open the Fair and has invited four other Governors of the other near-by states where handicrafts are important to the economics of the area. This is a tremendous undertaking for the Southern Highlands Guild but the outstanding display of the crafts of that area brings splendid publicity. Pi Beta Phi is

happy to have had a share in it.

No two days are ever alike for our all-year staff, save that all are busy ones. There is, of course, the usual consultation over the running of the place as such and the daily over-sight of school routine by Miss Dyer; there are the community contacts to be maintained. The Pi Phi and other visitors are an entertaining break in the routine. This year there have been a number of foreign visitors sent as Fellows through the United Nations, to whom we have been hostess. Three were from China and so very much interested both in the Child Welfare and the Crafts, it was a joy to offer them Gatlinburg's best. One said, "How peaceful here in your valley!" which can readily be understood when one thinks to what these young women must return in Shanghai or Nanking, today. India and Uruguay have also provided visitors. If the length of stay permitted, these spoke to the school. For city school children this might not be unusual but to Gatlinburg it was an educational op-portunity for the children to learn some of the customs of other countries.

Esther Mines, as Assistant to the Director, has, in addition to the regular duties of her office, done all the accompanying for the musical programs and assemblies at school; directed the living of the dormitory girls at Stuart Cottage; sponsored the girls of the Beta club, national scholastic honorary, and has served as a co-sponsor of the 1949 class. Pi Beta Phi wishes her all happiness in her new home though it is with regret that we accept her resignation.

The position of Assistant to the Director will be taken by Nancy R. Holmes, Illinois Zeta, but recently President of her chapter and in other respects, well qualified. Mr. Johnson's successor will be William J. Miracle of Oak Ridge, Tennessee, just graduated from the University of Tennessee and highly recommended by its Physical Education Department. We welcome both to our staff.

As always the School is grateful for the special gifts which come each year in addition to the regular contributions from clubs and chapters. There have been wonderful books (small encyclopedias or text books) for both the elementary and high school libraries and one hundred dollars to be used for new shelves in the library. At Christmas time there were sufficient toys for each child in the first five grades (243) to have a small gift; for each room a special gift of athletic equipment or a particular book. The best books were placed in one or the other of the two libraries for all to enjoy. Boxes for six needy families were filled and even the heart's desire of one first grader could be gratified—her very first doll. This coming Christmas we hope to distribute to the youngest children of the more isolated rural schools also. The real recompense for your generosity would be seeing the eyes of the youngsters as they accept their gifts but instead, here is the appreciation of a grateful Committee.

An officer this year suggested that all fraternity reports be more factual. For this type of information, read the accounting audit in the Information Arrow. This message brings only an accounting of actual events, of interest to those of you who believe in the Settlement School and its reasons for being. We do appreciate all your splendid contributions for we know the real effort which always must go into the raising of funds. However, there is so much that could be accomplished toward a better Settlement School program, we cannot but ask for increased support next year.

This report could not be rightly concluded without an expression of grateful appreciation to a wonderful committee. No task seemed too great though each member has carried heavy responsibilities of her own. The fraternity is indeed fortunate when busy people can find time to do volunteer work well in Pi Beta Phi. Again, gratitude is expressed to Miss Onken, the contact member from Grand Council, whose schedule is never too crowded to write a

prompt reply on all discussion topics.

Your Chairman appreciates the opportunity of working for Pi Beta Phi through serving the Settlement School.

Respectfully submitted,

RUTH BARRETT SMITH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE SETTLEMENT SCHOOL 1949

If some of the older Pi Phis who made Settlement School visits in the early days should return to Gatlinburg I am sure that they could appreciate a newspaper quip that stated—America is the land where in one generation you can go from a plain cabin to a cabin plane. We still have the "plain cabins" in the surrounding area but this particular corner of East Tennessee shows many evidences of the "cabin plane" era. Our once isolated village now has six hotels, two lodges, and fifty tourist courts. All up and down the street are eating houses, craft shops, and other attractions that pertain to the tourist trade. Since the opening of The Great Smoky Mountain National Park, located right at the end of our main street, the population of Gatlinburg has increased from 1700 to an estimated 2400 people exclusive of

the tourists. This is a gain of more than 41 per cent. This growth has been so rapid that it has been difficult for the village to adjust to changed conditions. There is so much to be done in the way of public services such as sanitation, paving, street lighting etc., that the Fraternity is still needed though our help may be supplied in ways differing from those used when we too lived in a plain cabin, helping a backward people to enrich their lives.

Community

The most important thing that has happened in the village is that the water system is actually being built. An election in October 1948 authorized the sale of bonds, the contract was let in November 1948, and construction started in February of 1949. This

contract was for \$480,925.00 and is to be completed in 500 days. The source is water from the Little Pigeon river and settling basins and other necessary installations are being made on land adjacent to the Park. Other important improvements include a lot of work that has been done on Baskins Creek Road which has been widened and improved with a hard surface. The dust on this road has been a positive menace for a number of years. A campaign of city wide spraying to kill insect pests has met with quite general co-operation on the part of the public. The County Sanitation officer and local committees have worked on this project. An addition to the Roaring Fork section of the village is the new Baptist Church built of native stone with wooden interior. The grounds about the Methodist Church have been beautifully landscaped and the interior is to be finished this year. A number of fine new residences have been built. Some new cabins, a swimming pool, and a drive-in restaurant will cater to the tourist trade. Just below us on the Squire's property a man from Newport is building a large movie house to seat 1012 people.

Union services were held by several of the churches at Thanksgiving, Christmas, and Easter. The usual fund-raising party for the Library was held on Valentine's Day at the Mountain View. Drives for the Red Cross, Polio, and Cancer Funds were all given local support. The children were entertained at the annual Easter egg hunt on the Whittle lawn and a sunrise service on the green of the Greystone hotel was an innovation of this year. The living Christmas tree in front of the Arrowcraft Shop was lighted during the holiday season through the efforts of the Garden Club. An office for the Gatlinburg Tourist Bureau was maintained for nine months. This has been a valuable thing for the town in that it serves as a clearing house for reservations from all the Motor Clubs in the Country and for individuals as well. When this service was first started, Knoxville supplied fifty per cent of the funds necessary for its operation, the next year one third of the amount and last year only a very small per cent.

School

Under Tennessee statutes we were entitled to an extra high school teacher this year, for we had increased enrollment over the year before. Mr. Mark Grim has served as Principal and has taught classes in Social Science and given one class in Spanish. This was a good addition to our rather limited curriculum. Mrs. Ann Lighter again had charge of the library and taught most of the English classes. Mr. Willard Conchin, who is the minister of the Christian Church in Sevierville, took the rest of the English work and taught History. Mrs. Ruth Owenby held her old position as teacher of Biology and Mathematics. Miss Ethel Womac was the Home Economics teacher. We have had difficulty all year with the other Science and Math position for it seemed impossible to secure a qualified teacher. Mr. Plez Atchley, a retired teacher from Sevierville, has done most of the teaching but many substitutes have had to be used. The special teachers supplied by the Fraternity, Mr. J. B. Johnson in Physical Education, Fay Van Roekel and Major Huskey in Arts and Crafts, and Mrs. Armstrong in Music have all helped with the high school program. With the extra teacher we were faced with the problem of more classroom space. This was solved by the County fixing up the old ag room that we had used for storage into a classroom. This is a very unsatisfactory arrangement as the students have to use a

back entrance and go outside the building in all sorts of weather to reach the room. This situation will be much improved when a new grade school building has been built by the County and the five grade school rooms now taking space in the high school building are moved to the new building. The stu-dents have been kept busy with their studies and the extra curricular activities such as their basket ball games, field day for sports, the Halloween Carnival, class plays well given by the Junior and Senior classes, Assembly programs and various parties and entertainments. Two very lovely banquets were high lights of the year. One was the basketball banquet given by the American Legion Auxiliary and the other was the annual affair given by the Juniors in honor of the seniors. This year we have co-operated with the University of Tennessee in their teacher training work in Home Economics. For three different months we had two student teachers working in our department. Future Home Makers of America, the Home Economics Club, participated in the national project of Christmas gifts for overseas, making some of their gifts. They took part in a small radio skit over a Knoxville station and in a regional style show where they modeled garments they had made. A lovely tea was given in May with Mothers, faculty and friends as guests. Historic Williamsburg was chosen by the senior class of twenty as the destination of their class trip. The usual commencement events finished up the school year. In the Elementary School there were twenty-nine who graduated from the eighth grade and will be entering high school next fall. The five teachers in the small building have had an especially well organized unit and the work has gone on with almost no friction and with excellent results.

Pi Phi Contributions

With Sevier County now supplying the basic instruction in the schools the Fraternity has made its contribution to the curriculum by providing some very important extras such as Arts and Crafts, Music, and Physical Education. Our full time Arts and Crafts teacher is Fay Van Roekel, a 1948 graduate of Iowa State College, and the part time wood-working teacher, Major Huskey, is from a local family who operate the Jack Knife Shop. Fay is talented and has brought much enthusiasm to her work. She has been generous with her time in helping with all phases of school work. Under her direction many posters for plays and other events, stage settings, properties and costumes have all been worked out by her classes. Her high school class of girls learned to weave and following lessons in design used the designs they had made to block print curtains for the craft shop. She has held a special class for upper grade school students who are especially interested in art on two afternoons a week, after school hours. These children work on different projects that especially appeal to them. Some of the grades have made murals for their rooms, done sketching and figure drawing, a little work with clay and produce some clever toys from different sized cardboard boxes. Fay was honored by being given a scholarship to a Workshop in Metals which was held at the University of Tennessee for two weeks. She submitted samples of her work and was made a member of the Southern Highland Handicraft Guild. She also gave some lectures and demonstrations in Camp Crafts at the Training School for Camp Leaders held at the Methodist Assembly Grounds in April. Major Huskey started his work three weeks late in the fall. His high school boys have made some very creditable looking small pieces

of furniture and have learned the use of the different machines we provide in the shop. There are a number of wood-working shops in town and a knowledge

of this craft often leads to a good job.

Mrs. Aletha Armstrong has again directed the work in Music. The special programs given by her department have all been well done. The Christmas program was in the nature of a Nativity Play that was beautifully done in the true spirit of the season. Two of the main parts were taken by the children who delighted Convention with their singing at French Lick. Two operettas were given this year instead of the usual one. The first one was "Hansel and Gretel." This was produced by a very youthful cast of children, mostly from the third grade. Later in the year a second operetta. "In Old Mexico," was given by the children of the five upper grades in the Elementary School. Both entertainments packed the gym with enthusiastic audiences of fond parents, small brothers and sisters and others who enjoyed the gay songs and dances. Children love "to be in things" and their parents love to see them perform.

The Physical Education program has been very capably handled by Mr. J. B. Johnson. He coached the boys' and girls' basket ball teams through successful seasons again this year. In addition to these duties and his classes in Physical Education he has served as Co-sponsor of the Senior Class and has helped with most everything that has gone on at the school. His influence for fair play and sportsmanship in athletics, his unselfish interest in the students and willingness to accept extra duties will be missed next year. Though he announced at Convention that he was a bachelor, he is soon to become a benedict. He and Esther Mines plan to be married this summer and will live on the west coast. The school will greatly miss Esther too for she has been very helpful with her musical talents, playing for all the weekly chapel programs and doing the accompanying for Mrs. Armstrong's programs. She has been sponsor for the Beta Club and devoted much time to working with its members.

Other contributions by the Fraternity include the cleaning and repairing of the stage curtains and a monthly check of fifteen dollars to supplement the salary of the school bus driver. This enables him to make a daily trip to Elkmont, in the borders of the Park, to bring eighteen children down to our school. The music teacher from Pigeon Forge has given piano lessons two days a week on the piano in Stuart Cot-

tage.

P. T. A.

The weekly summer bingo games sponsored by this organization netted \$1200.00. From this fund they financed a summer recreation program for the children of the town. Our Mr. Johnson directed this activity which was held at the American Legion Field. A piano for the music room was purchased from this same fund. An additional \$100.00 was made at a rummage sale and this was used for the benefit of the elementary school library. The organization again operated the school lunch room in a very efficient manner. From last years funds they were able to purchase an electric dish washer for the kitchen. The table tops were covered with new linoleum and a telephone installed in the lunch room. To children who need the service, free lunches are supplied. Most of the meetings have been held in the evenings so that the fathers might participate. Interest has been good all year. One venture proved to be a financial loss but was a worth while effort to bring some good entertainment to the School. This was a concert given by the James King Chorus of Knoxville.

Farm

The year has brought two changes in helpers at the school. Elvin Trentham resigned at the end of the summer and Neal Watson replaced him as assistant to Arlie. Our farm man, Carl Ogle, left in December to accept a position where he works only with poultry. He was followed by another Watson, Mr. Richard. We sold the Jersey herd in December, 1948 to Mr. Murray who is the manager of the Stokely Canning Company Farms at Newport, Tennessee. Several factors led to the decision to sell the herd. The animals were no longer needed for class work in agriculture since we have not had classes in that subject for a number of years. The University re-quired that we serve and use only pasteurized milk during the Summer Workshop and as most of the eating places in town use no raw milk it was a problem to get rid of our milk. Pasteurized milk is now brought to our door at a cheaper figure than we could produce our own supply. We will raise more garden produce, selling any surplus to the Mountain View Hotel. They now take the eggs and poultry that we do not use for the table.

Health Center

Three clinics made use of our improved, modern facilities in the first year of use of the new building. A Pre-School Clinic was held in August, a Dental and Nutritional one in December and the State mobile T. B. X-Ray Unit spent a day in Gatlinburg in February. At the latter clinic 587 people were given free chest x-rays and it was found that three mothers of the community had active cases of the disease. These three cases are now all under treatment. The year has been the usual busy one for Marjorie. She helped the Home Economics teachers by giving with them a class in home nursing. Fifteen high school girls com-pleted the course and received Red Cross pins for their effort. A number of children have been helped with eye corrections and been fitted to glasses through the generosity of the local Lion's Club and the money given to our project by Sigma Phi Gamma International Sorority. This organization has helped with health improvement in the mountain areas for a number of years. We are grateful that we are included in the list of schools and centers to receive their aid. It is impossible to enumerate all the services given to the community by our Pi Phi nurse for they are many and varied. The number of office visits and home calls adds up to an imposing number yet the work goes on day after day. The Health Center building itself fits into the plan of the grounds as if it had been there for a long time, now that some plantings have been placed around it.

Arrowcraft

To many Pi Phis the products from our weavers are their only link with the work of the Settlement School. They are proud of the articles that carry the familiar blue tag but perhaps they do not realize the full story back of the product. The material economic aid that our checks carry to one hundred weavers means much to many a family. Our Alumnæ Club sales form a very important part of our yearly business volume. In November Mrs. Snow and the girls shipped out \$32,000.00 worth of goods to the Clubs. Some Clubs have spring sales and many small orders result from these Club sales. For sale next year there will be a number of new items. White baby blankets

and carriage robes, new baby material for the caps and jackets, more designs and colors in neckties, some new bags and some bridge squares in the Queen Ann design in natural and colored threads are just a few of these items. Tina and Lura planned two very nice Weavers parties for the weavers. The annual Christmas party is always a nice affair and one held in early spring proved to be a great success. At this affair there was an exhibit of the work done by all the weavers, some done by Fay's high school class, and interesting pieces from several local weavers. Harriet Gill from the University used some of her weavings to illustrate the talk that she gave to the group. Refreshments added to the party feeling. The hotel shop has been in charge of a good Pi Phi friend, Mrs. Edna McCutchean, mother of Mrs. Jim Huff who is a Pi Phi, and of Jerry who manages the Mountain View Hotel. Since she lives in a cottage near the hotel it is convenient for her to have the shop open during the hours when the most people are in the lobby. A very special Arrowcraft order was the powder blue dress material that the Washington D.C. Alumnæ Club ordered and presented as a gift to Mrs. Truman.

During the past year some very necessary repairs

and changes have been made in our buildings. The old shed back of the high school was enclosed and rebuilt to serve as a shop for Arlie, give us some storage space and a garage for the truck. Rather extensive work had to be done on the barn and minor repairs on other farm buildings. We built some fence and had the electric wiring for our three residence houses changed for more efficient service. At Teachers Cottage a new linoleum was laid in one of the bath rooms and the down stairs bed room porch and half bath off the large office were repainted at the time that Marjorie moved up from the old health center. Arlie and his family now occupy this building.

I wish to close by expressing my deep apprecia-

tion for the many fine gifts sent to the School by the alumnæ clubs, active chapters and individuals. We of the resident staff, try to the best of our abilities to work for the ideals that prompted the founding of the school in "plain cabin days," Each year brings changes in the type of service most needed but an alert Committee keeps the school functioning in "cabin plane days." I am grateful to them for their unselfish understanding help and especially so to Esther Mines who has been such a wonderful help to me in every way.

> Respectfully submitted RUTH DYER, Director

PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL, GATLINBURG, TENNESSEE, REPORT ON AUDIT, YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949

Little Rock, Arkansas July 20, 1949

Settlement School Committee Pi Beta Phi Fraternity Mrs. Henry Moore Jr., Treasurer Texarkana, Texas

DEAR MESDAMES:

As directed by your committee, we have audited the books, records and supporting data of

PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL GATLINBURG, TENNESSEE

and submit our report of this audit as contained in the following Exhibits, Schedules and Comments:

Exhibit "A" Comparative Balance Sheet Exhibit "B" Statement of Operating Income and Expense

Exhibit "B-1" General and Administrative Expense Exhibit "B-2" Instructional Expense Exhibit "B-3" Settlement School Operation Ex-

pense Exhibit "C" Endowment Fund

Exhibit "D" Sinking Fund and Memorial Fund
Exhibit "D" Statement of Profit & Loss—Arrowcraft Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 1949
Schedule 1 Endowment Fund Securities

Schedule 2 General and Sinking Fund Securities

Schedule 3 Fixed Assets and Depreciation Charges

Schedule 4 Comparative Summary of Contributions

Schedule 5 Comparative Statements of Club and Chapter Contributions

COMMENTS

SCOPE OF EXAMINATION

Our examination consisted of detail check of all transactions of the records of the treasurer as maintained at Texarkana. Texas, together with an examination of all records maintained by the Director of Settlement School at Gatlinburg, Tennessee. Our audit embraced the following procedures concerning verification of the assets:

Cash on Hand: Verified by count.

Cash on Deposit: Verified by our examination of all bank checks together with confirmation of balances furnished by the respective depositories.

Securities: General and Sinking Fund Securities were verified by our physical count. Endowment Fund Securities were verified by confirmation received from the trust agent—Harris Trust Company of Chicago.

Accounts Receivable: Verified by examination of records at Gatlinburg, Tennessee by internal test checking and correspondence where necessary.

Accounts Receivable: Verified by examination of records at Gattibourg, remissive by internal test checking and conspondence where necessary.

Inventories: Inventories were taken, priced, and extended by the personnel of Arrowcraft and were checked by us for mathematical accuracy, and by our physical examination of the inventories in the Shop and Warehouse.

Fixed Assets: These assets consisting of property, buildings, and equipment owned by Pi Beta Phi Settlement School are stated at the cost at acquisition as reflected by the books with adjustment for the year under review for additions and retirements. We made no examination of these records beyond the audit report presented for the year ended June 30, 1948.

GENERAL

Our audit embraced all procedures considered necessary to establish the correctness of the items presented on the Balance Sheet and the accompanying Statements of Income and Expense. For the report of the treasurer for the year ending June 30, 1949, we have adjusted for the difference in fiscal year closing of May 31st as used by the Director at Gatlinburg and at Arrowcraft. In general, we find all records to be well kept and we wish to commend to your committee, all Settlement School and Arrowcraft personnel for their diligence.

Very truly " McDuffie-Curry and Co. Certified Public Accountants

EXHIBIT "A"

PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL, GATLINBURG, TENNESSEE COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET JUNE 30, 1949

Current Assets	6/30/1948	6/30/1949
Cash Funds Imprest Cash Fund Treasurer's Bank Balance Operating Bank Balances Savings Accounts Balances Items in Transit	7,251.52 8,042.99	\$ 60.00 29,584.03 9,955.71 3,740.76 4,088.83
Total Cash Funds	. 30,724.95	47,429.33
Investments Bonds held for Endowment Fund U. S. Series F Bonds U. S. Series G Bonds Canadian Victory Loan Bonds Cash Held for Investment in Bonds	30,155.00 18,000.00 150.00	54,072.60 19,055.00 20,545.31 150.00 1,619.91
Total Investments	102,525.00	95,442.82
Accounts Receivable Due from Arrowcraft Accounts	. 18,943.25	14,840,75
Inventories	CO. 040 17	20.046.04
Arrowcraft Shop & Factory Inventories		78,956.85
Total Current Assets	221,131,3/	236,669.75
Fixed Assets Real Estate Buildings and Improvements Equipment, Fixtures and Autos	. 112,187.51	5,427.35 112,187.51 31,377.10
Less: Reserve for Depreciation	148,681.72 47,800.27	148,991.96 52,022.35
Total Fixed Assets	-	96,969.61
Other Assets Prepaid Insurance	. 2,094.85	2,094.85
Total Assets	-	\$335,734,21
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
LIABILITIES		
Current Liabilities Withheld Income Taxes	6/30/1948	6/30/1949 \$ 240.70
Deferred Income 1949-1950 Contributions Paid in Advance		10.00
Total Liabilities	. 272.50	250.70
RESERVES Endowment Fund—Created by Annually Setting Aside 75% of Active Chapter Contributions	. 54,220,00	55,692.51
Sinking Fund-Special Reserve of Surplus for Additions to Buildings and Equipment	. 17,906,94	19,098,63
Memorial Fund-Reserve of Funds Contributed for the Purchase of Music Supplies and Equipme	nt 178.51	279.01
Total Reserves	72,305.45	75,070,15
NET WORTH		
General Fund Surplus	251,549.72	260,413.36
ANALYSIS OF SUPPLIES FIRM		
ANALYSIS OF SURPLUS FUND Balance June 30, 1948		
Balance June 30, 1948		
Balance June 30, 1948 \$251,349.72 Net Excess Operating Revenue over Operating Expense—Exhibit "B" 11,363.64 Balance June 30, 1949 262,913.36 Less: Transferred to Sinking Fund 2,500.00	. \$324,127.67	\$335,734.21

EXHIBIT "B"

STATEMENT OF OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949		
Income—General Contributions Alumae Clubs Active Chapters Individual Interest Earned on Investments Cook Book Sales Magazine Agency Auditorium Rent Arrowcraft Net Profit	2,239.40 50.00 1,961.37 1,920.45	
Total Income—General		6
Income-School		
Summer Session—1948 Fuel Sold Hospital Revenue Farm Produce Sales—Outside Farm Produce Sales—Internal Laundry House	4,196,18 300.00 280.66 2,652.16 2,841.49 150.31	
Student Fees Staff Fees Guest Fees Gifts and Sundry	432,38 4,007.00 336.95 170.02	
Total Income—School	15,367.15	5
TOTAL INCOME		
Expense General and Administrative—Exhibit "B-1" Instructional Expense—Exhibit "B-2" Operation Expense—Exhibit "B-3" Summer Session—1948 Summer Session—1949 Advances Provision for Depreciation Losses on Sale of Livestock	11,455,36 16,868,81 21,984,51 3,100,00 3,615,40 4,222,08	
TOTAL EXPENSE		
Excess Income		
75% Active Chapter Contributions to Endowment Fund Balance to General Fund Surplus		
	\$12,921.96	
EXHIBIT "B-1"		
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE YEAR ENDED JUNE		
*Convention Expense *Committee Expense Auditing and Legal General Office Expense Printing Cook Books Miscellaneous Publicity Travel Insurance Repairs and Replacements Donations to Churches		1,911.08 321.88 299.72 2,500.00 29.25 149.41 268.12 2,695.08
* Convention Expense and Committee Expense charged in this fiscal year include the	evnesse of beat the	
Committee Meetings.	expense of both the	1948 and 1949
EXHIBIT "B-2"		
Salaries Instructional Expense Year Ended June 30, 1949)	
Director Assistant Physical Education Music Weaving Woodworking Health Nurse Arts and Crafts Auto Allowance—Health Nurse Arts and Crafts Supplies School Administrative Expense Miscellaneous School Expense Music Student Transportation		2,131.00 2,500.00 1,830.00 225.00 591.21 2,678.56 2,250.00 400.00 313.81 129.43 231.95 82.85 135.00
		\$16,868.81

THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

EXHIBIT "B-3"

SETTLEMENT !	SCHOOL	OPERATION	EXPENSE	YEAR	ENDED	JUNE	30,	1949
--------------	--------	------------------	---------	------	-------	------	-----	------

SETTLEMENT SCHOOL OPERATION EXPENSE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949	
Eacility and Maintenance Lights Car Allowance Office Supplies Postage Telephone Truck Expense Fuel Used Hospital Laundry Supplies Maintenance and House Salaries	\$5.66 43.01 34.57 269.08 64.42 1,074.22 248.20 18.64
House and Farm Expense Produce from Own Farm Used Farm Supplies Purchased Food Purchased House Supplies and Equipment Service and Maintenance Laundry Service Refunds Sundry Wages Staff Meals at Summer Session	3,225.92 3,349.67 537.09 111.74 17.31 100.86 65.00
	\$21,984,51
EXHIBIT "C"	
ENDOWMENT FUND YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949	
Endowment Fund June 30, 1948	
Bonds and Stocks \$52,458.41 Uninvested Principal Fund Cash 1,761.59	
Receipts and Revenue	54,220.00
Interest on U. S. Bonds 1,251,50 Interest on Industrial Bonds 97,50 75% Chapter Contributions 6/30/49 1,558,32 From Income Cash Balance Reduction 19.00	2,926.32
Disbursements and Expense	57,146.32
Trust Agents Fee 148.35 Loss on Bonds Called 77.78 Adjustment of Price of U.S.G. of 1958 8.03 Remitted to Lolita H. Prouty for Settlement School 1,219.65	
	1,453.81
BALANCE—Endowment Fund June 30, 1949	.\$55,692.51
SUMMARY JUNE 30, 1949	
Uninvested Principal Fund Cash 61,59 Deposit in Transit to be added to Uninvested Principal Fund Cash 1,558,32 Bonds and Stocks 54,072,60	
\$55,692.51	
EXHIBIT "D"	
SINKING FUND JUNE 30, 1949	
Balance, Sinking Fund June 30, 1948. Additions to Fund: By Resolution of Committee—Transfer from General Fund Surplus	. \$17,906.94 . 2,500.00
Disbursements Chargeable to Sinking Fund: Architects Fees	20,406.94
	1,308.31
Balance, June 30, 1949	19,098.63
Memorial Fund	1.5
Balance, Memorial Fund June 30, 1948 Additions to Fund: Memorial Contributions	. 100.50
Balance, Memorial Fund June 30, 1949	. 279.01
NOTE: Securities and Cash for these two funds are carried with General Fund Cash and Securities.	

SCHEDULE 1

EXHIBIT "E"

- 81	ATEMENT O)F	PROFIT	ANTE	Inss	FISCAL	Vers	Earner.	May 21	1040

W bolesale and Shop Sales Cost of Sales	146,496.99 68,949.21	Percent Net Sales 100.00% 47.07
Gross Profit Wholesale Add Profit on Supply Sales	77,547,78 43.35	52.93
Gross Profit Deduct: Commissions Allowed to Sales Agencies & Clubs	77,591.13 27,511.26	52.96 18.78
Realized Gross Profit	50,079.87	34,18
Expense Salaries Manager	2.735.00	1,87
Designing and Purchasing Selling and Shipping Office	4,267.50 4,255.45 1,783.33	2.91 2.90 1.22
Utility Supplies—Selling and Shipping Insurance Convention and Travel	609.00 984.90 800.00 339.44	.67 .55 .23
Fuel Lights Audit Memberships and Dues	224.25 165.84 215.62 95.30	.15 .11 .15
Registration of Trade Mark Miscellaneous	24.50 108.00 34.91	.02 .07 .02
Car Expense Truck Expense Office Expense Publicity	76.83 269.25 100.88 343.04	.05 .18 .07
Postage Repairs and Maintenance Telephone and Telegraph Transportation	171,44 283.63 74.66 392.94	.12 .19 .05
Bad Debts and Adjustments	51.49	,04
Total Expense\$		12.56
Net Operating Profit	31,672.67	21.62
Retail Gross Profit \$2,705.63 Less: Salary Expense \$1,025.00 Rent Expense 240.00 1.265.00	1.440.63	.98
Purchase Discount Interest Income on Savings Accounts State of Tennessee	283.80 79.87 820.75	.19 .05
Total Other Income		1.79
Other Expense Cash Discounts	13.83	- 103
Loss on Charge-Off of Truck Account (Traded in Prior Year)	752.35	
NET INCOME	766.18	.52
	33,531,54	22.89

Note: Arrowcraft Shop books are maintained on a May 31 fiscal year basis, this being the audited statement for that fiscal year. Net income has been adjusted for the period ended June 30, 1949 for use in the preparation of the Settlement School Treasurer's report,

SCHEDULE OF ENDOWMENT FUND SECURITIES, JUNE 30, 1949

	Par Value	Carried At Cost	Yield Year Ended June 30, 1949	Loss At Call
Toledo and Ohio Central R.R. Refunding "A" 31/4's of 1960	2 000 00	\$ 1,042.50 2,017.50	\$ 37.50 60.00	\$
United States of America Treasury 234's 6/15/1963-58 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-53 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 1.1-54 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-54 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-54 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-55 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-56 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 11-1-56 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 7.1-57 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 8.1-57	1,000.00 2,000.00 2,400.00 1,300.00 1,100.00 3,000.00 3,500.00 3,000.00	1,012.60 2,000.00 2,400.00 1,300.00 1,100.00 3,000.00 3,500.00 3,000.00 4,600.00	19.00 27.50 50.00 60.00 32.50 27.50 75.00 87.50 75.00	77.78

United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 1 United States Savings Bonds Series G 2½'s 1	1-1-57 3,000.00 7-1-58 6,000.00 8-1-58 1,900.00 9-1-58 5,200.00 4-1-59 3,000.00 7-1-59 4,700.00 3-1-60 1,700.00 7-1-60 1,700.00 7-1-60 1,900.00	3.000.00 6,000.00 1,900.00 5,200.00 3,000.00 4,700.00 1,700.00 1,700.00	75.00 150.00 47.50 130.00 75.00 117.50 42.50 21.25 23.75	
		\$54,072.60	\$ 1,349.00	\$ 77.78
Deduct Trust Agents Fee			148.35	
				SCHEDULE 2
	NEBAL AND SINKING FUND SECURITIES, J	UNE 30, 1949		
U. S. Series "F" Savings Bonds Number Issue Date		Maturity Value	6-30-1949	Carried at
Q296668F 5-1-43		.\$ 25.00	\$ 20.55	\$ 18.50
C639157F 5-1-43		. 100,00	20.55 82,20	18.50 74.00
			82.20 82.20	74.00 74.00
Q617972F 2-1-44		. 25.00	19.92	18.50
			19.92 19.92	18.50 18.50
C863758F 2-1-44		. 100,00	79.70	74.00
			79.70 79.70	74.00 74.00
M731360F 2-1-44		. 1,000.00	797.00 797.00	740.00 740.00
Q700754F 7-1-44		. 25.00	19.92	18.50
			79.70 79.70	74.00 74.00
D3943324F 7-1-44		. 500.00	398.50	370.00
			797.00 797.00	740.00 740.00
			797.00 393.00	740.00 370.00
M161851F 11-1-44		. 1,000.00	786.00	740.00
			786.00 786.00	740.00 740.00
V81181F 11-1-44		. 5,000.00	3,930,00	3,700.00
M1206325F 5-1-45	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	. 1,000.00	776.00	3,700.00 740.00
			776.00 776.00	740.00 740.00
M1206328F 5-1-45		. 1,000.00	776.00	740.00
			776.00 77.60	740.00 74.00
C1344234F 5-1-45		. 100.00	77.60 19.40	74.00 18.50
O988119F 5-1-45	************************	. 25.00	19.40	18.50
			388.00 19.17	370.00 18.50
			19.17	18.50
TOTAL "F" BONDS		\$25,750.00	\$20,260.72	\$19,055.00
U. S. Series "G" Bonds Number Issue Date		Maturity Value	Cash Value 6-30-1949	Carried at
M4881896G 8-1-46		.\$ 1,000.00	\$ 1,000.00	\$ 1,000.00
			1,000.00	1,000.00
U612699G 8-1-46		. 5,000.00	5,000,00	5,000.00
			1,000.00	5,000.00
TOTAL "G" BONDS		\$18,000.00	\$18,000.00	\$18,000.00
II S Towns Book 200 Doc 6 15 6			-	-
U. S. Treasury Bonds 2% Due 6-15-54 35266 6-26-44 TR3584		.\$ 500.00	\$ 509.07	\$ 509.07
189087 6-26-44 TR3584		. 1,000,00	1,018,17	1,018.17
			1,018.17	1,018.17
TOTAL INCOUNT DOTALS		2,500.00	\$ 2.545,41	\$ 2,545.41
Dominion of Canada 3% Due 3-1-54		2 11.12		4 44 44
H418741		. 50.00	\$ 50.00 50.00	0 50.00
H538105		50.00	50.00	50.00
		\$ 150.00	\$ 150.00	\$ 150,00
TOTAL GENERAL AND SINKING FUND SECURIT	TES	.\$46,400.00	\$40,956.13	\$39,750.41

SCHEDULE 3

FIXED ASSETS	AND DEPRECIATION	CHARGES	JUNE 30.	1949
--------------	------------------	---------	----------	------

Land	chool	Balance 6-30-1948	Additions During Year	Balance 6-30-1949	Annual Depreciation Provision
Buildings an Fences, W Water and Chicken as Barn Hospital Mary Poll Industrial Log Cabin School Ho Stuart Do Teachers (Agricultur Small Buil Laboratory General Ir	d Improvements alks and Roads Sewer System and Brooder Houses ard Cottage Building use rmitory lottage il Shop dings Addition approvements th Center	\$ 1,304,99 1,516,51 \$98,75 5,384,49 2,349,05 4,634,60 25,006,57 160,18 8,027,56 9,907,81 6,870,38 348,93 566,98	\$	\$ 5,427.35 \$ 1,304.99 1,516.51 898.75 3,384.49 2,349.05 4,634.60 25,006.57 160.18 8.027.56 9.907.81 6,870.38 348.93 566.98 5,688.34 503.32 19,685.04	\$ 39.15 45.50 26.96 101.54 70.47 139.04 500.13 4.80 240.83 297.23 206.11 10.47 17.01 170.56 15.10 590.55
Faultment -		7-3-1-1-1		- 75,576,76	
School Hi Teachers to Mary Poll Stuart Do. Hospital Autos and Barn Chicken au Stoker Farm Equi Movie Equ Miscellane	Building Duse Cottage ard Cottage mitory Trucks M Brooder Houses pment ipment Dus nter	4,252.84 4,649.95 2,083.03 2,929.15 2,703.12 1,611.00 2,012.05 650.00 250.00 90.75 310.15 2,375.19 1,682.29	520.00 1,326.00 264.54 643.19	4,772,84 4,649,95 2,083,03 2,929,15 2,703,12 1,611,00 5,338.05 650,00 250,00 485,00 90,75 310,15 2,639,73 2,325,48	212,64 219,46 104.15 116,17 135,16 77.69 32,50 12,50 24,25 4,53 15,51 18.76 93.02
		26,084.52	2,753.73	28,838.25	1,116.35
Livestock an	d Horses	1,840.50	1,840.50		
Arrowcraft	School! Improvements	124,202.87	913.23	125,116.10	3,641.78
Arrowcraft	Trafts Shop	2,661.57 10,792.57 7,882.87		2,661.57 10,792.57 7,882.87	79.85 215.85 157.66
		21,337.01		21,337.01	453.36
	nd Fixtures trafts	1,196.89 1,944.95	149.36 752.35	1,346.25 1,192,60	67.31 59.63
		3,141.84	602.99	2,538.85	126.94
	ARROWCRAFT SCHOOL	24,478.85 124,202.87	602.99 913.23	23,875.86 125,116.10	580.30 3,641.78
GRANI	TOTAL	148,681,72	\$ 310.24	\$148,991,96	\$ 4,222.08

SCHEDULE 4

Comparative Summary of Contributions Received June 30, 1949

Alumnæ Clubs	Year Ended 6/30/1947	Year Ended 6/30/1948	Year Ended 6/30/1949
Alpha—East	\$ 206.00	\$ 178.25	\$ 171.55
Alpha—West	560,00	980.80	721.27
Beta	2,440.68	2,332,00	1,909.00
Gamma		474.20	245.50
Delta	498.07	615.47	649.50
Epsilon		1,868.00	1,647.00
Zeta		182.00	143.00
Eta		808.86	761,00
Theta	270.80	242.00	289.03
Iota		943.91	935.50
Kappa	1,039.44	1,015.66	1,066.93
Lambda		712.00	741.00
Mu	785.00	721,88	928.00
TOTAL CLUBS	10,697.99	11,075.03	10,208.28

Active Chapters			
Alpha—East	81,26	45.00	67.36
Alpha—West	45.00	25.00	38.00
Beta	258.80	163.78	287.04
Gamma	138,94	103.17	100.00
Delta	161.00	173.70	150.00
Epsilon	245.00	273.75	210.00
Zeta	115.00	155.00	120.00
Eta	285.00	378.00	424.00
Theta	60.00	40.00	40.00
Iota	261.75	333.86	300.50
Kappa	380.00	375.00	360.00
Lambda	116.50	75.00	65.00
Mu	89.86	65.00	77.50
	\$ 2,238.11	\$ 2,206.26	\$ 2,239.40

SCHEDULE 5

COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF CLUB AND CHAPTER CONTRIBUTIONS YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1949

			ALPHA	—EAST				
Alumnæ				Active				
6/	30/1948	6/	30/1949	6	/30/194	8 6	/30/1	949
Boston, Mass. \$ Burlington, Vt. Hartford, Conn. Montreal, Quebec New Haven, Conn. Portland, Me. Stamford, Conn.	82.25 2.50 50.00 7.50 25.00 10.00 1.00	\$	50.00 10.00 15.00 10.00	Maine A Nova Scotia A Vermont A Massachusetts A Connecticut A Massachusetts B Vermont B		0 0 0	\$ 10 5 7 5 5 15	0.00 6.00 7.36 6.00 6.00 6.00
Eastern Maine		-	3.00 2.00		45.0	0	\$ 67	7.36
	178.25	\$	171.55					
			ALPHA-	-West				
Albany, N.Y. \$ Buffalo, N.Y. Ithaca, N.Y.	20.00 75.00 10.00	\$	20,00 75,00	New York Λ New York Γ New York Δ	10.0	0	10	00.0
Mohawk Valley	5.00		5.00	Ontario A	10.0		8	3.00
New York City Northern New Jersey Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Rochester, N.Y. Ridgewood—Glen Rock Schenectady, N.Y. Syracuse, New York Toronto, Canada	475.00 200.00 5.00 50.00 10.50 25.00 25.00		350.00 100.00 5.00 50.00 76.27 10.00 15.00		25.0	0	\$ 38	3.00
Westchester County	10.00		15,00					
\$	980.80	\$	721.27					
			Вв	TA				
Akron, Ohio Athens, Ohio Central Pennsvlvania Charlestown, W. Va. Cincinnati, Ohio Clarksburg, W. Va. Cleveland (East), Ohio Cleveland (West), Ohio	160.00 5.00 10.00 180.00 750.00 250.00	\$	150.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 100.00 305.00 252.00	Pennsylvania B Pennsylvania Γ Ohio A Ohio B Ohio Δ West Virginia A Ohio Z	35.0 8.7 65.0 15.0 10.0 5.0 10.0	8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	161 15 45 5	.00 .64 .00 .40 .00
Columbus, Ohio Dayton, Ohio Fairmont, W.Va. Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa. Mahoning Valley-Yorktown Morgantown, W.Va. Ohio Valley Oxford, Ohio Philadelphia, Pa. Pittsburgh, Pa. Southern New Jersey South Hills-Pittsburgh, Pa. Toledo, Ohio	100.00 75.00 25.00 100.00 12.00 5.00 10.00 500.00 75.00 25.00 40.00		125.00 50.00 15.00 100.00 7.00 5.00 15.00 10.00 500.00 15.00 25.00 40.00		163.7	8	\$ 287	.04
\$:	2,332.00	\$,909.00					
			GAN	EMA				
Baltimore, Md. \$ Chapel Hill Charlotte, N.C. Columbia, S.C. Durham, N.C. Richmond, Va. Washington, D.C. Wilmington, Del. Norfolk, Va. Washington, D.C., Jr.	100.00 30.00 3.50 2.00 5.00 25.00 280.00 23.70 5.00	\$	75,00 2,00 5,00 25,00 45,20 1,00 5,00	Maryland A South Carolina A North Carolina B North Carolina B Virginia F Virginia A District of Columbia A Maryland B	5.00 30.00 8.00 5.00 40.1 10.00 5.00	7	30. 15. 25. 10. 5.	00, 00, 00, 00, 00,
washington, D.C., Jf.	474.20	-	87.30		103.1		100.	.00
3	9/9.20	- 5	245.50					

DELTA

Bloomington, Ind. 20,00 25,00 Indiana A 5,00 5,00 Stort Wayne, Ind. 10,00 10,00 Indiana B 34,40 30,00 Fort Wayne, Ind. 10,00 10,00 Indiana B 34,40 30,00 Fort Wayne, Ind. 10,00 20,00 Indiana A 10,00 20,00 Indiana F 5,00 10,00 Indiana F 5,00 5,00 Indiana F 5	Alumna				Active			
LaFayette, Ind. Lansing-East Lansing, Mich. 130, 00 Lansing-East Lansing, Mich. 200 Richmond, Ind. 100 Southwestern Indiana 200 Southeastern Indiana 40,00 S	Ann Arbor, Mich. Bloomfield Hills, Mich. Bloomington, Ind. Derroit, Mich. Fort Wayne, Ind. Franklin, Ind. Gary, Ind. Grand Rapids, Mich.	35.00 100.00 25.00 25.00 10.00 20.00 1.00 8.00 1.00	\$	25.00 100.00 25.00 100.00 10.00 30.00 25.00 8.00 1.00	Michigan A Michigan B Indiana A Indiana B Indiana Γ Indiana Γ Indiana Γ Indiana Δ Indiana Ε	10.00 60.00 5.00 34.40 5.00 10.00 5.00 48.30	\$	10.00 60.00 5.00 30.00 10.00 20.00 5.00 10.00
Chattanooga	LaFayette, Ind. Lansing-East Lansing, Mich. Northern Indiana Richmond, Ind. Shelbyville, Ind. Southwestern Indiana Jackson, Mich.	139,47 5,00 2,00 1,00 1,00 40,00	_	25.00 5,00 2.00 3.00 40.00 2.00	3	173.70	\$	150.00
Columbia Mo. 100.00 73.00 Missouri R 120.00 10		615.47	\$	649.50				
Columbia Mo. 100.00 73.00 Missouri A 20.00 10				Eps	ILON			
St. Louis, Mo. 1, 200,00 1, 200,00 1, 200,00	Columbia Mo. Jefferson City, Mo. Kansas City, Mo. Little Pigeon-Knoxville, Tenn. Louisville, Ky. Memphis, Tenn.	100,00 2,00 500,00 1,00 25,00 10,00	\$	75.00 300.00 5.00 25.00 10.00	Missouri A Missouri B Missouri F Tennessee A Tennessee B	20.00 125.00 25.00 53.75	\$	5.00 10.00 125.00 20.00 30.00 15.00 5.00
Atlanta, Gs. \$50.00 \$35.00 Alabama A \$30.00 \$15.00 Birmingham, Ala. 15.00 10.00 Florida A 10.00 10.00 Florida B 75.00 75.00 Florida F	St. Louis, Mo. Springfield, Mo. Tri-State-Joplin	1,200.00	1	,200.00 15.00 .500	\$	273.75	\$	210.00
Atlanta, Ga. \$ 50.00 \$ 35.00 Alabama A \$ 30.00 \$ 15.00 Birmingham, Ala 15.00 10.00 Florida A 10.00 10.00 ID-land, Fla. 20.00 25.00 Florida A 20.00 10.00 ID-land, Fla. 20.00 ID-land, Fla.		1,868.00	\$1	,647.00				
Dirmingham, Ala. 15.00 10.00 Florida A 10.00 10.00 Deland, Fla. 20.00 25.00 Florida Γ 20.00 Jacksonville, Fla. 5.00 5.00 Georgia Λ 20.00 Jacksonville, Fla. 25.00 25.00 Miami, Fla. 25.00 25.00 Orlando, Fla. 35.00 10.00 St. Petersburg, Fla. 25.00 10.00 St. Petersburg, Fla. 25.00 10.00 Tamps, Fla. 5.00 15.00 Ocala, Fla. 5.00 1.00 Mobile, Ala. 143.00 ETA				Z	ETA			
Miami, Fla. 25,00 25,00 10,00 10,00 155,00 \$ 120,00	Birmingham, Ala. Deland, Fla. Jacksonville. Fla.	15.00 20.00 5.00	\$	10.00 Florida A	Florida A Florida B Florida Γ	10.00 75.00 20.00	\$	15.00 10.00 75.00
Avon, III. \$ 7.00 \$ 10.00 Wisconsin A \$ 50.00 \$ 50.00	Miami, Fla. Orlando, Fla. St. Petersburg, Fla. Tampa, Fla. Ocala, Fla.	25.00 35.00 25.00				\$		
Avon, III. \$ 7.00 \$ 10.00 Wisconsin A \$ 50.00 \$ 50.00	\$	182.00	\$	143.00				
Avon, III. \$ 7.00 \$ 10.00 Wisconsin A \$ 50.00 \$ 50.00					4.0			
Chicago North 22,00 25,00 Illinois E 20,00 15,00 Chicago South 50,00 75,00 Illinois Z 133,00 64,00 Chicago West Suburban 5,00 5,00 Illinois H 50,00 75,00 Tllinois H 50,00 75,00 Tllinois H 75,00	Avon, III. Beloit, Wis. Carthage, III. Champaign-Urbana, III. Chicago Business Women	20.00 4.00 100.00	\$	10,00 20,00 5.00 100,00	Wisconsin A \$ Wisconsin B Wisconsin F Illinois A	50.00	\$	50.00 25.00 20.00
Dupage County-Nina Harris Allen 10.00 10.00 Elgin, III. 5.00 1.00 Flox River Valley, Wis. 15.00 10.00 Illinois Fox River, III. 5.00 5.00 Galesburg, III. 15.00 25.00 Jacksonville, III. 5.00 5.00 Joliet, III. 5.00 5.00 Madison, Wis. 50.00 50.00 Milwaukee, Wis. 200.00 200.00 Monmouth, III. 102.86 35.00 Oak Park River Forest, III. 50.00 50.00 Rockford, III. 25.00 50.00 Rockford, III. 25.00 30.00 Rockford, III. 30.00 30.00 Springfield, III. 30.00 30.00	Chicago South Chicago West Suburban	25.00 50.00 5.00		25.00 75.00 5.00	Illinois E Illinois Z Illinois H	133.00		15.00 64.00 50.00
Springfield, III. Source Source Source Source Supringfield, III. Su	Dupage County-Nina Harris Allen	10.00		10.00	Service Services and services and an experience		-	
\$ 808.86 \$ 761.00	Illinois Fox River, III. Galesburg, III. Jacksonville, III. Joliet, III. Madison, Wis. Milwaukee, Wis. Monmouth, III. North Shore, III. Oak Park River Forest, III. Peoria, III. Rockford, III.	15.00 5.00 15.00 5.00 50.00 200.00 5.00 102.86 50.00 25.00 25.00		10.00 5.00 25.00 15.00 5.00 50.00 200.00 5.00 35.00 50.00 25.00 15.00	\$	378.00	5	424.00
	\$	808.86	\$	761.00				

THETA

Alumnæ				Active			
6/	30/1948	6/	30/1949		/30/1948	6/	30/1949
Ames, Iowa Burlington, Iowa Cedar Rapids, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Des Moines, Iowa			Iowa A Iowa B Iowa F Iowa Z Manitoba A	10.00 10.00 10.00	\$	10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00	
Duluth Jr. Grand Forks, N.D.	75.00 5.00		100.00	Minnesota A	5.00		5.00
Indianola, Iowa Iowa City, Iowa Minneapolis, Minn. Mt. Pleasant, Iowa Sioux City, Iowa St. Paul, Minn. Tri-Cities Winnipeg, Manitoba Minneapolis—Afternoon Minneapolis—Evening Fargo, N.D.	5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 32.00 10.00		5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 25.00 1.00 25.00 1.00		\$ 40.00	\$	40.00
\$	242.00	\$	289.03				
			Io	TA			
Boulder, Colo. \$ Casper, Wyo. Cheyenne, Wyo. Colorado Springs, Colo. Denver, Colo. Fort Collins, Colo. Hutchinson, Kan. Kansas City, Kan. Laramie, Wyo.	45.00 25.00	\$	85.00 25.00 25.00 50.00 400.00 35.00 50.00 20.00 1.00	Colorado A Colorado B Kansas A Kansas B Nebraska B South Dakota A Utah A Wyoming A	75.00 50.00 20.00 100.00 43.86 20.00 20.00 5.00	\$	75,00 50.00 20,00 100.00 25,50 5.00 20.00 5,00
Lawrence, Kan. Lincoln, Neb. Manhattan, Kan. Ogden, Utah Omaha, Neb. Pueblo, Colo. Salt Lake City, Utah Topeka, Kan. Vermillion, S.D. Wichita, Kan.	25.00 25.00 100.00 10.00 65.65 10.00 10.00		28,50 25,00 100,00 10,00 25,00 10,00 10,00 1,00 25,00		333.86	\$	300.50
\$	943.91	\$	935.50	4			
			KA	PPA			
Ardmore, Okla. \$ Austin, Tex. Baton Rouge, La. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark.	15.00 100.00 5.00 40.00 200.00 10.00 10.00	\$	15.00 76.33 50.00 200.00 10.00 10.00	Texas A Louisiana B Texas B Arkansas A Louisiana A Oklahoma A Oklahoma B	100.00 20.00 50.00 25.00 100.00 50.00 30.00	\$	100.00 10.00 50.00 25.00 100.00 50.00 25.00
Little Rock, Ark. Houston, Tex.	15.00		15.00		375.00	\$	360.00
McAlester, Okla. Muskogee, Okla New Orleans, La. Nita Stark—Beaumont, Tex. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City Okla	5.00 15.00 120,66 10.00 100.00		5.00 10.00 70.00 190.60 10.00 100.00				
Oklahoma City, Okla Okmulgee, Okla. Ponca City, Okla. Shreveport, La. Stillwater, Okla. Texarkana, ArkTex. Tulsa, Okla. Tyler, Tex. Wichita Falls, Tex.	40.00 5.00 25.00 10.00 10.00 25.00 50.00 5.00		15.00 25.00 10.00 10.00 50.00 50.00				
Bartlesville, Okla. Brazos Valley Pt. Worth, Tex. San Antonio, Tex. Waco, Tex.		-	5.00 5.00 25.00 5.00 5.00				
	1,015.66	\$	1,066.93				

LAMBDA

Alumna				Active				
	6/30/1948	8 6/	30/1949		6/3	0/1948	6/3	0/1949
Boise, Idaho Bozeman, Mont Butte-Anaconda, Mont. Calgary Alberta, Canada Corvallis, Ore. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada Eugene, Ore. Everett, Wash. Olympia, Wash	\$ 50,00 5,00 1,00 5,00 5,00 5,00 5,00 5,00	\$	50.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	Alberta A Idaho A Montana A Oregon A Oregon B Washington A Washington B Oregon Γ Washington Γ	\$	5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 15.00 5.00 20.00	\$	5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00
Portland, Ore. Pullman, Wash. Salem, Ore. Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash. Vancouver, British Columbia Wenatchee, Wash. Yakima, Wash. Seattle, Wash. Bellingham, Wash. Walla Walla, Wash. Medford, Ore.	25.00 50.00 25.00 110.00 3.00 25.00 10.00 200.00		25.00 50.00 25.00 50.00 5.00 45.00 5.00 300.00 5.00 20.00		\$	75.00	\$	65.00
	\$ 712.00	\$	741.00					
Albuquerque, N.M. \$ Berkeley, Calif. El Paso, Tex. Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif. Honolulu, T.H.	5.00 \$ 2.50 5.00 20.00 25.00	25	5.00 0.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 0.00(a)	Arizona A California B California Δ California Γ Nevada A New Mexico A		15.00 30.00 5.00 15.00	\$	7.50 25.00 30.00
Long Beach, Calif. Los Angeles, Calif. Marin County, Calif. Reno, Nev. New Mexico Alumnæ Club Palo Alto, Calif. Pasadena, Calif. Phoenix, Ariz. Sacramento, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Fernando, Calif. San Fernando, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Sants Barbara, Calif. Sants Barbara, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood South Coast California Tucson, Ariz. Contra Costa, Calif.	20.00 200.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 25.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 75.00 10.00 30.00 15.00 1.00 40.00 28.38	2 20 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 1 10 7 7 1 1 3 1 1	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00		\$	65.00	\$	77.50
\$	721.88 \$	92	8.00					

(a) of \$20.00 received, \$10.00 is reserved for contribution credit in the following year.

 \rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow

Come to Convention June 25-July 1, 1950, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada

Committee Reports

HOLT HOUSE COMMITTEE

It has been a very great pleasure to be of service to the Fraternity during the past year by serving on the Holt House Committee. One cannot help appreciating the true purpose of a fraternity after contributing time and effort to this memorial to our

founding.

This committee has done little more toward completing the decor of the house, due to many repairs which, of necessity, were completed this past year. A spinning wheel was purchased for the upstairs hall, and a set of pine hanging shelves lined with copper were added to the upstairs lounge—as well as new braided rugs, and several choice pieces of glass and silver. A silver service tray to hold the tea service was presented to Holt House by the delegates and visitors from Theta province attending the 1948 National Convention. A trellis and climbing rose for the front of the house were presented by Mrs. Nancy M. Bechtol and her cousin, Paul B. Wallace, in honor of his mother, Nancy Black Wallace.

The number of alumnæ clubs contributing to the Holt House Fund decreased from 196 last year to 179 this year. The highest contributing clubs were Iowa City, Iowa; Kansas City, Missouri; and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; each of which gave \$50. Many

other clubs sent very generous checks.

The active chapters again increased their contributions, with 83 chapters contributing as compared with 77 for last year. Kansas Beta was the highest contributor—\$50, Wisconsin Gamma was second highest—\$40, and Oklahoma Alpha third—\$35. The following chapters each gave \$25: Illinois Eta, Texas Alpha, Louisiana Beta, Iowa Gamma, and Washington Alpha.

The highest contributing provinces (alumnæ) were Beta, Kappa, Eta, Mu, Theta, Epsilon, Iota, and Lambda. Every chapter in Iota Province contributed.

The highest contributing provinces (active) were Eta, Kappa, Iota, Epsilon, Delta, Lambda, Theta, Beta, Gamma, and Mu. Every chapter in the following provinces contributed: Eta, Delta, and Gamma.

Besides active chapters and alumnæ clubs in and near Monmouth using the House this past year the following organizations have held meetings there: P.E.O., D.A.R., Woman's Club, Beta Sigma Phi, and the Garden Club. Private teas and several weddings have been accommodated.

Mrs. Carey, always a gracious hostess, deserves much credit for the actual management of the House, and for the truly hospitable air which pervades it.

and for the truly hospitable air which pervades it.

The chairman is grateful to Mrs. John Trost—a most efficient treasurer, and has enjoyed the complete cooperation of the other committee members: Mrs. Jensen, Monmouth; Mrs. Cook, Ann Arbor; and Mrs. Pletz, Peoria.

The chairman gratefully acknowledges the advice and guidance so unselfishily given by Miss Onken during the past year. Also she is grateful for the many duties performed for the committee by the Director of Central Office, Gladys Hayes Scivally, and by each member of Grand Council. The assistance and cooperation of the province officers has greatly facilitated the work of the committee and of the chairman. Without the ecouragement and splendid help of the preceding chairman, Gladys Stump Nall, the committee would have been unable to accomplish much of the work completed during the past year.

We are anticipating a very successful new year for Holt House and the Fraternity.

Respectfully submitted, NANCY I. SWISHER

FINANCIAL REPORT OF HOLT HOUSE TREASURER FOR THE YEAR JUNE 1, 1948-MAY 17, 1949, INCLUSIVE

Receipts

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Actives		
Nova Scotia A\$ Maine A	5.00 10.00	
Vermont A Vermont B Massachusetts A Massachusetts B	5.00 5.00	
Connecticut A	5.00	\$ 30.00
Alumnæ Boston, Mass	1.00	
Boston, Mass. Burlington, Vt. Eastern Maine Halifax Nova Scotia, Canada	3.00	
Eastern Maine Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada Hartford, Conn. Montreal, Quebec, Canada New Haven, Conn.	10.00 1.00 1.00	
Portland, Me	10.00	\$ 28.00
ALPHA PROVINCE WEST		
Actives		
New York A New York Γ New York Δ	5.00 10.00 15.00	
Ontario B	5.00 10.00	\$ 45.00
Alumna		
Alumnæ Albany, N.Y. Buffalo, N.Y. Ithaca, N.Y. London, Ontario, Canada New York City, N.Y. Northern New Jersey, N.J. Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Rochester, N.Y. Schenectady, N.Y. Syracuse, N.Y. Toronto, Ontario, Canada	5.00 10.00 15.00	
New York City, N.Y. Northern New Jersey, N.J.	5.00 5.00 2.50 2.00	
Rochester, N.Y. Schenectady, N.Y.		
Syracuse, N.Y. Toronto, Ontario, Canada Westchester County, N.Y.	5.00 2.50 5.00	57.00
BETA PROVINCE		
Actives		
Pennsylvania B	10.00	
Pennsylvania B Pennsylvania Γ Ohio A Ohio B Ohio Δ	10.00	
Ohio E Ohio Z West Virginia A	5.00 10.00 5.00	\$ 70.00
Alumna		
Akron, Ohio Athens, Ohio Central Pennsylvania, Pa. Charlestown, W.Va. Cincinnati, Ohio Cleveland East, Ohio Cleveland West, Ohio Columbus, Ohio Dayton, Ohio	10.00 5.00	
Charlestown, W.Va	5.00	
Cleveland West, Ohio	10.00 15.00 5.00	
Fairmont, W.Va. Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa.	5.00	
Mahoning Valley, Ohio Morgantown, W.Va.	2.50	
Oxford, Ohio Philadelphia Pa	10.00	
Cleveland West, Ohio Columbus, Ohio Dayton, Ohio Fairmont, W.Va Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa Mahoning Valley, Ohio Morgantown, W.Va Ohio Valley, Ohio Oxford, Ohio Philadelphia, Pa Pittsburgh, Pa Southern New Jersey, N.J. South Hills, Pittsburgh, Pa Toledo, Ohio	50.00	
Toledo, Ohio4	20.00	\$ 157.50
-		

A				Zer Bertrer (Corton)		
GAMMA PROVINCE				Zeta Province (Continued) Lakeland, Fla.	5.00	
Maryland A	10.00			Miami, Fla	10.00	
Maryland B	5.00			Mobile, Ala	2.00	
District of Columbia A	7.00			Orlando, Fla.	5.00	
Virginia Γ	5.00			St. Petersburg, Fla. Tampa, Fla.	5.00	\$ 54.00
North Carolina A	15.00			ETA PROVINCE		
South Carolina A	5.00	\$	67.00	Actives		
Alumnæ	45.5			Wisconsin A	20.00	
Chapel Hill, N.C.	5.00			Wisconsin B	10.00	
Charlotte, N.C.	4 44			Wisconsin P	40.00 30.00	
Durham N.C.	2.00			Illinois B-A	30.00	
Norfolk, Va.	2.00			Illinois Z	15.00	
Chapet Hill, N.C. Charlotte, N.C. Columbia, S.C. Durham, N.C. Norfolk, Va. Richmond, Va. Washington, D.C. Washington, D.C. Washington, D.C. Ir.	5.00			Illinois Η	25.00	\$ 210.00
Washington, D.C., Jr. Wilmington, Del.	1.00	\$	20.50	Alumnæ	-0.00	2.40100
	1.00	*	20,70	Avon, III,	7.00	
DELTA PROVINCE				Beloit Wis.	5.00	
Actives	10.00			Champaign-Urbana, III. Chicago Business Women, III.	10.00	
Michigan B	20.00			Chicago North III	5.00	
Michigan Β Michigan Γ	5.00			Chicago North, Ill.	5.00	
Indiana A	10.00			Chicago West Surburban, Ill Decatur, Ill	5.00	
Indiana B	10.00			Du Page County, III.	5.00	
Indiana E	5.00	\$	75,00	Elgin, III	2.00	
Alumnæ				Fox River Valley, Wis. Galesburg, Ill. Illinois Fox River Valley, Ill.	15.00 5.00	
Ann Arbor, Mich				Jacksonville, Ill.	10.00	
Bloomfield Hills, Mich	5.00			Joliet, III. Madison, Wis.	5.00	
Detroit, Mich. Fort Wayne, Ind.	10.00			Milwaukee, Wis.	10.00	
Franklin, Ind.	5.00			Milwaukee, Wis. Monmouth, III. North Shore, III.	25.00 5.00	
Gary, Ind. Grand Rapids, Mich.	2.00			Oak Park-River Potest, Itt.	10.00	
Hillsdale, Mich,	1.00			Peoria, III. Rockford, III. Springfield, III.	5.00	
Indianapolis, Ind. Jackson, Mich.	10.00			Springfield, Ill.		\$ 147.00
Lafayette, Ind	5.00			THETA PROVINCE		
Northern Indiana, Ind.	3.00			Actives		
Richmond, Ind.	2.00			Manitoba A North Dakota A	10.00	
Shelbyville, Ind	3.00			Minnesota A	5.00	
Southwestern Indiana, Ind	5.00	\$	62.00	Iowa A	10,00	
EPSILON PROVINCE				Iowa Γ	25.00	70.00
Actives				Iowa Z	15.00	\$ 70.00
Missouri B	20.00			Alumnæ Ames, Iowa	2,00	
Missouri Γ	15.00			Burlington, Iowa	1.00	
Kentucky A Tennessee A	10.00			Cedar Rapids, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa	2.00	
Tennessee Β	15.00	\$	75.00	Des Moines, Iowa	10.00	
	5.00	*	73.00	Duluth-Superior, MinnWis Grand Forks, N.D	5.00	
Alumnæ Blue Ridge, Va,				Indianola, Iowa	5.00	
Chaftanooga, Tenn	5.00			Minneapolis, Minn. (Evening)	1.00	
Jefferson City, Mo.	5.00			Mt. Pleasant, Iowa St. Paul, Minn.	6.00	
Kansas City, Mo. Knoxville—Little Pigeon, Tenn.	50.00			Sioux City, Iowa Tri-City (Rock Island, Moline, III.	5.00	
Louisville, Ky.	5.00			Davenport, Iowa)	1.00	
Louisville, Ky. Memphis, Tenn. Nashville, Tenn.	5.00 3.00			Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada		\$ 119.00
St. Louis, Mo. Springfield, Mo.	15.00 15.00			IOTA PROVINCE		
Tri-State, Joplin, Mo.	5.00	\$	113.00	Actives		
ZETA PROVINCE				South Dakota A Nebraska B	10.00	
Actives				Kansas A	10.00	
Alabama A	15.00			Kansas B Colorade A	50.00	
Florida A	10.00			Colorado B	10.00	
Florida B Florida C	10.00		. 7.3	Wyoming A	10.00	\$ 100.00
Georgia A	10.00	\$	45.00	Alumnæ		
Alumnæ	***			Boulder, Colo.	5.00	
Atlanta, Ga. Birmingham, Ala,	10.00			Cheyenne, Wyo.	5.00	
De Land, Fla.	5.00			Cheyenne, Wyo. Colorado Springs, Colo.	5.00	
Jacksonville, Fla	5.00			Denver, Colo	10.00	

IOTA PROVINCE (Continued)				LAMBDA PROVINCE (Continued)			
Fort Collins, Colo	1.00			Wenatchee, Wash. Yakima, Wash,	5.00		90.00
Kansas City, Kan.	2.00)			10.00	\$	80.00
Laramie, Wyo	10.00			Mu Province			
Lincoln, Neb.	5.00			Actives			
Manhattan, Kan	20.00)		California Β	15.00		
Ogden, Utah Omaha, Neb.	5.00			California A	20.00		
Pueblo Colo	3.00			Navada A	20.00		
Salt Lake City, Utah	5.00			Arizona A	14.00		/e 00
Topeka, Kan	1,00			New Mexico A	15.00	\$	65.00
Wichita, Kan,	10.00		109.	0 Alumnæ			
				Berkeley, Calif	2.50		
KAPPA PROVINCE				El Paso, Tex.	5.00		
Actives				Fresno, Calif.	10.00		
Oklahoma A	35.00			Glendale, Calif. Honolulu, T.H. Long Beach, Calif.	10.00		
Oklahoma B	15.00			Long Beach, Calif	5.00		
Texas A	25.00			Los Angeles, Calif.	20,00		
Texas B	5.00			Marin County, Calif. New Mexico, N.M. Palto Alto, Calif.	5.00		
Louisiana B	25.00	\$	115.0	Palto Alto, Calif	5.00		
				Pasadena, Calif. Phoenix, Ariz.	5.00		
Alumna				Reno, Nev.	2.50		
Ada, OklaArdmore, Okla	15.00			Sacramento, Calif.	10.00		
Austin, Tex.	10.00			San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif.	5.00		
Bartlesville, Okla.	5.00			San Fernando Valley, Calif	5.00		
Brazos Valley, Tex.	5.00			San Francisco, Calif	5 00		
Brazos Valley, Tex.	5.00			San Jose, Calif	5.00		
Crowley Ridge, Ark	5.00			Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif	5.00		
Fayetteville, Ark,	5.00			Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif South Coast Club, Calif	2.50		
Fort Smith, Ark.	3.00			Tucson, Ariz.	5.00		
Houston, Tex.	10.00			Receipts	21911		
Little Rock, Ark.	10.00			Total Contributions\$2	267.00		
McAlester, Okla.	5.00			Balance-Convention contributions for	,,		
Muskogee, Okla.	10.00			Sale of 2 chairs in Parlor	15.25 70.00		
Norman, Okla	5.00			House Revenue (Parties)	67.50		
Oklahoma City, Okla Okmulgee, Okla	10.00			Decatur Alumnæ Club Mezzanine Shelves	20.20		
Osceola Ark				sales	20.30		
Paul's Valley, Okla				Total Receipts		\$2,4	440.05
Ponca City, Okla				Balance on Hand June 1, 1948		3,4	165.10
Sabine District, Tex.	15.00			Holt House Petty Cash Fund		_	20.02
San Antonio, Tex.	5.00			Total		\$5,5	25.17
Stillwater, Okla.	5.00			Disbursements			
Texarkana, TexArk	15.00			Electricity\$	84.92		
Tulsa, Okla. Tyler, Tex.	15.00			Gas	208.11		
Waco, Tex	5,00		1520	Water Telephone	19.66		
Wichita Falls, Tex		\$	153.0	Labor (Yard care, etc.)	31.75		
LAMBDA PROVINCE				Piano tuning Miscellaneous Household Supplies	7.00		
				Repairs, Upkeep, Cleaning	180.58		
Actives	2.50			Mrs. Carey's Salary\$635.00			
Alberta A	2.50 5.00			Less Social Security 8.32			
Idaho A	5.00			Taxes Withheld	626.68	4.11	
Washington B	5.00			Expenses of Committee meeting (October			
Oregon A	10.00			12, 1948) Office Expenses	10.75		
Oregon B	10.00			Office Expenses Social Security Taxes paid	22.94		
Oregon Γ	10.00		72,50	3 Year Insurance Policy Residence Theft \$ 23.13			
w ashington 1	10.00	*	12.7	Fine Arts 25.00	48.13		
Alumnæ							
Bellingham, Wash	* 00			House Furnishings	139.60		
Boise, Idaho	2.50			Total Disbursements		\$2,4	79.56
Butte-Anaconda, Mont.	-1.2						
Calgary, Alberta, Canada	7.50			Balance May 17, 1949		\$3,4	45.61
Corvallis, Ore. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada	5.00			Represented by-			
Eugene, Ore				Cash in Bank		\$3,4	05.34
Eugene, Ore	5.00			Holt House Petty Cash Fund			40.27
Olympia, Wash. Portland, Ore. Pullman, Wash.	10.00				116	\$3.4	45.61
Pullman, Wash,						27,4	-7.91
Salem, Ore	15.00			Holt House has 3 twenty-five dollar War	Bonds !		25555
Spokane, Wash,	5.00			sion of the Grand Treasurer.	Donds 1	n p	03363-
Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash. Vancouver, B.C., Canada							
Vancouver, B.C., Canada				FRANCES S. T.	ROST. Tr	easu	rer

COMMITTEE ON LOAN FUND

To the Grand Council Pi Beta Phi Fraternity:

Herewith report of operations of the Loan Fund

for the year 1948-49.	
Loans made 1948-49	1,498.41
Contributions:	
Chapters	355.00 42.00
Outstanding Loans, Undergraduate	
	1,658.50
Loans due 1949	510.00
Loans due 1950	1,948.00
	2,750.00
Loans due 1952	271.41
Graduate Loans	800.00
_	

Detailed list of contributions from Chapters and Clubs is attached.

Sincerely,

JOSEPHINE MCCLEVERTY

CONTRIBUTIONS 1948-1949

Chapters		Wisconsin I'	15.00
Maine A	10.00	Colorado A	5.00
Vermont B	5.00	Colorado B	5.00
Connecticut A	5.00	Kansas A	10.00
Massachusetts B	5.00	Utah A	5.00
New York A	10.00	Texas A	75.00
West Virginia A	5.00	Texas B	5.00
	10.00	Montana A	5,00
Ohio B		Oregon A	10,00
Ohio A	10.00	Oregon B	5.00
Virginia A	10.00	Washington A	5.00
Missouri I	15.00	washington is title	3.00
Tennessee B	5.00	Total\$	255 00
Tennessee A	5.00	Iotal	00,00
Alabama A	15.00	Clubs	
Florida A	10.00		
Georgia A	15.00	Columbia, S.C\$	2.00
Illinois A	15.00	Grand Forks, N.D	5.00
Illinois B-A	10.00	San Fernando Valley	5.00
	15.00	San Mateo	25,00
Illinois Z	10.00	Tucson, Ariz	5.00
Illinois H	5.00		
Wisconsin A	10.00	Total\$	42.00
Wisconsin B	10.00		

COMMITTEE ON PUBLICITY

7,937.91

I T is with a great deal of pleasure that I have served since October in the capacity of national publicity chairman for such a splendid group of women banded together for such good philanthropic, social, and educational motives.

The work done by both active and alumnæ groups far exceeds the publicity which they have received, but it has been encouraging from publicity chairmen's letters to note the acceptance of their prepared stories by most newspapers with few exceptions

The committee has endeavored to remind the publicity chairman of the stories suitable for public consumption from day to day besides the usual stories concerning election of officers and Founders' Day celebrations. We feel that too many times honors received by the individuals are overlooked in favor of what might be termed "big stories." The work of the individual certainly reflects credit not only on herself but to her organization.

Publicity for the spring will naturally center around Founders' Day on April 28 and about the grad-uation activities of the Pi Phis on the university and college campuses. Further work for the spring will be a release, still formulative, concerning suggestions on items to be released during the summer and some information paragraphs on scholarships and fellowships offered by the Fraternity. Ideas from the individual chapters and alumnæ groups would give us a more comprehensive formula for preparing stories which they might find useful, Reports from more of them would also be appreciated.

ARROW REPORT FOR 1949

As another year of activities and study draws to a close for alumnæ and actives we can rest assured that it has been a progressive year for Pi Beta Phis who have made their Fraternity even more respected and admired by the good deeds and accomplishments which have been recorded in their respective newspapers through the endeavors of the individual publicity chairmen.

Of course the work would not be half so easy if it weren't for the wonderful inspirational material

that Pi Phi itself provides.

Interesting and certainly to be encouraged in the committee's belief is the desire of publicity chairmen heard from for information concerning the philanthropies with an emphasis on this type of news story along with the reporting of social news and honors.

The committee composed of Mrs. Orville Miller, Jr. and myself really didn't start functioning until the first of December following our appointment the

latter part of October.

Since then we have put out three letters to the active and alumnæ chairmen suggesting events which might be used for stories such as awards, scholarships, queenships, schools offices, social events, traditional celebrations, rushing activities visiting officers; alumnæ programs, sponsorship of benefits, participation with actives chapters nearby, personals and work with civic drives and events.

Another release recognized Carrie Chapman Catt and included material on Mrs. Catt to be used in

connection with Loyalty Day.

Other individual letters were answered or questions referred to proper sources. It is our hope that we were of some aid. The release on March 25 contained material on the Alumnæ Home, history of the

founding, Holt House and the Settlement School. It has been a privilege and a pleasure to work with Mrs. Miller and we are indeed grateful for the assistance and encouragement from Grand Council members and express our sincere thanks to Grace Scivally at Central Office.

Respectfully Submitted
MARILYN BEHYMER, Chairman Committee on Publicity, Pi Beta Phi Fraternity

COMMITTEE ON SCHOLARSHIP

THE AUTHOR of Finland's epic, "Kalevala," gives this picture, "After having created rhymes, the singer winds them into a ball just as we wind thread; then he puts the balls into his treasure chest from which they may be taken out later." In this annual report we are unwinding our balls of the scholarship records of the different chapters for the year 1947-1948.

Just as some of the rhymes were better than others, so are our individual averages. We are not very proud of the record made this year with only thirteen chapters in first place, and three in the lowest. In addition to the thirteen in first place, twenty-five others were in the upper third, making thirty-eight in all in the upper third; besides the three in last place there were seventeen others in the lower third, totaling twenty in the lower third. Three chapters were unable to get comparative averages; nine were first for one term, and four were lowest for one term.

Theta province is outstanding with the four Iowa chapters ranking first for the second year, and no chapter in the lower third. The average for all the provinces was 23.73—3.117 lower than that of the previous year. Four provinces were in the upper third -Epsilon, Theta, Kappa, and Lambda, and no province was in the lower third. Lambda is unique in that it has ranked in the upper third for the last four years. Our new goal—NO CHAPTER IN THE LOWER THIRD—EVERY CHAPTER IN THE UPPER THIRD.

Every Pi Phi was surely pleased to see the large number of honor girls whose pictures were published in the December Arrow. There were 190 winning honors this year as compared to 110 for 1946 and 183 for 1947. The change to the later date, October 1, when the report is due next year, will no doubt make it possible for all honors for the year to be included in our list.

Not all of the chapters have applied to date for the achievement certificate, but it is to be hoped that before college closes, all chapters will have

presented this award.

We have unwound the threads of our ball, but once again, the national chairman wishes to express her appreciation to those who have helped in this most important phase of the college girl's lifethe province presidents, scholarship supervisors. Maryjane Barksdale, Gladys Scivally, Lucile Carson, and Miss Onken-all who have contributed so willingly to make our scholarship supervision more effective. Respectfully submitted,

HARRIET R. JOHNSTONE

Chapters First for Year 1947-1948-13 Nova Scotia A Ohio Z Kansas A Iowa Z Iowa T Missouri I Colorado B Oklahoma B Oregon Γ Tennessee Γ Wisconsin B Iowa A Iowa B

Chapters First for One Term of the Year-9 Kentucky A Vermont B Virginia Γ Michigan A Indiana Γ Texas B Oregon A (two terms) Missouri B

Other Chapters in the Upper Third-25 Connecticut A Vermont A Ohio B

Maryland B	Illinois Z
D.C. A	North Dakota A
South Carolina A	Nebraska B
Michigan Γ	Kansas B
Indiana B	Arkansas A
Missouri A	Texas B
Missouri B	Louisiana A
Kentucky A	Alberta A
Florida B	Washington A
Illinois H	Oregon A
Illinois B-A	

Chapters Lowest-3 Maryland A Idaho A Illinois A

Other Chapters in the Lower Third-17 Georgia A Wisconsin A Massachusetts B New York A New York Γ New York Δ Wisconsin I South Dakota A Wyoming A Pennsylvania I' Utah A California I North Carolina A Indiana Δ New Mexico A Tennessee B

Chapters with No Grade Available-3 Florida I Illinois O Illinois E

Chapters Chapters	in	the	U	pper	T	hir	d		è			ě.	i	ċ				٠.						38
Chapters	in	the	Mi	ddle	T	hir	d	,															6	32
Chapters	in	the	Lo	wer	T	hir	1 b																d	20
Chapters	WI	th I	No	Grad	de					è.														3
Total			Sec. 1						1	ä		a			i.	ε	3		96	В	а	EC.	93	93

NOTE—These averages may not agree exactly with those of the province presidents or supervisors for Form #3 does not state that all averages for the year are desired. These are the final figures after much correspondence with the chapters to get them.

Chapters and Their Comparative Averages for Year 1947-1948—Grade 40.0

	~ ~ ~ ~	-> -1 -1 -10	01446 10.0
Nova Scotia A			Iowa T
Ohio Z			Iowa Z
Missouri I			Colorado B
Tennessee I			Kansas A
Wisconsin B			Oklahoma B
Iowa A			Oregon I
Lowes D			

Upper Third-40.0-26.667 (25) | Section | Sect

Middle Third-26.667-13.334	
Ohio Δ	6
Washington B	5
Montana A 24 74	A
California A	2
Texas A 24 23	1

Missouri A ...

Louisiana B 24,001 Virginia A 23,671 Indiana E 23,333 Alabama A 23,126 Oregon B 23,112 Tennessee A 22,978 Virginia Γ 22,499 Manitoba A 21,625 Ontario B 21,538	Tennessee B
North Carolina B 21,213 Ontario A 21,157 Indiana Γ 20,901 Missouri A 20,155 Pennsylvania B 20,031	Maryland A Illinois A Idaho A
Michigan A 20.0 Minnesota A 20.0 Nevada A 18.583 Ohio E 18.127 Arizona A 17.988 Florida A 17.20 Michigan B 16.216 Ohio A 15.211	No Grade Florida Γ Illinois Ε Illinois Θ Averages for the Different Chapter Provinces—1947-1948
California B	Alpha East 23.332 Alpha West 15.891 Beta 23.976 Gamma 22.06 Delta 20.714
North Carolina A 12.80	Epsilon 29,966 Zeta 20,291 Eta 21,747 *Theta 33,854 Iota 23,105 *Kappa 31,495 *Lambda 28,233 Mu 15,827 TOTAL 23,73

COMMITTEE ON TRANSFERS

HIS YEAR I wrote all the chapters in the Fall ex-This year I wrote all the chapters in the ran explaining to them about the status of transfers and the rules for affiliation and asking them to report to me the names of all transfers as well as all other undergraduates who did not return as actives. As soon as this information had been compiled, I sent form letters as follows: to the transfers explaining their present status; to the advisory committee members of all chapters telling them the names of any transfers

reported and explaining their responsibility toward these girls; to the chapters giving them what further information they needed; and to the non-returning undergraduates urging them to join alumnæ clubs where possible. Reports were received from 90 chapters indicating 90 transfers and 455 non-returning undergraduates.

KATHERINE HOSMER

COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY STUDY AND EXAMINATION

			Acti	VE CHAPTER EXAMINA	TION		
Province		Chapters	Actives	No. Examined	Excused	Failed to Take	Prov. Average
Alpha East Alpha West Beta Gamma Delta Epsilon Zeta Eta Theta Iota Kappa Lambda Mu	•	7 5 8 8 8 7 7 5 9 7 8 7 9 6	241 192 312 285 330 181 124 340 184 ⁴ 303 274 314 ⁷	2191 164 ² 309 217 295 178 ⁸ 118 ⁴ 337 169 ⁶ 291 ⁶ 274 235	22 27 2 68 35 3 5 3 15 12 0 49	0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	91.50 94.80 96.54 97.50 98.70 93.77 90.10 99.20 99.10 ⁴ 97.66 95.69 97.60
		94	3275	2997	245	33	

^{1 16} failed to pass

² failed to pass
2 failed to pass
3 failed to pass
3 failed to pass
4 failed to pass
4 failed to pass
4 Manitoba Alpha had not sent in exams at time of report.
5 for these took pledge exam this year.

PRE-INITIATION EXAMINATION

Province	Number Examined	Re-examined	Province Average
Alpha East	109	0	98.02
Alpha West	72	0	99.20
Beta	167	0	99.27
Gamma	147	0	98.30
Delta	191	0	99.60
Epsilon	149	0	99.02
Zeta	108	0	97.54
Eta	188	0	100.00
Eta Theta	143	0	99.40
Iota	195	0	99.03
Kappa	193	31	98.50
Lambda	2132	0	99.14
Mu	101	0	97.85
		~	
	1976	3	

¹ Failed last year and re-examined this year.
² Includes both actives and pledges, Washington Gamma.

With grateful appreciation for the splendid cooperation of each committee member, this report is,

Respectfully submitted,
FLORENCE HUNT ISERT

COMMITTEE ON SOCIAL EXCHANGE

ROM Alpha East to Mu the Social Exchange reports have come in with interesting sidelights on the activities of our active chapters as they entertain rushees, celebrate Founders' Day, decorate for Homecoming, or introduce their new pledges at a formal dance. All these accounts have been graded by the Province Officers, the choice material sent on to the National chairman and the results published by Central Office for the use of all Pi Phis, wherever they may be.

The cooperation of province officers and active chapter social exchange chairmen has been of high caliber this year, and the statistics prove that we are all aware of the delight in exchanging clever ideas with our Pi Phi sisters throughout the land.

There are sixty-six (66) chapters receiving a perfect grade of ten (10) for cooperation. Only three chapters failed to report at all and only twenty-five (25) turned in one report out of the two due. Thus the committee heard from ninety-one (91) active groups this year as against eighty-six (86) last year.

Theta Province tops the list for 100% cooperation and runners up are Beta Province, Delta Province and Iota Province.

With grades based on neatness of the report, promptness, and content, and using ten (10) as a perfect grade, we are proud to list the following chapters as receiving ten (10): Connecticut Alpha, Pennsylvania Gamma, Ohio Delta, Ohio Epsilon, D.C. Alpha, Virginia Alpha, Wisconsin Beta, Illinois Zeta, Nebraska Beta, Kansas Alpha, Kansas Beta, Oklahoma Beta, Washington Alpha, Nevada Alpha, Ohio Alpha, Virginia Gamma, Indiana Delta, Indiana Epsilon, Missouri Beta and Alabama Alpha.

The chapter winning the Social Exchange award for cooperation is Kansas Alpha. Their Fall 1948 Rush report was beautifully executed by Louise Lambert and was so attractive the Iota Province chairman sent it to the national chairman in its entirety. The award for originality and usable material goes to Illinois Zeta. Their description of the formal dance included drawings of their decorations, using the Grecian theme, and it was itemized so completely any chapter could duplicate the preparations. Their songs came written on music scores. It was a pleasure to read such a perfect account of the year's activities. The chairman was Sheila McMurray.

The Exchange Hall of Fame includes the names of several chapters who sent in unusually clever ideas. Illinois Alpha stands high because of her original program for an informal barn party. Notable in the account were the headings used on the program for the evening, such as "Henhouse Buffet" for the refreshments. Indiana Delta deserves a niche in the Hall for their "Arabian Night" party theme with clever and unusual decor. Tennessee Alpha sent in a "Candyland Party" plan that made our mouths water. Oklahoma Beta reported an extremely original political convention rush party. South Dakota Alpha won first prize at their college for their unusual float for Homecoming, using the theme "I, South Dakota, Take Thee, Morningside," with the scene laid as for a wedding. Iowa Alpha deserves a laurel wreath for the parodies written on three songs from "Oklahoma" and a novel Sock Hop informal given by their pledges.

Illinois Theta and Wisconsin Beta are high on the grade list for originality and completeness of their reports. Both were beautifully illustrated and showed an infinite amount of time and trouble taken by Phyllis Ellis and Donna Meuret.

It is with deep appreciation that the members and the chairman of this committee acknowledge the unfailing help of Miss Onken and the members of Grand Council.

Respectfully submitted, VIRGINIA D. MCMAHAN

COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY MUSIC

AFTER several years of fine and cooperative service, the Committee was sorry to lose one of its members, Winifred Hossack, who for personal reasons felt that she could no longer carry the responsibility. The Committee would like to extend to her its thanks for all she did to serve Pi Beta Phi, and for her continued interest and help in furthering the place of music in the Fraternity.

In her place the Grand President appointed Marilyn Wiegner Brandon, who will be remembered for

a Includes both actives and pledges, Washington Gamma.

her outstanding work as leader of the 1946 Convention music. We welcome her to the Committee, and know that her enthusiasm, ability and willingness will be great assets in our combined efforts.

The Committee reports that it has maintained its normal correspondence with individuals with regard to Pi Phi music matters. It wishes to thank the many Pi Phis and chapters who have expressed approval of the new Song Book, and hopes that the book will continue to be of usefulness in bringing our many lovely Pi Phi songs to Pi Phis everywhere.

Through the assistance and cooperation of the Arrow Editor, Adèle Taylor Alford, the Committee was able to present to the Fraternity arrangements of the six 1948 Convention songs in the March Arrow. Many chapters reported they were planning to use the new songs in spring contest competition.

In the fall the Committee will immediately begin work on the song contest for the 1950 Convention, and hopes that it will be able to give Convention the same high standard of musical composition that has been maintained in the past. It wishes to thank Grand Council and all the individual Pi Phis who have been helpful and cooperative in the musical work of the Fraternity, and extends to Pi Phis everywhere good wishes and kind regards.

Respectfully submitted, DOROTHY VALE DURAND

COMMITTEE ON CHAPERONS

This committee reports a splendid year, splendid because it started off with each Corresponding Secretary sending in her Chaperon cards and data so very promptly. Only when supplies were late were there any tardy reports. For this promptness I am grateful, so I say "Thank you, Chapter Corresponding Secretaries.

This year we welcomed sixteen new chaperones, one a member of Pi Beta Phi, all highly qualified to serve with efficiency as well as with charm and grace as hostesses in our chapter houses. One chaperon wrote "What a challenge and what an inspiration to work with these wonderful Pi Beta Phis." All who have written have expressed appreciation for the printed bulletins and rules provided by Grand Council as well as for Maria Leonard's book, "The Chaperon And Housemother."

Again this summer we are having conferences for

Housemothers at both Purdue University and at Oregon State University and an added one at Louisiana State University, and again Grand Council is paying the tuition of any Pi Beta Phi chaperon who wishes to attend any of these worth-while conferences.

This committee thanks Grand Council for its splendid cooperation and support. It has been a joy to work with the fraternity officers, with the chapter corresponding secretaries and the chaperones.

For the informative, inspiring and helpful letters from our Grand President and Grand Vice President, to Province Presidents and Province Vice Presidents and to Central Office for its assistance at all times, I wish to express my appreciation.

Respectfully submitted,

LEILA GRAY CLIFTON

EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL FUND COMMITTEE

To date nine gifts have been made. Each has given very special comfort. This committee finds it difficult to determine who is most pleased, the surprised recipient or the several friendly sponsors who desired a gift for a loved member of Pi Beta Phi. Particularly wonderful are the letters from those who have been cheered and encouraged. Priceless, too, are the expressions of renewed loyalty and pride which come from the grateful sponsors who, without exception, seem deeply moved by this tangible evidence of Pi Beta Phi's deep interest and affection. It is the belief of this committee that this fund

will increase substantially as delighted members experience the satisfaction which comes through this practical method of endearing our members to one another. As our opportunities grow and our re-cipients increase, it is is quite possible that this Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund will forge the strongest link in the friendship chain of Pi Beta Phi. Being remembered awakens tender memories and

brings gladness. Remembering strengthens Pi Beta Phi.

This committee receives requests, All considerations are confidential. Grand Council is notified before gifts are made through the Grand Treasurer. The source of this fund is the interest paid by Chapters upon loans from the fifty thousand dollar endowment which was set aside at the 1946 Convention.

An informatory letter was sent to all National Officers, Alumnæ Clubs and Chapters. Again contact

will be made in September.

So new is this endeavor that there is need for a wider understanding within our membership. committee requests your cooperation in finding those members who need our sustaining hand.

This committee appreciates deeply your trust and confidence and assures you that a sincere effort is being made to carry out your wishes. No service could be more delightful or bring greater satisfac-

ETHEL HOGAN COPP

CHAIRMAN ALUMNÆ HOME COMMITTEE

AT THE Alumnæ session of the 1948 Convention the report of the Chairman of the Committee on Home for Pi Phis was read and accepted and the Alumnæ session went on record as enthusiastically endorsing the idea of a Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ Home. At this session, the Convention empowered the two alumnæ clubs of Cleveland, Ohio to set up a committee of five to be the governing body of this committee. Convention then authorized this Executive Committee to "conduct an interim campaign for funds, with the intention expressed that \$250,000.00 shall be the minimum amount to be available before any home is started. The Executive Committee shall report to the Alumnæ session of the next Convention the amount raised, and shall present definite plans for the building, maintenance and functioning regulations of the house."

Members of the Executive Committee chosen by the two Cleveland clubs were Mrs. M. L. Adams, Mrs. T. G. Johnston, Mrs. R. T. Kelsey, Mrs. E. J. Rupert, and chairman, Mrs. A. E. Gibson. An affiliated committee of forty was chosen from among the various alumnæ

clubs of the country.

The Executive Committee has two tasks,—(1) to raise money; (2) to make plans to be submitted to

the next Convention. Any plans made now must first be approved by the Convention, so it is of no use to present them at this time. Hence the Committee has put forth its efforts toward raising money. With some help from a few of our members in the advertising business in Chicago and Dallas, with hard work on our own part and with the approval of Grand Council, we have prepared a brochure setting forth the purpose of the campaign and soliciting contributions to the fund. This was mailed to the entire alumnæ membership, and may I say here that the Alumnæ clubs of Cleveland took over the entire task of assembling, addressing, stamping and mailing the 37,000 copies sent out.

Correspondence has been carried on with the members of the Committee of Forty and many valuable ideas

have come in.

We are deeply grateful to Miss Onken and Mrs. Wild for their suggestions and co-operation. We shall try to have plans ready to submit at the next Convention which shall be practical and satisfactory.

Respectfully submitted

MARY W. GIBSON, Chairman



Reports of Province Presidents

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

I T HAS been a great inspiration and privilege to be president this year for Alpha Province West. My visits to the five active chapters in this province were made in February of this year, and the personal contacts with the members of the chapters were a joy to me—and I hope of some help to them. I found all of my chapters very co-operative and entirely charming. They all own their own houses. Two of the groups, New York Δ and New York Γ, hope to build new fraternity houses in the near future. Definite plans have started recently for the Gamma girls and I hope that their house will materialize now, in the not too distant future. They both need the new buildings very definitely.

All of the chapters are doing their utmost to improve their scholarship. They all have rules of study quiet and plans made for help for the weaker students. The scholarship ratings cannot be included in this report as some of the ratings will not be announced until some time in the future, All but one chapter have a quota system-and all have been extremely fortunate in rushing and new initiates.

Each group has been well aware of the Pi Beta Phi charities, and projects, and each has budgeted

this year for contributions to them.

The Amy B. Onken Award went this year to Virginia Steele of New York Δ. Virginia has been outstanding in her chapter, and also on the Cornell campus. She has also worked her way through college to a great degree. The other nominations for that honor from this province were—New York I, Jean Rugen; New York A, Grace Dilts; Ontario A, Mary Alice Burton; Ontario B, Beverly Brough. Each girl had contributed so much to her college and her fra-ternity that she was so honored by her chapter—and from her fraternity she is tendered our gratitude.

I should like to express appreciation to each of the five chaperones in the Pi Beta Phi houses in this province. Each has a great responsibility, and each has shown a deep appreciation of her duties and

obligations. The girls this year have done quite a great amount of work on decorating their houses. One group attempted to re-decorate their hall to the extent of tearing out the old fireplace and painting and papering. They did a very efficient job all alone, until they got to the ceiling part—then some frater-nity boys were called on for help. All helpers of course had to be tall!

The chapters all have very interested and good Alumnæ Advisory Boards—and all of them but two have Mothers' Clubs. Those two have already taken steps to assemble a Mothers' Club, which I hope will be fully organized by Fall. Each chapter but one is fully aware of social obliga-

tions-and they make plans each year to entertain their faculty at regular intervals. The one chapter which has been a bit lax on this, has made plans now to rectify the condition. It is most important that the University personnel think well of all of our groups. And it is also a most important point on rushing, that the social prestige be kept up adequately.

During my talks with each Dean, I was delighted to hear the excellent opinion that she had of our girls on her individual campus. No complaints at allwhich seems to me to be somewhat of a record.

The extra-curricular activities of the actives have been most outstanding on most of the campuses. They have more than their share of honors in executive positions, athletics, and scholarship. Also as editors, managers, and writers for the campus publications. and as actresses, and leads in the various dramatics. Pi Phis in Canada have been very prominent in the Annual Swimming Pageant, and as captains of Women's Ski Teams.

To Miss Onken, members of Grand Council, and National Committee Chairman who have given guidance and helpful assistance during this year, I wish to express my deep appreciation and my gratitude. Respectfully submitted,

EVELYN M. SLIFER

BETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

I N REVIEWING my first year as Province President, I want to begin by commending the chapters for their splendid co-operation with me, and the manner in which they carried out their responsibilities as Pi Phis. Their thoughtfulness and friendliness during my visits left me with a deep feeling of gratitude to them and a deeper appreciation of the meaning of Pi Beta Phi. It was a privilege to serve the Fra-ternity, and a particularly happy experience to work with the eight chapters in Beta Province.

Of interest to every Pi Phi is the Amy B. Onken Award. The decision for a winner was difficult to reach, for all nominees were truly outstanding girls. Patricia Rector of Ohio B won the Province Award. The other girls honored by their Chapters were: Genevieve Powle, Pennsylvania Β; Bernice Somers, Pennsylvania Γ; Virginia Fisher, Ohio Δ; Claire Woehling, Ohio A; Majorie Garrett, Ohio Epsilon; and, Ellen Dennison, Ohio Z.

The results of rushing were reported as most satisfactory with a total of one hundred sixty-eight new pledges. One hundred and ten of these have been initiated into six of the chapters. Two chapters have not yet held initiation; Ohio E has second se-mester rushing and Ohio Z has a college ruling which delays initiation until fall.

Scholarship supervision was most efficiently directed by Ellen Nicoden and much credit is due her for Chapter scholastic development. Each chapter made definite plans for improvement and five of them were really victorious. Ohio A and Ohio Δ placed first on campus. Ohio B and Ohio Z ranked second, and Ohio E placed third, but first among national

Panhellenic relations were friendly and Pi Phis were uniting in their efforts to promote a stronger Panhellenic organization on campus, and an increasing interest in this was apparent throughout the Province among all Greeks, Many Deans complimented individual Pi Phis about their outstanding work in Panhellenic, and spoke most favorably about Pi Phi's prominent place in all campus and college activity.

Only three chapters maintain houses in this Province. They are extremely attractive in decoration and

well-kept. The other five had suites or small apartments and are equally as pleasant. The important quality was that the general atmosphere within all chapters was one of genuine hospitality, culture and warm friendliness.

The financial condition of the chapters is sound, and contributions have been made to the Settlement School, The Holt House, the Scholarship Fund, the Magazine Agency and three to Save The Children Fund. Ohio A pledges and actives deserve special recognition for their donation of \$161.64 to the Settlement School.

All alumnæ advisory boards were working closely with the active chapters and I was pleased with the good relationship between them and the respect held

for one another.

Beta Province Chapters have served their various campuses extremely well in all kind of activities, and I am proud to report many honors and achievements for this year, although space forbids complete list-

Ohio Alpha is represented in seven honoraries and four are on the Dean's list; treasurer of A Λ Δ: president, vice-president, secretary and treasurer of the Childhood Education Club; president of Panhellenic Council; treasurer of Women's League.

Ohio B has president and treasurer of Δ Λ Δ : two W.S.G.A. sophomore secretaries and two class representatives; vice-president of Home Ec Club; treasurer of Red Cross; one member of Arts honorary; four MIRRORS; two Mortar Boards; three CHIMES; five Freshman MIRRORS; two & B K's.

Ohio A has president of Panhellenic; treasurer of W.S.G.A.; president of Austin Hall; president of Monnett Dorm; managing editor of Le Bijou; president of W.R.A.; twelve on Dean's list; two in & B K; president and secretary of Mortar Board; vice-president of Student Body.

Ohio E has president of W.A.A. and Y.W.C.A.; vice-president and two members of Chimes; five PEPPERS; three A & I; the Chapter won the Basket-

ball Trophy.

Ohio Z has president of Panhellenic Council: president of Inter-residence Council; president of Mortar Board and four members; four Cwens; president and vice-president of Y.W.C.A.; vice-president and secretary-treasurer of Women's League; president of Liberal-Arts; and three new members of Mortar Board.

Pennsylvania B has members in three honoraries; two Mortar Boards; two girls in Senior House; six officers in W.S.G.; president of Senate; three new girls in Honor House; president and secretary of

Educational Honorary.

Pennsylvania I has secretary-treasurer of W.A.A. Council; one Cheerleader; four in Wheel and Chain, including president and secretary of Wheel and

Chain. The Chapter won the Silver Sing Cup.
West Virginia A has five on Y.W.C.A. cabinet;
one in Chimes; vice-president of Panhellenic Coun-

cil; head sponsor in R.O.T.C.

A few individuals have received national honors worthy of recognition: Joyce Boyher, Ohio Δ, placed first in a State Oratory Contest, and second in the National one held in Chicago; Mary Longnecker, Ohio A, placed second in this same State Oratory Contest; Ruth Gogel, Ohio E, is listed in Who's Who; Genevieve Fowle, Pennsylvania B, was also named for Who's Who, and received a Danforth Fellowship. one of twelve students in the United States.

It was a great pleasure as Province President to attend the Ohio State Day in Columbus, May 14, Marianne Wild, Grand Vice-President, gave a most inspirational message at the luncheon. It was interesting to see the two hundred and fifty Π Φ's, alumnæ and actives, participate in the discussion groups and

heartily enjoy a complete II & function.

May I take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the members of Grand Council for their patience, cooperation, and guidance during my first year as a province officer, and to Edith Rankin for her kindness and sincere encouragement.

Respectfully submitted,

JEAN H. GUSTKEY

GAMMA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

UE To illness, Doris Nash resigned as Gamma Province President shortly before Christmas. I was appointed by Miss Onken to fill her position and was able to start my work in early January. Needless to say, there have been unavoidable omissions due to Doris's sickness and to my taking over in the middle of the college year when everything was already under way.

Neither Doris nor I was able to make any official visits to the chapters in the province though I have seen D.C. A, Maryland A, Maryland B, and some members of Virginia I informally. We were especially fortunate, however, to have Clara Sipherd as the Grand Council visitor during the spring term. Her wide experience and her previous work as a Province President plus her friendliness and charm made her visits most worthwhile for the chapters.

In scholarship, the province has not done nearly so well as it could and should have. According to the last reports available, Maryland A ranks last; Maryland B, 2nd; D.C. A, 5th; Virginia A, 6th; Virginia Γ, 5th; North Carolina A, 2nd; North Carolina B, 12th; and South Carolina A, 4th.

Rushing was quite successful in every chapter. The descriptions of parties were good and gave evidence

of real effort and ingenuity. My impression is that the most successful ones are those that are given year after year. Repetition means improvement of details and a knowledge of just how the party will go which leaves the girls free to concentrate on the rushees.

Each chapter has a competent financial advisor who has helped make a budget and stay within its limits. North Carolina A was able to buy the house they have been living in for some time. Maryland B, also, has bought a house which the girls expect to have ready for fall rushing. South Carolina A will turn their house back to the university as a dormitory but will continue to live there and to keep their chapter room there.

All chapters contributed to each of the three II 4 funds. In magazine commissions, Maryland B placed 1st and North Carolina B, 8th among all the chapters in the country. In addition each chapter made other charitable contributions. Maryland A sent a package to Care and did Welfare Home volunteer work. Maryland B contributed to the W.S.S.F. Drive and to Red Cross. D.C. A participated in all campus charity drives. Virginia A donated to the March of Dimes and Y.W.C.A. Virginia I gave to the Religious Fund, the Fund for Crippled Children, and Red Cross. North Carolina A aided all campus drives, helped support an orphan through Panhellenic, and adopted two chil-dren for Christmas. North Carolina B contributed to the Community Service Project, the Foster Parent Plan, the Campus Chest Fund, and did volunteer work in the Day Nursery and in a hospital. Last, but far from least, South Carolina A donated \$700 from the Powder Bowl Game with the Tri Delts to the Carolina Orphans' Home, participated in a song and stunt night for the W.S.S.F. Drive, and gave a Christmas party for the orphans at the Orphans'

Mary Brinkman, North Carolina B, is the winner of the Amy B. Onken award. She has been the chapter president there this year and had an exceptional record in every way. Other candidates were: Amy Cantwell, Maryland B; Betty Ann Paisley, D.C. A; Elizabeth Ann Gills, Virginia A; Marilyn Allenbaugh, Virginia Γ; Sally Woodhull, North Carolina A;

and Helen Harbin, South Carolina A.

Founders' Day was celebrated in Washington by Maryland B, D.C. A, and Virginia P. The inclusion of Virginia I was especially nice since it was the first opportunity for the three groups to meet at any sort of Π Φ function. North Carolina A and North Carolina B were together at Chapel Hill. Virginia A had its Founders' Day Ceremony on April 28 with a banquet the following Sunday. South Carolina A planned a program with the alumnæ nearby; and Maryland A gave a dinner with Dr. Mary Harris, a Golden Arrow II Ф, as speaker.

The extra-curricular activity record in Gamma Province is most exceptionally good; and it is obvious that Π Φ 's are taking an active part in campus life. A partial list of activities and honors follows:

Maryland A: hall presidents, 2; Students' Organization, 4; Athletic Board, 3 plus managers of 4 sports; Masks and Faces, 7; Glee Club, 8.

Maryland B: Mortar Board, 2; Who's Who, 1;

A K Δ, president; National Collegiate Players, 1; Secretary of Women's League; vice-president of Pan-

hellenic Council; Chairman of May Day.

D.C. A: Mortar Board, president; Tassels, secre-tary and treasurer; Who's Who, 1; Student Council Committees 12, including Director of Homecoming and Director of Charity Drives; Big Sisters, secre-

Virginia A: W.S.G.A., vice-president and national co-ordinator; president of Athletic Association; Y.W.C.A. president; presidents of junior and senior

Virginia Γ: Mortar Board, vice-president; X Δ Φ, 4 including treasurer; President's Aide; Chairman of Panhellenic Workshop: Homecoming Queen; Red Cross President; secretary of Student Assembly. North Carolina A: Valkyries, 5 including president and secretary; Φ B K, 1; X Δ Φ, 4 including

president and secretary; Student Council, 2 includ-ing secretary; Honor Council, 4; president of Women's Athletic Association; Queen of Beauty Court.

North Carolina B: W.S.G.A., 3; House Council, 13; class officers, 3; Panhellenic Council 3 including president; Bench and Bar president; White Duchy, 1; Φ K Δ, 2 including vice-president; Dean's List, 10;

Sandals, 2 including vice-president.

South Carolina A: A K Γ, 3; president of Δ 0; editor of "The Gamecock"; editor of annual; Y.W.C.A., 4 in cabinet and vice-president of sophomore Y.; Student Council, 2 including secretary; Honor Board, 2; 1st place for chapter in Homecoming decora-

In closing, may I say how much I have enjoyed the work with the chapters of Gamma Province these last few months and how sincerely I appreciate the efforts of every one who has helped me, particularly Miss Onken and Clara Sipherd. I have set the conference of chapter presidents for September 7 and 8, and I expect to make my chapter visits next October. I hope for successful progress for all groups next year as we prepare for convention in 1950,

Respectfully submitted,

BETTY STOVALL KING

DELTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

It is a pleasure to review the activities and achievements of the eight chapters of Delta Province. This past year has brought many fine accomplishments which can, more or less, be measured in a material way; but even more important than that, is the splendid attitude of cooperation and the increased feeling of loyalty to, and interest in, the national scope of Pi Beta Phi.

As before our emphasis has been on scholarship, and we are happy to report that both Michigan A and Indiana I placed first on their campuses the second semester of 1947-48, and again the first se-mester of this year. Some of the chapters failed to come up to expectations, but all are conscious of their responsibilities and are working hard to improve their rank. We have had several girls elected to scholastic honoraries, which are as follows: Michigan A has three members of E A A, Michigan B, one Φ K Φ and one Λ Λ Δ ; and Michigan Γ , one Φ K Φ and one Tower Guard (Sophomore); Indiana Λ has two members of A (equivalent to P B K; Indiana B has two Φ B Ks and one A Λ Δ ; Indiana Λ , one A Λ Δ ; Indiana Δ , one A Λ Δ ; and Indiana E, two Φ B K's and one A Λ Δ .

The chapters have made an outstanding record in extra-curricular activities, but only the most important

ones can be mentioned in this report but the list of activities from each chapter was long. Michigan A had the exchange editor, headline editor of The Collegian; president of Woman's Council; W.A.A.— 1; College Union-1 member of the governing board; Panhellenic secretary; Lamplighters (equivalent to Mortar Board)—1; Great Greeks of America—3; Mardi Gras cup for best skit.

Michigan B: Mortar Board-2; Scroll-4; Wyvern 2; Σ A I-1; Z Φ E-3 including secretary; Panhellenic president; J-Hop General Chairman; secretary Judiciary Council; chairman League publicity committee; third place on campus in activity par-

ticipation.

Michigan Γ: Mortar Board-1; θ A Φ-2 including secretary; Φ A Θ-1; president, secretary and treasurer of dormitories; Y.W.C.A. secretary; Spartan Women's League-5; Panhellenic secretary; winner Spartan Women's League award to outstanding senior.

Indiana A: Gold Quill (similar to Mortar Board) —2; A 2, (equivalent to Φ B K); Laurels (sophomore)—4; Θ Σ Φ—3; Φ A Θ—2; Student Council vice president; dormitory president; Who's Who—2; W.A.A. president and 17 members; May Queen; Junior Prom Queen.

Indiana B: Mortar Board-2; Pleiades (junior)-

4; Tophets (sophomores)—4; Θ Σ Φ—1; Θ Σ Φ award to outstanding senior in journalism; Mortar Board Recognition—4; Sweetheart Sigma Chi; Rose of Delta Sigma Pi; A.W.S. president; Student Senate—1;

W.R.A.—7.

Indiana Γ: Scarlet Quill (equivalent to Mortar Board)—1; Chimes (junior)—4; Spurs—11; Θ Σ Φ —3 and winner of award to outstanding sophomore woman in journalism; M Φ E—2; Student Council president; Y.W.C.A.; A.W.S. secretary, and 2 on Council; K Δ II—2; Freshman Rose Queen; first place Spring Sing; honorable mention for service to the University.

Indiana A: Mortar Board—1; Gold Peppers (junior)—6; Student Council—3; A.W.S.—1; Student Union—5; W.A.A.—5; May Queen attendant; second

place University Sing.

Indiana E: Mortar Board—2; M Φ E—2 including secretary; Θ Σ Φ—4 including treasurer; A K Δ—1; A.W.S. treasurer; Y.W.C.A. secretary, 6 Cabinet members and 23 active; Panhellenic secretary-treas-

urer.

The housing situation remained the same this year, but next year will see some changes. Michigan I will occupy a large home bought this spring by the house corporation and Indiana E members are hoping to see a new house going up on the site of the present house. Both these chapters have had inadequate houses and the entire province is wishing them the best of luck in these anticipated changes for the better. Michigan A lives in a college-owned home and Indiana A occupies a suite of four rooms in the girls' dormitory. All other chapters own their own homes which are adequate as to size and equipment. All the chapter homes have had extensive redecorating done during the past year and are most attractive and pleasing to the eye.

The Delta Province Amy Burnham Onken Award went this year to Marjorie Brink, Indiana B, and it was a pleasure to present this award in person at the Indiana State Founders' Day Luncheon. The nominees from the other chapters were as follows: Michigan A, Lou Ann Kelley; Michigan B, Mary Louise Stierer; Michigan F, Frances Gilpin; Indiana A, Mary Catherine Brewer; Indiana F, Patricia Bond; Indiana A, Mary K. Caudell; Indiana E, Joie Lobintz. The Indiana Cup, which goes to the outstanding chap-

ter in the state, was won by Indiana Γ.

For the first time the Michigan II Φ 's met in East Lansing for a State Founders' Day celebration. A tour of the Michigan State campus was arranged preceding the luncheon in the Union Building and later that afternoon the Michigan I' girls entertained all the visiting II Φ 's at a tea in the chapter house. Marianne Reid Wild, Grand Vice President, was the speaker at the luncheon, and as always gave an interesting and informative talk. About 275 II Φ 's enjoyed the day and if their enthusiasm is any indication, this celebration will become an annual affair.

The Indiana State Luncheon established a record in attendance for there were approximately 575 Pi Phis present. The highlight of the day was the presentation of a check for \$1,000 to Indiana E by Virginia Gall, president of the Indianapolis Junior Alumnæ Group. As the actives in the province know, their province president believes in the value of state meetings, for they furnish an opportunity for alumnæ and actives to become better acquainted and provide a new stimulus and enthusiasm for the work of the Fraternity.

All the chapters reported successful rushing seasons and as a result the province has many new fine II \$\Phi\$'s. Hillsdale, Franklin, Butler and DePauw rush the first semester, while Michigan, Michigan State, Indiana and Purdue have rushing deferred until the second semester. Hillsdale is the only campus which does not have some kind of quota system in effect.

Delta Province chapters are proud to report that they are 100 per cent in their support of the Fraternity Projects. Contributions totaled \$150 for the Settlement School, \$75 for Holt House, and \$85 for the Scholarship Fund. In addition, the three Michigan chapters contributed \$36 each to the Save the Children Federation for the sponsorship of one child, and Indiana A sent \$10 to the same fund.

The Deans of Women in the province were most complimentary to our chapters and this is gratifying, for it proves that the girls are meeting their responsi-

bilities to college administrations.

The advisory boards in the province deserve praise for their fine work with the chapters. The help given by these loyal alumnæ has been a great contribution to the success of the chapters and we wish to express our appreciation for their service to Pi Beta Phi.

One of the highlights of the year was the opportunity given this officer to participate in rushing activities at the University of Alabama in establishing the colonizing group Pi Phi Beta. It was an experience which will be remembered with a great deal of pleasure, for not only did it point out again the realization of Pi Beta Phi's standing in the fraternity world, but it afforded an opportunity to make new friends, and to enjoy the companionship of the many fine alumnæ and actives who were present for the strenuous activities of an exciting week in Tuscaloosa.

It was a pleasure to attend initiation ceremonies at Indiana Gamma and Epsilon, informal pledging at Epsilon, the dinner given by the Franklin Alumnæ club honoring the new pledges of Indiana A, the faculty tea given by Indiana B, and to have many in-

formal visits with the Indiana I girls.

To all the actives and the alumnæ in the province who have given their whole-hearted cooperation and have shown their expression of friendship, the province president wishes to extend her sincere thanks and appreciation. To the members of Grand Council who have given advice and suggestions as well as sympathetic understanding we are most grateful.

Respectfully submitted, HELEN ANDERSON LEWIS

EPSILON PROVINCE PRESIDENT

EPSILON Province for the year 1948-49 has served under the leadership of three different presidents. Although my term of office has been only of four months' duration, it is with both pleasure and regret that I review the work of the last year; pleasure, because it has been a wonderful experience working with such chapters; and regret, that because of illness

I shall not be able to carry on next year as supervisor of this interesting work. I'm certain, however, that my successor, Mrs. Dudley Brandom, Missouri A, of Gallatin, Missouri, will find the province showing constant improvement and development along every line. This has for the most part been a very good year for the seven chapters.

Although chapter visits were made to only four of the seven in the province, the work done in the remaining three was gleaned from their comprehensive letters and their full and detailed reports. I feel sure, however, they did miss the personal contact between the province officer and themselvs, but perhaps they will be favored with first choice of visits in the Fall.

All of the chapters had large pledge classes and initiated a high percentage of them. Two of them reported their pledges in first place and one in second place on their campuses for the Fall-Winter term. Two of the active chapters secured firsts for the same period. Scholastic standings seemed to be the chief concern of all the chapters and all their efforts were sincere in trying for improvements and even perfection in ratings.

With the exception of one chapter the groups were 100 per cent contributors to our Π Φ projects, as well as to several local and civic needs. All of them are either raising funds for redecorating their house or rooms, or have used their own sinking fund or contributions from pledges, mothers' clubs and alumnæ for this purpose. It has been gratifying to see the pride the chapters have shown in being such splendid

housekeepers.

There were several excellent nominations for the Amy Burnham Onken Award. After careful consideration of all the requirements, Jan Jeans of Missouri A was chosen for Epsilon Province. Her high scholar-ship record, her list of honors, her fine leadership, her faithful service to her chapter and the Fraternity and her own warm and striking personality should make her excellent competition for the national award. Other nominees were: Missouri B, Pat Krueger; Missouri I', Julianna Johnson; Kentucky A, Carol Halliday; Tennessee A, Marjorie Parks; Tennessee B, Helen Bircher; and Tennessee P, Jean DeVault.

The newest chapter in the province, Tennessee I, has passed its first birthday and has continued through the year maintaining its fine standing on the campus and developing Π Φ prestige among the many other national groups at the University of Tennessee. Their capable supervisor, Peg Ward, who has helped them establish such a firm foundation, both as a colonizing group and as an active chapter, will take a teaching job next Fall at the Austin Peay State College, Clarkes-

ville, Tennessee.

Activities throughout the province have been many and varied with participation by individuals in the particular field of their choice and in groups where honors were awarded by membership strictly on merit. Some of the outstanding achievements of the year have

been:

Missouri A-Mortar Board, 2; Ф E O, home economics, 3; Δ Φ Δ, art, 4; A K Δ, sociology, 2; Θ Σ Φ, journalism, 1; March of Dimes Queen, Σ A E Sweetheart, White Rose of Σ N, K Σ Witch Queen, special attendant St. Louis National Flower Show Pageant, special attendant to Queen of Annual Farmer's Fair; Chapter honors, tied for first place Homecoming decorations, finalists in Savitar Frolics;

Panhellenic, 3, one officer; Cheerleader, 1.

Missouri B—Mortar Board, including president, 6; Chimes, National Junior Women, with office of treasurer, 6; Phoenix, sports, 1; Sweetheart of Z X, Dream Girl of II K A, Honorary Major and Honorary Captain of R.O.T.C., Military Ball, second on campus in Intramural Swimming Meet; 5 in Thyrus, dramatic organization; president Panhellenic; 3 Student Center Advisory Board.

Missouri I-Skiff, Senior Women's Honorary, 5; Individual honor, 1949 S.C.A. Carnival Queen; Drury Lane Troupers, 5; president and secretary of Red Peppers; two house council members of dormitories.

Kentucky A—Pallas Club, now the 81st chapter of Mortar Board, 1; Thoroughbred Queen; repre-sentative to Mountain Laurel Festival at Pineville, Kentucky; WRA president; first place Homecoming decorations for their house, first place Hockey Tournament, and first place Basketball Tournament.

Tennessee A—Who's Who, 2; A Λ Δ, 1; Honor Council, 2; Senior Most Likely to Succeed; Darling of A X, Sweetheart of Z X; WAA president; 3 Dormitory House Council members; president of Home

Economics Club.

Tennessee B-4 B K 4: 4 B K Sophomore Honor, 4; Mortar Board, 2; including president; Σ Δ II, Spanish, 2; with president and treasurer; Athenians, Junior honorary, 2; Sweetheart of Σ X; Sweetheart of Φ K Σ; Queen of E N Frontier Ball; main event winner of Σ X Derby; President of W.S.G.A.; Pledge scholar-ship cup; Cheerleader, 1; A Cappella Choir, 14.

Tennessee Γ—Σ Τ, literary, 1; Δ Ψ Ω, dramatic, 1; Σ Δ Π, Spanish, 2; Δ Τ Δ Queen; Π K A Dream Girl; Stage and Publicity Committees of University All-Sing; vice-president of Playhouse; loving cup in skating relay; loving cup for winning the honor of "Goddess of the Greeks"; 7 in Home Economics Club.

The wonderful cooperation of all the chapters has

been heart-warming, and tribute should be paid not only to the officers and committee chairmen for their part in this, but also to the many other loyal members who do not hold prominent offices, for their willingness to carry their share of responsibility. This work of such short duration for me has been a happy Pi Phi experience and I want to express my appreciation to Miss Onken for my appointment to serve the Fra-ternity in this capacity. The contacts with the advisory boards, the alumnæ, Central Office, in fact Pi Phis everywhere in carrying on work of such an office as this, gives one memories to cherish alaways. I've enjoyed the position and truly wish that I had been physically able to carry on with the fine inspiration it has afforded me.

Respectfully submitted. CORINNE MACKEY COWAN

ZETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

ALL OF the aims and goals of the Zeta Province chapters were not realized but this has been a gratifying and satisfactory year for the chapters and the Province President for many things were accomplished.

Rushing and pledging was most successful for every chapter. All chapters have a quota which limits them in pledging and in most cases quotas were filled.

Only two of the five chapters in the province have chapter houses, Florida B and Georgia A. Georgia A's house was re-decorated and some major repairs made last summer. It is beautiful and the unusualness and attractiveness of the decorating has caused much comment and many compliments. Next fall Florida A will have chapter rooms in a Panhellenic house. This summer will see the Π Φ's at Stetson busy getting the rooms in readiness for fall rushing. Alabama A has been having money making projects to redecorate and buy some new furniture for its chapter room in Stockam Hall. The alumna and Mother's Club in

Birmingham have contributed generously in time

and money to these projects.

Scholarship is Zeta Province's weak point. There are no first places to report. The chapters, as a whole, have good averages but there are other groups that rank higher. Our goal was not reached for we had hoped for several first places to report at this timewe are still aiming and working toward this goal.

All chapters in the province were 100 per cent contributors to our Pi Phi national projects, as well

as to many local campus and civic needs.

The Amy Burnham Onken province award went to Ann Andrews, Georgia A, this year. The other nominees are: Betty Ray Price, Alabama A, Marjorie Marks, Florida A, Esther Rasmussen, Florida B, Eleanor Cain,

Florida I

The highlight of the year was the inspection visit to the colonizing group at the University of Alabama. Zeta Province is looking forward to having this local become a chapter in the Province. We are indebted to Marianne Wild, Betty Beck, the II 4's on the Alabama campus, and those loyal alumnæ in Birmingham for this fine development. The local won the esteem and friendship of the faculty and students alike from the first. Its enthusiasm and appreciation of Pi Beta Phi was evident and is an inspiration to Zeta Province.

The social side of every chapter's activities has been heavy. Each chapter had a beautiful formal, as well as many smaller affairs, faculty teas, exchange parties, pledge parties, and house parties. Participation in Panhellenic activities has been excellent and Pi Phi has suggested that Panhellenic have campus wide projects and in some cases these plans have been

adopted.

It is gratifying to the Province President to know of the high regard in which each chapter is held by its Dean of Women and college authorities, to watch the constant growth in chapter spirit, friendships, and love for Pi Beta Phi, and to see the increasing efficiency in chapters' internal organization. Chapter visits are always a joy, the work involved is compensated by the pleasure of renewing friendships and making new friends in the chapters. Although much is accomplished, visits are more like reunions than "official" visits. Many courtesies are extended to me and I shall always treasure the memory of the good times we have had together during these visits.

Our list of honors is an imposing one, and space will not permit mentioning all; so I shall choose only

those most outstanding things.

Alabama A had 1 elected to Who's Who; 1 elected to Executive Council of Student Government; 3 in May Court and May Queen; volley ball trophy; soft-ball cup; lead in Operetta; Y.W.C.A. President; Freshman Commission President; > members Φ Σ I.

Florida A had 2 members elected to Honor; President of Panhellenic; Editor of Hatters; Editor of College magazine; 1 elected to Scroll and Key (highest honorary on campus); six in Glee Club; Leading role in Little Theatre production; Beauty Queen, Florida

Citrus Queen.

Florida B had one junior elected to Φ B K; three Mortar Board; four Who's Who; Vice-president of Student Body; Chief Justice of Women's Student Government Court; 2 in Senate of Women's Student Government: 4 members elected to Garnet Kev (leadership honorary); six tapped for Village Vamps; May Queen; cheerleader; volleyball trophy; 1 A Λ Δ. The Powder-Puff football game was played with the K A θ's and although the Π Φ's did not win \$58 was realized from this and was given to The March of Dimes.

Florida I won first place and \$50 for the best Homecoming Float; Jean Young has brought honors to the chapter with her excellent tennis; several ribbons

were won in the annual Horse Show.

Georgia A had 2 tapped for Mortar Board and they served as vice-president and editor of this group; 2 in Φ B K; 2 in Who's Who; 1 in Pandora Beauty Court and Homecoming Court; Vice-president of Senior Class; President and one member of A Λ Δ; President of Women's Student Government; second

place in Sorority Sing; cheerleader.

Again I should like to thank the chapters and the individuals for their cooperation during the past year, they have made the duties of Province President lighter and the work a constant pleasure and joy. The officers in the chapters have carried their full responsibility and through this leadership the chapters have developed in organization, spirit, and viewpoint. There are always those who have something intangible to give a chapter and these are usually obscure; but it is recognized and to those girls I would like to express my appreciation, many of them do not even hold important chapter offices but the chapters are functioning well because of their support. To the alumnæ advisory committees goes my full appreciation for all they have done for the chapters; it is through the work and loyal support that the chapters are what they are in strength and development.

To the members of Grand Council, national officers and committee chairmen, and especially to Miss Onken, I want to express my gratitude for the support and assistance you have given me. I am grateful for the privilege of serving Pi Beta Phi and a sincere

"thank you" for this.

Respectfully submitted,

EDYTHE BELTON TYLER

ETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE PAST year has brought success and recognition Tto the Eta Province chapters and to the many fine girls who compose them. This has been a very enjoyable year for me with its many contacts with the active members of Pi Beta Phi, and I feel a deep and personal pleasure in reporting the successes and accomplishments of my new friends.

I deeply regret that I was unable to visit Illinois A and I am looking forward to meeting that chapter personally next year. I started my visits in November and finished in March. I shall long remember the gracious hospitality extended by all, and I left each chapter with increased pride in Pi Beta Phi.

Eta Province was privileged to have Grand Council visitors this year; Lucile Douglass Carson visiting the three Wisconsin chapters and Marie Bacon Hagee visited the six chapters in Illinois. I have received enthusiastic letters from each chapter telling how much these visits gave in inspiration and increased knowledge of the fraternity to every member.

The scholarship data is incomplete for the year, but the scholarship picture in the province is one of

improvement and real effort on the part of the chapters and individual girls. Wisconsin B continues to hold securely to first place in scholarship at Beloit and has won the Panhellenic Scholarship Cup for the fifth consecutive semester. While there are no other firsts in the province, all but two chapters raised their scholarship averages and rankings. Illinois Z and Illinois H remain in fourth and third place, respectively, on their campuses. Illinois A achieved a real victory in rising from last to second place. Wisconsin A rose from thirteenth to a fourth place tie and Wisconsin I has moved from fourth to second place. Comparative scholarship ratings are not available at Northwestern but Illinois E raised its average the first two quarters of the year. Bradley has just started to issue comparative averages and Illinois Θ is in third place on its campus. Illinois B-∆ has no official rating as yet, but individual averages have risen. The following chapters have representation in Φ B K: Wisconsin A, one; Wisconsin B, three; Wisconsin Γ, three; Illinois B-A, one; Illinois E, two and Illinois

On the whole rushing was very successful for all chapters in the province and one hundred and eightyone fine girls were pledged. The percentage of girls initiated was high Illinois B-\Delta initiated its entire pledge class. The Wisconsin B pledge class ranked first in scholarship among the fraternity pledges at

Beloit.

The Amy Bunham Onken Award for Eta Province went to Phyllis Burkhardt, Wisconsin B. The outstanding seniors from the other chapters who were nominated for the award were: Patricia Johnson, Wisconsin A; Kathryn Elwers, Wisconsin T; Elsie Cory Buchanan, Illinois A; Marilyn Holst, Illinois B-A; Madeline Deasy, Illinois E; Burta Fleharty, Illinois Z; Marilyn Proffitt, Illinois H; and Myra Kingston, Illinois O. All candidates had fine records of service to the fraternity and to their colleges. The

choice was a very difficult one.

Housing conditions in the province are the same this year as last, Wisconsin Γ and Illinois A have suites of rooms for meeting places. Illinois B- Δ shares Panhellenic House at Knox with the other women's fraternity groups. Wisconsin B owns a lovely house which it uses as chapter headquarters. Wisconsin A, Illinois E, Illinois Z, Illinois H, and Illinois Θ have very attractive houses which take care of the majority of the chapters' out of town members. All chapter homes are tastefully decorated and well managed. The province's six chaperons are fine women who have more than fulfilled their responsibilities to their chapters.

I wish to express my appreciation to all advisory boards for the fine cooperation and help which I have received from them this year. Each board has worked hard and conscientiously and has contributed much

to the welfare of its chapter.

Active and pledge members of Pi Beta Phi in Eta Province have achieved many outstanding honors this year, and activity participation as a whole is high. In the activity report which follows I am in-

cluding only the major offices and honors.

Wisconsin A—two Mortar Boards, one Crucible, four Hoofers, one Dolphin; editor of Octopus; four Student Board members; members of Union Council; W.S.A. Administration Council, and Y.W.C.A. cabinet; vice-president of Ann Emory Hall; secretary and treasurer of Elizabeth Waters, Unit II; secretary of Campus Carnival; Orientation Chairman; and Homecoming Chairman.

Wisconsin B—three Royal Order of Senior Bench (equivalent to Mortar Board); two "Who's Who"; and one "Who Ain'ter." President and treasurer of I.A.W.S.; secretary of Senate; president of Panhellenic; three dormitory presidents; council member of W.R.A.; member of Union Board; Members have had leading roles in every Player's Production this year.

Wisconsin Γ—two Mortar Boards; six members of Σ A I; and one "Best Loved." Activities: Editor of Lawrentian; editor of Contributor; two on Judicial Board; vice-president and four board members of W.R.A.; three members of College Executive Committee; senior W.R.A. award; and Specter Award.

mittee; senior W.R.A. award; and Specter Award. Illinois A—three T II (similar to Mortar Board), including president; president of Σ O M; two "Who's Who"; two "Great Greeks"; two members of National Collegiate Players; president of II K Δ.; business manager and board member of Student Union; Homecoming General Chairman; captain of Women's Rifle team; female lead in operetta; and leading roles in four Crimson Masque productions.

Illinois B-Δ-six Mortar Boards, including secretary and treasurer; three Φ B; five Σ A I; one "Who's Who"; President of K.A.W.S.; president of Panhellenic; secretary of senior class; vice-president of

W.A.A.; president of Sirens.

Illinois E—president and two members of Shi-Ai; six members of A Λ Δ ; one Σ A I; one Z Φ H; one Φ B; and president of Θ Σ II; treasurer and three board members of W.S.G.A.; eleven members of Wildcat Council; president of Y.W.C.A.; delegate to Y.W.C.A. National Convention; editor, Daily Northwestern; and eight dormitory officers.

Illinois Z—four Mortar Boards, including president; ten Torch; six Shi-Ai; three members of A Λ Δ, including treasurer; one Z Φ H; senior director, Illini Union; senior manager of Daily Illini; associate manager of Theater Guild; vice-president and four cabinet members of Y.W.C.A.; and two delegates to

Y.W.C.A. National Convention.

Illinois E—two members of Π M Θ, including president; three members of Σ A I, including song leader and rush chairman; five members of T X Π; two members of Π K Δ; one "Who's Who"; and eight members of Conant Society; treasurer and intramural manager of W.A.A.; editor-in-chief, Millidek; managing editor, Decaturian; treasurer of Panhellenic; and two Student Council members.

Illinois Θ —eleven members of Federation of Scholars; four members and president of Chimes; president and vice-president of Θ A Φ ; one Π K Δ ; one Φ A Θ ; one Φ N; and one E Φ A; secretary-treasurer and seven board members of W.A.A.; first vice-president Y.W.C.A.; two members of W.S.G.A. board; treasurer of Mask and Gavel; president of Radio Guild; two members of Bradley Debate Team.

This has been a good year for Eta Province. Every chapter excels in many ways and, while there is room for improvement in each chapter, there is also the desire to improve. Each chapter ranks at or near the top on its campus; each is admired and respected by its college administration and the other fraternities. Their province president is very proud to be associated with them.

I am very grateful for the helpful suggestions given me by Lucile Carson and Marie Hagee, and I cannot thank Miss Onken and Gladys Scivally enough for their ever-ready answers to my many questions and

problems.

MARGARET JANE DICK

THETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE Theta Province delegates and alternates to the Convention at French Lick went back to their chapters with new ideas and inspiration. The survey of the activities shows a wonderfully fine record which is due not only to the splendid attitude of all the

officers, but also to that of each girl.

The chapters in the province are scattered over a large territory with poor railway connections, so they were unable to get together during the year. Panhellenic groups from all Iowa colleges, however, met in Old Capital in Iowa City for a very instructive and inspirational day. Julia Furgeson of Iowa Z was in charge of the arrangements. Among the leaders in the various round-table discussions were girls from every chapter of Pi Phi in the state.

All chapters except one gave to the three Pi Beta Phi projects, and that chapter gave to two of them. All have other projects, such as Save the Children or

Elizabeth Ann Kelly of North Dakota A won the Amy B. Onken Award for the province. Other nominees were: Betty Pruess, Iowa A; Genelle Grant, Iowa B; Marilou Willis of Iowa I; Julia Furgeson of Iowa Z; Joyce Thorkelson, Manitoba A. Iowa B and Iowa Γ were recommended for the Balfour Cup. Four chapters, Iowa A, Iowa B, Iowa T, and North Dakota A were first in scholarship.

The four Iowa chapters had the honor and pleasure of having Mrs. Prouty visit them, and as always she inspired them and was most helpful in her suggestions. Mrs. Carson visited North Dakota A, Minnesota A, and Manitoba A. The girls were most ap-

preciative of her help and advice.

In conferring with the Deans of Women I find that they hold Pi Beta Phi in the highest regard, and feel that the chapters are most cooperative.

My visits to the chapters were most enjoyable. After visiting them for three years I feel that they

are members of my own family.

Activities: Iowa A 3 girls Que Est, the equivalent of Mortar Board; 1 Who's Who; and 5 I Φ, honorary scholastic fraternity; 5 on the Student Union Committee, including president and secretary; Homecoming Queen; the chairman of the WSSF drive.

Iowa B won the Homecoming Tomahawk, which is the over-all award for the best score in all Homecoming activities; 2 WRA intramural sports trophies; had presidents of A Ψ T, Σ T Δ, FTA, and WSSF; Vice-Presidents of Blackfriers and the Student Congress; Twelve of the 24 women in the college choir were Pi Phis; two Great Greeks, 4 Representative Women; and 4 Who's Who.

Iowa Γ—Two Mortar Board; presidencies of Φ Υ O; the Woman's "I" fraternity, the Freshman Home Ec Club, and Θ Σ Φ; Σ A I vice-president; 100% participation in intramurals, and 2 championships; Sweetheart of Σ X; three Iowa Γ girls were

elected to the Mademoiselle College Board. Iowa Z-UWA, nineteen members, including of-

Board; three members of the famous Scottish Highlanders Band; six members Tailfeathers, pep club. Manitoba A-President of the Woman's Association, the highest position a girl can attain on that campus; Lady Sticks of both the College of Arts and the College of Home Economics; representation

ficers and chairmen; three & B K; and one to Mortar

in all sports, the University Choral Society, and Glee Club. Minnesota A-Winner Sorority-Fraternity Song Fest; one Chimes; 3 Memorial Union Committee;

and 3 All-Campus Governing Boards; President of the Associated Women Students.

North Dakota A-Four Mortar Board, with both the first and second semester presidents; three $\Sigma \to \Sigma$, honorary scholastic fraternity; and one Φ B K; three Who's Who; and 2 Grey Gowns; presidents, Φ T O, Φ X Θ, Σ A I, and Woman's League; and Honorary Cadet Colonel.

We are all looking forward to our summer conference of chapter presidents which is to be held at Rolla, North Dakota, at the summer home of Marjory

Jacobson, President of North Dakota A.

I wish to express my sincere appreciation for the kindness and help Grand Council has given me during the past year.

Respectfully submitted

VERA L. Moss

IOTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

I'T HAS been most gratifying to review the correspondence and the reports from the eight chapters in Iota Province. It has been an education to me to see how efficient the officers and chairmen have been. Much has been accomplished in maintaining high scholarship standards and participation in activities. It has been my good fortune to be able to share their thrills in having so very many II D's honored for

their achievements in Spring elections.

Early October found me heading north to visit South Dakota A in my first opportunity to enter the portals of any chapter but my own. Having recovered from my stage fright, I went south to the Kansas Chapters, A and B. In November Colorado A and Colorado B entertained me and I then visited Wyoming A and after a three day visit with Utah A, I was fortunate enough to be on the first train to make the grade through the Blizzard of '48. An unofficial visit in December and an official one in February to Nebraska B completed my Province visits. I am looking forward with a great deal of pleasure to the Province Workshop in August.

Six chapters were fortunate to have Mrs. Alford visit them and each President has written me how very much the II &'s enjoyed her enthusiasm and counsel. Colorado A and B were disappointed that Miss Onken was unable to visit them in March and were doubly sorry that they missed having Mrs. Alford for only a brief time because her schedule interfered with their Easter Holiday.

Reflecting in the glory of the National Amy B. Onken 1948 Award and sharing the Stoolman Vase and having the Philadelphia Cup, Iota Province chapters were proud to present their candidates for the Province Amy B. Onken Award. Carolyn Cowles

of South Dakota A was presented the 1949 ABO Award. Colorado A presented Barbara Bullis; Colorado B, Anne Nelson and Nancy Ward; Kansas A, Joanne Ruese; Kansas B, Nadine Smith; Nebraska B,

Genene Mitchell; Utah A, Thelma Peterson Iker;

Wyoming A, Glenna Sorenson. I was very happy to present Kansas A and Colorado B for the Balfour

Cup Award.

A successful rushing season in the Fall, again in January and during the year, resulted in the pledging of 209 girls. There were 4 broken pledges and 2

affiliated transfers in the Province.

Iota Province was most generous in contributing \$581 to the Save the Children Federation and also sent many gifts to the Children whom they sponsored and to CARE. I have assurance that all Chapters will have contributed 100% to the Settlement School, Holt House and the Loan Fund for Scholarships. All contributions reported so far have been most

We had three firsts in Scholarship for one semester this year. All chapters show a higher average than in the Fall, but three are not in the upper third. Iota can boast 3 new & B K's, thirty-nine Scholastic Honors and Three Scholarship Cups to prove that they having been striving for better Scholarship.

Reward for the splendid participation in Activities is evidenced in the many Honors that have been reported this Spring, including eleven new Mortar Boards, 3 and the Vice President from one chapter. The most outstanding honors to the chapters and to

individual Pi Phis are listed below.

Colorado A-1 Mortar Board; President Φ Λ Θ; President Θ Λ; President, Treasurer, 3 Board members. 22 Active in WAA; Treasurer. 5 YWCA Cabinet; 3 Spurs; Officer and 3 Porpoise; Editor Queen's Section of Annual; President, Vice President and Secretary Panhellenic; 3rd Place in Winter Carnival Participation; 2nd Prize Cup for Float for C U Days; Head of Big Sisters; Chairman Foreign Stu-

Colorado B-1st in Scholarship for chapter and 1st for Pledge Class; 4 Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities; President AWS; President Women's Student Council; President and Officer Parakeets; Secretary Mentors; President International Relations Club; "Miss Graciousness"; "Miss Leadership"; 2 Officers and 2 A A Θ; President, 2 Z Φ H; 2 Mortar Boards; 6 A A Δ; Pledge Queen Σ Φ E; Sweet-

heart E X.

Kansas A-1st in Scholarship; Vice President and 3 Mortar Boards; 2 & B K's; 1 M & E; 23 on Dean's Honor List; President, 1 Quill; President Jay Janes; President AWS Senate; Vice President Student Union Activities; Vice President UNESCO; Editor and Assistant Editors Campus Publications; Delegate to National WAA Convention; President F A X; President, 2 Φ A Θ; Head of AWS Councillors; Delegate to AWS Convention; Jay Hawkers Cover Queen; Freshman with highest scholastic average in Freshman School of Education: Student Council.

Kansas B-Holder of Philadelphia Cup, 1st in Scholarship '48; 2 Φ K Φ ; 4 Freshmen honored by Φ K Φ ; Honorary Cadet Major; 4 Φ A M; 1 0 N; President, 2 Prix; 1 M Φ E; President, Secretary, Treasurer and Social Chairman of Home Economics Club; President Service Club; Cheerleader; 3 of 6 new pledges to Θ Σ Φ; President and 4 Officers Φ X Δ; President Σ H X; 2 Honored by President Eisenhower; President Campus Eastern Star; 2 Mortar Boards; 4 new Prix. Kansas B has more Prix and more YWCA Cabinet members than any other organized house on the Campus at Kansas State College.

Nebraska B-President, Secretary, Student Foundation (University Builders); 1st Semester Editor Daily Nebraskan; Senior Board AWS; President Rifle Club; 3 Mortar Boards; additional honors reported since Ivy Day; Retiring and President elect Student Foundation, board member; President and 6 out of 50 chosen for Π A Θ (largest number from any House); President, Secretary Θ Σ Φ; Treasurer AWS; Cornhusker

Section Head.

South Dakota A-Outstanding Senior; "Miss Da-kota," and President of Mortar Board; 3 Guidons; National President and Extension Director of Guidon; 1 Φ B K; 1 Φ Σ I; President, 1 A A Δ; President, 2 Panhellenic Council; President, Secretary AWS; President WAA; President, Secretary Playcrafters; Mortar Board Vice President; 2nd Place in Sing; "Miss University"—1st and 3rd place in Contest.

Utah A—Salt Lake City Queen; Attendant University Snow Carnival Queen; Lead in University Theater Production; 6 Orchesis; Chairman Red Cross; Circulation Manager of Monitor; 1 A E P; 1 Z Φ H; 8 A Cappella; Accompanist A Cappella; 2 B A N; 3 Apmin; 3 Spurs; 2 Cwean; 1 A B O; 1 Mortar Board. Wyoming A—President, Panhellenic Council;

President International Relations Club; 1 Mortar Board; President and 12 Red Pencil; 4 Modern Dance Group; Φ E Φ Queen; new elections include-AWS Cabinet; President K A II; 2 Iron Scull; 3 Spurs; President, Treasurer WAA; this chapter has been

stressing scholarship above activities.

I would like to thank Miss Onken for her in-valuable help and patience with my first year in office. I am especially grateful to the alumnæ advisory committees for their splendid co-operation. Thanks to Grand Council and Central Office for their help and supervision. The chapter officers and members have all been so very kind and thoughtful and I do hope that they have been inspired with love for $\Pi \Phi$ to the same degree as I have in serving as their Province President.

Respectfully submitted, LUCILLE NITSCHE JUNGE

KAPPA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

M AJOR accents in Kappa Province for the year 1948-49 have been placed on scholarship, pledge training, pledge-active gatherings including Pi Phi Nights, and public relations with faculty and student body. The success achieved has been most encouraging. Although goals were not achieved 100%, the continuation of these emphases will eventually reach that, we hope!

Scholastically speaking, Kappa Province chapters have chalked up several firsts on campuses. Oklahoma B again won the Panhellenic Cup for being first for the year terminating with first semester, making four years in succession they have won this. Chances for continuing should be good as their pledges also ranked first among women's fraternity pledges, and all thirty-one made initiation averages. Oklahoma A won not only the cup for first place the first semester, but also that for greatest improvement, raising from seventh place the preceding semester and improving the chapter average from 1.68 to 1.97. Texas B was first for second semester of last year but unfortunate withdrawals too late to avoid "F's" dropped them to sixth place for first semester. Arkansas A and Louisiana A have maintained their second place on campus positions. Our goal of every chapter in the upper third failed of its mark by two chapters—Texas A and

Louisiana B, but none were in the lower third.

Scholarship stimulation included a "Scholarship Week" at Texas A, a pledge-active contest in Louisiana B, rivalry between two chapter teams in Oklahoma A and B, the use of effective posters in most of the chapters, and a careful enforcement of study regulations. Chapters, wherever practicable, held supervised study halls, though several tried, at least for a time, an honor system, with weekly reports on hours studied. Oklahoma B felt that a tea for all mothers of town members which provided the setting for an explanation of scholarship goals, was worthy of incorporation in future scholarship programs.

Pledge training received a major consideration by all chapters and particular emphasis was placed on the inclusion of programs to indoctrinate pledges with Pi Beta Phi ideals and standards and to make closer bonds between pledges and actives. An "Arrow Week" was instituted by Louisiana B with a special program each evening, of which actives spoke as enthusiasti-

cally as pledges.

Faculty relationships were strengthened by chapter dinners with faculty members and administrators as guests, and by asking them to be speakers for chapter programs. Every chapter entertained the Dean of Women, some more than once during the year; and several chapters worked out a regular schedule for "Faculty Nights" with almost weekly opportunities for some kind of contact. Louisiana A, Louisiana B, and Texas A pledges entertained all pledges on campus at a social affair.

Rush-weeks were particularly successful through-out the Province. All chapters except Oklahoma B have either a quota or limitation system. Oklahoma B rushed for the first time since the opening of their freshman dormitory, and so increased their pledge group to include not only enough freshmen to insure the size of the future chapter, but also enough upper-classmen to fill the house. Their annex was dis-

continued.

Arkansas A not only had its first year with a freshman dormitory, but also rushing deferred to the sophomore year. They were allowed 16 upperclass pledges this year which filled the house and one annex (they discontinued an additional annex formerly used). Next year they will be allowed a larger quota as none of the coming sophomore class has been

pledged.

Oklahoma A will enter its first year with freshman dormitories, next fall. Their upperclass limitation has been set at 47 (8 below the present limitation) which will be almost house capacity for them. Freshman quotas will be determined by the number of freshmen signing for rush each year. The present system for setting quotas will be continued for Louisiana A, Louisiana B, and Texas B-based on number of women signing up for rushing; and Texas A's quota will remain at fifty pledges for the year.

Southern Methodist's Panhellenic dispensed with rush fees and substituted a fee from every girl who pledges, to be paid through her fraternity. They also added a series of "coke parties" about midway through rush-week, designed to provide for expression of pref-

erence by rushees.

Kappa Province chapters with houses or rooms retained the fine house-mothers of the preceding year: "Mother" Clifton and Mrs. Winton, our Π Φ chap-erons at Arkansas and Texas, Mrs. Quigley at Oklahoma, Mrs. Campbell at Oklahoma A & M, and Mrs. McMillan at S.M.U.

Louisiana B began the fall in their completely

redecorated room, described by one as a modern interpretation of a "Scarlet O'Hara" decorative scheme. Arkansas A looked "new" with furniture re-upholstered in soft, warm tones; Louisiana A rejoiced over new rugs, chairs and lamps and a rearrangement that gave the appearance of added space; Texas A relaxed on their new sun-deck; and Texas B pledges this spring personally redecorated their chapter room. Both Oklahoma A and B took care of needed repairs and enjoyed the redecoration done the year before. Southern Methodist University has given permission for women's fraternities to build houses on University-owned property near the campus, and Texas B's are becoming very "house-minded."

Inter-chapter contacts were provided by open houses held during game week-ends this fall: at Texas A for Texas B; at Arkansas A for Texas B; at Texas B for Texas A and all Dallas Π Φ's home for Thanksgiving; at Louisiana B for Louisiana A. Arkansas A, Louisiana A, Louisiana B, Texas A, and Texas B enjoyed many contacts with local alumnæ chapters, including Founders' Day celebrations. Oklahoma A celebrated Founders' Day with Oklahoma City alumnæ, and Oklahoma B with Tulsa alumnæ.

Kappa Province chapters contributed 100 per cent to the fraternity projects for active chapters, giving \$360.00 to the Settlement School, \$165.00 to Holt House, and \$150.00 to the Harriet Johnstone Scholarship Fund. They were also most generous in contributions to Save-the-Children: Texas A provided an entire sponsorship, while the five other chapters except Arkansas A gave a total of \$198.50. Two children are being assigned these chapters and it is hoped that letters from them will be as interesting as those received this past year from the Kappa Province "child." Arkansas A helps a French girl through the Foster Parents Plan, and continued its assistance to the blind University of Arkansas student. Texas A has pledged to support a Displaced Person next year, an Estonian girl who will live at the house. All chapters were active in Campus Chest and Campus Clothing Drives, where held, and in World Student Service Fund and Red Cross drives. Texas B (with $A \times A$) and Louisiana B (with $A \times A$) held Christmas parties for underprivileged children.

Chapter activities have included such all-chapter projects as the Texas A-K football game, complete with parade and half-time stunts and given before an audience of 3000, Oklahoma A's skit with 40 participating which was chosen for presentation in the Sooner Scandals, Oklahoma B's prize-winning Varsity Review skit, Arkansas A's first prize homecoming house decoration, Texas B's first prize homecoming float, Texas A's first prize Round-up float, floats and house decorations of other chapters not placing this year, the campus song-contest entries of several chapters and chapter booths at carnivals held by almost every school for philanthropy contributions.

Individual honors have been too numerous to mention all. First among them, surely, are the chapter nominees for the Amy Burham Onken Awards: Arkansas A, Nan Hopper; Louisiana A, Joan Gillis; Louisiana B, Jan Ette McKeithen; Oklahoma A, Margaret Whitehurst; Oklahoma B. Fern Merrifield; Texas A, Charlotte Page Mickey; Texas B, Mildred Ford. The Kappa Province award was presented to Nan Hopper.

A few of the other outstanding honors won by

Kappa Province chapters are listed here:

Arkansas A: 1 & B K; winner of the University Senior Scholarship Key; President and Treasurer of

A Δ Δ and 1 member; 3 Mortar Boards; AWS Vice President and Treasurer; President University Judicial Board; Vice-president of Sophomore Council; Treas-urer of Pledge Council; Student Senate; University representative to Baylor Carnival; winner of the Bob

Hope Show at Little Rock; President of Σ A I. Louisiana A: 1 Φ B K; 3 on Dean's List; President of Sophomore Class; 2 A Σ A (Senior leadership); 2 Assets (freshman leadership); 5 Big Sisters, President Athletic Council; Editor of Newcomb Handbook, "Urchin" Pledge Queen, Queen of the Fresh-man Beauty Court; ROTC Color Girl; 2 "Who's Who"; Homecoming Queen; 2 "Jambalya" Beauty Who"; Homecoming Queen; 2 "Jambalya" Beauty Court; 9 in Mardi Gras Courts; 4 Presidents in honor organizations.

Louisiana B: 2 officers M Σ P (Φ B K equivalent); 2 Mortar Board; 2 A A Δ; AWS Secretary and 1 on governing board; 1 Student Senate; President Interdormitory Council; 1 president and 1 vice-president of Dormitory; YWCA President; 1 WRA Council; "Little Colonel" of Cadet Corps; Freshman Day Queen; Mardi Gras Queen; President Purple Jackets;

President of 2 intersorority groups.

Oklahoma A: 1 \Phi B K; 3 Mortar Board; 7 A A Δ; 29 girls invited to Smarty Party (2.0 or better averages); 3 AWS Board Members; 6 at BWOC Banquet (out of 75); President Freshman YWCA; Cabinet Member YWCA; 9 at Matrix Table for outstanding junior and senior women; X X Sweetheart; A X Sweetheart; winner National Script Contest; President Z A I; President T A X; and 8 major officers in honor organizations.

Oklahoma B: 1 & K &; 2 officers and 1 member Mortar Board; 1 officer and 13 members Orange and Black Quill (sophomore scholarship); 1 officer and 5 members Orange Quill (freshman scholarship); 2 officers WAA; 1 Student Senate; 1 "Who's Who''; National Secretary and State Director of International Relations Club; A & M Delegate to United Nations; Talbot Recognition Cup; Miss A & M Coed; Freshman Queen; K & Mardi Gras Queen; Miami Triad Queen; Redskin Beauty Queen; Presidents of Peppers, Glee Club; Leaders' Club; 27 officers of honor organizations.

Texas A: 2 Φ B K; Treasurer and 2 members Mortar Board: 3 receiving merit awards at Honors Day; 3 Outstanding Students and Good Fellows; A A Δ; President and 10 members; President and 3 members Orange Jackets (leadership); President University Debate Squad; first place Junior Woman's Division Mid-South Debate; Vice-president Co-ed Assembly; 2 "Ranger" Girls of the Month; K Z Sweetheart; University Representative to Galveston Mardi Gras; 15 Cap and Gown; 10 officers of honor organizations.

Texas B: Secretary and 5 A A Δ; 1 Mortar Board; 5 Kirkos (outstanding women); 4 WSGB; 1 Sophomore Honor Guard (10 highest sophomores); 2 Student Council; Secretary and 2 Steering Committee Campus Organization of General Services (COGS); Engineering Queen; A T Ω Sweetheart; Honorary Cadet Colonel, ROTC; Cotton Bowl Queen; Duchess to NTAU; II K A Dream Girl; California Representative to Tyler Rose Festival; SMU representative to TSCW Redbud Festival; "Southern Co-ed" of the

Month.

Advisory committee-active chapter relationships have been very close in almost every chapter, and the assistance given by these fine alumnæ has been greatly appreciated not only by the chapters themselves but by their Province President. Contacts with the chapters, their chaperons, and their advisory committees have been frequent and have provided the inspiration that comes from a knowledge of what fine things the girls of Kappa Province are doing. For this privilege and for the continued guidance and helpfulness of Grand Council members, the Province President is most grateful.

Respectfully submitted,

MILDRED SALE

LAMBDA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE SPIRIT of cooperation and the consequent unity of the chapters in Lambda Province are especially The members of the chapters are realizing that they attain fraternity privileges only by prescribing obedience to all authority, encouraging scholarship, stimulating loyalty to their alma mater, and fostering a democratic spirit between all with

whom they are associated.

Educational institutions classify fraternal organizations according to scholarship. When an organization's scholarship is high this attainment is often reflected in the culture, character, and campus citizenship of the Fraternity. Oregon A has held first place in scholarship at the University of Oregon for six consecutive quarters. This chapter was awarded the Burt Brown Barker Scholarship Award for the second consecutive time for having the highest scholarship, 2.77, for the past year. Another chapter to receive outstanding recognition in scholarship during the past year was Washington Γ , the baby chapter of the Province. Washington Γ , with a 2.84, has first place in scholarship at the College of Puget Sound. The other chapters have made commendable progress, and the immediate future should find many more of them in first position in scholarship on their respective campuses. More than one hundred and twenty-six girls in the chapters in Lambda Province had a 3. or better in scholarship, which is indicative of the at-

titude the chapters are assuming towards academic achievements. Though reports are not yet complete for this year, it appears that Lambda Province will have a good representation in Φ B K. Shirley Glann, and Helen Bendixen, of Washington B; Lenore Thornton, Washington A have already been reported as elected to Φ B K. Mary King and Jean Lawton, both 4. students of Washington A should be eligible this spring, as well as two girls from Oregon A. Oregon A has awarded three scholarships for next year, each of which will cover one term's house bill for each girl. The awards were made on the basis of Need, Fraternity Service, Campus Activities, and Scholarship. Nan Humphrey, Ann Gillenwaters, and Joan Mimnaugh will receive these awards. This scholarship award will enable girls to complete their education, and it will encourage the type of character development emphasized in Pi Beta Phi.

All chapters in Lambda Province have contributed to the three projects for active chapters: Harriet Johnstone Scholarship Fund, Settlement School, and

Holt House.

Rushing was very successful for all chapters in the Province, and certainly the chapters are deeply appreciative of the splendid work done by the alumnæ clubs. The very fine work done by the Recommendation Committees for the Province is a definite factor in the selection of outstanding girls for Pi Beta Phi.

The interest that the alumnæ have manifested in rushing is most appreciated, and certainly the girls recommended for Pi Beta Phi and who have been initiated have justified the recommendations.

Joanne Lindberg, Oregon B, won the Amy Burnham Onken Award for the Lambda Province, and she also won the National Amy Burnham Onken Award. Lambda Province is indeed proud of Joanne's accomplishments as well as her splendid ability as a

leader.

The Province Workshop, inaugurated a short time ago, has developed a cordial feeling between chapters and has created a greater appreciation of Pi Beta Phi as a national fraternity. The Province Workshop this year will be held in Timberline Lodge, on beautiful Mount Hood in Oregon, and each chapter will be represented by the president and the pledge supervisor. Panel discussions have been organized which deal with subjects significant to the chapters of this Province. Each chapter will be held responsible for a panel, and will work with representatives from three other chapters in developing the panel. The Province is honored to have Miss Onken meet with the chapters at Timberline. Her presence will stimulate all of us to greater efforts in attaining the objectives of our Workshop.

Chapters in Lambda Province continue to be well represented in campus activities, and a splendid continuity is being developed which should assure the chapters a fine representation in this field in the

future.

All of the chapters in Lambda Province, with the exception of two, live in their own college homes—

thanks to the alumnæ who have formed Building Associations in order to provide this paramount necessity. The chapters take a great deal of interest in their college homes, and are deeply grateful for the sincere interest shown by the Building Associations in having these homes truly representative of Pi Beta Phi. Also, much gratitude must be expressed to the Mothers' Clubs which have contributed most generously to these college homes. What finer interest could alumnæ and Mothers' Clubs have than doing those things which contribute so definitely to proper environment for the girls in whom they are most interested? The manner in which these homes are kept during the college year must be the justification to the alumnæ and Mothers' Clubs for their continued interest. Certainly the actives could not help but have a pride in keeping these homes presentable at all times, since they reflect the standard of living most acceptable to Pi Beta Phi.

The Province president wishes to express her personal and official appreciation for the splendid cooperation of the officers, members of the active chapters, and alumnæ advisory committees of each of the chapters in Lambda Province. The chapters and the Province President are deeply grateful to the alumnæ who have assisted chapters in the realization of their objectives. It is the sincere hope of the Province President that all may work together as successfully during the coming year in developing the kind of chapters in the Pacific Northwest which we believe to be truly representative of Pi Beta Phi.

EMILY DRAPER

MU PROVINCE PRESIDENT

It is my pleasure to report a truly fine year for the Pi Beta Phi chapters in Mu Province. We have had our problems but each chapter has shown growth in achievement and has shown splendidly adult attitudes in meeting problems and working them out. Our National Convention in French Lick Springs was a contributing factor in this maturity since all but one chapter had visitors or alternates to the Convention in addition to the delegate. Hence, the enlarged viewpoints of several girls were taken home to help in the development of the chapters.

Visits to all the chapters were made before Christmas by the Province Officer and all but New Mexico A, received, in addition, a visit from Mrs. Wild in the spring. Mrs. Prouty visited New Mexico A, since they are building a house and they seemed to need special financial advice. In addition to the chapter visits, visits of inspection were made to Santa Barbara State College and San Diego State College with the delegates from the active chapters of the Province.

All the chapter houses are in excellent condition. Last summer, Arizona A completely remodeled and redecorated downstairs, increasing their floor space by the enclosure of the large porch. California Δ redecorated, as did California Γ. Nevada Alpha has a long range plan for refurnishing and additions are being made all the time. Their new study room was completed for the beginning of the year and has been found to be a very profitable addition to the house. New Mexico A's new home should be ready for use by the beginning of the Fall semester and this project has been an important factor in the working together of actives and alumnæ in Albuquerque.

We have been fortunate in having so many fine women to serve as chaperons for our chapters and there is not one that has not made a gracious hostess for us. Mrs. Gaines' death in April means her replacement at California Δ but I am sure that the substitute, Mrs. Lambeth, plans to continue. Mrs. Burr is leaving Arizona A but they have an excellent new chaperon in Mrs. Barnes who has filled in for them from time to time and with whom the chapter is well acquainted. Mrs. Corle at Nevada A is also leaving.

The ABO nominees for the Province were Marjorie Simon of Nevada A, Barbara Potter of California Γ, Mary Ellen Brininger of California Δ, and Kathryn Pender of Arizona A, the winner of the Province

Award.

I am sorry to report that Mu Province has not been 100 percent in contributions to our projects. However, five chapters have contributed a total of \$77.50 to Holt House, \$52.50 to the Settlement School and \$10 to the Scholarship Fund. Three chapters made additional contributions to save the Children Fund in the amounts of \$10 and \$8 and one full sponsorship of \$96. All of our chapters have done especially nice things for underprivileged children at Christmas and New Mexico at Easter with an Easter Egg Hunt for 55 children of St. Anthony's Foundling Home. Our two Los Angeles chapters give much help to the local philanthropy, the Crippled Children's Home, by knitting argyles, etc. and working in booths for the annual benefit for the organization.

Pi Beta Phis in Mu Province have won their share

Pi Beta Phis in Mu Province have won their share of honors, scholastically, socially, and for activities. California B had the Vice-President of the Senior Class and Representative-at-large for the Senior Body; I the Vice-President of the Associated Students; California Delta, the President of AWS; New Mexico and Arizona A, the Vice-Presidents of AWS, with the latter holding the Secretaryship as well, the first time that any chapter on that campus has held two such important positions in AWS, since the Board is

composed of only four members.

New Mexico and Arizona each have a member of Who's Who in American Colleges and Nevada has two. Arizona, California Γ, and California Δ each have a member of Mortar Board, with Arizona two new ones just tapped and California Γ one more. Two & B K, have been announced so far, one each at Arizona and California Δ, and a Φ K Φ at Nevada and California Γ. The latter member was given the Φ K Φ Award for the highest grades in the School of Education. Our chapters have 17 in departmental honoraries. Nevada has the president of Sagens and four other members. California Γ has three Amazons including the Treasurer and five new ones tapped, the largest number that one house has ever received, and two in Key and Scroll with two new ones tapped. Arizona has two in FST; A one in Key and Scroll; California B, two in Prytanean and one in Torch and Shield. The sophomore organization, Spur, has representatives in most of our chapters with Arizona leading with four and 7 new ones just tapped; Δ next with three; Γ two and a new one and New Mexico one. California's equivalent Panile, has The University of California's highest honor, one. The University of California's highest nonor, Cal Club, has been attained by one at California B and by one at California A.

California Δ has won first place in the Spring Sing, New Mexico has the Sweetheart of Σ X, Arizona has retired the Swimming Trophy by winning three times, California B has had the lead in a University play, and a member of New Mexico plays the harp in Albuquerque Symphony. California Γ had the winner of a nationwide contest by the Bates Fabric Co. and the Homecoming Queen twice in a row. New Mexico has had a member win a Fellowship to the Tobé-Coburn School of Fashion in New York. Nevada won the Rifle Plaque for the second year, a contest sponsored by WRA. A member of California Δ has won a number of beauty contests, most recently Dream Girl of Mr. Blanding's Dream House, sponsored by the Memorial Center Hospital. She acted as hostess during a fund raising campaign.

I consider this to have been a very worthwhile year for Mu Province with all chapters working to capacity. They are unified, they have cooperated fully with me and with their advisory boards, and their

chapter organization is good.

My appreciation goes to all the members of Grand Council for their kindness and help during the past year and to the advisors who have done so much to carry out recommendations. They help to make my office a constant pleasure, not only in working with them but in the opportunity it gives me to keep alive many valued friendships. I consider myself most fortunate in being able to serve Pi Beta Phi.

OLGA CHARLES SIBURG

Reports of Province Vice-Presidents

ALPHA EAST PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

A LTHOUGH there has been a decrease in membership, seven clubs rated 100% in support of the projects and a fine spirit has been evident.

Arrowcraft sales show an increase of \$450.00 with all clubs possible holding sales. Burlington leads with total sales of \$591.81 and Portland shows a

great increase.

Boston published "Bac-Talk" which was entertaining. It is disappointing to report that Stamford has

given up its chapter.

Every club contributed to Holt House and there is an increase in the total. One club did not contribute to the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund

but the total, \$69.00, was creditable.

Between actives and alumnæ there has been especially fine cooperation and much needed help has been given to the chapters besides financial aid. New Haven and Hartford sent money to Connecticut Alpha and Portland again presented a bracelet to the outstanding Sophomore in the province. The award was given to Martha Atwood, Vermont Beta; it is interesting to note that her sister received the award in 1947.

Burlington, Montreal, New Haven, and Portland

contributed to "Save the Children" Federation, Hartford and New Haven sent boxes to Settlement School at Christmas, Montreal endowed a bed at Children's Hospital and Halifax helped three local underprivileged children's projects.

All clubs except one helped with magazine commissions but the total is not equal to last year's. Two clubs have a Convention Fund and all are hoping

to have a delegate at the Jasper Convention.

The State of Maine group will have a meeting the last week end in June at Portland and plans are already made for a Vermont picnic in August. It was a privilege to attend meetings of the Portland and Hartford Clubs, Reports of meetings and Founder's Day Celebrations have been original and showed true enthusiasm and loyalty.

The officers and members of the clubs have been most cooperative in sending letters and reports. It is due to their faithful service and to the ever present assistance of Grand Council, Central Office, and Committee Chairmen that the Province has a

good report.

ERMINIE L. POLLARD

ALPHA WEST PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

Most of the clubs in our Province have had a good year with increased membership and added enthusiasm.

The Mohawk Valley Club has returned to inactive

status, which we all regret.

Four clubs have contributed money to Save the Children Federation, also numerous packages. Northern New Jersey sponsors a child of their own.

Arrowcraft sales in order of the amount of products sold are: Albany leading with \$803.15, New York City, Schenectady, Buffalo, and Northern New Jersey.

New York City did well again with their benefit performance of "Life with Mother," proceeds going to the Settlement School.

The Albany Club packed a Christmas box for the

Settlement School children.

The Sewing Group of the Westchester Club made several complete layettes. Marjorie Chalmers at the

Health Center was very grateful for them.

The actives and alumnæ from Toronto, London, and Buffalo held a joint meeting at Hamilton for their Founders' Day celebration. The actives had an interesting program with skits and a singing contest, also a candle lighting ceremony.

It was a pleasure to attend two Founders' Day celebrations, the Westchester Club and my own club here in Albany. I regret it was impossible to accept the other invitations extended to me.

One of the members of the Northern New Jersey Club had made porcelain figurines of each of the twelve Founders, in period dress. These were displayed on the mantel with a small blue candle in a crystal holder beside each Founder. During the candle lighting ceremony, as each Founder's name was read, the candle beside the Founder was lighted.

Assistance to active chapters has increased. Those of us who are not located where there is an active chapter have sent gifts and money to them. The clubs living where there is an active chapter have contributed financially, also helped with rushing parties.

The experience gained in fraternity life gives us an added amount of preparation in which to serve our

fraternity and our community.

To each club in Alpha West Province, let me say it has been a privilege to work with you. Many thanks to each individual member for their cooperation. I am sincerely grateful to Miss Onken, Mrs. Wild, and Central Office for their help and inspira-

Respectfully submitted,

EDNA O. ARCHIBALD

BETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE RECORD of Beta Province for the past year is The RECORD of Deta Floving to the presented with pride. Overall cooperation has been fine with all twenty clubs 100% in contributions to the three national projects, Settlement School, Holt House, and the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund. One club is 100% in membership, Membership has shown an increase of over one hundred members,

and gross Arrowcraft sales have increased about \$2400.00. Financial help to active chapters almost doubled, while personal help at rush time has been most generous. Twelve clubs have made some con-tributions to "Save the Children Federation."

Many clubs have added participation in local philanthropies to their list of activities such as the

Cancer Fund, Crippled Children's Hospitals, General Hospitals, Red Cross, Summer Camps, and Veterans Hospitals. Two clubs have made contributions to the Pi Phi Alumnæ House project.

The Philadelphia club is first place in amount contributed to the Settlement School, with Cleveland East second, and Cleveland West third. Four clubs

have increased their School contributions,

Recommendation Committees, Advisory and House Boards extended a very enthusiastic helping hand and continue to ask for suggestion to improve this help. Not forgetting their Pi Phis of long standing with increased active interest, many Golden Arrow Pi Phis were beautifully and thoughtfully honored throughout

the year at different meetings.

Beta Province was especially pleased to have one of its states, Ohio, hold its first "State Day" gettogether. Two hundred and fifty Pi Phis from all over the state met in Columbus, Ohio on May fourteenth. Workshops for both actives and alumnæ were held in the morning at the Neil House. Luncheon followed at one o'clock. Every detail was beautifully worked out on the theme "A Pi Phi is an Angel in Disguise." Since the active chapter at Ohio State University had used the theme for a rush party, they were most helpful in working out decorations and costumes. Each active chapter in Ohio sang its favorite song and all joined in "Ring-Ching-Ching" and "Pi Phi Girl." The former Province President, Margaret Humphrey, and former Province Vice President, Lois Vasek, the Province Vice President, Jean Gustky, and myself were all so pleased to attend and to have

the privilege of hearing our Grand Vice President, Marianne Wild, give a most inspirational talk. Mary Gibson, chairman of the Committee on the Pi Phi Alumnæ Home told of the committee's progress and hope for cooperation. The Province officers responded to the most able toastmistress, Jane Brown, president of the Columbus Alumnæ Club. The actives held Open House at the chapter house from four to five. Their hospitality was most graciously received.

I am looking forward to visiting all of the clubs

I am looking forward to visiting all of the clubs of Beta Province this fall and to having the privilege of helping them make their plans for another wonderful year—climaxed by Convention at Jasper Park in June, 1950. The inspiration that seventeen clubs out of the twenty received by having delegates at the last Convention and the careful study of reports of Convention by those not attending has made it possible for the Province to complete a successful year in point of achievement and record. I wish to thank the officers, committee members, and loyal alumnæ of each club for the manner in which each has met his obligation. It has been a pleasure to serve as your province officer and I want to thank you for the privilege.

To Miss Onken, Marianne Wild, and the other members of Grand Council, the Director of Central Office and her staff, as well as the national committee chairmen, may I express my deepest appreciation and sincere thanks for your inspiration, help and patience

throughout the year.

Respectfully submitted, EDITH HOYER RANKIN

GAMMA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

The Clubs of Gamma Province have all enjoyed more than the required four meetings with five clubs reporting an increase in paid members. They have also contributed to the national projects, sent the convention tax and shown interest in the nearest active chapters by assisting in rushing, through food preparation, counsel, entertaining at teas, garden parties, decorating the chapter houses, and serving as members of the house corporation, as in the case of the president of the Washington Senior Club who was elected by Maryland B to the Board. Other club members, both Senior and Junior Club, are preparing to assist Maryland in the furnishing of their new house.

Columbia and Chapel Hill have also given generously of their time and funds to the activities, as has Baltimore. The latter entertained in February for the Goucher chapter. Norfolk has joined with Richmond in promoting William and Mary chapter.

Three clubs observed Chapter Loyalty Day with meetings, a cooky-shine, a quiz hour on the subject of Why Loyalty Day and one club sent two checks of twenty-five dollars each to the nearest active chapters for the decorating fund.

Six clubs have held S.S. sales and teas and two

clubs have accepted orders all year for Arrowcraft.

Wilmington had charge of the Panhellenic February 22 luncheon with a speaker from the local radio station on the subject of Service. The Washington members joined city Panhellenic in honoring the founder, Winslow Nesbit, with a tea. They contributed to the food fund for the Tea following house tours of Decatur House, John Marshall House, and Octagon House for the benefit of Cancer Fund.

The University of Maryland invited a Panhellenic

Workshop for College and City representatives February 14 which was largely attended by delegates including Gamma Province Vice President and Pi Phi Director of Rushing and Pledge Training

Phi Director of Rushing and Pledge Training.

Norfolk invited Richmond to join them with a luncheon at the Naval Base on Founders' Day followed by a program and a visit to the Azalea Gardens. Richmond had previously planned a visit to State Farm upon invitation of Miss Elizabeth Kates, Director of the Kates Foundation which they sponsor. A large group of Virginia, Maryland, D.C. A, and Maryland B joined the Washington Senior and Junior Clubs on Founders' Day and enjoyed the talk given by our Grand Vice President, Mrs. Wild, on "Our Founders, Their Personality and Character."

Washington presented Arrowcraft hand woven woolen, in a blue and gray monotone to Mrs. Truman in February, according to the custom of giving a suit or dress length to the First Lady. This presentation had been planned for October 1948 but due to her travel incident to the campaign the date was

changed to November.

Mrs. Truman had invited the Washington Alumnæ Club for Tea at the White House following the presentation and Miss Onken had been invited to attend when the order was given to close the White House for repairs. This necessitated postponing the plans and the party, so after discussion by the Club the material was sent by a messenger to Mrs. Truman who had a suit made of it. From the Associated Press story of the Pi Beta Phi weaving at Gatlinburg and the many photographs in the press the suit has been spring news.

Membership runs from 12 to 152 and with two exceptions all clubs have sent in the questionnaire, the audit cards, and program reports and new officer

Officers and members of the clubs have been most cooperative as well as the national officers and central

office. I wish to thank each one who has helped, and especially Miss Onken and Mrs. Wild.

Respectfully submitted,

MARIE TUNSTALL LINGO

DELTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

H AVING Convention in our midst last year, resulted in definite gains for seventeen out of the eighteen clubs in Delta Province. These seventeen clubs were 100% in contributions and made progress in the various phases of alumnæ club work. The Southeastern Indiana Club, the eighteenth club, was chartered

Dues for 725 members, including six isolated Pi Beta Phis, resulted in a gain of 65 members over the 660 paid members of last year; however there were only 8 affiliated seniors reported. Gary, Shelby-ville, Southeastern Indiana and Southwestern Indiana were the four clubs to have all resident Pi Phis as members of the alumnæ club. Excluding the new Southeastern Indiana club with 25 charter members, ten clubs reported increases from 1 to 27 members. They are, in the order of greatest gains, first Detroit, Southwestern Indiana, Lansing-E. Lansing, In-dianapolis; Gary, Richmond and Shelbyville were next with the same number and then followed Fort Wayne, Jackson, Bloomington also showing the same increase. Bloomfield Hills added 2 affiliated seniors.

Contributions to the three national projects were larger this year. Settlement School gifts totaled \$649.50, an increase of \$34.00 over last year's amount of \$615.47. Detroit, Indianapolis, Gary, Shelbyville, Franklin, and Richmond raised their contributions and four-month-old Southeastern Indiana, made a small gift. The total of \$72 was given to Holt House making an increase of \$9.50 over the previous year. Detroit, Shelbyville, and Richmond gave larger amounts this year and Southeastern Indiana made its first contribution. The Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund received \$103.50 as compared to \$77.50 sent to the Loan Fund in 1947-1948. This indicates an increase in club giving of \$26.00. Increases were made by Detroit, Fort Wayne, Hillsdale, Richmond, Shelbyville, and Southeastern Indiana.

Arrowcraft sales amounted to \$6,019.94, a gain of \$241.50 over last year's sales. There were fourteen clubs participating in the sale of Settlement School products and two clubs were unable to secure stock in time for their anticipated sales. Gary, Richmond, Shelbyville, and Grand Rapids has Arrowcraft sales for the first time. Those showing larger sales than

the previous year were, Detroit, Lafayette, and Southwestern Indiana,

The magazine subscription commissions totaled \$1,233 for Delta Province which reports an increase of \$142. Nine clubs increased their commissions over

the ones of the previous year.

Splendid co-operation between clubs and chapters has existed in the province. The Recommendation Committees have functioned and both clubs close by chapters or remote from them, hold summer rush parties for local girls planning to attend one of the universities where there is a Pi Beta Phi chapter. The Michigan clubs have been particularly generous to Michigan I this year because of the many needs resulting from the purchase of a new chapter house. Likewise the clubs of Indiana have given many tangible proofs of interest to Indiana E as that chapter plans for a new home. The other chapters have been remembered by gifts throughout the year. Franklin Club has been assisting in the redecoration of chapter rooms at Indiana A. The eight chapters in the province have received approximately \$2,381.50 in cash and gifts from the alumnæ clubs which indicates the growing enthusiasm and willingness of groups to help the active chapters. Several clubs have held joint meetings with the active chapter on special Π Φ days. For the first time the Michigan II D's held a State Luncheon in honor of Founders' Day with 254 in attendance. The annual Founders' Day State Luncheon was held in Indianapolis with 558 Pi Beta Phis

Save the Children Federation was supported in the amount of \$95 sent by six clubs. One club also

sent food.

In localities where there are Panhellenics, Pi Beta Phis have lent their support and cooperation.

There has been growth in national point of view resulting in increased gifts and efforts which are ex-pected by-products of Convention in a province where every club had a delegate in attendance. It has been a pleasure to work with the clubs this year and to realize the many fine efforts put forth in the name of Pi Beta Phi.

Respectfully submitted, VIRGINIA BRACKETT GREEN

EPSILON PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THIS HAS been a year of activity and growth for Epsilon Province. Although the club at Jefferson City disbanded because of lack of members we now have eleven clubs rather than last year's ten. The Blue Ridge Alumnæ Club, with a membership from a rather wide area in Virginia and Tennessee, was chartered in November, and the Tri-State Alumnæ Club with members from Joplin and surrounding towns was chartered in February. Even with their late start, these new clubs have assumed their responsibility to the Fraternity and have contributed to our three national projects. As they grow in strength and activity they will add strength to the Province and to the Fraternity.

All clubs have made contributions to the three national projects, giving the Province their 100 per cent rating again. St. Louis headed the list in the size of these gifts, having sent \$1000.00 to Settlement School and \$315.00 to the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund. The Province is proud of the fact that in this first year of the Emma Harper Turner Fund when it has been one of the major projects \$457.00 has been contributed to it. Four clubs continued aid to the Save the Children Federation, Columbia, Louisville and the Knoxville-Little Pigeon Club sending money and the St. Louis Club sending clothing.

Settlement School sales over the Province produced

gross sales of \$5091 69. More than usual effort has been made by the magazine committees with good results. The clubs continue their great interest in the chapters and their constant effort to help them in all possible ways. The fact that most of the clubs have chapters in or near their cities contributes much to the interest and cooperation of actives and alumnæ.

The clubs continue to give strong support to local altruistic projects. Because of their exceptional volunteer aid as well as financial support to the Rehabilitation Institute, the Kansas City Club now has a mem-ber on the Executive Board of the Institute. St. Louis has continued the fine work that club has done for underprivileged and handicapped Girl Scouts. Members of the club in Nashville met together many times to make things which they sold at a bazaar. They cleared \$150.00 which was given to a school for underprivileged boys in Nashville.

The fact that many clubs in the province had delegates at the last Convention is doubtless the reason that interest and activity have been unusually good. The clubs are becoming increasingly aware of the value of sending a delegate and more are making a real effort to raise the necessary money.

As this officer turns over to her successor the work of the office, she is keenly aware of the widened friendships and better understanding of the work of her fraternity she has gained during her years in office. For these things as well as the support and help of members of Grand Council and other officers she is truly grateful. To the officers and members of the alumnæ clubs go her sincere appreciation for their cooperation and fine spirit in working for the Fraternity.

Respectfully submitted, MARGARET ARMSTRONG FOSTER

ZETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

ZETA PROVINCE is growing! Two new clubs have been operating since fall; two others were granted a charter in May; contributions to the three national projects are 100 per cent; assistance to chapters is higher than last year; and there is an increase in membership. Really, we have had a very successful year.

The new clubs, Ocala and Mobile, show a splendid start. The other two just affiliated, Gainesville and Tallahassee, will add thirty-two members; and already, with meetings and plans, show promise of being strong clubs. I have made many contacts in our four states to form new clubs and hope for more next year. One number is now thirteen.

Of the 696 resident Pi Phis reported, 353 are members, including six seniors. This is an increase of sixty-six over last year. Six clubs show gains, with Orlando, Jacksonville and Tampa leading. Only one club shows a loss. Lakeland is again 100 per cent. This is the ninth consecutive year. Ocala is also 100 per cent; Mobile misses by one member; and De Land is next with 82 per cent.

Contributions to the three national projects amount to \$286.00, which is \$13.00 less than last year's. However, contributions to chapters offset this loss, as they amount to \$143.75, which is \$60.00 more than last year's. Contributions to Save the Children

Federation amount to \$60.00. Seven clubs held Arrowcraft sales, with a gross total of \$1178.17, and showing an increase of \$137.02 over last year's sales. St. Petersburg was high with \$390.40; Atlanta was second with \$221.85; and Miami third, with \$207.60. Birmingham, Orlando, Jacksonville and Tampa were the other clubs holding sales

Our magazine commissions amount to \$239.52, which is \$32.74 less than last year's. Orlando is high with \$58.30; Jacksonville second with \$44.20; and St. Petersburg third with \$33.55.

Three clubs have allocated an amount towards a Convention Fund-Atlanta, Miami, and St. Petersburg. Three clubs report local projects: Atlanta, in furnishing linens for the Children's Home; Birming-ham, with Christmas gifts to the Crippled Children's Clinic; and St. Petersburg, with a gift of \$50.00 for juvenile welfare.

Co-operation with chapters has been excellent. On the whole there seems to be a fine spirit and relationship between the chapters and the clubs. All clubs report parties and help in every way in rushing. Many report showers and money given. Jacksonville had a kitchen shower for Florida B. Birmingham is giving a dance this month to help decorate the chapter room at Birmingham-Southern and had an intermission party for their spring formal. This club was indispensible during rush week to the colony at Alabama. Miami and St. Petersburg each sent \$25.00 to this colony, as did Mobile, plus a towel shower, Tampa sent a small gift to Florida B. Lake-land sent \$10.00 each to Florida A and Florida B. DeLand has given very active assistance all year to Florida A and has formed a house corporation. At-lanta gave \$30.00 to Georgia A and has worked very closely with that chapter all year. Orlando has co-operated with Florida Γ for meetings and rushing. All these reports are very gratifying.

I feel that Clubs have made an extra effort to

have entertaining programs so as to interest members in attending meetings. Clubs where there are chapters have had many meetings together. Several other clubs have invited neighboring clubs to meet with them for Founders' Day.

I would like to say that I have had excellent co-

operation and help from everyone this year, my first as Province Vice-President. I want to thank the clubs and those members whom I have met. To the national officers who have helped me I am most grateful, especially to prompt and efficient Gladys Scivally of Central Office.

MARGUERITE BLOCKER BARTLETT

ETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

E TA PROVINCE is happy to announce a new mem-ber, the North Shore Junior Alumnæ Club, composed of 25 young women. We are glad to welcome this club into our Province. This makes twenty-five

clubs, a large and active Province.

Eta Province, located as it is in the center of our country, might be called the heart of the fraternity world. Every club is enthusiastic and alive. Interested in all Phi Phi projects, contributing liberally, and nearly every club is aiding an active chapter in some way. Our clubs are not only contributing to fraternity projects, but to local causes and are in-

tegral parts of their communities.

Every club is 100 per cent, not only in their fraternity projects, but in the enthusiasm, interest, and their cooperation. All the grand letters from busy officers have been greatly appreciated. The spirit that pervades Eta Province cannot be put into figures.

We have had an increase in membership this year of nearly 75. But there are still too many II Φ s not members of their local clubs. Perhaps another year we

can put more stress on this.

Many of our clubs had Arrowcraft sales, each most successful in proportion to its size. Each club

shows a gain in total sales over last year.

Contributions to Holt House and the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund were splendid. Fourteen clubs contributed to Save the Children Federation.

Where alumnæ clubs are strong and active the active chapters benefit, for what is so interesting as a chapter full of lovely young II \$\Phi^*s? So benefited the chapters in Eta Province. In figures turned in by clubs this help amounts to over \$400.00, but sev-

eral of the clubs did not give an estimate of their aid to chapters, where I know it has been large and invaluable. This cooperation between clubs and chapters is a fine thing for both groups.

ters is a fine thing for both groups.

The program of each club sounded very interesting. Several clubs had style shows and teas, some rummage and white elephant sales, others square dances so their husbands could join in the fun, too. Most of their affairs were for profit, thus combining business and pleasure. All had most impressive Founders' Day teas or luncheons. The clubs in the Chicago Area joined in a luncheon at a loop tea room, attended by over 200 II \$\Phi\$'s. The Libbie Brooks Gaddis Club of Avon journeyed to Monmouth and had their Founders' Day program at Holt House.

The past year's work has been a new experience for me, one that I have found both enjoyable and strenuous. I am looking forward to my club visits next year and to meeting all the officers from whom I have had such grand letters. For their cooperation I am most grateful. I also express my gratitude to Grand Council and Central Office; they have been

most inspiring.

Respectfully submitted, FLORENCE G. LAUDER

THETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

To BE able to report once again Theta Province in the 100 per cent column, is indeed a thrill, but to be able to report a gain in the number of paid members, and a substantial increase in the total amounts given to the various projects listed on the financial chart, is still another worth while accomplishment.

With sixteen presidents and sixteen treasurers ready and willing to cooperate throughout the entire year, it has been most pleasant for your province officer, and one is made to feel that behind the columns of figures which make up the annual report, lies the true meaning of Pi Beta Phi, and a priceless comradeship of loyalty and cooperation throughout

the whole province.

While there has been a substantial increase in the number of paid members this year, it is hoped that another year will see a still greater increase. Several of the clubs still report quite a large number of resident alumnæ, who are not members of any club. It is hoped that in carefully checking all "lost lists," a great many II &'s will be "found" and persuaded to take an active part in the nearest alumnæ club.

The gross sales of Arrowcraft products have practically doubled in the past year, and the outright gifts to the Settlement School have also shown an increase. Special recognition should go to the Duluth Club for the generous gift to the school; in the Arrowcraft sales the Minneapolis Afternoon club led all others; St. Paul was second; Ames, third; Des

Moines, fourth; and Cedar Rapids, fifth.

The Alumnæ Clubs in close proximity to active chapters have been most generous in their gifts to the active chapters. The total amount of gifts for this year exceeded that of last year by six times. The Mt. Pleasant and Indianola clubs gave wonderful assistance along this line, and both clubs have felt that they were duly repaid because of the high place both Iowa A and Iowa B held on their respective campuses.

Manitoba Alpha Alumnæ Club led all the rest in

gifts to the Save The Children Federation Inc. Thirteen clubs in all gave to this fund and there was enough for a full sponsorship for François Brault, the little French girl assigned to us and \$66.50 to apply upon a \$90.00 sponsorship for our little Italian girl, Laura Grimaldi. Christmas and birthday greetings, and gifts of food and clothing were sent to both girls.

Once again all of the clubs in the province have taken the lead in their respective communities in such drives as Red Cross, Polio, Cancer, etc.; some have established scholarships, and helped with other

worthwhile enterprises.

I have made two unofficial visits and two official visits in the province, and I wish to thank all of the actives and aumnæ of Iowa A who shared responsibility in carrying out the plans for the Founders' Day observance there. I am certain that all who came from nearby towns and cities, as well as myself, will long remember the wonderful time that we had together.

Ten of the sixteen clubs in the province, sent delegates to the convention at French Lick Springs, and it has been quite evident that each club represented was strengthened by the return of a well informed delegates. Our goal for 1950 in EVERY CLUB IN THETA PROVINCE REPRESENTED BY A DELEGATE AT THE JASPER NATIONAL PARK

CONVENTION.

All groups are vitally interested in rushing and we are looking forward to the added service from our state rushing chairman, Charlotte Schrier Klyn

of Pella, Iowa.

It has been a real joy to work with the officers of my clubs during the past year, and I am especially proud of the way in which younger members in the clubs are assuming responsibility. Perhaps Theta Province has established some kind of a record this year, since I have received birth announcements from three of my club presidents, and I wish to say, that each of the three has maintained a perfect record

as far as monthly letters and reports are concerned. Congratulations! Knowing that the ever ready help of Grand Council, committee chairmen, and assistance from the Director of Central Office, were available whenever needed, it has been a pleasure to serve as your province vice-president for the past year. Respectfully submitted,

HELEN WRIGHT GRANT

IOTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

It is a real pleasure as a new officer to report that lota Province is 100 per cent in contributions, and that all clubs have met the requirements of holding the four prescribed meetings, many including Loyalty Day programs. Four clubs, Fort Collins, Hutchison, Ogden, and Manhattan, have 100 per cent membership, a fact of which these clubs may be

justly proud.

The province has a gain in membership, last year's total being 745 and this year's, 838, only one club showing a slight decrease. There is also an increase in the contributions to our three national projects: Settlement School, \$897.00; Holt House, \$109.00; Emma Harper Turner, \$114.00. Arrow Craft sales were held by all the clubs except two, and they reported them to be most successful financially as well as socially. In holding the sales and the teas, the communities are becoming better acquainted with our Settlement School products, and the worthwhile work the Fraternity is accomplishing. The publicity given by most of the local papers and radio stations was most gratifying. Nine clubs contributed to the Save the Children Federation, Wichita assuming sole sponsorship of one child. A total of \$181.00 was contributed to this fund.

In addition to our own projects Pi Phis are loyal to their communities, supporting Community Chest Drives, Cancer Fund, Needlework Guild, Girl Scout activities, Aid to Crippled Children, Red Cross, and many other local drives. The Junior Group of the Denver club is continuing its work among the children at the State Home, \$130.00 being given for this work in addition to many hours spent with the

children.

Clubs situated in college towns are most loyal and helpful in their assistance to the active chapters, both financially and in advisory capacities. These younger girls are a great inspiration to the alumna groups, and a source of pleasant contacts at doing celebrations such as initiation banquets, cooky-shines, and Founders' Day observances. Every club reports aid to the chapters in rushing, both in recommending girls to be rushed, and entertaining at parties during

vacations, whenever permissible in accordance with Panhellenic rules.

Our province is hoping to hold first place again in magazine subscriptions. Denver has \$1,176.29 to its credit at the present date, and the Laramie club, over \$400.00. Many of the clubs report splendid suc-

cess in their efforts.

We cannot boast of any new clubs in our province this year, but we have some prospects for next year. It seems that often the local alumnæ are unwilling to assume the responsibility of becoming a chartered group, which is most unfortunate. Working for a common cause always brings closer associations and

lasting friendships.

It was indeed a pleasure to visit twelve clubs this year. The gracious way in which I was received and the enthusiasm with which I was greeted were a great inspiration to me to do my best toward making our province outstanding. There seemed to be a line spirit of cooperation and real friendliness in all these clubs, and I sincerely feel that this is the real reason for our existence. From letters received from the seven clubs I was unable to visit, I feel very sure that this same spirit prevails in all the groups.

We were most fortunate to have a brief visit from two of our national officers, Marianne Wild and Adele Alford. To have our gracious Lolita Prouty living in our province is an inspiration to us all, and to every one with whom she comes in con-

tact.

I wish to thank all my clubs for their kindness and cooperation in making my year a very pleasant one, especially since this was a new experience for me. We shall all strive for even a better record next year. My sincere appreciation to Grand Council, Central Office, and National Committee Chairmen for their help and guidance. The splendid letters from Miss Onken, Marianne Wild, and Marie Hagee were always a source of inspiration, and for these I wish to express my deepest thanks.

Respectfully submitted,

MARIE Q. DIVISER

REPORT OF KAPPA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

K APPA province has gained six new clubs this year. Beginning with the chartering of the Waco club, announced at the final dinner at Convention, we have since chartered clubs in Lake Charles, Louisiana, Eldorado, Arkansas, and Bartlesville, Ada and Pauls Valley, Oklahoma. With the four clubs chartered last year, this brings the total number of clubs in the province to thirty five, an all time high for any province.

The total paid membership is 1,236, exclusive of seniors, an increase of 89. Clubs range in size from 10 to 152, with four clubs having memberships of over 100. These are Houston with 152, Dallas with 138, Tulsa with 134, and Oklahoma City with 123. McAlester, Pauls Valley, and Osceola clubs have all Pi Phis living in town enrolled as paid members.

Contributions to the Settlement School are \$1,031.93, with 25 clubs contributing. These contributions range from \$5.00 to \$200.00, with the Dallas club making the largest contribution, \$200.00. The Nits Hill Stark and Austin clubs contributed the total commission of their Arrowcraft sales to the Settlement School, these being, respectively, \$190.60, and \$76.33. The Houston and Oklahoma City clubs gave \$100.00 each, and Corpus Christi, Tyler, and Tulsa \$50.00 each. Contributions to Holt House were \$163.00 and to the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund \$125.00.

Arrowcraft sales show a large increase, due to the increased number of sales, as well as larger amount of sales. Eighteen clubs report sales totalling \$12,531.06, as compared with sales of \$9,139.55 last year. Due to the constantly increasing beauty of the products and the demand which we can establish among our friends as well as ourselves, even a small club will often find Arrowcraft sales its

best way of making money.

Twelve clubs reported support of local charities, such as Red Cross, Community Fund, TB Milk Fund, \$50.00 to a needy family at Christmas, prizes contributed and tickets sold for Panhellenic benefit bridge parties, Building Fund for Crippled Childrens' Home, Caddo Foundation for Exceptional Children, Joy Fund for Christmas of poor and presents for 25 needy children, Children's Civic Theatre, Ft. Worth Flood Fund.

The clubs and chapters of Kappa province contributed \$407.00 to the Save the Children Federation, enough for four sponsorships with \$23 over applied on Epsilon province. Nine clubs report contributions to the active chapter in the form of silver, money for redecorating and for rushing in the amount of \$631.50.

The remarkable growth of the alumnæ department is an indication of the wonderful spirit and standing of Pi Beta Phi in Kappa province. With the end of another club year, may I express my gratitude for the support and help of the members of Grand Council, Central Office, and committee chairmen, as well as for the cooperation of club officers and members, all of which have combined to make this an extremely pleasant and profitable year for the Province Vice President.

Respectfully submitted,

THERESA GIBSON GRAHAM

LAMBDA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

L AMBDA Province has again reached a new high in membership (767) with an increase of 8 over last year despite the fact that our three largest clubs

had a drop in their membership roll.

With the increased numbers we have also made our largest contribution to Settlement School, although we are not 100 per cent as a Province for the first time in many years. Our gift was \$771-\$300 coming from our Seattle club, and \$10 from the Walla Walla Pi Phis who do not have national affiliation. Interest in the School is evidenced by the large number of Pi Phis who undertake the sale of Arrowcraft products. Of our 20 clubs, 3 are in Canada and a sale for them is out of the question because of the duty—but only 3 of the remaining 17 clubs did not have sales this year. Interest in Holt House resulted in a gift of \$124.50, and the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund received \$81.

As usual Π Φ's in Lambda Province have been

busy doing for those outside the fraternity who need their help. From actives and alumna together, Save-the-Children contributions meant a little more than two full sponsorships, with many sending packages of clothing, food, and supplies in addition. Pullman and Yakima made substantial gifts to local hospital building programs; Portland gave to the

Grout School for Handicapped Children as well as to a school for the blind; Seattle and Yakima contributed to the fund for Spastic Schools, and they, along with Spokane gave to Red Cross and their local Community Chests. Seattle also made its yearly contribution of the Ruth Densmore Scholarship-\$100 available to a deserving student. Special mention should be made our newest club, Bellingham, which having been chartered in the summer of 1948, has finished its first year with a record of a successful Arrowcraft Sale and contributions to make it a 100 per cent club.

Results that do not show in a financial report are evident in the service that Lambda Province members render their fraternity and their communities by working in every phase of philanthropic endeavor. It is their help through advisory boards and rushing assistance that adds so much to the success

of our active chapters.

For the co-operation of club officers, for the guidance of Grand Council members, and for the everwidening circle of II & friendships, we are deeply grateful for the opportunity to bring to a successful ending another year for our great Fraternity.

LOUISE WHEELOCK DOBLER

MU PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

M U WELCOMED a new club this past year, Contra Costa, making 25 clubs in our Province. All of the twenty five clubs rated 100 per cent in supporting the three major projects of the Fraternity,

Settlement School contributions totaled \$928.00. Arrowcraft sales were \$11,690.14. Contributions to Holt House were \$144.50, Loan Fund contributions totaled \$30.00 and to Emma Harper Turner Fund totaled \$254.50.

Ways and Means projects including the successful Bazaar benefit which the Southern California Area Council sponsored. From the proceeds of this benefit a second station wagon was purchased for the Los Angeles Crippled Children's Center.

Founders' Day was celebrated by all the clubs. The clubs in the Los Angeles Area Council celebrated together at the Huntington Hotel. The Northern Area Council Clubs (San Francisco Area) celebrated at the Palace Hotel with the California B actives. Eight clubs made contributions to an active chapter. New Mexico is establishing a substantial fund for their new house.

Many clubs supported local philanthropies such as Sacramento's support of Hospital for Unwed Mothers, Palo Alto's support of Kindergarten for Blind Children, Marin's "year round" booth and sale of Arrowcraft at the Art and Garden Center, Reno had her annual Hobby Show to raise money for her philanthropies.

M II &'s have been very active in helping in founding new city Panhellenic Clubs. Santa Monica's new Panhellenic Club has Katherine Bourne as their first president. San Jose's new Panhellenic Club has Betty Cochrane as its first president. Marin, with the help of the Marin II &'s, has just founded a Pan-hellenic Club and Dorothy George is their first presi-

Two clubs, Berkeley and Honolulu, supported one child each for one year through "Save the Children Federation." San Francisco, Fresno, and Albuquerque

donated to that project also.

We have four Junior Groups this year: Pasadena, Los Angeles, San Francisco, and Berkeley. The Berkeley Junior Group held its first formal dance jointly with the active chapter of California B this spring. The Los Angeles and Pasadena Junior Groups have worked with the senior clubs at the Los Angeles Crippled Children's Center.

It was a pleasure and inspiration to have our

Grand Vice-President visit us this year.

The officers and members of Mu Province have been most co-operative and have made my work interesting and pleasant. This past year has been a successful year solely because everyone has done her job beautifully. To Grand Council, the Director of Central Office, the officers and members of Mu Province I should like to express my sincere gratitude. Respectfully submitted,

MARCELLA McCORMICK RHODES

Fraternity Fundamentals

By FRANK A. MYERS, Kappa Alpha

Associate Judge of the Municipal Court of the District of Columbia, Chairman N.I.C.

(Reprinted from Banta's Greek Exchange)

The majority of our fraternities have become "Big Business" with all the attendant difficulties and related problems: the ownership of huge real estate holdings, the management of large boarding houses, the publication of magazines and papers, and the cost of largelyattended conventions, not to speak of the expensive social affairs that are the tradition of most active chapters each year. National officers are concerned with these affairs of management and conservation and, serving usually without compensation, have little time for the moral side of fraternity operation. By this, I do not mean that the initiation ceremonies are not staged and observed with propriety but these do not occur frequently. In the interim, chapter operation on the business and social side continues. But what about the practice and teachings of the symbolism of the fraternity, of the principles and tenets for which the institution was founded, and of the use of the ideals in the chapter and individual member's life? I fear that little emphasis is laid on that vital phase of the fraternity, although I am confident that in one form or other each fraternity seeks to improve character. I suggest that the fraternities try this year to lay more emphasis on their fundamentals-their intangibles! With the tremendous increase in numbers of fraternity undergraduates, we run

the risk of seeing our fraternities lose their traditional distinctiveness unless we indoc-

trinate more thoroughly.

To my way of thinking, every fraternity teaches and should inculcate in its membership five senses—the sense of Loyalty, the sense of Duty, the sense of Responsibility, the sense of Obligation, and the sense of Brotherly Love. I cannot help but believe that in some way we have failed some of our membership when by their actions and words they show a lack of these senses toward the national organization. Needless to say, I am referring to certain active chapters which have rebelled against national authority and whose charters have been withdrawn. Their action, supposedly warranted by a fanciful violation of some social right, is much more un-American, much more dangerous to our democratic processes and much more unfraternal than the reasons they hold forth to support their stand. It would seem that they failed to assimilate the fraternal teachings of their rituals when they demonstrate no appreciation of duty or of obligation taken at the altars of their organizations. Could not this failure on their part be partly due to our failure to emphasize more frequently and more strongly the principles for which each of our organizations stands?

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Club 1948–49	Res.	Paid Mem,	Am't Dues Total	No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund		Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home		Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Save Chil- dren	E.H.T.
Boston, Mass	175	42	\$3.00	7	35	\$ 71.55	\$ 224.55	\$35.85	-	\$ 43.00	\$ 1.00	\$ 50.00	-	-	Nova Scotia Alpha	-	-	_	\$ 3.60	-	-	-	-
Burlington, Vt	65	18	3.00	8	15	2.50	591.81	-	\$ 2.50	-	2.50	150.00	\$16.00	-	Maine Alpha	\$12.00	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Eastern Maine†	30	20	2.50	7	15	3.00	53,00	4.40	-	3.00	3.00	-	-	-	Vermont Alpha	-	_	_	11.40	_	-	_	_
Halifax, N.S.*	40	19	3.00	10	18	2,00	-	10.80	-	2.00	2.00	14.78	-	-	Vermont Beta	21.00	-	-	2.75	-	_	-	-
Hartford, Conn.*	119	45	3.00	8	33	50.00	527.53	72.05	-	5.00	10.00	25.65	-	-	Massachusetts Alpha.,	9.00	-	_	3.05	-	-	-	-
Montreal, Quebec*	48	33	3.50	8	25	10.00	-	29.55	-	3.00	2.00	-	10.00	-	Massachusetts Beta.,,	14.00	-	-	4.90	-	-	-	-
New Haven, Conn	70	12	2.50	7	14	15.00	384.00	18.80	-	3.00	2.00	25.00	15.00	-	Connecticut Alpha	7.00	-	_	-	_	-	-	-
Portland, Me	22	15	3.00	10	10	10.00	365.67	35,15	-	10.00	10.00	Sophomore	5.00	-									
Stamford, Conn	34	7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_									
Isolated	-	1	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	_	-	-	-									

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle-	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home		Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Save Chil- dren	E.H.T-
Albany, N.Y	43	31	\$3.00	9	22	\$ 20.00	\$ 803.15	\$ 24.85	_	\$ 10.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 50.00	-	-	New York Alpha	\$ 9.00	\$ 5.00	_	\$25.30	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	-	_
Buffalo, N.Y.*	84	53	3.00	9	30	75.00	309.25	18.80	-	10.00	10.00	25.00	-	_	New York Delta	23.00	10.00	-	29.80	15.00	_	-	-
Ithaca, N.Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	_	1	-	New York Gamma	-	10.00	-	4.20	10.00	10.00	-	-
London, Ont	85	49	4.00	8	29	5.00	-	-	-	5.00	5.00	60.00	-	-	Ontario Alpha	1.00	10.00	-	26.83	5.00	8.00	_	_
New York City	350	77	4.50	7	35	350.00	455.44	51.55	_	2.00	5.00	10.00	-	-	Ontario Beta	-	5.00	-	11.50	5.00	5.00	-	-
Northern N.J.*	90	61	3.00	8	45	100.00	229.00	54.10	_	2.50	2.50	200.00	_	-									
Poughkeepsie, N.Y	8	11	2.50	6	6	5.00	-	5.00	-	2.00	2.00	-	-	-									
Rochester, N.Y.*	80	35	*3.00	8	35	50.00		48.75	-	10.00	3.00	100.00	-	-									
Schenectady, N.Y	55	17	2.25	8	25	76.27	399.41	7.00	-	-	_	15.00	-	-									
Syracuse, N.Y	74	54	4.00	11	25	10.00	*3.50	_	-	10.00	5.00	25.00	-	-									
Toronto, Ont	200	55	1	5	40	15.00	-	-	-	15.00	2.50	195.00	-	-									
Westchester Co., N.Y		59	-	6	25	15.00	222.80	68.35	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									

BETA PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Childre Fund	n Pi Phi	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	E,H.T
Akron, Ohio*	70	45	\$3.00	8	29	\$150.00	\$ 5.50	\$ 10.30	-	\$ 10.00	\$10.00	-	-	\$150.00	Pennsylvania Beta	-	\$ 35.00	-	\$48.25	\$10.00	\$15.00	\$15.00	-
Athens, Ohio*	41	29	2.25	6	18	10.00	-	28.50	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-	Pennsylvania Gamma	-	-	-	8.35	-	-	-	-
Central Pa	67	29	2.50	9	20	10.00	450.88	2.40	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	-	Ohio Alpha	-	161.64	-	19.50	10.00	-	96.00	-
Charleston, W.Va	62	38	3.00	10	28	10.00	644.60	72.50	-	5.00	7.50	10.00	-	-	Ohio Beta	-	15.00	_	16.90	10.00	-	-	\rightarrow
Cincinnati, Ohio*	120	49	2.50	10	35	100.00	-	42.30	-	10.00	5.00	25.00	-	_	Ohio Delta	_	45.40	_	57.15	10.00	-	_	_
Cleveland East, Ohio*	247	126	3.00	8	65	305.00	463.45	55.65	_	15.00	10.00	325.00	_	-	Ohio Epsilon	-	10.00	-	38.35	5.00	5.00	-	-
Cleveland West, Ohio*	105	62	3.00	9	45	252,00		24.38	_	10.00	10.00	25.00	-	500.00	Ohio Zeta	_	15.00	_	23.65	10.00	-	-	_
Columbus, Ohio	350	121	4.00	10	90	125.00	734.77	83.10	-	25.00	15.00	40.00	-	-	West Virginia Alpha	_	5.00	-	22.00	5.00	-	-	_
Dayton, Ohio*	88	51	3.00	10	27	50.00	96.25	54.85	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Fairmont, W.Va	18	14	2.00	6	10	15.00	202.82	8.15	=	5.00	5.00	35.00	-	-									
Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa	50	26	4.00	8	18	100.00	146.25	24.10	_	5.00	5.00	20.00	-	-									
Mahoning Valley, Ohio	28	20	2.50	6	_	7.00	-	10.70	-	3.00	2.00	_	-	-									
Morgantown, W.Va	38	37	3.00	.8	-	5.00	-	4.20	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Ohio Valley, Ohio	21	14	3.00	8	12	15.00	77,10	5.20	-	5.00	5.00	25.00	_	-									
Oxford, Ohio	10	9	3.50	9	6	10.00	663.44	18.45	-	2.50	2.50	74.50	-	_									
Philadelphia, Pa.*	350	104	3.00	5 Large 22 Dis.	50 25	500.00	723.65	33.80	-	10.00	10.00	1	-	-									
Pittsburgh, Pa,*	150	48	3.00	9	22	125.00	1199.08	140.95	-	25.00	50.00	25.00	-	-									
South Hills, Pittsburgh*	48	32	3,00	10	18	25,00	682.45	49.85	-	5.00	5.00	5.00	_	-									
Southern N.J	54	19	2.50	4	-	15.00	40.00	1.25	-	5.00	2.00	-	_	-									
Toledo, Ohio	115	98	3.50	4 Large 12 Small		40.00	1156.00	82.00	-	20.00	10.00	80.00	=	25.00)								

GAMMA PROVINCE

Club 1948–49	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Save Chil- dren	E.H.T.
Baltimore, Md	110	51	\$4.00	8	40	\$ 75.00	\$ 809.50	\$ 41.90		\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 50.00	-	-	Maryland Alpha	-	\$ 10.00	-	-	\$10.00	-	\$10.00	-
Chapel Hill, N.C	-	19	2.00	-	-	-	-	14.55	-	-	-	-	-	-	Maryland Beta	-	5.00	-	\$127.58	5.00	_	5.00	_
Charlotte, N.C.	32	14	3.00	3	10	-	-	14.00	-	-		_	-	-	D.C. Alpha	-	7.00	-	23,25	7.00	-	7.00	-
Columbia, S.C	42	14	3.00	18	14	2.00	600.00	23.85	\$ 2.00	2.00	2.00	84.00	-	-	Virginia Alpha	_	25,00	-	20.00	10.00	_	10.00	-
Durham, N.C	18	12	3.00	8	9	5.00	60.05	16.65	-	2.50	2.50	-		-	Virginia Gamma	-	5.00	-	37.50	5.00	-	4.00	-
Norfolk, Va	30	14	4.00	8	11	5.00	155.50	23.70	-	2.00	2.00		-	-	North Carolina Alpha.	-	15.00	-	1.60	15.00	-	15.00	-
Washington, D.C., Sr	400	152	3.00	7	75	140.00	1000.00	128.30	-	25.00	5.00	120.00	\$96.00	-	North Carolina Beta	-	30.00	_	81.25	10.00	-	10.00	-
Washington, D.C., Jr	103	31	3.50	7	25	2.50	_	_	-	_	2.50	_	_	-	South Carolina Alpha.	_	5.00	-	.90	5.00	-	5.00	-
Wilmington, Del	56	34	3.00	7	18	1.00	140.45	26,90	-	1.00	1.00	735.00	10.00	-									
Richmond, Va.	40	25	3.00	8	20	40.00	-	5.55	-	3.00	3.00	10.00	5.00	_									

DELTA PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Ph.		Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Save Chil- dren Fund	E.H.T
Ann Arbor, Mich	85	45	\$2,00	5	24	\$ 25.00	\$ 338.95	\$ 29.95	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 25.00	\$25.00	-	Michigan Alpha	\$ 7.00	\$ 10.00	-	\$ 7.50	\$10.00	\$10.00	\$32.00	_
Bloomfield Hills, Mich.*	45	Sr. 2 30	3.00	8	20	100.00	720.00	215.90	_	10.00	5.00	Gifta 25.00	25.00	_	Michigan Beta	3.00	60.00	-	38.15	20.00	30.00	32.00	_
Bloomington, Ind	45	38	3.00	8	20	25.00	_	16.80	_	5.00	5.00	27,50	10.00	-	Michigan Gamma	17.00	10.00	-	31.15	5.00	10.00	32.00	-
Detroit, Mich.*	351	Sr. 1 96	-	4 gen. 4 groups monthly	35 20	100.00	361.83	96.85	-	25.00	10.00	3 chapters 150.00	_	_	Indiana Alpha	11.00	5.00	-	14.70	5.00	5.00	10.00	_
Fort Wayne, Ind.*	72	Sr. 2 39	3.00	10	30	10.00	93.15	29.05	- 4	10.00	10.00	Gift 50.00	20.00	_	Indiana Beta	20.00	30.00	_	86.70	10.00	10,00	-	-
Franklin, Ind.*	90	51	2.00	11	41	30.00	202.00	34.85	-	2.50	5.00	375.00	Food	_	Indiana Gamma	2.00	10.00	_	84.75	10.00	5.00	_	4
Gary, Ind.*	. 18	18	3,50	9	12	25.00	640.00	-	-	1.00	1.00	Rush party	-	-	Indiana Delta	9.00	20.00	-	4.10	10.00	10.00	_	_
Grand Rapids, Mich.*	50	33	50¢ per meeting 2.00		21	8.00	97.60	52.77	_	5.00	2.00	Jams 125.00	10.00		Indiana Epsilon	20.00	5.00	-	102.70	5.00	5.00	_	
Hillsdale, Mich	36	15	2.00	6	12	1.00	_	22.45	_	5.00	1.00	Gifts value 45.00	_	_									
Indianapolis, Ind.*	550	126	3.00	9	60	247.50	132.46	131.85	_	10.00	10.00	35.00 1000.00 party	_	_									
Jackson , Mich.*	27	Sr. 1 20	2.00	7	14	2.00	33.00	10.20	4	2.00	2.00	Jams 20.00	_	_									
Lafayette, Ind.*	60	48	3,00	8	30	25.00	1691.70	86.30	_	3.00	5.00	Gifts 42.00	_	-									
Lansing-E. Lansing, Mich.	41	Sr. 4 32	3.00	8	21	5.00	397.15	16.05	-	2.00	3.00	475.00	_	-									
Northern Indiana	-	10	-	-	-	-	-	5,35	-	-	-	-	-	-									
Richmond, Ind	17	15	2,75	9	10	2.00	213.15	44.25	_	2.00	2.00	Pienie	-	_									
Shelvyville, Ind	17	17	3.00	6	15	3.00	208.95	2.15	-	3.00	3.00	Rush party	-	-									
Southeastern Indiana†	25	25	2.50	2	20	1	-	-	-	1.00	1.00	Pienie	-	-									
Southwestern Indiana	45	Sr. 2 56	3.00	11	26	40,00	890.00	59.70	-	15.00	5.00	Rush tea 155.00	5.00	-									
Inactive Club	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.15	-	-	-	=	-	-									
Isolated Alumnae	_	6	-	4	_	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	_									

EPSILON PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Save	Е.Н.Т
Blue Ridge,	30	28	\$3.00	3	16	\$22.00	-	-	-	\$ 2.00	\$ 2.00	-	-	-									
Chattanooga, Tenn	169	66 & 3	5.00	11	33	5.00	414.93	_	-	5.00	5.00	145.00	-	-									
Columbia, Mo	32	32	4.00	9	11	75.00	500.36	-	-	5.00	5.00	75.00	-	-									
Kansas City, Mo	385	158 & 8	5.00	8	100	300.00	1291.26	-	-	100.00	50.00	135.00	-	-									
Knoxville-Little Pigeon, Tenn	41	22	3.00	7	12	5.00	_		_	5.00	5,00	Proceeds of June rum- mage sale	_	-									
Louisville, Ky	240	48	5.00	9	30	25.00	570.50	_	-	5.00	5.00	70.00	-	-									
Memphis, Tenn	50	27 & 2	3.00	10	20	10.00	400.00	_	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Nashville, Tenn	70	17	3.50	9	23	5,00	225.00	-	-	5.00	3.00	50.00	-	-									
St. Louis, Mo	460	126 & 11	3.50 & 3.00	9	70	1000.00	883,75	_	_	315.00	15.00	37.00	-	_									
Springfield, Mo	150	62	3,00	12	33	15.00	805.89	4.	4	5.00	15.00	Help on Building Fund	-	_									
Tri State	56	12	3.50	4	15	5.00	- 7 -7	-	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									

^{*} Gave to local causes. † Chartered this year.

ZETA PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home		Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	
Atlanta, Ga.*	123	33	\$4.00	7	21	\$ 35.00	\$ 221.85	\$ 12.00	-	\$ 5.00	\$10.00	\$ 30.00	\$10.00	-	Alabama Alpha	-	\$ 15.00	-	\$ 4.65	\$15.00	\$15.00	-	-
Birmingham, Ala.*	85	2 Sr. 42	2.50	13	26	10.00	165.67	13.67	_	10.00	5.00	Parties	10.00	_									
DeLand, Fla	39	1 Sr. 32	2.50	8	16.5	25.00	-	26.25	_	10.00	5,00	18.75	10.00	-	Florida Alpha	-	10.00	_	5.00	10.00	10.00	-	-
Jacksonville, Fla	80	25	2.00	12	18	5.00	66.00	44.20	-	3.00	3.00	Shower	-	-	Florida Beta	~	15.00	-	8.65	10.00	15.00	-	-
Lakeland, Fla	19	19	4.00	8	8	5.00	-	1.25	-	5.00	5.00	20.00	5.00	-	Florida Gamma	4	20.00	-	3.20	10.00	15.00	-	-
Miami, Fia		55	4.00	11	25	25.00	207.60	19.15	-	15.00	10.00	25.00	20.00	-	Georgia Alpha	-	20.00	_	8.60	10.00	15.00	-	-
Mobile, Ala.†	14	13	4.00	7	10	1.00	-	.30	-	1.00	1.00	Shower 25.00	5.00	_									
Ocala, Fla.†	14	14	3.00	5	10	2.00	-	2.30	-	2.00	2.00	-	-	-									
Orlando, Fla	90	3 Sr. 54	3.50	11	25-30	10.00	69.15	58.30	-	5.00	3.00	-	-	-									
St. Petersburg, Fla.*	56	31	3.00	9	17	10.00	390.40	33.55	-	10.00	5.00	25,00	_	-									
Tampa, Fla	45	35	5.00	9	20	15.00	57.50	28.55	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Gainesville, Fla		14) 18)	These tw	o just ch	artered (May)																	

ETA PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Average Attend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	E,H.T.
Avon, 111	14	19	\$3.00	6	14	\$ 10.00	\$ 137.99	\$ 35.00	-	\$ 10.00	\$ 7.00	\$ 7.00	_	_	Wisconsin Alpha	-	\$50.00	-	\$11.35	-	-	-	-
Beloit, Wis	22	18	2.00	8	12	21.00	569.00	21.80	-	5.00	5.00	50.00	-	-	Wisconsin Beta	-	_	-	16.20	-		-	-
Carthage, Ill	7	8	2.50	4	6	5.00	-	14.00	-	2.00	1.00	-	-	-	Wisconsin Gamma	-	-	-	5.40	-	_	-	-
Champaign-Urbana, Ill	95	81	3.00	8	45	100.00	3041.53	41.25	_	10.00	10.00	_	_	-	Illinois Alpha	-	-	-	3.50	-	-	_	-
Chicago Bus. Women	-	25	_	9	18	5.00	-	15.90	-	5.00	5.00	_	_	_	Illinois Beta Delta	_	-	-	15.65	_	_	_	_
Chicago, North, Ill	-	42	2.00	8	16	25.00	470.06	17.50	-	1.00	5.00	20.00	_	-	Illinois Epsilon	-	_	-	25.15	-	-	-	_
Chicago, South, Ill	107	64	4.50	10	40	75.00	623.36	35.20	_	5.00	5.00	15.00	-	_	Illinois Zeta		_		10.05	_	-	-	-
Chicago West Suburban	-	46	-	-	-	5.00	750.00	26.00	-	5.00	5.00	_	_	-	Illinois Eta	-	-	_	3.30	-	-	-	4
Decatur, Ill	-	86		_	-	35.00	-	111.48	_	10.00	5.00	_	-	_	Illinois Theta	-	_	-	23.00	-	-	-	_
DuPage, County, Ill	. 39	20	2.50	6	20	10.00	_	4.50	-	5.00	5.00	_	_	-									
Elgin, Ill	. 27	18	3.00	8	15	1.00	_	56.10	-	5.00	1.00	-	-	_									
Fox River Valley, Wis	. 21	19	3.00	9	12	10.00	-	16.05	_	5.00	2.00	_	-	14									
Galesburg, Ill	. 75	55	3.00	8	35	25.00	876.84	11.65	-	5.00	15.00	_	_	-									
Fox River Valley, Ill	_	15	3.00	7	12	5.00	-	6.45	-	5.00	5.00	-		-									
Jacksonville, Ill	-	12	-	-		15.00		8.05	_	10.00	10.00	_	-	-									
Joliet, Ill	_	14	_	_	_	5.00	-	15.90	-	2.00	2.00	_	_	-									
Madison, Wis	. 70	43	-	9	35	50.00	306.65	26.10	-	10.00	5.00	10.00	-	_									
Milwaukee, Wis	190	100	3.00	10	66	200.00	1405.00	57.60	-	10.00	10.00	28.50	_	-									
Monmouth, Ill	41	36	3.00	9	19	5.00		40.25	_	5.00	25.00	50.00	_	_									
North Shore, Ill	423	83	4.00	9	50	35.00	1142.05	42.00	-	10.00	5.00	85.00	-	_									
Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.	. 78	30	3.00	17	20	50.00	265.10	35.85	-	10.00	10.00	-	_	_			-						
Peoria, Ill	140	104	3.00	9	65	25.00	1930.80	44.55	-	10.00	10.00	100.00	-	-									
Rockford, Ill	30	17	2.00	10	14	15.00	93.70	7.60	-	10.00	5.00	5,00	-	_									
Springfield, Ill	-	14	-	-	-	30.00		4.45	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	_									

THETA PROVINCE

Club 1948–49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver. age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memoria Fund	l Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	E.H.T.
Ames, Iowa	66	41	\$4.00	6	35	\$ 20.00	\$ 474.10	\$ 30.95	-	\$ 1.00	\$ 1.00	\$ 60.00	-	-	Manitoba Alpha	\$14.00	_	-	-	-	-	_	\rightarrow
Burlington, Iowa	23	13	2.50	5	11	5.00	_	8.65	-	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	Minnesota Alpha	5.00	-	-	\$12.00	-	-	-	-
Cedar Rapids, Iowa		22	3.00	8	18	30.00	330.00	61.18	-	5.00	5.00	-	\$ 5.00	-	North Dakota Alpha	-	-	-	2.30	-	-	-	
Council Bluffs, Iowa	-	14	1.00	4	12	10.00	232.00	1.20	-	2.00	1.00	-	-		Iowa Alpha	6.00	-		22.95	_	-	-	-
Des Moines, Iowa		48	3.00	7	20	5.00	363.20	23.10	-	5.00	5.00	25,00	25.00	-	Iowa Beta	4.00	\$10.00	-	15.40	-		***	\$10.00
Duluth, Minn,		23	2.00	10	19	100.00	228.46	24.95	-	5.00	5.00	15.00	10.00	-	Iowa Gamma	3.00	5.00	-	27.40	-	10.00	-	-
Grand Forks, S.D		18	2.00	9	16	10.00	58.18	5,70	-	5.00	5.00	Gift	10.00	-	Iowa Zeta	8.00	-	-	7.60		-	-	-
Indianola, Iowa	_	32	2.50	7	23	5.00	_	7.35	-	5.00	5,00	40.00	20.00	_									
Iowa City, Iowa	_	34	2.50	9	33	5.00	71.99	24.60	-	1.00	50.00	-	10.00	-									
Minneapolis Afternoon	_	84	2,50	8	40	25.00	683.40	31,50	-	25.0	10.00	50.00	-	_									
Minneapolis Evening		21	3.50	8	20	1.00	(+1)	16,40	-	1.0	1.00	-	2.50	-									
Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	_	34	2.75	9	25	10.00	154.00	108.25	-	1.0	5.00	117,48	5.00	_									
St. Paul, Minn.	76	27	2.00	8	25	25.00	600.40	51.30	-	10.0	5.00	10.00	50.00	-									
Sioux City, Iowa	24	24	3.50	7	20	10.00	22.00	21.85	-	5.0	5.00	-	15.00	-									
Tri City, Iowa	42	26	3.00	8	20	10.00	109.50	-	-	1.0	1.00	-	10.00	-									
Winnipeg, Man., Can	100	57	3,00	9	30	1.00	-	49.10	77	1.0	1.00	-	96.00	-									

IOTA PROVINCE

RET	1	1	1	i	1	1	1	1						4					
Save Chil- dren Fund	\$96.00	96.00	96.00	1	96.00	2.00	96.00	1											
Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	1	1	1	1	1	1	j	1											
Holt House	1	10.00	10.00	20.00	2.00	10.00	10.00	5.00											
Mag. Com- missions	26.92	84.30	104.95	110.35	15.30	2,25	17.45	3.00											
Loan Fund m		\$ 5.00	10.00	25.00	2.00	5.00	2.00	5.00											
Settle- ment Behool F	\$ 75.00	50.00	20.00	100.00	25.00	5.00	20.00	5.00											
Senior Dues 8	\$14.00 \$	22.00	15.00	00.6	8.00	11.00	14.00	8.00											
S Chapter I	Colorado Alpha \$1	Colorado Beta	Kansas Alpha	Kansas Beta	Nebraska Beta	South Dakota Alpha	Utah Alpha	Wyoming Alpha											
Ph Phi Home	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	i	1	.1	-1	-1	1	1	1	1	1
Save Children Fund	1	\$24.00	1	1	10.00	5.00	ī	5.00	1	-1	00'9	10.00	1	1	10.00	15.00	1	1	96.00
Active Chapter	\$ 20.00	Rush help & Silver	15.00	10.00	Rush help	3.57	Rush belp	Rush help	45.61 & Silver	2 chairs 137.50	115.00	25.00 & Gift	4.50 & Silver	Gift to Initiates	25.00	Gifts	Rush help	Redecorat-	Rush help
Holt	5.00	1.00	5.00	5.00	10.00	5.00	1.00	2.00	1.00	10.00	2.00	20,00	2.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	10.00	1.00	10.00
Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	\$ 5.00 \$	5.00	5.00	5.00	10.00	5.00	5.00	3.00	1.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	5.00	10.00	3.00	5.00	10.00	1.00	2.00
Loan	1	1	1	i	Í	1	1	1	1	1	1	- 1	t	1	1	t	1	-1	t
Mag. Com- missions	\$ 30.85	94.80	31.95	7.75	342.30	15.45	42.80	32.05	110.15	3.80	100.30	19.90	22.05	108.10	44.70	23.10	1.20	7.10	58,55
Arrow Craft (gross sales) n	\$ 473.35 \$	121.45	200.00	1	1126.72	437.00	992.28	364.03	212.40	800.00	510.00	1320.00	193,55	926.85	582.26	27.50	490.86	109.20	631.16
Settle- ment School	\$ 50.00 \$	25.00	25.00	20.00	400.00	35.00	20.00	20.00	1.00	25.00	25.00	100.00	10.00	25.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	1.00	25.00
Attend-	30 \$	20	25	61	65	14	15	14	24	35	52	30	30	20	30	61	14	16	36
No. of Meet- A ings	œ	00	6	9	6	*	10	2		-	6	4	7	10	6	0	9	ø	2
Am't Total Dues	\$3.00	3.50	3.00	2.50	9.00	2.50	4.00	2.00	3.00	2.00	4.00	3.00	2.50	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Paid Mem.	38	53	41+1	23	140+3	18	33	58	30	47+1	8+99	45+8	27	02	22+1	9+99	21+1	16+3	48
Res.	62	4	55	31	560 1	17	30	39	12	09	115 6	52	27	911	24	225	36	20	128
Club 1948-49	Boulder, Colo	Casper, Wyo.*	Cheyenne, Wyo.*	Colorado Springs, Colo	Denver, Colo.*.	Ft. Collins, Colo	Hutchinson, Kan."	Kansas City, Kan	Laramie, Wyo.*	Lawrence, Kan."	Linooln, Neb	Manhattan, Kan.	Ogden, Utah*	Omaha, Neb	Pueblo, Colo.*	Salt Lake City, Utah"	Topeka, Kan.*.	Vermillion, S.D.	Wichita, Kan.*

* Gave to local causes. † Chartered this year.

KAPPA PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment Sehool	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	E.H.T
Ada, Okla.†	-	11	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Arkansas Alpha	-	\$ 25.00	-	\$35.75	\$10.00	\$10.00	-	-
Ardmore, Okla,*	25	23	\$4.00	9	17	\$ 15.00	\$ 529.91	\$ 4.70	-	-	\$15.00	\$ 25.00	-	-	Louisiana Alpha	_	100.00	_	none	50.00	50.00	-	_
Austin, Tex.*	70	63	3.00	8	20	76.33	321.95	42.10	-	10.00	10.00	25.00	-	-	Louisiana Beta	12.00	10.00	-	47.25	25.00	10.00	_	-
Bartlesville, Okla.†	33	29	3.00	9	18	5.00	291,67	-	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	-	Oklahoma Alpha	17.00	50.00	-	3.75	35.00	15.00	-	_
Baton Rouge, La	-	20	-	-	-	-	-	5.80	-	_	-	-	-	-	Oklahoma Beta	7.00	25.00	- 6	32.25	15.00	10.00	_	-
Brazos Valley, Tex	27	21	4.00	6	14	5.00		-	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-	Texas Alpha	23.00	100.00	-	27, 25	25.00	50.00	_	_
Corpus Christi, Tex.*	50	32	5.00	8	25	50.00	676.55	20.80	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-	Texas Beta	21.00	50.00	-	56.90	5.00	5,00	-	-
Crowley Ridge, Ark	-	15	-	-	-	-	-	5.80	-	-	-	-	_	-									
Dallas ,Tex.*	350	138	3.00	9	50	200.00	888.01	333.77	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Eldorado, Ark.†	-	23	_	-	-		_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-									
Fayetteville, Ark.*	30	25	3.00	9	16	10.00	147.90	9.60	_	10.00	5.00	50.00	_	-									-
Fort Smith, Ark	45	22	3.00	8	15	10.00	-	14.85	-	5.00	3.00	_	-	-									
Ft. Worth, Tex.*	87	41	4.00	10	25	25.00	1043.64	29.05	-	5.00	5.00	40.00		-									
Houston, Tex.*	255	153	3.75	9	75	100.00	2665.30	50.40	-	5.00	10,00	_	-	-									
Lake Charles, La.†	_	11	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	_	_									
Little Rock, Ark.*	100	30	4.00	10	30	15.00	815.75	19.75	-	10.00	5.00	_	-	-									
McAlester, Okla.*	11	13	3.00	14	10	5.00	572.35	27.95	_	5.00	5.00	50.00	_	_									
Muskogee, Okla.*	27	24	3.00	8	17	10.00	102.94	14,70	-	5.00	5.00	10.00	-	-									
New Oreleans, La	-	33	_	-	_	35.00	-	none	-	10.00	10.00	-	-	-									_
Norman, Okla	17	18	2.00	7	18	10.00	500.00	43.35	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Oklahoma City, Okla.*	190	125	5.00	9	78	100.00	1694.52	38,65	-	10.00	10.00	100.00	-	-									
Okmulgee, Okla	12	10	3.00	12	10	15.00	-	none	-	5.00	-	-	_	-									
Osceola, Ark	12	12	3.00	6	10	-	-	none	-	-	-	-	-	-									
Pauls Valley, Okla.†	9	10	-	\rightarrow	-	-	-	1,50	=	-	-	-	-	-									
Ponea City, Okla,	29	10	2.50	6	12	-	_	none	_	-	_	_	_	-									

KAPPA PROVINCE (Continued)

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Average Attendance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home			
Rio Grande Valley	-	0	-	-	-	-	- 4	_	_	_	_	_	_	_			
Sabine Disttrict, Tex	38	36	\$3.50	7	25	\$190.60	\$ 779.95	\$ 40.90	-	\$ 15.00	\$15.00	-	-	-			
San Antonio, Tex	75	21	3.00	5	20	5.00	360.00	none	-	5.00	5.00	-	_	-			
Shreveport, La.*	57	31	4.00	10	22	25.00	305.45	34.30	_	10.00	5.00	50.00	-	-			
Stillwater, Okla.*	53	45	3.00	9	32	10.00	406.06	73.55	-	5.00	5.00	80.00	-	-			
Texarkana-TexArk	-	16	2.00	-	-	10.00		none	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Tulea, Okla.*	200	136	3.00	9	71	50.00	955.00	36.90	-	5.00	15.00	76.50	- 4	-			
Tyler, Tex.*	-	21	-	_	-	50.00	-	none	_	5.00	5.00	-	_	-			
Waco, Tex.†	38	30	3.00	6	18	5.00	37.01	5,35	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-			
Wiehita Falls, Tex	-	20	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			

LAMBDA, PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memoria Fund		Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home		Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	Chil- dren	
Bellingham, Wash	-	14	\$2.00	6	10	\$ 5.00	\$ 341.00	-	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	-	-	_	Oregon Alpha	-	\$ 10.00	-	\$ 5.30	_	-	-	See
Boise, Idaho	45	29	4.00	9	24	50.00	4.80	\$ 50.85	-	5.00	5.00	Gifts	-	-	Oregon Beta	-	-	-	4.45	-	-	-	-
Bozeman, Mout	30	19	3.25	9	15	5.00	400.55	1.00	_	5.00	2.50	\$ 20.00	-	_	Oregon Gamma	10.00	-		7.75	-	-		-
Butte-Anaconda	21	11	3.00	5	10	-	-	none	-	_	_	_	_	-	Montana Alpha	6.00	_	_	1.75	-	_	-	_
Calgary, Alta., Can	40	26	3.00	8	18	1.00	-	10.75	-	1.00	1.00	10.00	4	_	Idaho Alpha	2.00	-	-	1.05	-	_	_	-
Corvallis, Ore	28	21	2.00	8	20	5.00	-	3.55	-	2.50	7,50	-	_	_	Washington Alpha	21.00	-	-	7.95	-	-	-	acine .
Edmonton, Alta., Can	61	22	3.00	9	20	5.00	-	none	-	2.00	5.00	Gifts		-	Washington Beta	9.00	-		10.10	-	-	-	-
Eugene, Ore	45	28	3.00	8	25	5.00	675.00	15.85	-	5.00	1.00	6.50	-	-	Washington Gamma	8.00	_	-	121.07	-	-	_	_
Everett, Wash	15	11	4.00	8	8	35.00	525.00	24.80	-	1.00	15.00	-	-	_	Alberta Alpha	-	-		7,65	_	-	_	-
Medford, Ore	-	21	(no repo	rt from P	resident)																		
Olympia, Wash	15	13	2.00	8	9	5.00	362.28	14.05	-	5.00	5.00	-	_	-									
Portland, Ore	350	118	3.00	7	75	100.00	1482.00	57.65	_	10.00	10.00	50-Ore, A 50-Ore, B 50-Ore, I	_	_									
Pullman, Wash	28	26	3.00	10	17	25.00	2497.34	6.40	-	1.00	5.00	20.00	-	-									
Salem, Ore	89	67	2.50	9	33	50.00	986.75	6.20	-	10.00	15.00	350.00	-	-									
Seattle, Wash	300	124	3.00	8	65	300.00	1224.44	73.85	_	10.00	10.00	150.00	-	_									
Spokane, Wash	133	70	3.00	6 aft. 9 eve.	10 33	25.00	715.00	13.60	_	5.00	5.00	Wash, B—5 Idaho A—5		-									
Taeoma, Wash	119	75	3.00	10	70	50.00	707.80	31,85	-	10.00	10.00	424	-	-									
Vancouver, B.C., Can	36	26	3.00	10	18	5.00		16.05	-	2.00	5.00	5.00 local	-	-									
Wenatchee, Wash	-	22	(no repor	rt from pr	resident)	45.00	-	24.00	-	3.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Yakima, Wash	30	23	3.00	10	15	5.00	489.35	70.85	_	1.00	10.00	-	-	-									
Walla Walla, Wash. (lecal group)	_	_	_	_	-	10.00	16	-	-	_	_	_	_	_									

MU PROVINCE

Club 1948-49	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Total Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Average Attendance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	i Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund		E.H.T
Albuquerque, N.M.*	54	31	\$4.00	9	18	\$ 5.00	\$ 600.00	-	-	\$ 5,00	\$ 5.00	-	\$ 8.00	-	New Mexico Alpha	\$ 8.00	\$ 15.00	-	\$ 3.15	\$15.00	-	\$28.00	-
Berkeley, Calif.*	260	123	3.00	9	65	250.00	1759.30	_	-	50.00	2.50	\$ 25.00	96.00	-	California Beta	2.00	25.00	_	23.90	15.00	-	-	-
Contra Costa†	45	10	3.00	12	8	2.00	225.00	-	-	2.00	2.00	-	_		California Gamma	9.00	-	-	6.95	15.00	-	-	-
El Paso, Tex.*	25	22	3.00	8	15	5.00	264.45	_	_	5.00	5.00	25.00	-	-	California Delta	25.00	30.00	-	6.10	20.00	-	96.00	_
Fresno, Calif.*	39	23	2.00	4	20	25.00	15.00	-	-	20.00	10.00	-	8.00	_	Arizona Alpha	10.00	7.50	-	7.50	10.00	_	10.00	-
Glendale, Calif.*	103	55	3.00	9	35	25.00	-	-	-	5.00	10.00	-	_	-	Nevada Alpha	11.00	-	-	59.40	5.00	_	-	-
Honolulu, T.H.*	40	28	3.50	8	23	10.00	1027.25	_	_	10.00	10.00	_	96.00	_									
Long Beach, Calif.*	100	41	3.10	12	30	20.00	165.40	-	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Los Angeles, Calif.*	650	234	4.00	10	55	200.00	1162.03	-	-	25.00	20.00	-	_	-									
Marin County, Calif.*	26	17	3.00	8	10	15.00	1224.00	_	-	4.00	3.00	-		-									
Palo Alto, Calif	130	41	3,00	10	30	25.00	392.47	-	-	20.00	5.00	10.00	-	-									
Pasadena, Calif.*	350	160	3.00	10	85	25,00	564.20	-	-	1.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Phoenix, Ariz.*	110	43	3.00	7	40	5.00	388.11	_	_	5.00	5.00	18.00	_	-									
Reno, Nev.*	93	38	4.00	9	25	10.00	-	-	-	2.50	2.50	_	-	-									
Sacramento, Calif.*	45	24	3.00	8	20	10.00	1103.36	_	-	10.00	10.00	10.00	-	-									
San Bernardino, Calif.*	26	20	2.50	4	13	1.00	360.65	_		1.00	1.00	-	-	-									
San Fernando, Calif.*	106	47	3.00	12	32	10.00	98.97	_	5.00	1.00	5.00	-	-	-									
San Francisco, Calif.*	214	67	3.50	8	25	75.00	1257.15	-	-	25.00	10.00	45.00	10.00	-									
San Mateo County*	50	27	3.00	8	20	15.00	15.00	_	25.00	25.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Santa Barbara, Calif.*	34	30	3.00	12	22	5.00	350.05	-	_	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
Santa Monica, Calif.*	75	49	4.00	10	30	25.00	_	_	_	1.00	1.00	9.28	_	-									_
South Coast Club*	50	27	3.50	8	21	30.00	-	-	_	2.50	2.50	10.00	-	-									
San Diego, Calif.*	90	51	2.50	9	40	100.00	632.90	-	-	10.00	5.00	_	-	_									
San Jose, Calif.*	20	15	3.00	9	15	30.00	_	-		5.00	5.00	10.00	-	-									
Tueson, Ariz.*	85	35	3.00	9	32	5.00	385.65	_	5.00	5.00	5.00	-	-	-									
				_	_			_															

ALUMNAE PERSONALS

ALABAMA ALPHA

Marriages

Christine Elliott and James Edward Bagley on March 19, 1949 in Birmingham, Ala.
Ethel Marland Pruett and Edwin S. Word on May 28, 1949 in Birmingham, Ala.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Sam F. Carter, Jr. (Eulette Francis) a son, Thomas Francis, on March 15, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John W. McIntosh (Mary Perry Collier) a son, William Hooper, on April 3, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Fred M. McCord (Mary Margaret Price) a daughter, Lucy Ann, on May 5, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Lively (Cornelia Banks) a daughter, Frazer Banks, on May 30, 1949 in Chapel Hill, N.C.

To Mr. and Mrs. I. W. Gilmer (Margaret Anne Wilmore)

N.C.

To Mr. and Mrs. J. W. Gilmer (Margaret Anne Wilmore)
a daughter, Ellen Louise, on June 21, 1949 in East Rainelle,
W.Va.

To Mr. and Mrs. John M. Cranford (Marian Vineyard) a daughter, Elizabeth Clyde, on June 24, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. R. B. Kime (Margaret Gallagher) a son, Richard Eliotte, on July 7, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. H. L. Adams (Elenita Biard) a son, James Lee, on May 27, 1949 in Raymondville, Tex.

ARKANSAS ALPHA

Marriages

Nan Hopper and Franklin Hawkins in June, 1949. Jean Thomas and Frank Gordon in June, 1949. Marilyn Hoag and Alcuin Eason, Jr. in June, 1949. Barbara Dyess and Herman Williamson, Jr. in July, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Verne Feltych (Martha Ruth Kendrick) a daughter, Kendra Sue, on May 22, 1949 in Joplin, Mo. To Mr. and Mrs. Lowell L. Knipmeyer (Mary Elizabeth Zimmerman) a son, Kirk Morrison, on March 13, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Herbert Thomas, Jr. (Jean Pickens) a daughter, in March, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank Ellis McGehee (Jane Thomas) a son, in April, 1949.

ARIZONA ALPHA

Marriage

Alice Elizabeth Herzog and John Preston Davis, Jr. on June 18, 1949 in Glendale, Calif.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Sherman R. Miller, III (Elizabeth Hack) a daughter, Melissa Anne, on April 9, 1949 in New Yori

City. To Mr. and Mrs. Roy W. Brown, Jr. (Frances Pickrell) a son, Stephen Wallace, on March 20, 1949 in Akron, Ohio.

CALIFORNIA ALPHA

Marriage

Marilynn Frances Bernard and John Holt Gontrum on July 15, 1949 in Towson, Md.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Leigh M. Trowbridge (Mary Jane Hill) a daughter, Judith Lyon, on May 17, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Howard M. Georgi, Jr. (Mary Alice Mack) a son, Jeffrey Mack, on December 10, 1948.
To Mr. and Mrs. William C. Woolston (Karin Clark) a daughter, Patricia Lynn, on May 7, 1949 in Pasadena, Calif.

CALIFORNIA GAMMA

Marriages

Janet Palmer and George Edward Bourke, Jr. on June 18, 1949 in Los Angeles, Calif. Patricia Ann Cameron and Wallace Calvin Reed on June 11, 1949 in Glendale, Calif.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Russell Clark (Nancy Newton Handley) a daughter, Terry Lee, on January 11, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Walter Brewer (Dorothy Bogdonovic)

To Mr. and Mrs. Walter Brewer (Dorothy Bogdonovic) a daughter, Diana, on November 11, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Stuart Frye (Caroline Underwood) a son, on December 30, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Ralph J. Baston (Amy Jarvis) a daughter, on December 22, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Dell Hessick (Mary Moore) twins, a son and a daughter, Neal and Patricia, on June 20, 1949 in Glendale Calif.

CALIFORNIA DELTA

Marriage

Marilyn Schmidt and Robert Armand Bow on November 25, 1948,

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Marshall C. Pumphrey, Jr. (Shirley Sibley) a son. Gregg Carter, on March 30, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Bruce Gilbert (Dorothy Harkey) a son. Bruce Richardson, Jr., on January 31, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Quentin Lombard Clark (Gwen Fowler) a son, Quentin Lombard, Jr., on July 9, 1948.

COLORADO ALPHA

Marriages

Ruth Gillespie and Edward Lehman on April 22, 1949 in Denvey, Colo.

Marilyn Kathleen Keene and Ralph Douglas McDaniel in June, 1949 in Riverside, Calif.

Mary Lou Howell and Ronald Hamer on June 24, 1949 in Denvey, Colo.

Lean Fishel and Kenneth Olson on June 25, 1940 in Denvey. Denver, Colo. Jean Fishel and Kenneth Olson on June 25, 1949 in Denver,

Birthe

To Mr. and Mrs. John W. Lewis (Evalyn Prouty) a son, John Prouty, on March 24, 1949 in Ft. Collins, Colorado, To Dr. and Mrs. Herman Maul (Beverly Barton) a daughter, Mary Ann, in February, 1949 in Denver, Colo.

COLORADO BETA

Marriages

Katherine Robinson and James H. Wilson on June 25, 1948 in Denver, Colo.

Betty Lou Brayden and Robert B. Melzer on June 27, 1949 in Denver, Colo. Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Gerald J. Anderson (Fern Danks) a son, Mark, on April 3, 1949 in Denver, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. Norris E. Holstrom (Ellamae Metz) a son, John Everett, on June 8, 1949.

D. C. ALPHA

· Marriages

Margaret Glessner Day and Robert Weeks Northrup on March 19, 1949. At home, Silver Spring, Md. Jean Carter Prichard and Benjamin Jackson Fisher on April 23, 1949. Cornelia Gillespie Miller and Theodore Ernst Harvey on

June 14, 1949 at Fort Meyer, Va.

FLORIDA ALPHA

Marriage

Betty Jane Ivy and William Ambrose Hart, Jr. on April 24, 1949 in New Smyrna Beach, Fla.

FLORIDA BETA

Marriages

Margaret Simkins and John Lippincott on April 17, 1949 in Fort Benning, Ga. Sarah Marion Simkins and Glover Taylor on June 11, 1949 in Jacksonville Fla.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. George H. Dangleman, Jr. (Erma Doudney) a son, George Lee, on February 13, 1949 in Sanford Fla. To Dr. and Mrs B. A. Pope, Jr. (Lois Adkins) a son, Robert Andrew, on April 20, 1949 in Norfolk, Va.

117

To Mr. and Mrs Eugene Griffin (Joan Miller) a son, Stephan Leonard, on May 4, 1949 in Atlanta, Ga To Mr. and Mrs. Earl Harby (Betty Chitty) a son, Earl Frederick, on June 20, 1949 in Jacksonville, Fla.

FLORIDA GAMMA

Marriages

Mildred Churchwell Stockton and Moulton Lee Adams, II on June 17, 1949 in Jacksonville, Fla. Mary Katherine Gessford and C. Marshall Boone on February 24, 1949 in Louisville, Ky.

GEORGIA ALPHA

Marriages

Alice Malah Cowart and W. B. Sangaree, Jr. on November 19, 1948 in Marianna, Fla.
Margaret Louise Caruthers and Hugh Ruppersburg on April 24, 1949 in College Park, Ga.
Miriam Ann Henson and Roy Elmo Martin, Jr. on March 25, 1949 in Athens, Ga.
Ann Virginia Bass and Dr. Braxton Olie Godwin on April 16, 1949 in Daytona Beach, Fla.
Margelynn Keith Manning and Vernon Pickering on June 18, 1949 in Atlanta, Ga.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edwin F. Yancey (Bettye Braungart) a daughter, Marion Perdue, on April 5, 1949.

IDAHO ALPHA

Marriage

Joella Gage and Rainer B. Heikel on December 19, 1948.

ILLINOIS ALPHA

Marriage

Beverly Jones and Robert White on June 18, 1949 at Kewance, Ill.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald R. Green (Beverly Busch) a daughter, Joylyn Jean, on January 27, 1949 in Riverside, Calif.

To Mr. and Mrs. James K. Lanahan, II (Mary Alice Pennington) a son, James, III, on January 8, 1949 in Dittchurch Pennington.

Pennington) a son, James, III, on January 8, 1949 in Pittsburgh, Pa.
To Mr. and Mrs. Keith Eldridge (Maxine Turnbull) a daughter, Ruth Ann, on March 10, 1949.
To Dr. and Mrs. Russell Jensen (Alice McDougall) a daughter, Christina Frances, on April 1, 1949.

ILLINOIS BETA-DELTA

Marriages

Marriages

Phyllis Rudd Seim and Douglas Perry Fletcher on July 2, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

Catherine Lackland and Gale William Gunnison on April 16, 1949 in Chicago, Ill.
Priscilla Holt and Paul Richard Clendening on June 18, 1949 in Peoria. Ill.
Helen Jeannette Holmquist and Charles Wetherbee on June 26, 1949 in Galesburg, Ill.
June Pendarvis and Jarvis Cecil on June 11, 1949 in Oak Park, Ill.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. David E. Peterson (Sybil Haberkorn) a son, David Edward, Jr., on June 23, 1949.
To Dr. and Mrs. Clement E. Brooke (Emily Davis) a son, Clement Eustace, III, on May 6, 1949 at Rochester, N. Y. To Mr. and Mrs. James Richardson (Joyce Bower) a daughter, on April 29, 1949 at Colorado Springs, Colo.
To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Dorst (Barbara Holway) a daughter, Christine, on May 6, 1949 at Northridge, Calif.

ILLINOIS EPSILON

Marriage

Lou Huizinga and Gale Roger Billard in December, 1948. Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Marshall L. Froland (Florence A. Sawusch) a son, Marshall Timothy, on December 11, 1948.

ILLINOIS ZETA

Marriages

Mary Myrth Wallace and Russell Lee Jeckel on June 4, 1949 in Urbana. Ill.

Barbara Eloise Long and Richard G. Johnson, Jr. in Urbana, Ill.

Births

Biths

To Dr. and Mrs. H. W. Quist, Jr. (Jean Watson) a daughter, Marcia Lynn, on February 19, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. James Wilson, Jr. (Mildred Mellencamp) a son, Thomas Allan, on May 24, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Henry W. Preeman (Pearl Swanton) a son, William Henry, on January 7, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Pope (Barabara Gillingham) a daughter, Whitney Suzanne, on January 19, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Mueller (Betty Livingston) a son, Livingston Robert, on November 11, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. James P. O'Brien (Eileen Shuster) a son, Jiames Patrick, on May 9, 1949.

Mr. and Mrs. Fred Chase (Ruth Ralston) adopted a daughter, Deborah Jean on April 2, 1949 in Lincoln, Nebr.

ILLINOIS ETA

Marriages

Carol Beatrice Temme and Robert Paul Dedlow on May 7, 1949. Ann Norman and William Hayden Ettinger on May 14,

Joyce Martin and James C. Moore on May 28, 1949. Jean Lenore Scherer and Roger Leslie Wells on April 8, 1949.

Nan Ellen Sommer and Almon Everett Leach on April 23, 1949.

949.
Beverly Jean McMillan and Stuart Morton Northam on une 10, 1949.
Florence Scott and Richard L. Wood on June 16, 1949. Dorothea Osgood and Paul Tuck Rivard on June 18, 1949. Maribeth Ward and Robert Bismark King on July 2, 1949.

Births

To Dr. and Mrs. William F. Hubble (Emily Jane Wood) a son, on March 31, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. E. Lawrence Kuhle (June Bilgere) a son, March 14, 1949.

ILLINOIS THETA

Marriages

Dorothy Battles and Robert Richard Phillips on January 29, 1949 in Peoria, Ill.
Polly A. Langston and Robert Lee Mullen on February 19, 1949 in Peoria, Ill.
Shirlee Puckett and Bill Olsen on February 6, 1949.
Shirley Garrison and Walt Oltman on April 23, 1949.
Sally Stubblefield and Robert Luthy on April 23, 1949.

Sally Stubbleded and Robert Luthy on April 23, 1949. Patricia Murphy and Richard Adamson on April 23, 1949. Jackie McNalley and Giles Stead on June 4, 1949. Margaret Poole and David L. Sheperd on July 2, 1949. Margaret Poole and David L. Sheperd on June 21, 1949.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. David Harsch (Beth Merrill) a son, To Mr. and Mrs. David Harsch (Beth Merrill) a son, on October 26, 1948.

To Dr. and Mrs. George Dickirson (Mary Jeanette Chamberlain) a daughter, on October 28, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Scheel (Elizabeth Orwig) a son, on November 12, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Reinhardt Scheffler (Jean Clatfelter) a daughter, on November 24, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. William Curtis (Ann Dovey) a son, on December 29, 1948.

INDIANA ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Cochran (Betty Jo Jones) a son, Charles Jeffrey, on May 1, 1948.

INDIANA BETA

Marriages

Jean Ann Heidenreich and Thomas Campbell in Indiana-polis, Ind. Mary Frances Kelly and George Ericksen on December 16, 1948 in Indianapolis, Ind.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank M. Evans. Jr. (Marjorie McIntyre) a son, Frank Marion, III, on June 28, 1949 in Joplin, Mo. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Dean (Maxine Price) a son, in December, 1948 in Syracuse, N. Y.

INDIANA GAMMA

Births

To Dr. and Mrs. James R. Cox, 1 (Maxine Haffiner) a son. James R., II on January 6, 1949 in Siler City, N. C. To Mr. and Mrs. Don B. Wagener (Mary Ann Tindall) a daughter, Nancy Jane, on April 6, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

To Mr. and Mrs. Truman Franklin (Laura Back) a daughter, Cynthia, on March 22, 1949.

INDIANA DELTA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. John E. Tobin (Mary Jane Bachelder) a son, John C., on September 1, 1948 in Lakeview, Ohio.

INDIANA EPSILON

Marriages

Martha Nell Hargis and Thomas J. Carpenter on June 23, 1949 in Evansville. Ind.
Joyce Downs and Merlin H. Menk on April 9, 1949.
Martha Jane Threlkeld and Richard Lewis Long on June

Joyce Downs and Mer Martha Jane Threlkeld 4, 1949 in Dayton, Ohio.

Births

Binth

To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Coolman (Henrietta Krcilek) a son, on December 31, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. U. A. Brown (Margo Stark) a son, Keith Elliot, on January 28, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. G. Moore (Andrea Eggston) a daughter, Alphon, on December 26, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Roger Holcomb (Marie Freeman) a son, Roger McDonald, on February 3, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. T. E. Denton (Jean Traut) a daughter, Deborah Elaine, on June 16, 1949 in Grand Rapids, Mich.

IOWA ALPHA

Marriage

Bernice Seaver and Woodrow Franklin Blackmon on May 1, 1949 in Lancaster, S. C.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Roger M. Sherman (Margaret Jenness) a son, Kenneth Lee, on September 27, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. J. E. Boyle (Margaret Smith) a daughter, Janice Allyn, on April 12, 1949 in Keokuk, Iowa. To Mr. and Mrs. V. D. Eckles (Helen Baker) a son, on April 13, 1949 in Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.

To Mr. and Mrs. Graydon McQuilkin (Suzanne Ward) a daughter, Susan, on March 14, 1949.

IOWA BETA

Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. George Beauchamp (Veda Smith) a daughter, Milly Jane, on April 3, 1949 in Boulder, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. Myron Criswell (Mary Johnston) a son, John William, on March 9, 1949 in Indianola, Iowa. To Mr. and Mrs. William Hale (Lois Miller) a son, Robert William, on April 3, 1949 in Indianola, Iowa. To Mr. and Mrs. J. D. Cox (June Slocum) a daughter, Catherine Bly, on March 19, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Lorence Pemble (Phyllis Williams) a son, William Frederick, on June 4, 1949 in Indianola, Iowa. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Shandley (Mary Eleanor McKee) a daughter, Mary Ann, on May 14, 1949 in San Diego, Calif.

IOWA GAMMA

Marriages

Mary Alice Barber and Bruce McLain on June 18, 1949 at Omaha, Nebr.
Mary Lou Doyle and Donald Earl Mathews on June 28, 1949 at Boone, Iowa.
Nancy Alexander and James F. Morris on June 18, 1949 at

Oak Park, Ill.

Birth:

To Mr. and Mrs. Lee Walt Bransford (Jeanne Francis Fletcher) a daughter, Deborah Lee, on June 23, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. L. Richard Reynolds (Jane Fryer) a daughter, Nancy Jane, on February 17, 1949 in Aurora, Ill.

To Mr. and Mrs. R. C. Sundeen (Judith Clovis) a daughter, Joan Marie, in May, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. O. E. Tauber (Anna Hager) a son, on July 13, 1949 at Ames, Iowa.

To Mr. and Mrs. Milton C. Davis (Barbara Cooper) a daughter, Elizabeth Baker, on May 7, 1949 in Shreveport, La.

La. To Mr.

To Mr. and Mrs. Emil Hokanson (Emily Moeller) a daughter, Karen Emily, on March 27, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Heggen (Phyllis Garberson) a daughter, Mary Virginia, on April 13, 1949 in Indianola,

IOWA ZETA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William H. Seiler (Eulalia Klingbeil) a son, James Randell, on March 7, 1949 in Emporia, Kans.

To Mr. and Mrs. J. Y. McCollister, (Nanette Stokes) a son, on May 12, 1949 in Daveoport, Iowa.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Beers (Muriel Strate) a daughter, in April, 1949 in Rochester, N. Y.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank B. Comfort (Mary Ann Wood) a daughter, Deborah Elizabeth, on March 7, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. H. Clark Houghton (Joan Overholster) a son, Stephan Clark, on January 9, 1949 in Iowa City.

To Mr. and Mrs. G. A. Norgaard (Barbara Strub) a daughter, on March 15, 1949 in Iowa City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Richard McKinstry (Louise McCoy) a daughter, Jane in April, 1949 in Waterloo, Iowa.

To Mr. and Mrs. Richard McKinstry (Louise McCoy) a daughter, Victoria Lee, April 17, 1949 in Iowa City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Calkins (Betty Styer) a daughter, in April, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. G. F. Fieselmann (Ruth McCutcheon) a daughter, Jane Ann, on June 9, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Koster (Cherie Kadgihn) a son, on March 22, 1949 in Tokyo, Japan.

KANSAS ALPHA

Marriage

Jane Miller and Ned W. Smull on April 13, 1949 in Danforth Chapel, Lawrence, Kansas.

To Dr. and Mis. Clarke Henry (Jane Priest) a daughter, Carolyn Priest, on April 11, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Charles F. Delano (Patricia Hamilton) a son, Douglas, on April 29, 1949 in Kansas City, Kansas.
To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Lincoln (Louise Webster) a son, James Leslie, on May 14, 1949 in Galesburg, Ill.

KANSAS BETA

Marriages

Dorothy Alexander and Ralph Bentison on April 18, Dorothy Alexander and Raiph Bentison on April 18, 1949 in Concordia, Kans.

Martha Mae Beckman and James Laughlin Kilkenny on June 9, 1949.

Barbara Flora and Robert Buehler on June 17, 1949 in Salina, Kans.

Anna Jeanne Huddleston and Dr. James Craig Davis on June 26, 1949 in Kansas City, Mo.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Ory Pranger (Lillian Auston) a daughter, Beth Auston, in February, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Sidney Hargis (Jeanne Peabody) a daughter, Mary Lynn, on December 3, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Lowell Poague (Betty O'Neal) a daughter, Connie Jo, on May 3, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. George Schultz (Jeanne Wells) a son, Stephan Hall, on May 12, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Perry P. Peine (Virginia Howenstine) a daughter, Denise Elaine, on June 15, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Karl Kramer (Rosemary Maloney) a daughter, Susan Loretta, on April 16, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. David Gorrell (June Sorenson) a daughter, Sharon Deborah, on April 6, 1949.

KENTUCKY ALPHA

Marriage

Helen Burton Nold and Jeremiah Coleman Clarke on July 5, 1949 in Louisville, Ky.

Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. John S. Kirwan (Gloria Hartman) a daughter, Ellen Lyle, on February 7, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. George Boldrick (Anne Bakrow) a daughter, Elizabeth, on March 3, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John R. Williams (Barbara Thurman) a daughter, Lawrence Redmond, on March 23, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Butler (Virginia Bright) a daughter, Virginia, on December 6, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. G. W. Gossmann (Mary Jane Davis) a son, Douglas Kerr, on May 26, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Mazyck O'Brien (Jane Hartman) a daughter, Jane, on June 27, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. James D. Lewers, Jr. (Marjorie Dietrich) a son, Stephan Moore, on June 22, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edward Sullivan (Adaline Lewman) a son, Edward, Jr. on June 23, 1949.

LOUISIANA ALPHA

Marriages

Elizabeth Cooper and Henry Cleveland Wallach on January 28, 1949 in New Orleans, La.

Edwa Stewart Farwell and Duncan McCulloch on March 26, 1949 in New Orleans, La.

Claire Cecile Hero and William Phillip Beatrous on March 28, 1949 in New Orleans, La. Lydia Caffery and Henry Hilliard on April 16, 1949 in Franklin, La

in Franklin, La.

Becky Lee Ratcliffe and Edward Joseph Gilly on May
18, 1949 in New Orleans, La.

Laura Barelli Landry and James Legendre McCall, Jr.
on July 1, 1949 in New Orleans, La.
Joy Reynolds and Roger S. Whitlock on July 10, 1949 in West Palm Beach, Fla.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edmund Graves Brown, Jr. (Bethia McCay) twin sons, Edmund Graves, III and Percy McCay, on January 1, 1949 in New Orleans, La.

To Mr. and Mrs. Norman S. Conroy (Alice Patton) a daughter, Linda Lyons, on January 21, 1949 in New Orleans.

Orleans.
To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Norton Bernard, Jr. (Adelaide Phillips) a son, Thomas Norton, III, on April 8, 1949 in New Orleans.

New Orleans. To Dr. and Mrs. Charles Daniel Taylor, Jr. (Ruth Provosty) a son, Charles Michel, on May 30, 1949 in New Orleans

To Mr. and Mrs. F. Poche Waguespack, Jr. (Patricia Goodwin) a daughter, Stephanie Louise, on June 1, 1949 in New Orleans,

LOUISIANA BETA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. G. R. Thomas (Sarah Payne) a son, Michael Payne, on June 7, 1949 in Glendale, Calif.

MARYLAND ALPHA

Marriages

Linda Hamilton and Dr. Horace Mann Powell, Jr. on June 11, 1949 in Indianapolis. Ind. Helen Lorraine Wine and Isaac Long Terrell on June 18, 1949 in Harrisonburg, Va.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. F. Donaldson Naylor, Jr. (Katherine King) a daughter, Frances Donaldson, on April 25, 1949.

MICHIGAN ALPHA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William D. Schultz (Mary Louise Wilson) a son, David Wilson, on February 21, 1949 in Fort Wayne, Ind.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edward T. Stewart (Betty Lee Wilson) twins, a son and a daughter, Patricia Lee and Steven Edward, on April 3, 1949 in Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

MICHIGAN BETA

Marriages

Judith Ann Patterson and Theron David Longhrin on July 1949. Betty Storz Eaton and Dr. Robert Hume on June 24, 1949. Janet Cork and John Wahr on June 14, 1949.

Births

To Dr. and Mrs. Nathan D. Munro (Elizabeth Asselin) a son. David Badgley, on February 2, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. David A. Killins (Barbara Heath) a son. Thomas Heath, on May 13, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Philip Detwiler (Virginia Boardman) a daughter, Marguerite, on May 14, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack J. Behler (Beverly Gotschall) a daughter, Averie Jean, on May 23, 1949 in Grand Rapids, Mich. and Mrs. Nathan D. Munro (Elizabeth Asselin) a

MICHIGAN GAMMA

Marriage

Janet Elizabeth Smith and Jean-Jacques Rosler on March 19, 1949 in St. Cloud, France.

MINNESOTA ALPHA

To Dr. and Mrs. M. Donald McGeary (Margaret Gesell) daughter, Marcia Ann, on April 10, 1949 in Brainard, Minn. To Mr. and Mrs. Willis M. Ross (Joan Lundeen) a son, Willis M., Jr., on January 13, 1949 in Portland, Ore.

MISSOURI ALPHA

Judy Wheelock and Guy Foster on September 25, 1948. Margaret Owen and John Hinton on June 29, 1949. Cathryn Lee Cox and Jack E. Lipscomb on June 25, 1949.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles H. Warner, III (Elizabeth Dickinson) a son, Charles Dickinson, on March 31, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph C. Fagen (Kathleen Grimes) a son, Joseph, Jr., in February, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Frank M. Evans, Jr. (Marjorie McIntyre) a son, Frank M., on June 28, 1949 in Joplin, Mo.

To Mr. and Mrs. Horace Barks, III (Elsie Dickson) a daughter, Elizabeth Bancroft, on May 31, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. R. P. Sullivan (Betty Mack Scott) a son, Kelly Bryant, on June 10, 1949.
To Capt, and Mrs. Charles H. Pitney (Betty Weaver) a son, Robert Victor, on May 10, 1949.

MISSOURI GAMMA

Marriages

Juliana Johnson and Eugene Francis Everett on June 11, 1949 in Springfield, Mo. Mary Anne Walch and J. V. Cloud on April 4, 1949 in Springfield, Mo. Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Stonestreet (Ann Sheppard), a daughter, Jean Anne, on April 10, 1949 in Springfield, Mo. To Mr. and Mrs. James Everett Turner (Mary Catherine Hines) a daughter, Catherine Hines, on June 24, 1949 in Springfield, Mo. To Mr. and Mrs. Beauford Bancroft (Carol Farnham) a son, Bruce on April 19, 1949 in Springfield, Mo. To Dr. and Mrs. Arch Lowe, Jr. (Alice Hamlin) a daughter, Melissa, on December 9, 1948 in St. Louis, Mo.

To Mr. and Mrs. William H. Sanders (Nancy Crane) a daughter, Cynthia Chatfield, on December 25, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. G. W. Morriss (Ann Adams) a daughter, Frances Ann, on January 26, 1949 in Birmingham, Ala,

MONTANA ALPHA

Marriages

Phyllis Duncan Eckhart and Thomas Bennett in May, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Chester L. Belden (Erma Martin) a daughter, Margaret Louise, on October 6, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Alfred Grantham (Wilma Fedderson) a daughter, on April 12, 1949 in Portland, Ore.

To Mr. and Mrs. Torger Ooas (Martha Thompson) a daughter, in May, 1949 in Butte, Mont.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. B. Pfeiffer (Georgia Heisick) a daughter, Kathryn Ann, on April 8, 1949 in Washington, D. C.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Mahan (Shirley Tuohy) a daughter, Shelley, in Helena, Mont.

To Mr. and Mrs. Harry Cosgriffe (Peg Moore) a daughter, in June, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. George Corry (Arlene Weedman) a

in June, 1949,
To Mr. and Mrs. George Corry (Arlene Weedman) a
daughter, in January, 1949 in Billings, Mont.
To Mr. and Mrs Hugo Jacobs (Grace Williams) a son,
John Charles, on June 23, 1949 in Bozeman, Mont.

NEBRASKA BETA

Marriages

Janet Elizabeth Haggert and John Warren Trojan on May 22, 1949 in St. Paul, Nebr.
Kathryne Jane Seymour and Wayne B. Kingery on June 7, 1949 in Lincoln, Nebr.
Eleanor May Swanson and Walter Stacy Samuelson on June 17, 1949 in Omaha, Nebr.
Genene Mitchell and Marvin Grimm on June 18, 1949 in Omaha, Nebr.
Virginia Campen and James Seymour Latenser on June 25, 1949 in Omaha, Nebr.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Doran Hildebrand (Margaret Zemer) a son, Charles Stanley, on March 27, 1949 in Grand Island, Nebr.

Island, Nebr.
To Mr. and Mrs. Dwight Clements (Marjorie Horstman) a son, Gregory Leland, on April 5, 1949 in Elmwood, Nebr.
To Mr. and Mrs. A. H. Farrens (Marion Edgren) a daughter, Wendela Jane, on April 9, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. David Elsey (Katherine Garnand) a son, John Bryant, on November 12, 1948.
To Mr. and Mrs. Theodore H. Greene (Mary Louise Goddard) a son, Larry Douglas, on December 30, 1948.

NEW MEXICO ALPHA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. John Robb, Jr. (Peggy Hight) a son, John D., III, on January 19, 1949 in Minneapolis, Minn. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Kile (Bettye Summerlin) a

daughter, Martha Lynn, on March 25, 1949 in Amarillo,

To Mr. and Mrs. William Neill Brown (Jerry Morgan) twin sons, John Richard and Robert Eck, on April 24, 1949 in Lamar, Colo.

To Mr. and Mrs. L. Jay Root (Mary Alice Sims) a daughter, Dana Lynn, on March 25, 1949 in Albuquerque, N. M.

NEW YORK ALPHA

Marriages

Belle Hanson and Claude DuPont on June 4, 1949. Jean Whalen and Francis X, O'Conner, Ill on June 6, Patricia Knowlson and Donald S. True on June 25, 1949.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Melenbacker (Kathleen Holt) a daughter, Linda, on February 20, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Lester Brew (Alice Bennett) a daughter, Sara Katherine, on March 14, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. W. Robert Gossett (Ming Toy) a daughter, Cherie Ann, on March 31, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Raymond Nilsson (Orell Holman) a daughter, Kristina, on April 11, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Harold V. Pratt (Helen Craine) a son, Robert Hyde, on June 21, 1949.

NEW YORK DELTA

Rieth

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles E. Crittendon (Ruth Freile) a daughter, Claire Ruth, on May 19, 1949 in Maplewood, N.J.

NORTH CAROLINA ALPHA

Marriages

Maritages

Martha Roberts Huffman and Robert Scott Langley on June 11, 1949 in Morgantown, N.C.

Bettie Alexander Kendrick and Kenneth Gant on June 23, 1949 in Raleigh, N.C.

Florence Walker Andrews and Lt. Jack Christy Chessnutt AAF on April 9, 1949 in Lancashire, England.

Mary Frances Henry and Charles William Kinslow, Jr. on March 18, 1949 in Little Rock, Ark.

Jane Simpson Wilcox and Douglas Kirkpatrick Smith on April 2, 1949 in Rome, Ga.

Charlotte Huntington Thomas and Rev. Theodore Hall Patrick on June 4, 1949 in Culpepper, Va.

Rieths

To Mr. and Mrs. John Temple (Jane McLure) a son, Richard Harvey, on June 12, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. William J. McClure (Elizabeth Lacy) a daughter, Elizabeth Dee, on April 22, 1949.

To Dr. and Mrs. Kempton Jones, (Eunice Patten) a daughter, Constance Patten, on April 18, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Pat Humphreys (Carolyn Earl) twin daughters. To Mr. daughters.

NORTH CAROLINA BETA

Marriage

Joyce Ellen Dawson and James H. Moore on May 7, 1949. Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. C. S. Chiles (Eleanor I Lane Deas, on May 17, 1949 in Atlanta, Ga. (Eleanor Deas) a son,

NORTH DAKOTA ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Gordon Brant (Marilynn Tompkins) a daughter, Kathleen Gurine, on April 10, 1949.

NOVA SCOTIA ALPHA

Marriages

Christine Cameron and E. McDade. Margaret MacAskill and G. Willis on May 24, 1949. Margaret Burris and Ralph Creighton on June 4, 1949. Eleanor Douglas and G. B. Weswell on June 11, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. James Turnbull (Daphne Christie) a son, Christopher James, on February 26, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Randall (Audrey Miles) a son, on December 21, 1948.

OHIO ALPHA

Marriages

Jeanne Frances Fisher and Ralph Davis Sneath, II on June 15, 1949 in Toledo, Ohio.

Helen Virginia Fisher and Edward Ray Heck on June 15, 1949 in Toledo, Ohio.

To Mr. and Mrs. William Wood (Mary Grace Robbins) a daughter, Linda Ann. on December 23, 1948.

OHIO BETA

Marriages

Ruth Sprankle Dougherty and William White on September 2, 1948 in New York City.

Martha Jane Leifeld and David Willman Davis on April 1040

9, 1949.
Martha Jane Moore and Paul Theodore Kohr on May 28, 1949 in Portsmouth, Ohio.
Donna Rae Morris and William Bigler Read, Jr. on June 11, 1949 in Euclid, Ohio.
Virginia Brush and Frank Chappelle on June 15, 1949 in Columbus, Ohio.
Virginia A. English and Roy D. Boucher on June 15, 1949 in Urbana, Ohio.
Mary Eleanor Jones and Paul Meredith Smith on June 24, 1949 in Columbus, Ohio.
Patricia Rector and Ralph William Donnelly on July 9, 1949 in Columbus, Ohio.
Barbara Hedges and Hal Ray Jones on July 9, 1949 in Sandusky, Ohio.

Sandusky, Ohio.

Barbara Harlor and John Lawrence Fitzgerald on July 16, 1949 in Columbus, Ohio.

Birthi

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack E. Lester (Susanne Glover) a daughter, Susan Eugenia, on June 16, 1949.
To Dr. and Mrs. Allan Fanning (Barbara Shoemaker) a daughter, Janet Elizabeth, on May 21, 1949 in Dayton, Ohio.
To Mr. and Mrs. Chancey Humphreys (Nancy Horton) a daughter, Deborah Jane, on May 31, 1949 in Dayton, Ohio.

OHIO DELTA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. R. L. Pleiness (Mary Frances Fulton) a daughter, Nancy Gean, on May 14, 1949 in Akron. Ohio.

OHIO EPSILON

Marriages

Virginia Fay Andrews and Victor D. Griffith on June 18, Cecilia Wood and Keith Babcock on June 11, 1949. Nancy Donnelly and Robert Hinds on April 23, 1949. Patty Hammontree and John Vyn on December 20, 1948 at Angola, Ind.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Carson (Janet Greene) a daughter, on March 10, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. William Monroe (Joan Lennex) a son.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robert O. Roehrs (Betty Lee) a son.
To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Bridenbough (Laura Gradolph)

To Mr. and Mrs. John Malone (Ellen Johnson) a daugh-

ter. To Mr. and Mrs. George S. Banta (Martha Fleming) a

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Shoen (Margaret Kitzmiller) a son. To Mr. and Mrs. Philip Ballmer (Virginia Wolff) a son. To Mr. and Mrs. Kemper Merriam (Katherine Winsinger) a daughter, Judith Anne, on February 6, 1949.

OHIO ZETA

Marriage

Mary Louise Fabian and Walter Thomas Blakney on July 2, 1949 in Abilene, Texas.

OKLAHOMA ALPHA

Marriages

Marjorie Sue Barr and Trent Harvey Zeppa on June 14, 1949 in Tyler, Texas. Millicent Marrs and Lawrence Stream on June 11, 1949 in Norman, Okla.

Mary Catherine Johnston and Ben Thomas Head on June
17, 1949 in Oklahoma City, Okla.

Jane Clark Vose and Herve Babineau in March, 1949 in
Malibu, Calif.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Canfield Jenkins, III (Carolyn Gannon) a son, Thomas Canfield, IV, on April 14, 1949 in Arlington, Va.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Morton (Mary Leggett) a son, Michael Wayland, on June 27, 1949 in Joplin, Mo.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Trigg (Rosemary McWilliams) a son, Joseph Martin, in April, 1949, in Oklahoma City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Fred Collins (Sarah Anne Love) a son, Thomas Frederick, Jr., in June, 1949 in Oklahoma City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert D. Olson (Patricia Burns) a son, Robert Burns, in May, 1949, in Mitchell, S.D.

To Mr. and Mrs. Guy L. Berry (Barbara Bass) a son, Guy, Ill, in May, 1949 in Sapulpa, Okla.

To Mr. and Mrs. Trimble B. Latting (Patience Sewell) a son, James Trimble, on February 3, 1949 in Oklahoma City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack London, Jr. (Gladys Montin) a son, William Wright, on June 24, 1949 in Oklahoma City.

To Mr. and Mrs. S. M. Anderson (Marjorie Anne Bogenschutz) a daughter, Mary Milton, on June 30, 1949 in Ellinwood, Kans.

To Mr. and Mrs. S. M. Anderson (Marjorie Anne Bogenschutz) a daughter, Mary Milton, on June 30, 1949 in Ellinwood, Kans.

To Mr. and Mrs. James Samis (Shan Smith) twin daughters, Margaret Susan and Linda Kay, on January 28, 1949 in Oklahoma City.

To Mr. and Mrs. George W. Hartman (Jane Vance) a

To Mr. and Mrs. George W. Hartman (Jane Vance) a son, Gregory Vance, on March 3, 1949, in Iowa City, Iowa.

OKLAHOMA BETA

Marriages

Nell Cleveland and James W. Flanagan on February 14, 1949 in Altus, Okla. Frances Etta Hardin and Jay N. Hoppe on May 28, 1949. Patricia Jane Kyme and Howard Leroy Drake on May 29, 1949

Shirley McMakin and John L. Yarbrough in June, 1949 in Marietta, Okla.
Roseann Evans and Chesley C. Herndon on July 9, 1949 in Tulsa, Okla.

in Tulsa, Okla.

Dorothy Bradford and Edwin Clark Loosley on July 10,

1949.
Flora Belle Wainscott and Lawrence E. Thomas on July 30, 1949, in Houston, Tex.
Dorothy Nell Hinkel and William Carl Hahn on July 31, 1949 in Tulsa, Okla.
Nancy Anne Norton and Roy Richard Rogers on August 6, 1949 in Tulsa, Okla.
Joan Kelley and Carl L. Crane on August 26, 1949 in Sapulpa, Okla.
Bobbie Jeannette Amis and Keith Austin McMillan on April 16, 1949 in Paris, Tex.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Phil Bennett (Frances (Corbin) a aughter, Corabell Corbin, on February 16, 1949 in Okladaughter, Corabell Corbin, on February 16, 1949 in Okla-homa City.

To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph P. Andrews (Mary Cunningham) a daughter, Mary Jane, on June 7, 1949 in Oklahoma City.

ONTARIO ALPHA

Marriages

Marry Annabelle Worthington and Gordon M. Duncan on June 8, 1949 in Toronto, Ont.
Mary Helen Geddes and Kenneth Douglas Kerr on May 28, 1949 in London, Ont.
Marion Christene Kaiser and Thomas Alexander Edwards on July 1, 1949 in Lambeth. Ont.
Phyllis Manning and Douglas Cumming Johnson on July 1, 1949 in Belleville, Ont.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Harold F. Mustard (Ruth Johnson) a daughter, Marilyn Ruth, on March 12, 1949 in London, Ont.

OREGON ALPHA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. L. L. Wheeler (Jean Moir) a son, John Guy, on July 5, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. William D. MacGibbon (Isolde Eichen-laub) a son, Evan Charles, on April 13, 1949.

OREGON BETA

Marriages

Luanne Spence and Major Benjamin Grant Taylor, Jr. on April 16, 1949 in San Antonio, Texas. Virginia Louise McCumsey and Robert Eugene Nelson on ly 7, 1949. Charlene Louise Collins and Dale Maxwell Curry on June 11, 1949,

Birthe

To Mr. and Mrs. R. L. Griswold (Patricia Donert) a son, Robert Lorin, III, on November 8, 1948.

To Mr. and Mrs. Russell F. Martini (Carolyn Means) a son, Brian Edgar, on March 25, 1949 in Portland, Ore.

To Mr. and Mrs. William E. Boyd, Jr. (Larry Wright) a daughter. Shirley Ellen, on April 28, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. B. Clarke (Malie Corbett) a daughter, Susan Margaret, on April 28, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Ron Blundell (Elinor Botsford) a son.

Craig Ronald, on May 14, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Frank Humphrey (Helen Seeberger) a daughter, in November, 1948.
To Dr. and Mrs. F. Davis (Jean Managhan) a daughter, Deborah, June 7, 1949.

To Dr. and Mrs. F. Davis (Jean Managhan) a daughter, Deborah, June 7, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Ingalls (Betty Sturgeon) a son, in July, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Erwin (Roberta Boylen) a daughter, Roby Ann, on February 22, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Runckel (Jo Wright) a son, Christopher William, on April 4, 1949.

OREGON GAMMA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Anderson (Bernice Elgin) a son, Robert Hall, Jr., on June 7, 1949 in Salem, Ore.
To Mr. and Mrs. Harrison W. Elgin, Jr. (Pauline Winslew) a daughter, Florence Jean, on April 13, 1949 in Salem, Ore.

Scalem, Ore.
To Mr. and Mrs. Carlton J. McLeod (Sybil Spears) a son,
Scott Angus, on March 19, 1949 in Salem, Oregon.

PENNSYLVANIA BETA

Marriages

Ruth May Richardson and George Colfax Bullock on April 2, 1949 in Millburn, N.J. Helen Bodine Newcomb and John A. Rhodes on July 1, 1949 in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Miriam F. Krise and Milton Stanley Young on April
30, 1949 in Richmond, Va.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. H. T. Meminger (Dorothy Blix) a son, Howard Blix, on November 7, 1948.

PENNSYLVANIA GAMMA

Marriage

Vivian Graupner Long and Robert Allen Enders on April

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. H. W. A. Hanson (Isabel Norcross) a daughter, Isabel Norcross, on January 21, 1949.

SOUTH CAROLINA ALPHA

Marriage

Ethel Love Seideman and Miller Foster on May 21, 1949 in Chester, S. C.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Henry D. Ferris (Iva Brooker) a son, Henry Davis, Jr. on March 30, 1949 in Brooklyn, N.Y.

TENNESSEE ALPHA

Marriages

Marjorie Ann Parks and Andrew Jackson Valentine on July 20, 1949 in Pensacola, Fla.

Martha Foster and DeFortest Brooke on June 18, 1949 in Chattanooga, Tenn.
Carol Pruette and James Spaulding, Jr. on June 4, 1949 in Chattanooga, Tenn.
Peggy Evans and Richard Thomas on June 4, 1949 in Chattanooga, Tenn.
Bonnie Jacoway and Inman Bledsoe on June 25, 1949 in Chattanooga

Chattanooga, Tenn.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Linton Waterhouse (Evelyn Hail) a son, Linton Steven, Jr., in May, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jerome P. Sims (Martha Jean Hill) a son, Jerome Payne, Jr., on June 13, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Schimph, Jr. (Ann Dixon) a son, Eugene, III, in March, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Billy G. Bush (Mary Dorothy Brien) a daughter, Deborah Elizabeth, on June 9, 1949.

TENNESSEE BETA

Marriage

Mary Pride Jones and Ridley Nichol on June 20, 1949 in Birmingham, Ala.

To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel R. Turner (Ethel Mae Winborn) a daughter, Le Anne, on March 4, 1949.

TEXAS ALPHA

Marriages

Ella Lactitia Frances Cofer and Frances Samuel Haines, Jr. on April 2, 1949 in College Station, Tex. Margaret Seale and J. A. Orr, Jr., on November 13, 1948 in Bryan, Tex. Mary Margaret Harris and Calvin Bentsen on June 11, 1949 in Center, Tex.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William P. Cade (Patricia Doney) a daughter, Patricia Doney, on March 12, 1949 in Bryan,

To Mr. and Mrs. Ed Burkhart (Anne Seale) a daughter, Anne Seale, on November 5, 1948 in Bryan, Tex. To Mr. and Mrs. Lewis B. Chevaillier (Nancy Prender-gast) a daughter, Cindy, on March 24, 1949.

TEXAS BETA

Marriages

Margaret McCord and Robert Kyle Ramsey on December 11, 1948 in Terrell, Texas. Marilyn Souder and Ernest Perry on March 26, 1949 in Mariyi Godden April 20 Dallas, Texas.

Mary Martha Hosford and Philip Thomas on April 2, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

Phoebe Foster and Maury Hughes, Jr. on April 23, 1949

Polly Robbins and Frank Jones on May 27, 1949 in Wichita

Falls, Texas.

Emily McQueen and James Leisy on June 8, 1949 in Tulsa, Okla.

Betty Hipp and George DeMontrond, Jr. on June 10, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

Colleen Keilty and Clint Darnall on June 18, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

Rebecca Jean Welborn and Charles Simpson on June 18, 1949 in Dallas, Texas.

Joan Segars and Robert Ford on June 23, 1949 in Okla-homa City, Okla.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Paschall (Barbara Groves) a daughter, Sue, on June 4, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Tobin (Sally Neff Guynes) a daughter, Judy, in May, 1949.

UTAH ALPHA

Marriages

Elaine Beverly Brown and John William Bowen on April 13, 1949 in Elko, Nevada. Patricia Cotterell and William Hunter on June 9, 1949 in Salt Lake City.

Dorothy Richardson and Charles B. Knudsen on May 6, 1949 in Salt Lake City.

Margaret Viko and John R. Coombs on June 11, 1949 in Salt Lake City.

Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Allinger (Ruth Sims) a daughter, Susan, on April 22, 1949.

To Mr. and *Mrs. William Carpenter (Margaret Ann Woodruff) a daughter, Dearing Dee, on June 18, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Clawson (Mary Lou Cassidy) a daughter, Elyse, on April 12, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas C. Cuthbert (Joyce Snow) a son, Thomas Crosbie, Jr., on February 25, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John A. Davis (Mary Lee Nelson) a son, Jefre Nelson, on June 4, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles B. Erickson (Mary Wright) a daughter, Lynne, on April 18, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Andrew R. Hurley (Rosemary Ralph) a son, Patrick John, on May 7, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Kelly (Katherine Shill) a daughter, Shannon, on April 20, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Kelly (Katherine Shill) a daughter, Shannon, on April 20, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Starl Skidmore (Elise Yeates) twin sons, James McIntyre and Earl Lobarr, on May 22, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Thomas (Marjorie Jarvis) a daughter, Leslie, on March 8, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Byron Lee Waldram (Norma Williams) a son, Jeffrey William, on May 10, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank Wangeman (Marie Moyle) a son, Fernak Moyle, on June 15, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Yeates (Louise Winger) a son, John William, on May 30, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Yeates (Louise Winger) a son, Henry Moyle, on June 5, 1949.

VERMONT BETA

Rieth

To Mr. and Mrs. Frederick C. Prasse (Dorothy Bourne) a son, on October 15, 1948.

VIRGINIA ALPHA

Marriages

Margaret Fisher and Chesley Decker on April 23, 1949 in Baltimore, Md.
Jane Evelyn Gore and J. Ross Myers, III on May 14, 1949 in Baltimore, Md.
Roma Anne Luttrell and Arthur Orr Gray, Jr. on June 17, 1949 in Baltimore, Md.

To Mr. and Mrs. Paul John Gebelein (Mary Caroline an Sant) a daughter, Carol Van Sant, on May 12, 1949 and Baltimore, Md.
To Dr. and Mrs. George Y. Massenburg, Jr. (Katherine lack) a son, Walter Black, on February 19, 1949 in To Mr. and Mrs. Faul Van Sant, on May 12, 1949 in Baltimore, Md.
To Dr. and Mrs. George Y. Massenburg, Jr. (Katherine Black) a son, Walter Black, on February 19, 1949 in Greenville, S.C.
To Mr. and Mrs. Harry B. Hackethorn (Linda Cannon) a son, David Lyon, on June 1, 1949.

VIRGINIA GAMMA

Marriages

Marriages

Jane Marshall and William Jackson Payne on June 16, 1949 in Williamsburg, Va.

Katherine Ann Rhodes and Kenneth Hodge on June 13, 1949 in Norfolk, Va.

Betty Bartel and Ira E. Williams on January 7, 1949 in Richmond, Ind.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William R. Evans (Letha Slager) a daughter, Kerry Lyn, on March 6, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Plunkett (Constance McCord) a son, William Clark, on April 4, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Hugh E. Naylor, Jr. (Ann Weaver) a son, Henry Weaver, on April 26, 1949 in Richmond Hill.

and Mrs. Hubert M. Anderson (Margileth on, David Meyer on January 16, 1949 in Okla-Meyer) Meyer) a son, Da homa City, Okla.

WASHINGTON ALPHA

Birth

To Dr. and Mrs. Robert W., Osborne (Evelyn Herrmann) a son, Robert W., Jr., on December 15, 1948,

WASHINGTON BETA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Arnol Gentry (Jean Howell) a son, Joe Michael, on December 12, 1948. To Mr. and Mrs. C. A. Stromsness (Hallie McCullough) a daughter, Karen Ann, on May 29, 1949.

WEST VIRGINIA ALPHA

Marriages

Margaret Eleanor Reeder and Charles Berkeley Ferguson on May 28, 1949 in Morgantown, W.Va.
Sally Sutherland and Joseph A. Gurtis, Jr. on June 25, 1949 in Morgantown, W.Va.
Jane Holland Brown and Thomas Banks Moorehead, Jr. on June 7, 1949 in Charleston, W.Va.
Jo Anne Vigor and Eugene Fowler on July 9, 1949 in Weston, W.Va.

Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Harry Duncan, on February 16, 1949,
To Mr. and Mrs. Archie Moran (Mary Ellen Reycroft) a
daughter, Susan Carol, on March 6, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. William H. Wilson (Edith Ann McMillen) a daughter, Nancy Lynn, on March 31, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Jerry Blaney (Carolyn Eberly) a son,
Douglas, on October 28, 1948.
To Mr. and Mrs. Jerry Blaney (Carolyn Eberly) a son,
Douglas, on October 28, 1948.
To Mr. and Mrs. James Akin Thomas, Jr. (Dee Ann
Bonsib) a son, James Akin, III, on June 16, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. W. Simms Hallanan (Doris Lee Mehlinger) a son, Walter Simms, III, on June 1, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Fred J. Seiler, Jr. (Anne Robinson)
a son, Frederick J., III, on June 3, 1949 in Pittsburgh, Pa.

WISCONSIN ALPHA

Marriages

Georgann Bergenthal and William Ardern on July 9, 1949 in Milwaukee, Wis.

Jane Meigs and James S. Smith, Jr. on May 21, 1949 Milwaukee, Wis. in Milwaukee, Wis. Barbara Hetland and William Stark on August 20, 1949 in Jefferson, Wis.
Carol Johnson and James Sprenger on January 28, 1949 in Milwaukee, Wis.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Allen S. Jorgensen (Patricia Strutz) a son, Allen Stephen, on May 17, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Allis (Jacqueline Dunne) a son, Robert Thomas, Jr., on May 9, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Dan G. Christiansen (Mary Jean Zentner) a daughter, Cynthia Mary, on May 8, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. David Bailey (JoAnne Rose) a daughter, Cynthia Ellen, on April 25, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Roy Rhyner (Virginia Vedder) a daughter, Deborah Lou, on March 25, 1949.

To Dr. and Mrs. Albert E. Pufahl (Marjorie Tyler) a daughter, Erika Tyler, on April 2, 1949 in Rye, N.Y.

WISCONSIN BETA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles D. Goff (Alberta Jorres) a son, Glen Charles, on January 10, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Klenk, Jr. (Joan Launspack) a son, James Andrew, on July 18, 1949.

WISCONSIN GAMMA

Marriage

Beverly Christiansen and Clyde Scott Hunsburger on March 12, 1949 in Appleton, Wis.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Daniel L. Baer (Mildred Derse) a son, Michael Derse, on May 10, 1949 in Minneapolis, Minn.
To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur L. Lauer (Donna Jean Olds) a daughter, Kristine Ellen, on February 24, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas J. Letter (Helen Fox) a son, Timothy John on April 1, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. John Bletzinger (Andrea Stephenson) a daughter, Donna Louise, on April 4, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. John Durham (Janet Goode) a daughter, Deborah Lou, on March 25, 1949.

WYOMING ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles L. Cohn (Charlotte Hayes) a daughter, Sandra Jean, on April 10, 1949 in Denver, Colo.



If you cannot purchase this in your home town-write us-P.O. Box J. S., Chicago (90)



IN MEMORIAM

FANNY MAUDE BLACK, initiated October 13, 1911 into Louisiana A, died April 6, 1949.

Betty Denny Cherrington (Mrs. Ernest) initiated October 3, 1925 into Ohio Δ , died April 23, 1949.

FRANCES MULLIN CHURCHILL (Mrs. Dixon) initiated March 1891 into Michigan A, died February 3, 1948.

ALICE RICHARDSON DEARDORFF (Mrs. Charles M.) initiated November 11, 1899 into Colorado B, died December 3, 1948.

JESSIE MARIA GADDIS, initiated November 6, 1909 into Illinois Δ , died June 3, 1949 in Galesburg, Ill.

ELIZABETH GEORGE, initiated October 14, 1905 into Iowa Z, died November 22, 1948.

ALICE HAYMAN HANK (Mrs. Francis W.) initiated March 17, 1940 into West Virginia A, died May 20, 1949.

BENNETH ANN HANIGAN HUSTED (Mrs. Russell) initiated January 30, 1932 into Colorado A, died May 4, 1949 in Long Beach, Calif.

NELLIE KENNEDY, initiated June 15, 1907 into Washington A, died August 18, 1948.

ZOA LEONARD KEYES, initiated October 22, 1892 into Michigan A, died February 22, 1949.

MARTHA SCHABACKER KING (Mrs. Burritt) initiated March, 1883 into Iowa Z, died July 8, 1949.

LURA HALL Low (Mrs. Charles) initiated March 29, 1924 into Washington B, died September 30, 1948.

RUTH COMBS McGOWAN (Mrs. Murray) initiated December 13, 1930 into Washington B.

HELEN ANDERSON MOOR (Mrs. Wilson F.) initiated May 18, 1916 into Nebraska B, died June 5, 1948.

ADA MACADAM MORITZ (Mrs. C. J.) initiated March 14, 1908 into Wisconsin A, died July 1, 1949.

LAURA MOULTON, initiated 1886 into Iowa Γ, died May 21, 1949.

GERALDINE OAKLEY, initiated December 11, 1908 into Ontario A, died November 5, 1948.

USTAN COTTON PIERPONT (Mrs. Wilfred, III) initiated March 7, 1942 into Wisconsin B, died February 8, 1949.

Frances Norton Price (Mrs. Samuel C.) initiated December 16, 1889 into Ohio A, died April 4, 1948.

LAURA CLAPP ROBINSON (Mrs. F. M.) initiated 1871 into Iowa A, died August 31, 1947.

MARY LAURA SPROUL, initiated March 3, 1905 into Pennsylvania A, died October 14, 1948.

ELIZABETH HOOK STOECKEL (Mrs. E. A.) initiated February 13, 1929 into Pennsylvania Γ, died March 11, 1949.

MARGUERITE WEBSTER VIEROW (Mrs. Paul) initiated February 1, 1930 into Pennsylvania Δ.

ELMA WARWICK WILMARTH (Mrs. George H.) initiated October 26, 1898 into Illinois Z, died April 3, 1949.

125



More Pages than Ever Before

in the

New 1950 Edition

BALFOUR BLUE BOOK

THE 1950 BLUE BOOK is the largest edition ever published . . . with more pages of beautiful fraternity jewelry, gifts and chapter house requirements. Be sure your chapter has a copy for its library.

... Presenting ...

Crested rings in 10K gold and sterling silver • Charms and keys • Compacts, bracelets, pendants • Cuff links, chains, knives.

Cigarette lighters and cases • Cowhide and Morocco billfolds • Wall skins, banners, memory book or guest register • Plaques and awards.



Balfour Services for Your Fall Requirements

PLEDGE BUTTONS OR PINS . . . Order your fall supply early.

INVITATIONS TO MEMBERSHIP:

Crested with engraved or printed wording. See Balfour representative or write for samples,

STATIONERY engraved with your crest—both social papers and chapter business styles. Write for samples.

BALFOUR REPRESENTATIVES contact every chapter a minimum of four times a year to display fraternity jewelry.

BALFOUR OFFICES are located in educational centers throughout the country for your prompt service.

OTHER BALFOUR MERCHANDISE: Dance programs, party favors, crested rings and jewelry, medals, cups, trophies, banners, gavels.

Official Jeweler to Pi Beta Phi

L. G. BALFOUR COMPANY

ATTLEBORO

MASSACHUSETTS

In Canada, contact your nearest Birks' Store

